Kansas State Board of Nursing
Special Board Meeting Notice

Date: July 24, 2019 — 12:30 p.m. to 4:30 p.m.
July 25, 2019 — 8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.

Board Meeting Location: Landon State Office Building
900 SW Jackson, Room 509

Topeka, KS 66612-1230

AGENDA:
1. Nurse Practice Act

2. APRN Survey




NURSE PRACTICE ACT

STATUTES & ADMINISTRATIVE
REGULATIONS

January 2018

KANSAS STATE BOARD OF NURSING
LANDON STATE OFFICE BUILDING
900 SW JACKSON, SUITE 1051
TOPEKA, KS 66612-1230
www.ksbn.org



KANSAS STATE BOARD OF NURSING
January 2017

Changes or revisions to the Nurse Practice Act or Licensed Mental Health Technician Act are available
on the Kansas State Board of Nursing web site. www.ksbn.org

GENERAL PROVISIONS

74-1106 B0Ard OF NUISINEZ, cveveeeererereemrerreresseresesistessuesstisesisiissesesesssassessssssssssasassssssssssssesasssssssessenss 1
74-1108 Board of Nursing fee fUnd .....ccceovecnicninniiiniiinienne s sssssssssssssse s 2
74-1109 Fees for institutes, conferences and other educational programs offered by board,

educational conference fUnd ......cecevevveemrnr et st e snn s 2
74-1110 CIVILTIDES. cvesrernveresrerereeressessnsesensessssenessssmsasssnesat esstrasbabassebabs sassnsbasesusseorssnesbsasanntasssnasenasans 3
74-1111 Assistant attorney general to represent the board; appointment; salary;......c.ouveenrnecennnns 3
74-1112 Applicants for licensure as a professional nurse, practical nurse or mental health

technician to be fingerprinted and submit to a state and national criminal history

TECOTA CHECK cuvinveereriereireesverersirtesteeseme s en s s earsrtsresasabosssusaesobssn st sRe s s sasssnasborsvaaasessssnastnnss 3

NURSE PRACTICE ACT
PROFESSIONAL AND PRACTICAL NURSES
Statutes

65-1113 DIELINILIONS .vveireriveenrrierrrreriesressereesressrsossasessessmsnrssnsiasisseesrssssss snarsssstassssasbassssssnssssssnsressssnsns 4
65-1114 URIAWTUL BCES o.viveeieiitecterterreesarnssesssssseseseesesmessnesesesostsstssasssnssssaessbsbsssesnatssesvasarssnsanes 4
65-1115 Licensure of professional nurses; qualifications of applicants; examination; refresher

course; renewal license, title and abbreviation; temporary permit; exempt license............ 4
65-1116 Licensure of practical nurses; qualifications of applicants; examination;

refresher course; renewal license, title and abbreviation; temporary permit; exempt

JECEIISE ceveveeerereeceertsntenns i sseesessannesresmsestssssssosssrsearsssatostasbabnsnessseassererassansness abessnansssassossnnss 5
65-1117 Renewal of licensees; continuing education requirements; rules and regulations.............. 7
65-1118 FEES v etvreririesiessisreraressessessssessarstonsstasecasresrsse st a e s et e aser et en s eSS E SRS bR SR SRR R TS b e e R e R e e e e 7
65-1118a Fees, consultants' travel EXPEINSES ... vciiinierivestiisiesisiiisiesersisssiorsorestasssssssessatniasmsssssssssenss 8
65-1119 Schools of nursing; approval; approval of providers of continuing education

offerings; application fee; criteria for evaluating out-of-state schools; nationally

accredited schools of nursing......cococivineinind eerterseeteere e ae e st E st sber bR e n s 8
65-1120 Grounds for disciplinary actions; proceedings; witness; costs; professional

incompetency defined; criminal justice record information .......cucvnevnnnnnnrnnnnnnnn 10
65-1120a Reinstatement of revoked licenses; burden of proof; board of nursing report to legislature ....... 11
65-1121a Judicial review 0f board's ACHIONS .veecveerrcererineeniiisi s 12
65-1122 MiSdemeanors; PENAIIES. ... ..ottt st e cnss 11
65-1123 IOJUNCLIONS wvvvrvecseneneermeessesiecsesininsissssst st sssasb st ere bt st ss b eb e b s s s e e bbb b s s 12
65-1124 Acts which are not prohibited.........ccoviiiini e 12
65-1126 INVALIAILY OF DAL cevvereveeerrecermrreieres ettt sb s n e sn st s an s s essn s 13
65-1127 Immunity from liability in civil actions for reporting, communicating and

investigating certain information concerning alleged malpractice incidents

and other information; CONAIIONS ....c.ceivrevieerieerer s sre e srs e stare s asreesens 13
65-1129 Rules and T€ZUIAHIONS ..ccveueueerererrierenmiiiseisisiiniis i ibessaitssss st s ssssassessnsesssastssessssssssssnns 13
65-1135 Complaint or information relating to complaint confidential; exceptions...........ecovevcrnene 13
65-1136 Intravenous fluid therapy; qualifications of licensed practical nurses to administer;

definitions; rules and regulations; advisory committee established; prohibitions;

EXCEPLIONS 1uvurevemeerisrereuisientireassisies s ersn st r st b e s e s e b et et s r et bR r et et eh st s bbb 14
65-1165 Supervision of delegated nursing proCedUIES ......veeriieriinsmeriesentetcser e 14

i

—3—




60-1-102
60-1-103
60-1-104

60-2-101
60-2-102
60-2-103
60-2-104
60-2-105
60-2-106
60-2-107
60-2-108

60-3-101
60-3-102
60-3-103
60-3-105
60-3-106
60-3-106a
60-3-107
60-3-108
60-3-109a
60-3-110
60-3-111
60-3-112
60-3-113
60-3-114

60-4-101
60-4-103

Rules and Regulations

Approval of Schools of Nursing

ADPPLOVAL PIOCEAULE ....vucviviiiseretineeiii sttt b s bbb 15
Discontinuing a school of NUISING ....veuceriviiiimiinie s 15
DEFIILIONS vevvvreiiriereeieeieeereessiestestess e s e s s s esrestssats st earrebesssabss asne g e bssebseresntssbsstasaesssnassesans 15

Requirements for Approved Nursing Programs

Requirements for initial approval .........cceeierviernnne SOV 17
Reapproval TEQUITEMEIS ...vovimiireiersreisrinssssssessesssnses ettt 18
Faculty and preceptor qUalifications........oceieeeniciensisnmcrnncrcisiness s 19
Curriculum requirements .........cvveerevunresssnnninseeinsnes eebere et st heb b bR R ans 20
CHINICA] TESOUICES . cvverrrererraressesresearasseeseessmmtssisssasisssasssanasastastassassentsamascssistossassssssissnsssananss 21
Educational TACIITHES ..vveieriririrerireereeresreererersssessessssssssssssessnans eveeresersreererennanas e 22
SHUACNE POLICIES 1vvvevenrerrereisitisriisiiaie it et bbbt 22
REPOTLES 1.vevvseeeureeressirsssissssseressssbenas e s s a s bR RS e RS p st 22

Requirements for Licensure and Standards of Practice

LLACEIISUI. cvvveeereereesseerrrsrsiesnersansessseesseessesstsbisr e e shnsrab e rE e s e r e e AR R g b et s s e e b s e SRS e s R nas s s s s e e s 23
Duplicate of initial HEENSE ...uiieirerieereeierisistsissintsee s s s 23
ChAnge O NAIMIE «...vueueuiviiiriseniisiinme sttt st 23
Reinstatement OF JICENSE ...evuvvrrrreriireerieressiiiiisissiisresssassesrssressssssessr bt sstsassnstsrassonsans 24
Licensure qUAlIfiCations ... st sttt s 24
TEMPOTATY PEITIULS..vueviierierererseesesinsis st eiesses st ess st sttt 25
Expiration dates of licenses; applications .........oevrvememecimcniminnnnieis s 25
Expiration date of initial or reinstated JHCENSE .....ovvvvcuinimmiiiiiniiiiis s 25
Standards Of PIACHCE. «..eureveerciiriiresinisre s s st e 26
Unprofessional CONAUCT .....uumimiriremiessi s 26
THACHVE LICENSE .oviveeuierereeresreirisse et aneeseesesecesesassaasst thasbo s s s s e s s bara s s s s st s nssata s e sasababanan s 27
EXEMPE LICENSE. c.cviriiriniaeimrctesirncseses st s s s sision st s st e 27
Reporting of certain misdemeanor convictions by the licensee.......coovuvrieisiinssnninene. 27
Satisfactory completion of a refresher course by the board.......coovvvecviiiiisinniniincnncs 27
Fees

Payment OF FEES...ccrruireiiriririitiie e s s 28
Fees and travel expenses for school approval and approval of continuing

EAUCAION PIOVIAEIS.ccvcvrrrreerrerirriririrere et b ettt 29

ii



60-9-105
60-9-106
60-9-107

60-15-101
60-15-102
60-15-103
60-15-104

60-16-101
60-16-102
60-16-103

60-16-104

65-1130

65-1131
65-1132
65-1133

65-1134

Continuing Education for Nurses

DDETINIIEIONS +eevevrrersrresearsesssrserasessernssssrereassssmartssssessasesassarasantsnesssstsssrearssenassnmissnssssssisatssas 29
Continuing nursing education for 1icense reneWal......cuuiueremsmnsisssssssecssissssiinnisnnns 30
Approval of continuing nursing €duCAtON ... 31

Performance of Selected Nursing Procedures in School Settings

Definitions and fUNCHIONS ...vuiireresiereseerssrsesistssisas s s st s et sts e s b an s st s s as s ane 33
Delegation PrOCEAULES .....cuiriererseisssrissisesees sttt iess s sttt 35
Supervision of delegated tasks O PrOCEAUIES .....cvrerseruissisusesssisermsimstsntsss st icees 35
Medication administration in a SChool SEHHNE ..vevevviverieneinen e 36

Intravenous Fluid Therapy for Licensed Practical Nurses

DIEFINTHIONS 1vevveeeremietsseeseireressssssassessssetasessssenisnssassasssmsestssssssas st astons sisesbtasa s sessasrsatossncassaras 36
Scope of practice for licensed practical nurse performing intravenous fluid therapy....... 36
Course approval PLOCEAUIE ......cuevrisririsessescrsisriss it s s 37
Standards for course; competency examination, record Keeping......cooveeeeeviiueiresiceicacns 38

ADVANCED PRACTICE REGISTERED NURSE

Statutes

Advanced practice registered nurse; standards and requirements for obtaining a license;
rules and regulations; roles, education, qualifications and role; limitations and

restrictions; prescription of drugs authorized........oecmirieiinienninis i 40

Advanced practice registered nurse; licensure; fees; temporary permit; exempt .......... 41

License for advanced practice registered nurse; fees; reinstatement of lapsed license..... 42

Same; educational and training programs for advanced practice registered nurse;

approval; survey; nationally accredited PrOgIamS ....oovrieumricsncrcnincisiins 43

Citation of Kansas nUIse PractiCe aCt.......umvmmersrsmsisenisisiiisissis ittt 44
iii




60-11-101
60-11-102
60-11-103
60-11-104

60-11-104a
60-11-105
60-11-106
60-11-107
60-11-113
60-11-116
60-11-118
60-11-119
60-11-120
60-11-121

60-17-101
60-17-102
60-17-103
60-17-104
60-17-105
60-17-106
60-17-107
60-17-108
60-17-109
60-17-110
60-17-111

Rules and Regulations

Definition of advanced role; limitations; reStriCtions ........ccervernrrvrereereiiernssnessesensereenes 44
Categories of advanced practice registered NULSE ......cccevuerverresereereninseerecesinrnenrreesesnsessenns 44
Qualifications of advanced practice registered NUISE .......occcevvererererrneeinresersieasinrriseenens 44
Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse, nurse clinician or '

TUTSE PIACHITIONET 1eveteuuiiecririrereiret e reeaeteneseresieseses et s e se st st ere s essoststsaassarasasasassenesass 45
Protocol requirements; prescription OFderS.......oevrriiverinrinmieniecssseiieresenesrseesesessseenes 46
Functions of the advanced nurse; NUrSe-MIAWITE ...vvceirerveererinereirinnrerieimereresssssesseenans 46
Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse; nurse anesthetist..........cc.cveverurene. 47
Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse; clinical nurse specialist................. 47
LICENSE TEMEWAL «..uvvuurvrriesrsecrssrnertrissasisessesssssssassssssnsssssssassssssesssssassssssnsssssssssssesssssssssesoes 47
Reinstatement 0F HCENSE .......cvverrrreeverriecenresmirniesesnieseereesssesesssessssessesesesssssnsesssssensssssssenss 48
Temporary liCense t0 PractiCe.......ccvimrererrerrtesererieereerentesssessesseesesssessssesnsessrssssesessssesses 48
PayMEnt OF fEES..cuivircrieriereriisteiiereiee e cees e e sre s e s e s s ste et e st e sreessesase st s eressesssbessensnateanns 48
Expiration dates of licenses; appliCationS ... reremrereerirersinmemencrensmseerssneessessennesseesesssseses 48
EXEMPL HOBMSE .vvvivisineiiiiinntineiesnicsee sttt et sree s ensssss e sren e sessee st sseseneeseiatsesess et ssenensanne 48

DEfINItIONS .ouvuieiviiiiiiiiisceciirircte st b s e er e s 49
Requirements for Initial approval ......c.cccicrieniricnenrnreiecrnssitsenecsssseessnesessssssesesesns 49
Reapproval TeQUITEIENLS ...uuiiuiiiriiserreniieerenesenmeenesrenss et ssesennasesessiesessesesesessassssssesasesanss 50
Faculty and preceptor qUalifiCationS .......occieveceerenisrseseerenierersresisesseestersserssssnsnessssssssrssases 51
Curriculum TEQUITEIIIEIES ..c.civevreerecereaneserrestessessresssessnscrssenisesessssesessssesessesssnsssssessarsvesnens 51
ClINICAl TESOUICES. c.uvvvirreisiririisistecresensentsersesesesesessssssse s ssasssssssestsessesssosesesssessansesensasnsans 52
Educational faCIlIIeS....ccieceicrieeierreesereerestectes sttt tses et st rse e er e snerete s s e sennnns 53
SHUAENE POLICIBS. .cvuvuiuircrireririritiiiiir ittt ettt b st be bbb sassesnt e e b ersnans 53
REPOITES ottt sttt san b sr e et s et s e b e na e se e 53
Discontinuing an advanced practice registered nurse program.........vceeeererrreereciereeressinens 53
Requirements for advanced practice registered nurse refresher course.......ccvveverrvennnne. 54
iv



65-1151
65-1152

65-1153
65-1154
65-1155

65-1158
65-1159

65-1162
65-1163
65-1164

60-13-101
60-13-102
60-13-103
60-13-104
60-13-110
60-13-111
60-13-112
60-13-113

REGISTERED NURSE ANESTHETIST

Statutes

DEFINTHIONS vvvvieereierereeererseecsrasssisstimsess s esasssrestsnesreas s s s e st et s asassbentaneonsat st sranssstabaansntas
Qualifications for authorization to practxce as a registered nurse anesthetist;

approval of schools of nurse anesthesia, Criteria......coceiiiiiiii e
Temporary authorization to PractiCe .....ueenemiieminii s
Application; fees; deposit Of MONEYS....vvvecrrrecvsiimiiiirinisiimrctesnerenaed fvereesrsseesennenns
Expiration of authorizations to practice; system of biennial authorizations; renewal;
lapsed authorization; reinstatement fee. ...
Duties of registered nurse anesthetists ......ovvrveiriniriininne s
Qualifications of applicant for renewal of an authorization to practice; continuing
EAUCAHION .. vseseesrerirersesrenereenssresessressereseststsstats s b st s s s Rob e mab e be s sbnsaabessna et aas b s r s R e Rt sasRs b 00
UNTAWTIL BCLS 1uvivervirrerereersnrersercsseesmsssstssssseststoresenssssessessassssamasssassesestassssistssessssssssnsasnsns
APPHCALION OF ACT...vueueiiriniirireremsiri st
Rules and REGUIALIONS v.erveeerereeiimiiiinreiiersesseie st ss s sssens s ssssmssssisssssssassssans

Payment OF f8ES..cveerururimriiiiiiiciieie s s s
ADPPLOVAL PIOCEAULE ..ocvrrviririniseresss s sssen st st st bbbt s
School approval FEQUITEINENTS....cueuerreereisesesseersnseersssrs st st
EXAM APPTOVAL .ceuvreririsicriiiritatetssesessrsssis s eese bttt st bbbt s s
Reinstatement of authOriZation .....veeceeeeereercarinininisinieeresesesa s et saas
Continuing education definftions.....cceveiimiincnenenc e
LICENSE TENEWAL ..vvevirvererierrenmeresesinseaeressssistsssssasssesssssonsssensnmasssssssssssnannstsasstsssss iosnissssnsassnns
Approval of registered nurse anesthetist continuing education ..........cceveiieiiieissneen.




65-4201
65-4202
65-4203

65-4204
65-4205

65-4206
65-4207

65-4208
65-4209

65-4210
65-4211
65-4212
65-4213
65-4214
65-4215
65-4216

65-4217

60-5-102
60-5-103

60-6-101

LICENSED MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIAN ACT

Statutes
CHEAEIOM OF BCE. u v ivveeeeerssereseesessestesssssenaesnassanes sobsssssissssnsseseastesssissisessststssanantsaansistsssssisiinioss 59
IDETIIIIEIONS 11vevesisvreesssrersereseesesessonsorsasasanneasessatesssnsssasmsmstesaserssstomssstisrsassasstataessstassisissinessss 59
Licensure of mental health technicians; application; qualifications; examination
refresher course; temporary permits; exempt license; rules and regulations ....c.eeeverenee 60
Title And ADDIEVIALIONS. 1veveeviriererireersrersereressssssonismssssmassissesnsstatsenssnsrsestsssstsensessnonsasnsissas 60
Renewal of license; application; fees; continuing education; renewal of lapse
license; notification of change in NamMe Or AAAIESS ... 61
Approved courses of mental health technology; standards; qualifications;
providers of continuing education Offerings ..o .61
List of approved courses; survey of proposed course and institution, resurvey;
notice of deficient institution; removal from list; 18C0rdS...oueemiiiiiiiineninsiccniinns 62
TP EES oevvvseressrersssssssasesssasesasansssessansaeseaessabbesbssonsesasaRsn AT e aE R e E LSS a SRS s 62
Grounds for disciplinary actions; proceedings; witnesses; costs; professional
incompetency defined; criminal history record Information. .. e vrniniissreesseesnseens 63
Disciplinary proceedings; complaint; notice and BEALINZ vreevererrirrerinsirransiressssesesnssssianas 64
TUIAICIAL TEVIEW vveveeerereerrsseessiesessessassassssasssesssssssaseressessessese st sssossanessontranssnsssarsissssistoinsnsases 64
EXCIUSIONS 1ot eevseesearnsmesesssestebossesnssssessesesssstonsssessabasmaseressorebess it sssas sutsEaam s aate s csb st st sa s et s 64
TIJUNICHIOMS wveroveseresrvssenssssenssssesssssersssisis s tbss s s b 65
ViOlAtONS; PENALES cevvvevresivriincrseririess st st e 65
Practice of medicine not aUthOTIZE.....cccviviirverieinnec s 65
Report of certain actions of mental health technician; persons required to report;
medical care facility which fails to report subject to civil fine; definitions....cccoerenvivennns 65
Immunity from liability in civil actions for reporting, communicating or
investigating certain Information ... 66
Rules and Regulations
Approval of Educational Programs for Mental Health Technicians
ADPPIOVAL PLOCEAULE «.vvvsereressarsssserssseesussensssrssnsssisssss st e 66
Discontinuing a program for mental health techniCIans ......vevvienesieeesercnininisiennss 66
Requirements for Approved Programs for Mental Health Technicians
66

REQUITEINEIES 1vvveeecvesressesssesssssssssssssssrssens st s ab oS00

vi



60-7-101
60-7-102
60-7-103
60-7-104
60-7-105
60-7-106
60-7-108
60-7-109
60-7-110
60-7-111

60-8-101

60-12-104
60-12-105
60-12-106

Requirements for Licensure and Standards of Practice

LI OIS UL e v vveirerissssteresssensasenseesee e siseeseonerE s A e b b s e R oA s ar s aa b e s s sk RssaE Soe b e s SRR SR b e SR TR e R R 68
Duplicate Of initial HEENSE .uvuueruersemsserssriressersensessiusissininsinsss s e, 69
CRANZE OF DAIMIE 1uvevoreresnerseisasissssessesses s sssssssss s s sb R s eSS s 69
ReinsStatement OF LICEIISE ....vvveiruieriscsrererneremstorssissississsasassssnsssnssssesassisssissnssasssnsassnessasassens 69
StaNAArds OF PrACHICE. ...cuvuerviriirieisersses s 69
Unprofessional CONAUOE ....evimimrrsrinescnsiseisiitss s 69
THACHVE LICEIISE .veeeerriririsseeseerereerssstasesseneesersssmssasasossassssnsatasstesesassanesabstsstassrssnsasassaseasass 70
EXEIMPE LICENISE  cvvnvvevarrmsssassirsisessstssssssssssssssessresses st ra s e e s b 71
Expiration dates of licenses; appliCations ..., 71
Reporting of certain misdemeanors by the liCENSee. .....covirimmimmmnmnneccisiisiens, 71
Fees
PAyMENnt OF fEES..... oevrecuisrmnriiie s s 71
Continuing Education for Mental Health Technicians

Approval of continuing education 0fferings ... 72
DEFINILIONS .eeveveserereererereresseseseesssassesseusresssssssssassessassassssasssnassessssseas hsismsbesshesssnasssnssnsonss 72

72

TLICEIISE TETIEWAL 1vvrevereereeessrereereesssesssssesntsrasaserssessesss sismestasrnsssassvensasassaenssissesssetisstneosinesnes

vii




BOARD OF NURSING
GENERAL PROVISIONS

74-1106. Board of nursing; appointment; terms; vacancies; qualification; duties and powers; executive
administrator and other employees; rules and regulations; compensation and expenses.

@

(b)

(©

Appointment, term of office

(1) The governor shall appoint a board consisting of 11 members of which six shall be registered
professional nurses, two shall be licensed practical nurses, and three shall be members of the general
public, which shall constitute a board of nursing, with the duties, power and authority set forth in this
act.

(2) Upon the expiration of the term of any registered professional nurse, the Kansas state nurses
association shall submit to the governor a list of registered professional nurses containing names of not
less than three times the number of persons to be appointed, and appointments shall be made after
consideration of such list for terms of four years and until a successor is appointed and qualified.

(3) On the effective date of this act, the Kansas federation of licensed practical nurses shall submit to the
governor a list of licensed practical nurses containing names of not less than three times the number of
persons to be appointed, and appointments shall be made after consideration of such list for a term of
four years and until a successor is appointed and qualified.

(4) Bach member of the general public shall be appointed for a term of four years and successors shall be
appointed for a like term.

(5) Whenever a vacancy occurs on the board of nursing, it shall be filled by appointment for the remainder
of the unexpired term in the same manner as the preceding appointment. No person shall serve more
than two consecutive terms as a member of the board of nursing and appointment for the remainder of
an unexpired term shall constitute a full term of service on such board.

Qualifications of members. Each member of the board shall be a citizen of the United States and a resident
of the state of Kansas. Registered professional nurse members shall possess a license to practice as a
professional nurse in this state with at least five years’ experience in nursing as such and shall be actively
engaged in professional nursing in Kansas at the time of appointment and reappointment. The licensed
practical nurse members shall be licensed to practice practical nursing in the state with at least five years’
experience in practical nursing and shall be actively engaged in practical nursing in Kansas at the time of
appointment and reappointment. The governor shall appoint successors so that the registered professional
nurse membership of the board shall consist of at least two members who are engaged in nursing service, at
least two members who are engaged in nursing education and at least one member who is engaged in
practice as an advanced practice registered nurse or a registered nurse anesthetist. The consumer members
shall represent the interests of the general public. At least one consumer member shall not have been
involved in providing health care. Each member of the board shall take and subscribe the oath prescribed
by law for state officers, which oath shall be filed with the secretary of state.

Duties and powers. '

(1) The board shall meet annually at Topeka during the month of September and shall elect from its
members a president, vice-president and secretary, each of whom shall hold their respective offices for -
one year. The board shall employ an executive administrator, who shall be a registered professional
nurse, who shall not be a member of the board and who shall be in the unclassified service under the
Kansas civil service act, and shall employ such other employees, who shall be in the classified service
under the Kansas civil service act as necessary to carry on the work of the board. As necessary, the
board shall be represented by an attorney appointed by the attorney general as provided by law, whose
compensation shall be determined and paid by the board with the approval of the governor. The board
may hold such other meetings during the year as may be deemed necessary to transact its business.

(2) The board shall adopt rules and regulations consistent with this act necessary to carry into effect the
provisions thereof, and such rules and regulations may be published and copies thereof furnished to
any person upon application.

(3) The board shall prescribe curricula and standards for professional and practical nursing programs and
mental health technician programs, and provide for surveys of such schools and courses at such times
as it may deem necessary. It shall accredit such schools and approve courses as meet the requirements
of the appropriate act and rules and regulations of the board.

(4) The board shall examine, license and renew licenses of duly qualified applicants and conduct hearings
upon charges for limitation, suspension or revocation of a license or approval of professional and
practical nursing and mental health technician programs and may limit, deny, suspend or revoke for
proper legal cause, licenses or approval of professional and practical nursing and mental health
technician programs, as hereinafter provided. Examination for applicants for registration shall be given
at least twice each year and as many other times as deemed necessary by the board. The board shall

-10-



promote improved means of nursing education and standards of nursing care through institutes,
conferences and other means. .

(5) The board shall have a seal of which the executive administrator shall be the custodian. The president
and the secretary shall have the power and authority to administer oaths in transacting business of the
board, and the secretary shall keep a record of all proceedings of the board and a register of
professional and practical nurses and mental health technicians licensed and showing the certificates of
registration or licenses granted or revoked, which register shall be open at all times to public
inspeotion.

(6) The board may enter into contracts as may be necessary to carry out its duties.

(7) The board is hereby authorized to apply for and to accept grants and may accept donations, bequests or
gifts. The board shall remit all moneys received by it under this paragraph (7) to the state treasurer in
accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-4215, and amendments thereto. Upon receipt of each such
remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state treasury to the credit of the
grants and gifts fund which is hereby created. All expenditures from such fund shall be made in
accordance with appropriation acts upon warrants of the director of accounts and reports issued
pursuant to vouchers approved by the president of the board or a person designated by the president.

(8) A majority of the board of nursing including two professional nurse members shall constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business.

(d) Subpoenas. In all investigations and proceedings, the board shall have the power to issue subpoenas and
compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of all relevant and necessary papers, books, records,
documentary evidence and materials. Any person failing or refusing to appear or testify regarding any
matter about which such person may be lawfully questioned or to produce any books, papers, records,
documentary evidence or relevant materials in the matter, after having been required by order of the board
or by a subpoena of the board to do so, upon application by the board to any district judge in the state, may
be ordered by such judge to comply therewith. Upon failure to comply with the order of the district judge,
the court may compel obedience by attachment for contempt as in the case of disobedience of a similar
order or subpoena issued by the court. A subpoena may be served upon any person named therein
anywhere within the state with the same fees and mileage by an officer authorized to serve subpoenas in
civil actions in the same procedure as is prescribed by the code of civil procedure for subpoenas issued out
of the district courts of this state.

(¢) Compensation and expenses. Members of the board of nursing attending meetings of such board, or
attending a subcommittee meeting thereof authorized by such board, shall be paid compensation,
subsistence allowances, mileage and other expenses as provided in K.S.A. 75-3223, and amendments
thereto. No member of the board of nursing shall be paid an amount as provided in K.S.A. 75-3223, and
amendments thereto, if such member receives an amount from another governmental or private entity for
the purpose for which such amount is payable under K.S.A. 75-3223, and amendments thereto.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 2; L. 1956, ch. 52, § 15; L. 1957, ch. 431, § 11; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 10; L. 1965, ch.
506, § 38; L. 1967, ch. 434, § 26; L. 1973, ch. 309, § 25; L. 1973, ch. 310, § 1; L. 1974, ch. 348, § 49; L. 1975, ch.
316, § 12; L. 1978, ch. 308, § 54; L. 1980, ch. 235, § 1; L. 1986, ch. 233, § 5; L. 1987, ch. 234, § 2; L. 1988, ch.
331, § 7; L. 1992, ch. 116, § 34; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 7; L. 1997, ch. 146, § 5: 1. 2000, ch. 113, § 5; L. 2001, ch. 5, §
301; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 12; L. 2007, ch. 115, § 1; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 70; Jan. 1, 2012.)

74-1108. Board of Nursing fee fund. The executive administrator of the board of nursing shall remit all moneys
received by the board from fees, charges or penalties, other than moneys received under X.S.A. 74-1109, and
amendments thereto, to the state treasurer in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-4215, and amendments
thereto. Upon receipt of each such remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state treasury.
Ten percent of each such deposit shall be credited to the state general fund and the balance shall be credited to the
board of nursing fee fund. All expenditures from such fund shall be made in accordance with appropriation acts
upon warrants of the director of accounts and reports issued pursuant to vouchers approved by the president of the
board or by a person or persons designated by the president.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 309, § 26; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 13; L. 1986, ch. 286, § 1; L. 2001, ch. 5, § 302; L. 2011, ch.

53, § 43; July 1.)

74-1109. Fees for institutes, conferences and other educational programs offered by board; education
conference fund. The board of nursing is hereby authorized to fix, charge and collect fees for institutes, conferences
and other educational programs offered by the board under subsection (c)(4) of K.S.A. 74-1106 and amendments
thereto. The fees shall be fixed in order to recover the cost to the board for providing such programs. The executive
administrator of the board shall remit all moneys received by the board from fees collected under this section to the -
state treasurer in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-4215, and amendments thereto. Upon receipt of each
such remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state freasury to the credit of the education
conference fund which is hereby created. All expenditures from such fund shall be for the operating expenditures of

—$1-




providing such programs and shall be made in accordance with appropriation acts upon warrants of the director of
accounts and reports issued pursuant to vouchers approved by the president of the board or by a person designated

by the president.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 286, § 2; L. 2001, ch. 5, § 303; July 1.)

74-1110. Civil fine. The board of nursing, in addition to any other penalty prescribed by law, may assess a civil
fine, after proper notice and an opportunity to be heard, against any person granted a license, certificate of
qualification or authorization to practice by the board of nursing for a violation of a law or rule and regulation
applicable to the practice for which such person has been granted a license, certificate of qualification or
authorization by the board in an amount not to exceed $1,000 for the first violation, $2,000 for the second violation
and $3,000 for the third violation and for each subsequent violation. All fines assessed and collected under this
section shall be remitted to the state treasurer in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-4215, and amendments
theteto. Upon receipt of each such remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state treasury
to the credit of the state general fund.

History: (L. 1992, ch. 151, § 6; L. 2001, ch. 5, § 304; July 1.)

74-1111. Assistant attorney general to represent board in proceedings or litigation arising from discharge of
board duties; appointment; salary.

(2) The attorney general shall appoint, with the approval of the board of nursing, an assistant attorney general
who shall carry out the duties under subsection (b). The attorney shall receive an annual salary fixed by the
attorney general with the approval of the board of nursmg The salary shall be paid from moneys
appropriated to the board of nursing in the board of nursing fee fund.

(b) The assistant attorney general appointed under subsection (a) shall represent the board of nursing in any
proceedings or litigation that may arise in the discharge of the duties of the board of nursing and shall
perform such other duties of a legal nature as may be directed by the board of nursing.

History: (L. 1993, ch, 194, § 19; July 1.)

74-1112. Applicant for licensure as a professional nurse, practical nurse or mental health technician to be
fingerprinted and submit to a state and national criminal history record check.

(a) The board of nursing may require an original applicant for licensure as a professional nurse, practical nurse
or mental health technician to be fingerprinted and submit to a state and national criminal history record
check. The fingerprints shall be used to identify the applicant and to determine whether the applicant has a
record of criminal history in this state or other jurisdictions. The board of nursing is authorized to submit
the fingerprints to the Kansas bureau of investigation and the federal bureau of investigation for a state and
national criminal history record check. The board of nursing may use the information obtained from
fingerprinting and the applicant’s criminal history for purposes of verifying the identification of any
applicant and in the official determination of character and fitness of the applicant for any licensure to
practice professional or practical nursing or mental health technology in this state.

(b) Local and state law enforcement officers and agencies shall assist the board of nursing in taking and
processing of fingerprints of applicants to practice professional or practical nursing or mental health
technology in this state and shall release all records of adult convictions and non convictions and adult
convictions or adjudications of another state or country to the board of nursing.

(c) The board shall fix a fee for fingerprinting of applicants or licensees, or both, as may be required by the
board in an amount necessary to reimburse the board for the cost of the fingerprinting. Fees collected
under this subsection shall be deposited in the criminal background and fingerprinting fund.

(d) There is hereby created in the state treasury the criminal background and fingerprinting fund. All moneys
credited to the fund shall be used to pay the Kansas bureau of investigation for the processing of
fingerprints and criminal history background checks for the board of nursing. The fund shall be
administered by the board of nursing. All expenditures from the fund shall be made in accordance with
appropriation acts upon warrants of the director of accounts and reports issued pursuant to vouchers
approved by the president of the board or a person designated by the president.

History: (L. 2008, ch. 154, § 5; July 1.)

~$2—



PROFESSIONAL AND PRACTICAL NURSES
STATUTES

65-1113. Definitions. When used in this act and the act of which this section is amendatory:

(a) “Board” means the board of nursing.

(b) “Diagnosis” in the context of nursing practice means that identification of and discrimination between
physical and psychosocial signs and symptoms essential to effective execution and management of the
nursing regimen and shall be construed as distinct from a medical diagnosis.

(c) “Treatment” means the selection and performance of those therapeutic measures essential to effective
execution and management of the nursing regimen, and any prescribed medical regimen.

(d) Practice of Nursing.

(1) The practice of professional nursing as performed by a registered professional nurse for compensation
or gratuitously, except as permitted by K.S.A. 65-1124, and amendments thereto, means the process in
which substantial specialized knowledge derived from the biological, physical, and behavioral sciences
is applied to: the care, diagnosis, treatment, counsel and health teaching of persons who are
experiencing changes in the normal health processes or who require assistance in the maintenance of
health or the prevention or management of illness, injury or infirmity; administration, supervision or
teaching of the process as defined in this section; and the execution of the medical regimen as
prescribed by a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery or a person licensed to practice
dentistry.

(2) The practice of nursing as a licensed practical nurse means the performance for compensation or
gratuitously, except as permitted by K.S.A. 65-1124, and any amendments thereto, of tasks and
responsibilities defined in part (1) of this subsection (d) which tasks and responsibilities are based on
acceptable educational preparation within the framework of supportive and restorative care under the
direction of a registered professional nurse, a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery or a

person licensed to practice dentistry.
(e) A “professional nurse” means a person who is licensed to practice professional nursing as defined in part

(1) of subsection (d) of this section.
A “practical nurse” means a person who is licensed to practice practical nursing as defined in part (2) of
p

subsection (d) of this section.

(g) “Advanced practice registered nurse” or “APRN” means a professional nurse who holds a license from the
board to function as a professional nurse in an advanced role, and this advanced role shall be defined by
rules and regulations adopted by the board in accordance with K.S.A. 65-1130, and amendments thereto.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 1; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 1; L. 1975 ch. 316, § 1; 1978, ch. 240, § 1; L. 1980, ch. 186, §
1, 1. 1983, ch. 206, § 6; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 39; Jan. 1,2012.)

65-1114. Unlawful acts.
(a) It shall be unlawful for any person:
(1) To practice or to offer to practice professional nursing in this state;
(2) to use any title, abbreviation, letters, figures, sign, card or device to indicate that any person isa
registered professional nurse;
(3) to practice or offer to practice practical nursing in this state; or
(4) to use any title, abbreviation, letters, figures, sign, card or device to indicate that any person is a
Jicensed practical nurse, unless such person has been duly licensed under the provisions of this act.
(b) It shall be unlawful for any person:
(1) To practice or offer to practice as an advanced practice registered nurse in this state; or
(2) to use any title, abbreviation, letters, figures, sign, card or device to indicate that any person is an
advance practice registered nurse, unless such person has been duly issued a license as an advanced
practice registered nurse under the Kansas nurse practice act.
History: (L. 1949, ch.331, § 3, L. 1975, ch. 316, § 2; L. 1978, ch. 240; § 3; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 7; L. 2011, ch. 114,

§ 40; Jan. 1, 2012.)

65-1115. Licensure of professional nurses; qualifications of applicants; examination; refresher course;
renewal license; title and abbreviation; temporary permit; exempt license.
(a) Qualifications of applicants. An applicant for a license to practice as a registered professional nurse shall:
(1) have graduated from an approved school of professional nursing in the United States or its territories or
from a school of professional nursing in a foreign country which is approved by the board as defined in
rules and regulations;
(2) have obtained other qualifications not in conflict with this act as the board may prescribe by rule and
regulation; and
(3) file with the board written application for a license.

— {3




(b) Applicant deficient in qualifications. If the board finds in evaluating any applicant that such applicant is
deficient in qualification or in the quality of such applicant’s educational experience, the board may require
such applicant to fulfill such remedial or other requirements as the board may prescribe.

(c) License.

(1) The board shall issue a license to an applicant to practice as a registered professional nurse who has:

(A) Met the qualifications set forth in subsections (a) and (b); -
(B) passed a written examination as prescribed by the board; and
(C) no disqualifying factors under K.S.A. 65-1120 and amendments thereto.

(2) The board may issue a license to practice nursing as a registered professional nurse to an applicant who
has been duly licensed as a registered professional nurse by examination under the laws of another
state or territory if, in the opinion of the board, the applicant meets the qualifications required of a
registered professional in this state. Verification of the applicant’s licensure status shall be required
from the original state of licensure.

(3) Refresher course. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b), an applicant for a license
to practice as a registered professional nurse who has not been licensed to practice professional nursing
for five years preceding application shall be required to successfully complete a refresher course as
defined by the board.

(4) Renewal license. A licensed professional nurse licensed under this act shall be eligible for renewal
licenses upon compliance with K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto.

(5) Licensure examination within 24 months of graduation.

(A) Persons who do not take the licensure examination within 24 months after graduation shall
petition the board for permission prior to taking the licensure examination. The board may require
the applicant to submit and complete a plan of study prior to taking the licensure examination.

(B) Persons who are unsuccessful in passing the licensure examination within 24 months after
graduation shall petition the board for permission prior to subsequent attempts. The board may
require the applicant to submit and complete a plan of study prior fo taking the licensure
examination a subsequent time. The study plan shall contain subjects related to deficiencies
identified on the failed examination profiles.

(6) An application for initial licensure or endorsement will be held awaiting completion of meeting
qualifications for a time period specified in rules and regulations.

(d) " Title and abbreviation. Any person who holds a license to practice as a registered professional nurse in this
state shall have the right to use the title, ‘‘registered nurse,”” and the abbreviation, ‘‘R.N.”” No other person
shall assume the title or use the abbreviation or any other words, letters, signs or figures to indicate that the
person is a registered professional nurse. :

(¢) Temporary permit. The board may issue a temporary permit to practice nursing as a registered professional
nurse for a period not to exceed 120 days. A temporary permit for 120 days may be issued to an applicant
for licensure as a registered professional nurse who is a graduate of a professional school of nursing in a
foreign country after verification of licensure in that foreign country and approval of educational
credentials.

(f) Exempt license. The board may issue an exempt license to any licensee as defined in rules and regulations
who makes written application for such license on a form provided by the board, who remits a fee as
established pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1118 and amendments thereto and who is not regularly engaged in the
practice of professional nursing in Kansas but volunteers professional nursing service or is a charitable
health care provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto. Each exempt licensee shall be
subject to all provisions of the nurse practice act, except as otherwise provided in this subsection (f). Each
exempt license may be renewed biennially subject to the provisions of this section. The holder of the
exempt license shall not be required to submit evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of
continuing nursing education for renewal. To convert an exempt license to an active license, the exempt
licensee shall meet all the requirements of subsection (c) or K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto. The
board shall have authority to write rules and regulations to carry out the provisions of this section.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 4;L. 1963, ch 314, § 2; L. 1968, ch. 231, §1; L 1972, ch. 231, § 9; L. 1975, ch. 316, §
3; L. 1982, ch. 261, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 1; L. 1986, ch. 233, § 1, L. 1990, ch. 221, § 1; L. 1992, ch. 151, § 1; L.
1993, ch. 194, § 9; L. 1994, ch. 149, § 1; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 1; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 1; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 1; L. 2009,

ch. 81, § 1; July 1.)

65-1116. Licensure of practical nurses; qualifications of applicants; examination; refresher course; renewal
license; title and abbreviation; temporary permit; exempt license.
(a) Qualification. An applicant for a license to practice as a licensed practical nurse shall:
(1) Have graduated from an approved school of practical nursing or professional nursing in the United
States or its territories or from a school of practical nursing or professional nursing in a foreign country
which is approved by the board as defined in rules and regulations;

_$a-



(b)

©

(d)

©

®

(2) have obtained other qualifications not in conflict with this act as the board may prescribe by rule and

regulation; and

(3) file with the board a written application for a license.

If the board finds in evaluating any applicant that such applicant is deficient in qualification or in the

quality of such applicant's educational experience, the board may require such applicant to fulfill such

remedial or other requirements as the board may prescribe.

License.

(1) The board shall issue a license to an applicant to practice as a practical nurse who has:

(A) Met the qualifications set forth in subsections (a) and (b);
(B) passed a written examination as prescribed by the board; and
(C) no disqualifying factors under K.S.A. 65-1 120 and amendments thereto.

(2) The board may issue a license to practice nursing as a practical nurse to an applicant who has been
duly licensed as a practical nurse by examination under the laws of another state or territory if, in the
opinion of the board, the applicant meets the qualifications required of a practical nurse in this state.
Verification of the applicant's licensure status shall be required from the original state of licensure.

(3) The board may authorize the educational requirement under subsection (a)(1) to be waived for an
applicant who has attained a passing score on the national council licensure examination for practical
nurses and provided evidence to the board of such applicant's practical nursing experience with the
military. To qualify for such a waiver, the applicant must have been a member of the army, navy,
marine corps, air force, air or army national guard, coast guard or any branch of the military reserves of
the United States, and separated from such military service with an honorable discharge. If such
applicant was separated from such military service with a general discharge under honorable
conditions and meets the requirements of this paragraph, the board may authorize the educational
requirements under subsection (2)(1) be waived.

(4) Refresher course. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b), an applicant for a license
to practice as a licensed practical nurse who has not been licensed to practice practical nursing for five
years preceding application shall be required to successfully complete a refresher course as defined by
the board.

(5) Renewal license. A licensed practical nurse licensed under this act shall be eligible for renewal licenses
upon compliance with K.8.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto.

(6) Licensure examination within 24 months of graduation.
(A) Persons who do not take the licensure examination within 24 months after graduation shall

petition the board for permission prior to taking the licensure examination. The board may require
the applicant to submit and complete a plan of study prior to taking the licensure examination.

(B) Persons who are unsuccessful in passing the licensure examination within 24 months after
graduation shall petition the board for permission prior to subsequent attempts. The board may
require the applicant to submit and complete a plan of study prior to taking the licensure
examination a subsequent time. The study plan shall contain subjects related to deficiencies
identified on the failed examination profiles.

(7) An application for initial licensure or endorsement will be held awaiting completion of meeting
qualifications for a time period specified in rules and regulations.
Title and abbreviation. Any person who holds a license to practice as a licensed practical nurse in this state
shall have the right to use the title, *‘licensed practical nurse,”” and the abbreviation, “L.P.N.’”” No other
person shall assume the title or use the abbreviation or any other words, letters, signs or figures to indicate
that the person is a licensed practical nurse.
Temporary permit. The board may issue a temporary permit to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse
for a period not to exceed 120 days. A temporary permit for 120 days may be issued to an applicant for
licensure as a licensed practical nurse who is a graduate of a practical school of nursing in a foreign country
after verification of licensure in that foreign country and approval of educational credentials.
Exempt license. The board may issue an exempt license to any licensee as defined in rules and regulations
who makes written application for such license on a form provided by the board, who remits a fee as
established pursuant to X.S.A. 65-1118 and amendments thereto and who is not regularly engaged in the
practice of practical nursing in Kansas but volunteers practical nursing service or is a charitable health care
provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto. Each exempt licensee shall be subject to
all provisions of the nurse practice act, except as otherwise provided in this subsection (f). Each exempt
license may be renewed biennially subject to the provisions of this section. The holder of the exempt
license shall not be required to submit evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of continuing
nursing education for renewal. To convert an exempt license to an active license, the exempt licensee shall
meet all the requirements of subsection (c) or K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto. The board shall
have authority to write rules and regulations to carry out the provisions of this section.

16




History:

(L. 1949, ch. 331, § 5; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 3; L. 1968, ch. 231, § 2; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 4; L. 1982, ch.

261, § 2; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 2; L. 1986, ch. 233, § 2; L. 1990, ch. 221, § 2; L. 1992, ch. 151, § 2; L. 1993, ch. 194, §
10; L. 1994, ch. 149, § 2; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 2; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 2; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 2; L. 2009, ch. 81, § 2; L.

2013, ch. 95, § 3; July 1.)

65-1117. Renewal of license; inactive license, fee; continuing education requirements; rules and regulations;
reinstatement of Iapsed license; notification of change in name or address or criminal conviction.

@

(b)

©

All licenses issued under the provisions of this act, whether initial or renewal, shall expire every two years.
The expiration date shall be established by the rules and regulations of the board. The board shall send a
notice for renewal of license to every registered professional nurse and licensed practical nurse at least 60
days prior to the expiration date of such person’s license. Every person so licensed who desires to renew
such license shall file with the board, on or before the date of expiration of such license, a renewal
application together with the prescribed biennial renewal fee. Every licensee who is no longer engaged in
the active practice of nursing may so state by affidavit and submit such affidavit with the renewal
application. An inactive license may be requested along with payment of a fee which shall be fixed by rules
and regulations of the board. Except for the first renewal for a license that expires within 30 months
following licensure examination or for renewal of a license that expires within the first nine months
following licensure by reinstatement or endorsement, every licensee with an active nursing license shall
submit with the renewal application evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of continuing nursing
education required by the board. The board by duly adopted rules and regulations shall establish the
requirements for such program of continuing nursing education. Continuing nursing education means
learning experiences intended to build upon the educational and experiential bases of the registered
professional and licensed practical nurse for the enhancement of practice, education, administration,
research or theory development to the end of improving the health of the public. Upon receipt of such
application, payment of fee, upon receipt of the evidence of satisfactory completion of the required
program of continuing nursing education and upon being satisfied that the applicant meets the requirements
set forth in K.S.A. 65-1115 or 65-1116 and amendments thereto in effect at the time of initial licensure of
the applicant, the board shall verify the accuracy of the application and grant a renewal license.

Any person who fails to secure a renewal license within the time specified herein may secure a

reinstatement of such lapsed license by making verified application therefor on a form provided by the

board, by rules and regulations, and upon furnishing proof that the applicant is competent and qualified to
act as a registered professional nurse or licensed practical nurse and by satisfying all of the requirements for

reinstatement including payment to the board of a reinstatement fee as established by the board. A

reinstatement application for licensure will be held awaiting completion of such documentation as may be

required, but such application shall not be held for a period of time in excess of that specified in rules and
regulations.

(1) Each licensee shall notify the board in writing of

(A) a change in name or address within 30 days of the change or
(B) a conviction of any felony or misdemeanor, that is specified in rules and regulations adopted by
the board, within 30 days from the date the conviction becomes final.

(2) As used in this subsection, ‘‘conviction’” means a final conviction without regard to whether the
sentence was suspended or probation granted after such conviction. Also, for the purposes of this
subsection, a forfeiture of bail, bond or collateral deposited to secure a defendant’s appearance in
court, which forfeiture has not been vacated, shall be equivalent to a conviction. Failure to so notify the
board shall not constitute a defense in an action relating to failure to renew a license, nor shall it
constitute a defense in any other proceeding.

History: (History: L. 1949, ch. 331, § 6; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 5; L. 1976, ch. 274, § 1; L. 1978, ch. 240, § 4; L.
1980, ch. 187, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 8; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 1; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 11; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 1; L. 1997,
ch. 146, § 1;1..2007, ch. 99, § 1; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 79; June 9.)

65-1118. Fees.
(a) The Boatd shall collect in advance fees provided for in this act as fixed by the board, but not exceeding:

Application for license — professional MUISE ... e 75.00
Application for license — practical IUISE ......v.vereriiiiinmsiiis e s 50.00
Application for biennial renewal of license — professional nurse and practical NUISE.........ovvincceciinnnee 60.00
Application for reinstatement 0f LICBIISE....vivviiieriiiniiiinicns s 70.00
Application for reinstatement of licenses with temporary permit .......o.vcvreernennnenniniereiiinen 100.00
Application for reinstatement of revoked ICENSE ......covvierievenii i 1,000.00

25.00

Certified cOpY Of HOBISE.. i ittt s s
DUPLICate OF LIEBMSE ...ccvuiriiiriiimititeiet st ra et s s et s s R
THACHIVE HCBIISE v vreureveerreierrermnreie e isstie e sessssatvbere e sheb s sbsss s st s b s e s Ra e e b e s R s R e s R e s b e e e s s bn R e s e e s eonasta st sreassanones



Application for license — advanced practice registered NUISE ........cooveeiiiioiiiiin 50.00

Application for license with temporary permit — advanced practice registered nurse .................... 100.00
Application for renewal of license — advanced practice registered NUISE ........coviieiiiiiinininnennens 60.00
Application for reinstatement of license — advanced practice registered nUISe ........vvvveeiivieeinenen 75.00
Application for authorization — registered nurse anesthetist ............oooiiviiiin 75.00
Application for authorization with temporary authorization - registered nurse anesthetist ............... 10.00
Application for biennial renewal of authorization — registered nurse anesthetist.............ccoeeeininnn 60.00
Application for reinstatement of authorization — registered nurse anesthetist........cumeerriniiinissicriennes 75.00
Application for reinstatement of authorization with

Temporary authorization — registered nurse anesthetist .....currverecrsensveniin e 100.00
Verification of license t0 another STALE ...c.vveviccieririciiiiiie sttt s saesernae e 30.00
Application for exempt license — professional and practical NUISE ......cc.cuvmiuiiiiririmmssner e 50.00
Application for biennial renewal of exempt license — professional and practical DUISE........ocveersirininnns 50.00
Application for exempt license — advanced practice registered NUISE ......covviimiicinisnisissenee 50.00
Application for biennial renewal of exempt license — advanced practice registered nurse ................ 50.00

(b) The board may require that fees paid for any examination under the Kansas nurse practice act be paid
directly to the examination service by the person taking the examination.

(¢) The board shall accept for payment of fees under this section personal checks, certified checks, cashier’s
checks, money orders or credit cards. The board may designate other methods of payment, but shall not
refuse payment in the form of a personal check. The board may impose additional fees and recover any
costs incurred by reason of payments made by personal checks with insufficient funds and payments made
by credit cards.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 7; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 4; L. 1973, ch. 249, § 1; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 6; L. 1978, ch.
347, § 11; L. 1980, ch. 188, § 1; L. 1986, ch. 233, § 3; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 2; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 1; L. 1993, ch. 194,
§ 12; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 3; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 5; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 41; L. 2017, ch. 31, § 1; July 1.)

65-1118a. Fees; consultants’ travel expenses.
(a) The board shall collect fees provided for in this act as fixed by the board, but not exceeding:

Application for approval — schools and programs of NUISING.......vvemiririnessimiisissiins s $1,000.00
Annual fee of approval — schools and programs Of NUISINE .....vvevereeeersessesissenmsienins s P 400.00
Application for approval of continuing education Providers........uviiiiinsn: 200.00
Annual fee for continuing nursing education Providers ... 75.00
Approval of single continuing nursing education offerings ... 100.00
Consultation by request, not to excesd per day oI SIte......vvieereneineniceis s 400.00

(b) In addition to the above prescribed fees, consultants’ fravel expenses shall be charged to the person, firm,
corporation or institution requesting consultation services to be provided by the board.
History: (L. 1981, ch. 244, § 1; L. 1990, ch. 221, § 3; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 2; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 13; L. 2001, ch.
161,§3; July 1.)

65-1119. Schools of nursing; approval; approval of providers of continuing education offerings;
application fee; criteria for evaluating out-of-state schools, nationally accredited schools of nursing.

(a) Application for approval. An approved school of nursing is one which has been approved as such by the
board as meeting the standards of this act, and the rules and regulations of the board. An institution desiring
to conduct an approved school of professional or practical nursing shall apply to the board for approval and
submit satisfactory proof that it is prepared to and will maintain the standards and basic professional
nursing curriculum or the required curriculum for practical nursing, as the case may be, as prescribed by
this act and by the rules and regulations of the board. Applications shall be made in writing on forms
supplied by the board and shall be submitted to the board together with the application fee fixed by the
board. The approval of a school of nursing shall not exceed 10 years after the granting of such approval by
the board. An institution desiring to continue to conduct an approved school of professional or practical
nursing shall apply to the board for the renewal of approval and submit satisfactory proof that it will
maintain the standards and basic professional nursing curriculum or the required curriculum for practical
nursing, as the case may be, as prescribed by this act and by the rules and regulations of the board.
Applications for renewal of approval shall be made in writing on forms supplied by the board. Each school
of nursing shall submit annually to the board an annual fee fixed by the board by rules and regulations to
maintain the approval status.

(b) Schools for professional nurses. To qualify as an approved school for professional nurses, the school must
be conducted in the state of Kansas, and shall apply to the board and submit evidence that:

(1) It is prepared to carry out the professional curriculum as prescribed in the rules and regulations of the

board; and

oo




©

Gy

©

®

(2) it is prepared to meet such other standards as shall be established by this law and the rules and
regulations of the board.

Schools for practical nurses. To qualify as an approved school for practical nurses, the school must be

conducted in the state of Kansas, and shall apply to the board and submit evidence that:

(1) Itis prepared to carry out the curriculum as prescribed in the rules and regulations of the board; and

(2) it is prepared to meet such other standards as shall be established by this law and the rules and
regulations of the board.

Survey. The board shall prepare and maintain a list of approved schools for both professional and practical
nurses whose graduates, if they have the other necessary qualifications provided in this act, shall be eligible
to apply for a license as a registered professional nurse or as a licensed practical nurse. A survey of the
institution or institutions and of the schools applying for approval shall be made by an authorized employee
of the board or members of the board, who shall submit a written report of the survey to the board. If, in the
opinion of the board, the requirements as prescribed by the board in its rules and regulations for an
approved school for professional nurses or for practical nurses are met, it shall so approve the school as
either a school for professional nurses or practical nurses, as the case may be. The board shall resurvey
approved schools on a periodic basis as determined by rules and regulations. If the board determines that
any approved school of nursing is not maintaining the standards required by this act and by rules and
regulations prescribed by the board, notice thereof in writing, specifying the failures of such school, shall
be given immediately to the school. A school which fails to correct such conditions to the satisfaction of the
board within a reasonable time shall be removed from the list of approved schools of nursing until such
time as the school shall comply with the standards. All approved schools shall maintain accurate and
current records showing in full the theoretical and practical courses given to each student.

Providers of continuing nursing education.

(1) To qualify as an approved provider of continuing nursing education offerings, persons, organizations
or institutions proposing to provide such continuing nursing education offerings shall apply to the
board for approval and submit evidence that the applicant is prepared to meet the standards and
requirements established by the rules and regulations of the board for such continuing nursing
education offerings. Initial applications shall be made in writing on forms supplied by the board and
shall be submitted to the board together with the application fee fixed by the board.

(2) A long-term provider means a person, organization or institution that is responsible for the
development, administration and evaluation of continuing nursing education programs and offerings.
Qualification as a long-term approved provider of continuing nursing education offerings shall expire
five years after the granting of such approval by the board. An approved long-term provider of
continuing nursing education offerings shall submit annually to the board the annual fee established by
rules and regulations, along with an annual report for the previous fiscal year. Applications for
renewal as an approved long-term provider of continuing nursing education offerings shall be made in
writing on forms supplied by the board.

(3) Qualification as an approved provider of a single continuing nursing education offering, which may be
offered once or multiple times, shall expire two years after the granting of such approval by the board.
Approved single continuing nursing education providers shall not be subject to an annual fee or annual
report.

(4) In accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the board, the board may approve individual
educational offerings for continuing nursing education which shall not be subject to approval under
other subsections of this section.

(5) The board shall accept offerings as approved continuing nursing education presented by: Colleges that
are approved by a state or the national department of education and providers approved by other state
boards of nursing, the national league for nursing, the national federation of licensed practical nurses,
the American nurses credentialing center or other such national organizations as listed in rules and
regulations adopted by the board.

(6) An individual designated by a provider of continuing nursing education offerings as an individual
responsible for CNE who has held this position for the provider at least five years immediately prior to
January 1, 1997, shall not be required to have a baccalaureate or higher academic degree in order to be
designated by such provider as the individual responsible for CNE.

Criteria for evaluating out-of-state schools. For the purpose of determining whether an applicant for

licensure who is a graduate of a school of professional or practical nursing located outside this state meets

the requirements of item (2) of subsection (a) of K.S.A. 65-1115 and amendments thereto or the
requirements of item (2) of subsection (a) of K.S.A. 65-1116 and amendments thereto, as appropriate, the
board by rules and regulations shall establish criteria for determining whether a particular school of
professional nursing located outside this state maintains standards which are at least equal to schools of
professional nursing which are approved by the board and whether a particular school of practical nursing
located outside this state maintains standards which are at least equal to schools of practical nursing which

-] 8-



are approved by the board. The board may send a questionnaire developed by the board to any school of

professional or practical nursing located outside this state for which the board does not have sufficient

information to determine whether the school meets the standards established under this subsection (f). The
questionnaire providing the necessary information shall be completed and returned to the board in order for
the school to be considered for approval. The board may contract with investigative agencies, commission
or consultants to assist the board in obtaining information about schools. In entering such contracts the
authority to approve schools shall remain solely with the board.

(g) The board may accept nationally accredited schools of nursing as defined in rule and regulation.

(1) Schools of nursing which have received accreditation from a board recognized national nursing
accreditation agency shall file evidence of initial accreditation with the board and shall file all reports
from the accrediting agency and any notice of any change in school accreditation status. The board
may grant approval based upon evidence of such accreditation.

(2) Schools of nursing holding approval based upon national accreditation are also respomsible for
complying with all other requirements as determined by rules and regulations of the board.

(3) The board may grant approval to a school of nursing with national accreditation for a continuing period
not to exceed 10 years.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, §8; L. 1963, ch. 314, §5; L. 1973, ch. 249, §2; L. 1978, ch. 240, § 5; L. 1980, ch.
188, § 2; L. 1980, ch. 186, § 2; L. 1981, ch. 244, § 2; L. 1982, ch. 261, § 3; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 3; L. 1983, ch. 206,
§9; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 14; L. 1988, ch. 243, § 2; L. 1990, ch. 221, § 4, L. 1997, ch. 146, § 2; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 4;

July 1.)

65-1120. Grounds for disciplinary actions; proceedings; witnesses; costs; professional incompetency defined;
criminal justice record information.

(a) Grounds for disciplinary actions. The board may deny, revoke, limit or suspend any license or authorization
to practice nursing as a registered professional nurse, as a licensed practical nurss, as an advanced practice
registered nurse or as a registered nurse anesthetist that is issued by the board or applied for under this act
or may publicly or privately censure a licensee or holder of a temporary permit or authorization, if the
applicant, licensee or holder of a temporary permit or authorization is found after hearing:

(1) To be guilty of fraud or deceit in practicing nursing or in procuring or attempting to procure a license
to practice nursing;

(2) to have been guilty of a felony or to have been guilty of a misdemeanor involving an illegal drug
offense unless the applicant or licensee establishes sufficient rehabilitation to warrant the public trust,
except that notwithstanding K.S.A. 74-120, and amendments thereto, no license or authorization to
practice nursing as a licensed professional nurse, as a licensed practical nurse, as an advanced practice
registered nurse or registered nurse anesthetist shall be granted to a person with a felony conviction for
a crime against persons as specified in article 34 of chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes Annotated, prior
to their repeal, or article 54 of chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes annotated, or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-
6104, 21-6325, 21-6326 or 21-6418, and amendments thereto;

(3) to have committed an act of professional incompetency as defined in subsection (e);

(4) to be unable to practice with skill and safety due to current abuse of drugs or alcohol;

(5) to be a person who has been adjudged in need of a guardian or conservator, or both, under the act for
obtaining a guardian or conservator, or both, and who has not been restored to capacity under that act;

(6) to be guilty of unprofessional conduct as defined by rules and regulations of the board;

(7) to have willfully or repeatedly violated the provisions of the Kansas nurse practice act or any rules and
regulations adopted pursuant to that act, including K.S.A. 65-1114 and 65-1122 and amendments
thereto;

(8) to have a license to practice nursing as a registered nurse or as a practical nurse denied, revoked,
limited or suspended, or to be publicly or privately censured, by a licensing authority of another state,
agency of the United States government, territory of the United States or country or to have other
disciplinary action taken against the applicant or licensee by a licensing authority of another state,
agency of the United States government, territory of the United States or country. A certified copy of
the record or order of public or private censure, denial, suspension, limitation, revocation or other
disciplinary action of the licensing authority of another state, agency of the United States government,
territory of the United States or country shall constitute prima facie evidence of such a fact for
purposes of this paragraph (8); or

(9) to have assisted suicide in violation of K.S.A. 21-3406, prior to its repeal, or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-
5407, and amendments thereto, as established by any of the following:

(A) A copy of the record of criminal conviction or plea of guilty for a felony in violation of K.S.A.
21-3406, prior to its repeal or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5407, and amendments thereto.

(B) A copy of the record of a judgment of contempt of court for violating an injunction issued under
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 60-4404, and amendments thereto.

-309—




®)

©

(d)

(®

®

(C) A copy of the record of a judgment assessing damages under X.S.A. 2012 Supp. 60-4405, and

amendments thereto.
Proceedings. Upon filing of a sworn complaint with the board charging a person with having been guilty of
any of the unlawful practices specified in subsection (a), two or more members of the board shall
investigate the charges, or the board may designate and authorize an employee or employees of the board to
conduct such investigation. After investigation, the board may institute charges. If an investigation, in the
opinion of the board, reveals reasonable grounds for believing the applicant or licensee is guilty of the
charges, the board shall fix a time and place for proceedings, which shall be conducted in accordance with
the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure act.
Witnesses. No person shall be excused from testifying in any proceedings before the board under this act
or in any civil proceedings under this act before a court of competent jurisdiction on the ground that such
testimony may incriminate the person testifying, but such testimony shall not be used against the person for
the prosecution of any crime under the laws of this state except the crime of perjury as defined in K.S.A.
2012 Supp. 21-5903, and amendments thereto.
Costs. If final agency action of the board in a proceeding under this section is adverse to the applicant or
licensee, the costs of the board’s proceedings shall be charged to the applicant or licensee as in ordinary
civil actions in the district court, but if the board is the unsuccessful party, the costs shall be paid by the
board. Witness fees and costs may be taxed by the board according to the statutes relating to procedure in
the district court. All costs accrued by the board, when it is the successful party, and which the attorney
general certifies cannot be collected from the applicant or licensee shall be paid from the board of nursing
fee fund. All moneys collected following board proceedings shall be credited in full to the board of nursing
fee fund, All moneys collected following board proceedings shall be credited in full to the board of nursing
fee fund.
Professional incompetency defined. As used in this section, “professional incompetency” means:
(1) One or more instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to a degree which
constitutes gross negligence, as determined by the board;
(2) repeated instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to a degree which
constitutes ordinary negligence, as determined by the board; or
(3) a pattern of practice or other behavior which demonstrates a manifest incapacity or incompetence to
practice nursing. ,
Criminal justice information. The board upon request shall receive from the Kansas bureau of investigation
such criminal history record information relating to arrests and criminal convictions as necessary for the
purpose of determining initial and continuing qualifications of licensees of and applicants for licensure by

the board.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 9; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 6; L. 1972, ch. 231, § 10; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 7; L. 1978, ch.
240, § 6; L. 1981, ch. 245, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 10; L. 1985, ch. 88, § 6; L.. 1986 ch, 233, § 4; L. 1990, ch. 221, §
5;1.1993, ch. 194, § 1, L. 1995, ch. 97, § 2, L. 1997, ch. 158, § 4, L. 1998, ch. 142 § 8; L. 2011, ch. 114 § 42; Jan.

1,2012))

65-1120a. Reinstatement of revoked licenses; burden of proof; board of nursing report to legislature.

(®)

()

(©)

A person whose license has been revoked may apply for reinstatement of the license after the expiration of
three years from the effective date of the revocation. Application for reinstatement shall be on a form
approved by the board and shall be accompanied by a reinstatement fee established by the board under
K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto. The burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence shall be
on the applicant to show sufficient rehabilitation to justify reinstatement of the license. If the board
determines a license should not be reinstated, the person shall not be eligible to reapply for reinstatement
for three years from the effective date of the denial. All proceedings conducted on an application for
reinstatement shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure act and
shall be reviewable in accordance with the Kansas judicial review act. The board, on its own motion, may
stay the effectiveness of an order of revocation of license.

On or before January 8, 2018, and on or before the first day of the regular session of the Kansas legislature
each year thereafter, the board of nursing shall submit a written report to the senate standing committee on
public health and welfare and the house of representatives standing committee on health and human
services that includes on an anonymous but individual and itemized basis: The number of individuals who
applied for reinstatement of a revoked license during the immediately preceding calendar year; the amount
of moneys charged to each such applicant; the number of such reinstatement applications that were granted
and denied; and the basis given to deny any such reinstatement application.

This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.

History: L.2017,ch.31, §2; July L.

-24L



65-1121a. Judicial review of board’s actions.
(2) Any agency action of the board of nursing pursuant to the Kansas nurse practice act is subject to review in
accordance with the Kansas judicial review act.
(b) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 318, § 145; L. 2010, ch. 17, § 128; July 1.)

65-1122. Misdemeanors; penalties. It is a violation of law for any person, firm, corporation or association to:

(a) Sell or fraudulently obtain or furnish any nursing diploma, license or record or aid or abet therein;

(b) practice professional nursing, practical nursing or practice as an advanced practice registered nurse, unless
duly licensed to do so;

(c) use in connection with such person’s name any designation implying that such person is a licensed
professional nurse, a licensed practical nurse or an advanced practice registered nurse unless duly licensed
to practice under the provisions of the Kansas nurse practice act, and such license is then in full force;

(d) practice professional nursing, practical nursing or as an advanced practice registered nurse during the time
a license issued under the provisions of the Kansas nurse practice act shall have expired or shall have been
suspended or revoked; -

(e) represent that a school for nursing is approved for educating either professional nurses or practical nurses,
unless such school has been duly approved by the board and such approval is then in full force;

(f) violate any provisions of the Kansas nurse practice act or rules and regulations adopted pursuant to that act;
or

(g) represent that a provider of continuing nursing education is approved by the board for educating either
professional nurses or practical nurses, unless the provider of continuing nursing education has been
approved by the board and the approval is in full force.

Any person who violates this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor, except that, upon conviction of a
second or subsequent violation of this section, such person is guilty of a class A misdemeanot.
History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 11; L. 1963, 314, § 7; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 9; L. 1978, ch. 240, § 8; L. 1983, ch. 206 §
12; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 2; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 5; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 43; Jan. 1, 2012.)

65-1123. Injunctions. When it appears to the board that any person is violating any of the provisions of this act or
that any person, firm, corporation, institution or association is employing (except as permitted under K.S.A. 65-1124
and amendments thereto) a person to perform professional nursing or practical nursing in Kansas, who is not
licensed under this act, the board may in its own name bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction for an
injunction against such violation or such employing, and the proper courts of this state may enjoin any person, firm
or corporation, institution or association from violation of this act or such employing without regard to whether
proceedings have been or may be instituted before the board or whether criminal proceedings have been or may be
instituted.

History: (L. 1949, ch.331, § 12; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 8; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 10; July 1.)

ACTS WHICH ARE NOT PROHIBITED

65-1124. Acts which are not prohibited. No provision of this law shall be construed as prohibiting:
(8) Gratuitous nursing by friends or members of the family;
(b) the incidental care of the sick by domestic servants or persons primarily employed as housekeepers;
(c) caring for the sick in accordance with tenets and practices of any church or religious denomination which
teaches reliance upon spiritual means through prayer for healing;

(d) nursing assistance in the case of an emergency;
(e) the practice of nursing by students as part of a clinical course offered through a school of professional or

practical nursing or program of advanced registered professional nursing approved in the United States or
its territories;

() the practice of nursing in this state by legally qualified nurses of any of the other states as long as the
engagement of any such nurse requires the nurse to accompany and care for a patient temporarily residing
in this state during the period of one such engagement not to exceed six months in length, and as long as
such nurses do not represent or hold themselves out as nurses licensed to practice in this state;

(g) the practice by any nurse who is employed by the United States government or any bureau, division or
agency thereof, while in the discharge of official duties;

(h) auxiliary patient care services performed in medical care facilities, adult care homes or elsewhere by
persons under the direction of a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery or a person licensed to
practice dentistry or the supervision of a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse;

(i) the administration of medications to residents of adult care homes or to patients in hospital-based long-term
care units, including state operated institutions for people with intellectual disability, by an unlicensed
person who has been certified as having satisfactorily completed a training program in medication

—p21 -




administration approved by the secretary of health and environment and has completed the program on
continuing education adopted by the secretary, or by an unlicensed person while engaged in and as a part of
such training program in medication administration;

(j) the practice of mental health technology by licensed mental health technicians as authorized under the
mental health technicians’ licensure act;

(k) performance in the school setting of nursing procedures when delegated by a licensed professional nurse in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the board;

() performance of attendant care services directed by or on behalf of an individual in need of in-home care as
the terms “attendant care services” and “individual in need of in-home care” are defined under K.S.A. 65-
6201, and amendments thereto;

(m) performance of a nursing procedure by a person when that procedure is delegated by a licensed nurse,
within the reasonable exercise of mdependent nursing judgment and is performed with reasonable skill and
safety by that person under the supervision of a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse;

(n) the practice of nursing by an applicant for Kansas nurse licensure in the supervised clinical portion of a
refresher course; or

(0) the teaching of the nursing process in this state by legally qualified nurses of any of the other states while in
consultation with a licensed Kansas nurse as long as such individuals do not represent or hold themselves
out as nurses licensed to practice in this state.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331 § 13; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 9; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 11; L. 1978, ch. 241, § 1; L. 1983, ch.
207, § 4; L. 1983, ch. 208, § 3; L. 1987, ch. 234, § 1; L. 1989, ch. 191, § 3; L. 1990, Ch. 222, § 1; L. 1992, ch. 134,
§ 1; L. 1994, ch. 149, § 3; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 3; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 5; L. 2000, ch. 113, § 1; L. 2007, ch. 102, § 1; L.

2012, ch. 91, § 41; July 1.)

65-1126. Invalidity of part. If any provision of this act or the application to any person or circumstance is held
invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the act which can be given effect without
the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this act are declared to be severable.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 15; June 30.)

65-1127. Tmmunity from liability in civil actions for reporting, communicating and investigating certain
information concerning alleged malpractice incidents and other information; conditions.

(a) No person reporting to the board of nursing under oath and in good faith any information such person may
have relating to alleged incidents of malpractice or the qualifications, fitness or character of a person
licensed to practice professional nursing or licensed to practice practical nursing shall be subject to civil
action for damages as a result of reporting such information.

(b) Any state, regional or local association of registered professional nurses or licensed practical nurses and the
individual members of any committee thereof, which in good faith investigates or communicates
information pertaining to the alleged incidents of malpractice or the qualifications, fitness or character of
any licensee or registrant to the board of nursing or to any committee or agent thereof, shall be immune
from liability in any civil action, that is based upon such information or transmittal of information if the
investigation and communication was made in good faith and did not represent as true any matter not
reasonably believed to be true.

History: (L. 1976, ch. 261 § 4; July 1.)

65-1129. Rules and regulations. The board shall adopt and promulgate rules and regulations as necessary to carry

out the provisions of this act (*).
History: (L. 1978, ch. 240, § 9; July 1.)

65-1135. Complaint or information relating to complaint confidential; exceptions.

(a) Any complaint or report, record or other information relating to the investigation of a complaint about a
person licensed by the board which is received, obtained or maintained by the board is confidential and
shall not be disclosed by the board or its employees in a manner which identified or enables identification
of the person who is the subject or source of such information except:

(1) In a disciplinary proceeding conducted by the board pursuant to law or in an appeal of the order of the
board entered in such proceeding, or to any party to such proceeding or appeal or such party's attorney;

(2) to the proper licensing or disciplinary authority of another jurisdiction, if any disciplinary action
authorized by K.S.A. 65-1120 and amendments thereto has at any time been taken against the licensee
or the board has at any time denied a license certificate or authorization to the person; or

(3) to the person who is the subject of the information, but the board may require disclosure in such a
manner as to prevent identification of any other person who is the subject or source of the information.

(b) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.

History: (L. 1993, ch. 194, § 8; July 1.)

_H—



65-1136. Intravenous fluid therapy; qualifications of licensed practical nurses to administer; definitions;
rules and regulations; advisory committee established; prohibitions; exceptions.

(a) Asused in this section:

(1) ““Provider’’ means a person who is approved by the board to administer an examination and to offer an
intravenous fluid therapy course which has been approved by the board.

(2) ““Person’’ means an individual, organization, agency, institution or other legal entity.

(3) ‘“Examination’’ means an intravenous fluid therapy competency examination approved by the board.

(4) “‘Supervision’> means provision of guidance by a qualified nurse for the accomplishment of a nursing
task or activity with initial direction of the task or activity and periodic inspection of the actual act of
accomplishing the task or activity.

(b) A licensed practical nurse may perform a limited scope of intravenous fluid therapy under the supervision
of a registered professional nurse. .

(c) A licensed practical nurse may perform an expanded scope of intravenous . fluid therapy under the
supervision of a registered professional nurse, if the licensed practical nurse:

(1) Successfully completes an intravenous fluid therapy course given by a provider and passes an
intravenous fluid therapy examination administered by a provider; or

(2) has had one year clinical experience, has performed intravenous fluid therapy prior to Tuly 1, 1995, and
has successfully passed an examination; or

(3) has successfully completed an intravenous fluid therapy course and passed an intravenous fluid therapy
examination not administered by a provider and, upon application to the board for review and approval
of such course and examination, the board has determined that such course and examination meets or
exceeds the standards required under this act for an approved course and approved examination; or

(4) prior to July 1, 2001, qualified under paragraph (3) of this sub-section (c), as such subsection existed
immediately prior to July 1, 2001, to perform an expanded scope of intravenous fluid therapy.

(d) The board may adopt rules and regulations:

(1) Which define the limited and expanded scope of practice of intravenous fluid therapy which may be
performed by a licensed practical nurse under the supervision of a registered professional nurse;

(2) which restricts specific intravenous fluid therapy practices;

(3) which prescribe standards for an intravenous fluid therapy course and examination required of a
provider;

(4) which govern provider record requirements;

(5) which prescribe the procedure to approve, condition, limit and withdraw approval as a provider; and

(6) which further implement the provisions of this section.

(¢) An advisory committee of not less than two board members and five nonboard members shall be
established by the board to advise and assist the board in implementing this section as determined by the
board. The advisory committee shall meet at least annually. Members of the advisory committee shall
receive amounts provided for in subsection () of K.S.A. 75-3223 and amendments thereto for each day of
actual attendance at any meeting of the advisory committee or any subcommittee meeting of the advisory
committee authorized by the board.

(f) No licensed practical nurse shall perform intravenous fluid therapy unless qualified to perform intravenous
fluid therapy under this section and rules and regulations adopted by the board.

(g) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the performance of intravenous fluid therapy by a
registered professional nurse.

(h) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit performance of intravenous fluid therapy by a licensed
practical nurse when performed by delegation of a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery or
dentistry.

(i) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.

History: (L. 1994, ch. 218, § 1; L. 2000, ch. 113, § 3; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 7; July 1.)

65-1165. Supervision of delegated nursing procedures.
(2) All nursing procedures, including but not limited to administration of medication, delegated by a licensed

nurse to a designated unlicensed person shall be supervised. The degree of supervision required shall be
determined by the licensed nurse after an assessment of appropriate factors which may include:
(1) The health status and mental and physical stability of the individual receiving the nursing care;
(2) the complexity of the procedure to be delegated;
(3) the training and competency of the unlicensed person to whom the procedure is to be delegated; and
(4) the proximity and availability of the licensed nurse to the designated unlicensed person when the
selected nursing procedure will be performed.

(b) As used in this section, “supervision” has the meaning ascribed to such term under subsection (a) of K.S.A.
65-1136 and amendments thereto.

(c) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.

~ B

E
g




History: (L. 1995, ch. 97, § 7; July 1.)

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS
APPROVAL OF SCHOOLS OF NURSING

60-1-102. Approval Procedure.
(a) An institution contemplating the establishment of a school of nursing shall:

(1) notify the board and supply such information as the board may require;

(2) submit the name and qualifications of the nurse administrator to the board for approval;

(3) employ a qualified nurse administrator;

(4) employ a second faculty member;

(5) have financial resources for faculty, other necessary personnel, equipment, supplies, counseling and
other services;

(6) have adequate clinical and educational facilities;

(7) have courses required for general education available;

(8) submit an application with detailed proposed three year budget, curriculum plan, list of prospective
faculty, organizational chart, organizing curricular framework, program objectives/outcomes, student
and faculty policies, program evaluation plan, contractual agreements for clinical facilities at least six
months before enrollment of students; and

(9) be approved before the admission of students.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 1991 Supp. 65-1119 effective Jan. 1, 1966; amended Jan. 1,
1973; amended, E~74-29, July 1, 1974; modified, L. 1975, ch. 302 & 1, May 1, 1975, amended April 26, 1993.)

60-1-103. Discontinuing a school of nursing. Each school terminating its program shall submit for approval to the
board the school’s plan for its currently enrolled students and the school’s plan for disposition of records.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective Jan. 1, 1966; amended, E-74-
29, July 1, 1974; amended May 1, 1975; amended April 26, 1993; amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

60-1-104. Definitions.

(a) “Affiliating agency” means an agency that cooperates with the nursing education program to provide
facilities and clinical resources for selected student experiences.

(b) “Approval” means the status granted to a program that provides evidence of both of the following:

(1) The program is operating on a sound educational basis that is consistent with the board’s educational
requirements as set forth in the nurse practice act.
(2) The program has no deficiencies.

(c) “Articulation” means the process by which a registered professional nurse, licensed practical nurse, or
mental health technician who is enrolled in a nursing education program is given credit for previous
nursing or mental health technology education.

(d) “Capstone course” means an experiential nursing course for students to demonstrate integration of
knowledge and professional nursing supervised by a preceptor during the final semester of the professional
nursing program.

(e) “Clinical learning” means an active process in which the student participates in nursing activities while
being guided by a member of the faculty.

(f) “Clinical observational experience” means the process in which the student views health care interventions
but does not participate in the interventions. Affiliating agency personnel are responsible for patient care.
However, a student may use any of the five senses while with the patient for the sole purpose of observing
while the agency professional who has assessed and provided care to the patient supports the student. The
instructor shall not be required to be present, but the students shall be included in the faculty-student ratio.

(g) “Conditional approval” means the limited-time status that the board imposes on a program if the board finds
evidence that an approved nursing education program has failed to comply with educational requirements as
set forth in the nurse practice act. When placed on conditional approval status, the program may be directed
by the board to cease admissions.

(h) “Community-based health care” means health care provided outside of hospitals and long-term care
facilities, including public health

departments, ambulatory health clinics, prenatal and well-baby clinics, hospice agencies, doctors' offices,
industrial settings, homeless shelters, nursing centers, home health agencies, and patients' homes.

(i) “Contractual agreement between a nursing education program and an affiliating agency” means a written
contract or letter signed by the legal representatives for the nursing education program and the affiliating

agency.



() “Converted nursing education program” means an already existing approved program that offers a terminal
credential different from the credential originally offered or a nursing education program that is offered by
a parent institution different from the institution originally approved.

(k) “Criteria for unscheduled survey visit” means those program characteristics indicating that the program is
not meeting board standards.

() “Distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledge and skills through information and instruction
encompassing a variety of technologies.

(m) “Faculty degree plan” means the plan for a course of study leading to a degree appropriate for a teaching
position.

(n) “Faculty hire exception” means that a program is allowed by the board to hire, on a limited-time basis and
in accordance with K.A.R. 60-2-103(c)(2), an instructor who does not meet the faculty qualifications if no

qualified individuals are available.
(0) “Generic student” means one who enters at the beginning of the nursing education program and plans to

complete the entire curriculum.

(p) “Initial approval” means the approval period from the first admission of nursing students to the program
through the first full implementation of the curriculum and graduation.

(qQ) “Loss of approval” means the status that results when the board withdraws its approval of a program.

(r) “National nursing accreditation agency” means either the national league for nursing accrediting
commission or the commission on collegiate nursing education.

(s) “Practical nursing education program” means a course of study in a technical school or college leading to a
certificate and preparing an individual for licensure as a practical nurse.

(t) “Preceptor” means a registered professional nurse who is not employed by the nursing education program
but who provides clinical supervision for nursing students in nursing courses taken during the nursing
education program. Nothing in this definition shall be construed to prohibit any contracted affiliating
agency's registered professional nurses from assisting with clinical activities selected by the nursing
education program faculty. The program faculty shall not be required to be in the affiliating agency's
facilities but shall be immediately available by telephone.

(u) “Professional nursing education program” means a course of study preparing an individual for licensure as
a registered professional nurse. This term shall include baccalaureate degree programs and associate
degree programs.

(1) A “baccalaureate degree program” shall be conducted in a four-year college or university and shall lead
to a baccalaureate degree with a major in nursing.

(2) An “associate degres program” shall be conducted in a college or university and shall lead to an
associate of arts, science, or applied science degree with a major in nursing.

(v) “Refresher course” means an educational program for nurses whose licenses are inactive or have lapsed for
more than five years.

(w) “Review course” means an education offering used to prepare students for the licensing examination.

(x) “Satellite program” means an existing, approved nursing education program that agrees to provide the

resources that are lacking at a location geographically separate from the parent program. The students may

spend a portion or all of their time at the satellite location. The curricula in all locations shall be the same,
and the credential shall be given by the parent institution.

(¥) A “school of nursing” means a nursing education program. This term may include any of the following:

(1) A college;

(2) aschool;

(3) division;

(4) a department;

(5) an academi¢ unit; or
(6) aprogram.

(z) “Transfer student” means one who is permitted to apply nursing courses completed at another institution to
a nursing education program of study. '

(aa) “Work-study” means a cooperative education course in which the student earns academic credit through
on-the-job practical work experience. Work-study shall not replace the required nursing education program

COUrses.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003;

amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

—15—




REQUIREMENTS FOR
APPROVED NURSING PROGRAMS

60-2-101. Requirements for initial approval.

®

(b)

©

CY

O

History:

Administration and organization.

(1) The nursing education program or the institution of which it is a part shall be a legally constituted
body. The controlhng body shall be responsible for general policy and shall provide for the financial
support of the nursing education program.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the nursing education program shall be vested in the
nurse administrator of the nursing education program.

(3) The program shall be accredited, be part of an institution that is accredited, or be in the process of
being accredited by an agency that is approved by the Umted States department of education.

Application. Each new or converted nursing education program shall submit an initial application 60

days before a scheduled board meeting. The application shall include the following:

(1) The course of study and credential to be conferred;

(2) the name and title of the administrator of the nursing education program;

(3) the name of the controlling body;

(4) the name and title of the administrator of the controlling body;

(5) all sources of financial support;

(6) ‘a proposed curriculum with the total number of hours of both theoretical and clinical instruction;

(7) the number, qualifications, and assignments of faculty members;

(8) aproposed date of initial admission of students to the program;

(9) the number of admissions each year and the number of students per admission;

(10) the admission requirements;

(11) a description of clinical facilities;

(12) copies of the current school bulletin or catalog;

(13) the name of each hospital and affiliating agency providing facilities for clinical experience. Each
such hospital and affiliating agency shall be licensed or approved by the appropriate entity or
entities; and

(14) signed contracts or letters from clinical facilities stating that they will provide clinical experiences
for the program’s students.

Surveys. Bach nursing education program shall be surveyed for initial approval by the board. An on-site

visit shall be conducted by the board to validate information submitted in the program’s initial

application before granting initial approval.

(1) During an initial survey, the nurse administrator of the program shall make available the following:
(A) Administrators, prospective faculty and students, clinical facility representatives, and support

services personnel to discuss the nursing education program;
(B) minutes of faculty meetings;
(C) faculty and student handbooks;
(D) policies and procedures;
(B) curriculum materials;
(F) acopy of the nursing education program's budget; and
(G) affiliating agency contractual agreements.

(2) The nurse administrator of the nursing education program or designated personnel shall take the
survey team to inspect the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities and
library facilities.

(3) Upon completion of the survey, the nurse administrator shall be asked to correct any inaccurate
statements contained in the survey report, limiting comments to etrors, unclear statements, and
omissions.

Approval. Each nursing education program seeking approval shall perform the following:

(1) Submit a progress report that includes the following:

(A) Updated information in all areas identified in the initial application;

(B) the current number of admissions and enrollments;

(C) the current number of qualified faculty; and

(D) detailed course syllabi; and

(2) have a site visit conducted by the board’s survey team after the first graduation.

Denial of approval. If a nursing education program fails to meet the requirements of the board within a

designated period of time, the program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to

deny approval.
(Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective Jan. 1, 1966; amended Jan. 1,

1968; amended Jan. 1, 1972; amended Jan. 1, 1973; amended, E-74-29, July 1, 1974; modified L. 1975, Ch. 302,

-26-



Sec. 2; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 396, Sec. 1, May 1, 1975; amended May 1, 1987; amended April 4, 1997; amended
June 14, 2002; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended Nov. 7, 2008; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-2-102. Reapproval requirements.

(a)
(b)

(©

(d)

(©

®

(8)
()

®

Based on the annual report, each nursing education program shall be reviewed for approval annually by the

board and pay an annual fee to the board.

Each resurvey of a nursing education program shall be valid for not more than 10 years. If the program is

accredited by a national nursing accreditation agency, the resurvey visit may be made in coordination with

a national nursing accreditation agency visit. Each program without national nursing accreditation shall be

resurveyed every five years.

A resurvey or unannounced site visit may be conducted at any time other than a scheduled survey visit if

the board determines that there is consistent evidence reflecting deficiencies in meeting the requirements or

the board is determining whether or not deficiencies have been corrected by a program on conditional
approval status,

The deficiencies sufficient to warrant action by the board shall include the deficiencies specified in

subsections (e) through (h). Failure to correct any deficiency within the prescribed period may result in the

board's placement of the program on conditional approval or may result in loss of approval.

(1) If the first-time candidates in a nursing education program have an annual pass rate on the licensure
examination of less than 75 percent for two consecutive years, the program shall receive a written
notice of concern from the board.

(2) The nursing education program shall have fhree months after the date of the written notice of concern
to submit a written report analyzing all aspects of the education program, identifying areas contributing
to the pass rate and the program's plan of action to improve the pass rate. The program shall have one
year after the date of the written notice to demonstrate evidence of implementing strategies to correct
deficiencies to bring the pass rate up to at least the 75 percent criterion.

(3) If the nursing education program has an annual pass rate of less than 75 percent for three consecutive
years, the program may receive a site visit for evaluation and recommendation. The nurse
administrator of the program shall appear before the board and present an analysis of the measures
taken and an analysis of the reasons for the program's pass rate below 75 percent.

A program that is accredited by a national nursing accrediting agency and is subsequently placed on

warning or whose accreditation by the national nursing accreditation agency is withdrawn shall be

scheduled immediately for a survey visit.

Failure to meet education statutes and regulations shall result in action by the board.

Each complaint involving educational statutes and regulations reported to board members or staff shall
initiate an investigation by the board and may require a survey visit, depending on the seriousness and
number of complaints.

The nurse administrator of the nursing education program shall make the following information available

during each site visit:

(1) Data about the program, including the following:

(A) The number of students;

(B) the legal body responsible for policy and support of program;

(C) the organizational chart;

(D) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and
expenditures;

(2) the nurse administrator's responsibilities;

(3) for each faculty member and preceptor, the following information:

(A) Job descriptions;

(B) selection policies;

(C) orientation plan;

(D) faculty organization by-laws;

(E) number of full-time and part-time faculty and non-nursing faculty with academic credentials and
assignments; and

(F) faculty-student clinical ratio;

(4) degree plan;

(5) a copy of the current curriculum with the date of last revision;

(6) the testing process with test analysis and the written test procedure;

(7) a description of education facilities, including classrooms, offices, library, and computers;

(8) a list of clinical facilities;

(9) the number of students by classes; and

(10)the policies for students as listed in K.A.R. 60-2-107.

— 87—




() During each resurvey, the nurse administrator of the nursing education program shall make available the
following:

(1) The educational institution's administrators, faculty, support services personnel, and students;

(2) staff members of selected affiliating agencies;

(3) faculty minutes for at least the three previous years;

(4) faculty and student handbooks;

(5) student records;

(6) policies and procedures;

(7) curriculum materials;

(8) a copy of the nursing education program's audited fiscal report covering the previous two years,
including income and expenditures;

(9) affiliating agency contractual agreements;

(10) program evaluation plan and evidence of program effectiveness; and

(11)school’s current catalog.

(k) The nurse administrator of the nursing education program or designated personnel shall take the survey
team to the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities, library facilities, and
clinical agencies.

(D Upon completion of the survey, the nurse administrator shall be asked to correct any inaccurate statements
contained in the survey report, limiting comments to errors, unclear statements, and omissions.

(m) If a nursing education program fails to meet the requirements of the board within a designated period of
time, the program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to deny reapproval. This
notification shall be made pursuant to K.S.A. 77-512 and amendments thereto of the Kansas administrative
procedures act and shall inform the program of its right to a hearing pursuant to the act. The parent
institution shall be responsible for securing and providing for the permanent custody and storage of records
of all students and graduates.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1118a and 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan.
24, 2003; amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

60-2-103. Faculty and preceptor qualifications.
(a) Professional nursing education programs.

(1) Each nurse faculty member shall be licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.

(2) Each preceptor shall meet the following requirements:

(A) Be licensed as a registered professional nurse in the state in which the individual is currently
practicing nursing; and

(B) complete a preceptor orientation which shall include information about the factors influencing
the student-preceptor relationship and course information.

(3) Each'program shall have a written plan that includes the method of selection of preceptors, the roles of
the faculty members and preceptors, and the methods of contact between faculty members and
preceptors during the preceptorship.

(4) Each nurse faculty member shall have academic preparation and experience as follows:

(A) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the
nursing education program shall have had successful experience in administration or teaching
and shall have a graduate degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse administrator after July 1,
1999 shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for any person whose graduate degree is
conferred on or before July 1, 1999.

(B) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate
degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member after July 1, 2001 shall have a
graduate degree in nursing, preferably in the clinical area being taught, except for any person
whose graduate degree is conferred before July 1, 2001.

(C) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a graduate degree or
provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a graduate degree. Each
person who is hired as a nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction after July 1,
2001 shall meet one of the following requirements:

(i) Have a graduate degree in nursing, preferably in the clinical area being taught, except for any
person whose graduate degree is conferred on or before July 1, 2001; or
(i) provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a graduate degree with
the graduate degree to be in nursing if the degree is projected to be completed after July 1,
2001.
(b) Practical nursing education programs.
(1) Bach nurse faculty member shall be licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.
(2) Each nurse faculty member shall have academic preparation and experience as follows:

_3%



(A) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the
nursing education program shall have had successful experience in administration or teaching
and shall have a graduate degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse administrator after July 1,
1999 shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for any person whose graduate degree is
conferred on or before July 1, 1999.

(B) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a
baccalaureate degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member after July 1, 2001
shall have a baccalaureate or higher degree in nursing, except for any person whose degree is
conferred on or before July 1, 2001.

(C) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a baccalaureate
degree or provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a baccalaureate
degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction
after July 1, 2001 shall meet one of the following requirements:

(i) Have a baccalaureate or higher degree in nursing, except for any person whose degree is
conferred on or before to July 1, 2001; or
(ii) provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a baccalaureate or
higher degree, with the degree to be in nursing if the degree is projected to be completed
after July 1, 2001.
(¢) (1) For each nursing education program, each nurse administrator shall submit to the board the following:

(A) A faculty qualification report for each faculty member newly employed. Faculty with a
continuing appointment shall have an appropriate degree;

(B) a faculty degree plan reflecting completion of the degree within six years for each instructor
without the appropriate degree. Upon completion of the degree, a transcript showing
completion of the program shall be submitted to the board; and |

(C) notification and a rationale for each faculty member who is not following the degree plan as
submitted.

(2) The nurse administrator may request a faculty hire exception to be approved by the board's
professional staff, if faculty meeting the criteria specified in this regulation are not available, by
providing documentation of the following:

(A) A lack of qualified applicants;

(B) a rationale for the need to hire the applicant;

(C) the applicant's qualifications; and

(D) a plan for faculty recruitment.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2001 Supp. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended January

24,2003.)

60-2-104. Curriculum requirements.
(a) The faculty in each nursing education program shall develop a curriculum to meet program and graduate
outcomes and fulfill these requirements:
(1) Identify the competencies of the graduate for the level of nursing practice;
(2) determine the approach and content for learning experiences;
(3) direct clinical instruction as an integral part of the program; and
(4) provide for learning experiences of the depth and scope needed to fulfill the objectives or outcomes of
nursing courses.
(b) The curriculum in each nursing education program shall include the following:
(1) Content in the biological, physical, social, and behavioral sciences that provides a foundation for safe
and effective nursing practice;
(2) the art and science of nursing; and
(3) didactic content and clinical experience to meet the objectives or outcomes specified in subsection (c)
or (d).
(c) Each professional nursing program shall provide instruction and clinical experience in the following areas:
(1) The aspects of a safe, effective care environment, including the management of care, safety, and
infection control;
(2) health promotion and maintenance, including growth and development through the life span and
prevention and early detection of disease;
(3) psychosocial integrity, including coping, adaptation, and psychosocial adaptation; and
(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacology, parenteral therapies,
reduction of risk potential, and physiological adaptation.
(d) Each practical nursing program shall provide instruction and clinical experience in the following areas:
(1) The aspects of a safe, effective care environment, including the coordination of care, safety, and

infection control;

20—




(®

®

(®

(h)

®
@

(2) health promotion and maintenance, including growth and development through the life span and
prevention and early detection of disease;

(3) psychosocial integrity, including coping, adaptation, and psychosocial adaptation; and

(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacology, reduction of risk potential,
and physiological adaptation.

Minimum length of program.

(1) Each practical nursing education program shall have a minimum of 15 credit hours in nursing courses
or the equivalent in clock-hours. :

(2) Each professional nursing education program shall have a minimum of 30 credit hours in the nursing
major.

The faculty in each nursing education program shall develop and implement a written plan that meets the

following requirements:

(1) Provides evidence of program evaluation and effectiveness; and

(2) is used for ongoing program improvement.

Each nursing education program shall submit major curriculum revisions for approval by the board at least

30 days before the board meetings. The program shall have received board approval before

implementation. Major curriculum revisions shall include the following:

(1) Any change in the plan of nursing curriculum organization involving philosophy, number of semesters
of study, or the delivery method of nursing courses;

(2) any change in content requiring a change of clock-hours or credit hours in nursing courses; and

(3) any change in the number of students to be admitted to the nursing education program.

Each nursing education program shall submit minor curriculum revisions of a course's content, title,

objectives, or outcomes to the board's education specialist for approval, which shall be received by the

program before implementation.

The nurse administrator shall submit to the board office each change not requiring board approval. This

information shall be submitted in writing with the annual report. .

Each nursing education program shall have an articulation plan.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003;
amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

60-2-105. Clinical resources.
(a) Written contractual agreements between the nursing education program and each affiliating agency shall be

(b)
©

signed and kept on file in the nursing education program office.
Clinical learning experiences and sites shall be selected to provide learning opportunities necessary to

achieve the nursing education program objectives or outcomes.
The faculty of each nursing education program shall be responsible for student learning and evaluation in

the clinical area.

(d) The nursing education program shall provide verification that each affiliating agency used for clinical

(©)
®

(8)

instruction has clinical facilities that are adequate for the number of students served in terms of space,

equipment, and other necessary resources, including an adequate number of patients or clients necessary to

meet the program objectives or outcomes.

A maximum of a 1:10 faculty-to-student ratio, including students at observational sites, shall be maintained

during the clinical experience.

Clinical observational experiences.

(1) The objectives or outcomes for each observational experience shall reflect observation rather than
participation in nursing interventions.

(2) Affiliating agencies in which observational experiences take place shall not be required to be staffed by
registered nurses.

(3) Observational experiences shall constitute no more than 15 percent of the total clinical hours for the
course, unless approved by the board.

Clinical experiences with preceptors shall be no more than 20 percent of the total clinical hours of the

nursing education program. This prohibition shall not apply to the capstone course.

(h) Each affiliating agency used for clinical instruction shall be staffed independently of student assignments.
(i) The number of affiliating agencies used for clinical experiences shall be adequate for meeting curriculum

objectives or outcomes. The nursing education program faculty shall provide the affiliating agency staff
with the organizing curriculum framework and either objectives or outcomes for clinical learning

experiences used.

(i) A sufficient number and variety of patients representing all age groups shall be utilized to provide learning

experiences that meet curriculum objectives or outcomes. If more than one nursing education program usés
the same affiliating agency, the nursing education programs shall document the availability of appropriate
learning experiences for all students.

— -



History:  (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003;
amended March 6, 2009.)

60-2-106. Educational facilities. ‘
(a) Classrooms, laboratories, and conference rooms shall be available when needed and shall be adequate in

size, number, and type according to the number of students and the educational purposes for which the
rooms are to be used.
(b) Each nursing education program shall provide the following:
(1) A physical facility that is safe and is conducive to learning;
(2) offices that are available and adequate in size, number, and type to provide the faculty with privacy in
counseling students; )
(3) secure space for nursing student records; and
(4) current technological resources.
(c) The library resources, instructional media, and materials shall be of sufficient recency, pertinence, level of
content, and quantity as indicated by the curriculum to meet the needs of nursing students and faculty.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003;

amended March 6, 2009.)

60-2-107. Student policies.
(2) Each nursing education program shall have clearly defined written policies for the following:
(1) Admission:
(A) Generic students;
(B) transfer students; and
(C) articulation;
(2) oral and written English proficiency in reference to K.AR. 60-3-106;
(3) readmission;
(4) progression;
(5) counseling and guidance;
(6) student role versus employee role;
(7) representation on faculty governance;
(8) graduation;
(9) refund policies governing all fees and tuition paid by students; and
(10)ethical practices for the performance of activities including recruitment, admission, and advertising.

(b) Each nursing education program shall have a written policy providing information to any student who may
be subject to licensure denial under K.S.A. 65-1120, and amendments thereto. The information shall be
provided before admission to the nursing education program.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Nov. 7,2008.)

60-2-108. Reports. {
(a) An annual report and all applicable fees shall be submitted to the board by each nursing education program
on or before June 30 of each year and shall include the following:
(1) Changes in program policies, organizing curriculum framework, objectives or outcomes, and major
and minor curriculum changes;

(2) faculty responsibilities for required and elective nursing courses;

(3) the name, license number, academic credentials, employment date, and full- or part-time status of each
member of the faculty;

(4) for each preceptor, the name, license number, academic credentials, current clinical area of practice,
and place where currently employed;

(5) the nurse administrator's teaching responsibilities;

(6) for each affiliating agency, the following information:
(A) The name;
(B) the location; and
(C) the student-faculty clinical ratio for the reporting period

(7) statistics for generio, articulation, and transfer students, including the following:
(A) Admissions, readmissions, withdrawals, and graduations; and
(B) first-time pass rate for each of the last five years;

(8) faculty statistics, including name, number, and credentials;

(9) the budget spent for library and audiovisual acquisitions to support the nursing program for the most
recent year,

(10)an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and
expenditures;

P




(11)any complaints involving educational statutes and regulations;

(12)a response to the recommendations and requirements from the last annual report or last survey visit;
(13)plans for the future;

(14)a description of the practices used to safeguard the health and well-being of students; and

(15)a copy of the school’s current catalog.

(b) If the nursing education program fails to meet the requirements of the board or to submit required reports
within a designated period of time, the program shall be removed from the list of approved nursing
education programs after receiving notice and being given an opportunity to be heard.

History: These proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas administrative
procedure act. (Authorized by and implementing K.8.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003;

amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

REQUIREMENTS FOR
LICENSURE AND STANDARDS OF PRACTICE

60-3-101. Licensure.
(a) Licensure by examination.

(1) Not later than 30 days before the examination date, each applicant for licensure by examination shall
file with the board a completed application and tender the fee prescribed by K.A.R. 60-4-101.

(2) The application shall be filed on a form adopted by the board.

(3) Each applicant for nursing licensure shall take and pass the examination prepared by the national
council of state boards of nursing.

(b) Licensure by endorsement.

(1) Each applicant for licensure by endorsement shall file with the board a completed application and
tender the fee prescribed by K.AR. 60-4-101. The application shall be filed on a form adopted by the
board.

(2) Verification of a current Kansas license shall be provided to other state boards upon request and upon
payment of the prescribed fee.

(c) Information regarding examinations.

(1) The examination for licensure shall be administered at designated sites.

(2) Each candidate shall present a validated admission card in order to be admitted to the examination
center.

(3) Any applicant cheating or attempting to cheat during the examination shall be deemed not to have
passed the examination.

(4) If the answer key is lost or destroyed through circumstances beyond the control of the board, the
candidate shall be required to retake the examination in order to meet requirements for licensure,
except that there shall be no examination fee charged to the applicant.

(5) Individual examination results shall be released to the school from which the examinee graduated.

(6) Any candidate requesting modifications to the examination procedures or materials because of a
learning disability shall provide written documentation from the appropriate medical professional
confirming the learning disability, an evaluation completed within the last five years by a learning
disabilities evaluation team, and a letter from the nursing program confirming learning and testing
modifications made during the course of study.

(d)  Application for reexamination. Any applicant who fails to make a passing score on the licensure
examination may retake the examination and shall pay an examination fee for each retest as established
by K.A.R. 60-4-101.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 1997 Supp. 65-1115 and K.8.A. 1997 Supp. 65-
1116; effective Jan. 1, 1966; amended Jan. 1, 1972; amended, E-74-29, Tuly 1, 1974; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302,
Sec. 3, May 1, 1975; amended May 1, 1980; amended May 1, 1987; amended April 26, 1993; amended Jan. 29,

1999.)

60-3-102. Duplicate of initial license. When an individual’s initial license has been lost or destroyed, a duplicate
may be issued by the board upon payment of the fee specified in K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 74-1106; effective Jan. 1, 1966;
amended Jan. 1, 1972; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 11, May 1, 1975; amended Nov. 21, 1994; amended April

29, 2016.)

60-3-103. Change of name. If an applicant for licensure or a licensee changes that individual’s name after
submitting an application or obtaining a license, the applicant or licensee shall submit legal documentation ot an
affidavit indicating the change of name upon a form approved by the board. The applicant or licensee shall submit
the document to the board within 30 days of the change, pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto.

-32-



History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1117; effective Jan 1, 1966;
amended May 1, 1975; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-3-105. Reinstatement of license.

(2

Any applicant whose Kansas license has lapsed may, within five years of its expiration date, reinstate that
license by submitting satisfactory proof that the applicant has obtained 30 contact hours of approved
continuing nursing education within the preceding two-year period.

(b) Any applicant whose Kansas license has lapsed for more than five years beyond its expiration date may

reinstate the license by submitting evidence of:

(1) current licensure in another jurisdiction which requires completion of a number of contact hours of
continuing nursing education for license renewal which are equivalent to or greater than the number of
hours required in Kansas;

(2) licensure in another jurisdiction sometime during the preceding five-year period, and completion of 30
contact hours of approved continuing nursing education within the preceding two-year period; or

(3) satisfactory completion of a refresher course approved by the board.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 1994 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 1995, Ch. 97, § 1;
implementing K.S.A. 1994 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 1995, Ch. 97, § 1; effective Feb. 15, 1977; amended
May 1, 1987; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 9, 1994; amended February 16, 1996.)

60-3-106. Licensure qualifications.

(@

(®)

©

(d

O]

®

As part of the application process, each individual applying for original licensure in Kansas who is a
graduate of a foreign nursing school shall submit that individual’s education and licensure credentials for
evaluation to a credentialing agency approved by the board.
Any individual applying for licensure in Kansas who is a graduate of a foreign nursing school in which
instruction was not in English may be granted a license if that individual meets all other requirements for
licensure in effect at the time of application and shows proof of proficiency in English by passing one of
the following:
(1) The test of English as a foreign language and the test of spoken English; or
(2) similar examinations, as approved by the board.
Each graduate of a foreign nursing school licensed in another jurisdiction shall submit that individual’s
education and licensure credentials for evaluation to a credentialing agency approved by the board or to the
board’s representative.
If an individual fails to pass the licensure examination or does not take the licensure examination within 24
months after graduation, the individual shall petition the board in writing before being allowed to take or
retake the licensure examination. The petition shall be submitted on a form provided by the board and shall
contain the following, as applicable:
(1) The name of the school of graduation;
(2) the date of graduation;
(3) the number of months or years since graduation;
(4) the number of times that the individual has taken the licensure examination;
(5) the dates of the licensure examinations;
(6) areas of deficiency identified on the diagnostic profile for each examination;
(7) copies of all diagnostic profiles;
(8) any study completed since the last attempt of taking the licensure examination;
(9) any work experience in the last two years; and
(10)a sworn statement by the petitioner that the facts contained in the petition are true to the best of that
person’s knowledge and belief.
An individual shall be allowed by the board to retake the licensure examination after 24 months from
graduation only upon demonstrating to the board’s satisfaction that the individual has identified and
addressed the reasons for prior failure and that there is a reasonable probability that the individual will pass
the examination. A plan of study or review course may be required by the board before the individual
retakes the licensure examination.
If the board requires a plan of study before retaking the licensure examination, the plan shall contain the
following:
(1) A list of all the low performance areas of the test plan identified by the diagnostic profile from each
examination;

(2) a specific content outline for all of the areas of low performance on the diagnostic profile;
(3) methods of study, including the following:

(A) Self-study;

(B) study groups;

(C) tutors; or

s




(D) any other methods approved by the board;
(4) aschedule for study that meets the following requirements:
(A) 30 hours for each low performance area;
(B) a start date; and
(C) completion in six months or the petition shall be considered abandoned;
(5) learning resources identified to be used in the study that meet these requirements:
(A) A written bibliography in a standard documentation format, with resources no more than five
years old; and
(B) four types for each low performance area selected from the list as follows:
(i) Textbooks;
(ii) journals;
(iii) review books;
(iv) audiovisuals;
(v) computer-assisted instruction; or
(vi) computer review programs.
(g) A registered professional nurse shall provide written verification that the individual has completed the
study plan. :
(h) Academic nursing courses, clinical observations, or other learning activities to meet study requirements
may also be prescribed by the board.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1115 and K.S.A. 65-1116; effective Feb. 15,
1977; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 9, 1994; amended April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 29, 1999; amended
June 14, 2002; amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

60-3-106a. Temporary permit.

(a) A temporary permit to practice as a registered professional nurse or licensed practical nurse for a period not
to exceed 120 days may be issued to an applicant who holds a license in a state or territory of the United
States that was granted by an examination approved by the board for either of the following:

(1) To enable the applicant to gain employment while completing continuing education requirements
necessary for reinstatement of a Kansas license; or )

(2) to enable the applicant to gain employment while completing the requirements necessary for
endorsement.

(b) A copy of the applicant’s current nursing license in another state or in a territory of the United States shall
be required for issuance of a temporary permit for endorsement and for reinstatement of a Kansas license as
prescribed by K.A.R. 60-3-105.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1115, K.S.A.
65-1116, and K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-1117; effective May 9, 1994; amended April 3, 1998; amended July 29, 2005;

amended Nov. 7, 2008.)

60-3-107. Expiration dates of applications. Applications for initial licensure by examination or endorsement and
for reinstatement while awaiting documentation of qualifications shall be active for six months.
(a) The expiration date of each application shall be six months after the date of receipt at the board's office.
(b) If the application has expired, each individual seeking licensure shall submit a new application along with
the appropriate fee as prescribed by K.AR. 60-4-101.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1115, K.S.A. 65-1116, and K.S.A. 65-1117; effective, E-77-
8, March 19, 1976; effective Feb. 15, 1977; amended April 3, 1998; amended July 29, 2005.)

60-3-108. License expiration and renewal.

(a) Except as specified in subsection (b), all licenses for registered professional nurses and licensed practical

nurses shall be renewed according to the following requirements:
(1) The expiration date of each license shall be the last day of the month in which the licensee's birthday
occurs.
(2) (A) The renewal date for each licensee whose year of birth is an odd-numbered year shall be in each
odd-numbered year.
(B) The renewal date for each licensee whose year of birth is an even-numbered year shall be in each
even-mumbered year.

(b) If a licensee would otherwise be required to renew the license within six months from the date on which the
licensee qualified for the license, the expiration and renewal date shall be the last day of the month
following the licensee's third birthday from thie date of licensure or reinstatement.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1117 and K.S.A. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1117; effective,
E-77-8, March 19, 1976; effective Feb. 15, 1977; amended E-79-8, March 16, 1978; amended May 1, 1979;

amended July 29, 2005.)

33—



60-3-109a. Standards of practice.
(a) Each registered professional nurse shall be familiar with the Kansas nurse practice act, the standards of
practice of the profession and the code of ethics for professional nurses.
(b) Each licensed practical nurse shall be familiar with the Kansas nurse practice act, the standards of practice
and the code of ethics for practical nursing.
History: (Authorized by K.8.A. 65-1113; implementing K.S.A. 74-1106; effective May 1, 1985.)

60-3-110. Unprofessional conduct. Any of the following shall constitute “unprofessional conduct”:

(a) Performing acts beyond the authorized scope of the level of nursing for which the individual is licensed;

(b) assuming duties and responsibilities within the practice of nursing without making or obtaining adequate
preparation or maintaining competency;

(c) failing to take appropriate action or to follow policies and procedures in the practice situation designed to
safeguard each patient;

(d) inaccurately recording, falsifying, or altering any record of a patient or agency or of the board;

(e) physical abuse, which shall be defined as any act or failure to act performed intentionally or carelessly that
causes or is likely to cause harm to a patient. This term may include any of the following:

(1) The unreasonable use of any physical restraint, isolation, or medication that harms or is likely to harm
a patient;

(2) the unreasonable use of any physical or chemical restraint, medication, or isolation as punishment, for
convenience, in conflict with a physician's order or a policy and procedure of the facility or a state
statute or regulation, or as a substitute for treatment, unless the use of the restraint, medication, or
isolation is in furtherance of the health and safety of the patient;

(3) any threat, menacing conduct, or other nontherapeutic or inappropriate action that results in or might
reasonably be expected to result in a patient’s unnecessary fear or emotional or mental distress; or

(4) failure or omission to provide any goods or services that are reasonably necessary to ensure safety and
well-being and to avoid physical or mental harm;

(f) commission of any act of sexual abuse, sexual misconduct, or sexual exploitation related to the licensee's
practice;

(g) verbal abuse, which shall be defined as any word or phrase spoken inappropriately to or in the presence of a
patient that results in or might reasonably be expected to result in the patient’s unnecessary fear, emotional
distress, or mental distress;

(h) delegating any activity that requires the unique skill and substantial specialized knowledge derived from
the biological, physical, and behavioral sciences and judgment of the nurse to an unlicensed individual in
violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or to the detriment of patient safety;

(i) assigning the practice of nursing to a licensed individual in violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or to
the detriment of patient safety;

() violating the confidentiality of information or knowledge concerning any patient;

(k) willfully or negligently failing to take appropriate action to safeguard a patient or the public from
incompetent practice performed by a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse.
"Appropriate action" may include reporting to the board of nursing;

() leaving an assignment that has been accepted, without notifying the appropriate authority and allowing
reasonable time for replacement;

(m) engaging in conduct related to licensed nursing practice that is likely to deceive, defraud, or harm the
public;

(n) diverting drugs, supplies, or property of any patient or agency;

(0) exploitation, which shall be defined as misappropriating a patient's property or taking unfair advantage of a
patient's physical or financial resources for the licensee's or another individual's personal or financial
advantage by the use of undue influence, coercion, harassment, duress, deception, false pretense, or false
representation;

(p) solicitation of professional patronage through the use of fraudulent or false advertisements, or profiting by
the acts of those representing themselves to be agents of the licensee;

(q) advertising nursing superiority or advertising the performance of nursing services in a superior manner;

(r) failing to comply with any disciplinary order of the board;

(s) failing to submit to a mental or physical examination or an alcohol or drug screen, or any combination of
these, when so ordered by the board pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4924 and amendments thereto, that the
individual is unable to practice nursing with reasonable skill and safety by reason of a physical or mental
disability or condition, loss of motor skills or the use of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances, or any
combination of these;

(t) failing to complete the requirements of the impaired provider program of the board;

(u) failing to furnish the board, its investigators, or its representatives with any information legally requested by

3%




the board,
(v) engaging in nursing practice while using a false or assumed name or while impersonating another person
licensed by the board,;
(w) practicing without a license or while the license has lapsed;
(x) allowing another person to use the licensee's license to practice nursing; or
(y) knowingly aiding or abetting another in any act that is a violation of any health care licensing act.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1120; effective May 1, 1982;
amended Sept. 27, 1993; amended Sept. 6, 1994; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-3-111. Inactive license.
(a) Before expiration of an active license, a registered professional nurse or licensed practical nurse may
request to be put on inactive status.
{b) The request shall be accompanied by the inactive license fee, as prescribed by K.A.R. 60-4-101.
(c¢) Continuing nursing education shall not be required while on inactive status.
(d) The licensee shall remain on inactive status until filing an application and meeting all the requirements for
reinstatement.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 65-1117 and 65-1118; effective

April 26, 1993; amended October 12, 2001.)

60-3-112. Exempt license.
(a) An exempt license shall be granted only to a registered professional or practical nurse who meets these
requirements:
(1) Isnotregularly engaged in nursing practice in Kansas, but volunteers nursing services or is a charitable
health care provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto; and
(2) (A) Has been licensed in Kansas for the five years previous to applying for an exempt license; or
(B) has been licensed in another jurisdiction for the five years previous to applying for an exempt
license and meets all requirements for endorsement into Kansas.
(b) The expiration date of the exempt license shall be in accordance with K.A.R. 60-3-108.
(c) Each application for renewal of an exempt license shall be submitted upon a form furnished by the board
and shall be accompanied by the fee in accordance with K.A.R. 60-4-101.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1115 and K.S.A. 65-1116; effective April 3, 1998; amended
Oct. 25, 2002; amended July 29, 2005.)

60-3-113, Reporting of certain misdemeanor convictions by the licensee. Pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1117 and
amendments thereto, each licensee shall report to the board any misdemeanor conviction for any of the following
substances or types of conduct, within 30 days from the date the conviction becomes final:

(a) Alcohol;

(b) any drugs;

(c) deceit;

(d) dishonesty;

(e) endangerment of a child or vulnerable adult;

() falsification;

(g) fraud;

(h) misrepresentation;

(i) physical, emotional, financial, or sexual exploitation of a child or vulnerable adult;

(i) physical or verbal abuse;

(k) theft;

(1) violation of a protection from abuse order or protection from stalking order; or

(m) any action arising out of a violation of any state or federal regulation.
History: Authorized by K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1117 and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing X.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-
1117; effective Nov. 7, 2008; amended April 29, 2016.

60-3-114. Satisfactory completion of a refresher course approved by the board.
(a) Each refresher course shall provide didactic instruction and clinical learning as follows:

(1) Atleast 120 clock-hours of didactic instruction; and
(2) at least 180 clock-hours of clinical learning, which shall be verified by the preceptor and refresher
course administrator or by the refresher course faculty member, according to the following

requirements:
(A) For the registered professional nurse refresher course, at least 110 of the required clock-hours in

an acute care setting; and

.



(B) for the licensed practical nurse refresher course, all 180 clock-hours in an acute care or skilled
nursing setting.
(b) The didactic instruction and clinical learning content areas of the registered professional nurse refresher
course shall be the following:
(1) Safe, effective care environment, including management of care and safety and infection control;
(2) health promotion and maintenance;
(3) psychosocial integrity;
(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacological and parenteral therapies,
reduction of risk potential, and physiological adaptation; and

(5) integrated content, including the nursing process, caring, communication, documentation, teaching,
and learning.
(¢) The didactic instruction and clinical learning content areas of the licensed practical nurse refresher course
shall be the following:
(1) Safe and effective care environment, including coordinated care and safety and infection control;
(2) health promotion and mainténance;
(3) psychosocial integrity;
(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacological therapies, reduction of risk
potential, and physiological adaptation; and
(5) integrated content, including the nursing process, caring, communication, documentation, teaching,
and learning,.
(d) (1) Each refresher course student shall be supervised by the course faculty member or preceptor.
(2) All clinical learning experiences shall be under the direct supervision of a registered professional
nurse. Direct supervision shall mean that a registered professional nurse observes, directs, and

evaluates the refresher course student’s performance.
(3) The faculty member or preceptor shall be on site when the refresher course student is assigned

responsibilities that include nursing skills and abilities in which the student has acquired proficiency

and the care required is simple and routine.

(4) The faculty member or preceptor shall be on the premises when the refresher course student is assigned
responsibilities that include nursing skills and abilities in which the student is gaining proficiency and
the clients assigned to the student have severe or urgent conditions or are unstable, or both.

(5) Each student in a registered professional nurse refresher course shall demonstrate clinical skills

appropriate for the scope of practice for the registered professional nurse.
(6) Each student in a licensed practical nurse refresher course shall demonstrate clinical skills appropriate

for the scope of practice for the licensed practical nurse.
(7) Upon successful completion of the didactic portion of the refresher course, the unlicensed student shall

submit an application for licensure in Kansas before beginning clinical learning.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1115, 65-1116, and 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1115 and 65-1116;

effective Nov. 7, 2008.)
FEES

60-4-101. Payment of fees. The following fees shall be charged by the board of nursing:
(a) Fees for professional nurses.

(1) Application for license by endorsement to TCATISAS 1.vveveevessesireessersssnreasesssssissassrnssesssassbansssssssvennasenns $75.00

(2) Application for license by EXATLIIATION 11 evevevevearsresrirersmserssneesrsrstsnesestrastossessssnsrtrasnsersanensssssosasssssananns 75.00

(3) Biennial 1enewal Of HCOMSE...uuusumeeusummsrsmrisssssssss sttt s 55.00

(4) Application for reinstatement of license without temporary Permit .. eeimiesissienninnnsseees 70.00

(5) Application for reinstatement of license with feMPOTAry PEITIL e rerercesmmessssssssstssescsssiasesisssanis 95.00

(6) Certified copy of Kansas license 25.00

(7) Inactive HCENSe.....vcvvusivessseusnuinss

(8) Verification Of HOEMSUIE ..vvveverreemursussemismsnssssssssssmssss s s s s

(9) Application for eXEmPE LICENSE ..v...euurmmmmmssssssemmemmisssss s

(10) Renewal Of eXEIPE HOBIISE wevuvenuussssuusmmmusssssmessssssssssssss s s

(b) Fees for practical nurses.

(1) Application for license by endorsement 10 KANSAS cveerireererereereriarmrerareriesssssssss e arasissrsssstss s nssness 50.00

(2) Application for license by EXATINALION 11vveveevereeeersseressirsessvessereaseserssmessnssssstabestsssrassaasastassssssssssssusins 50.00

(3) Biennial 1eneWal Of HCOMSE v usuvuruumisivserssssssss st s s 55.00

(4) Application for reinstatement of license without temporary Perniit ..o coiiiimemiriesscsniinss 70.00

(5) Application for reinstatement of license with temporary PErmit .o iciserninssesasssr s 95.00

(6) Certified copy of Kansas HOENSe cu.cwrscessnsminsmsssessccinsenses eveeeesaeeseeeetesra e et st 25.00
10.00

(7) TRACHVE HCEIMSE vrivrssessssssssesssssssssessss s s




(8) Verification Of ICENSUIE .....evuiviurisireeinciinsis st r s tsss et s tens sttt s s s 30.00

(9) Application for eXempt LICONSE ...oviiveriinimssrntsssis st e 50.00

(10) Renewal of eXempt LICOMSE c.ovviririinriiiiiieinisiicrerse ettt sisnssssssssesssssossnsssnssssssansaseas 50.00
History: (Authorized by K.S.A., 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2016 Supp. 65-1118; effective Jan. 1, 1966,
amended Jan. 1, 1972; amended, E-74-29, July 1, 1974; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 5, May 1, 1975; amended,
E-77-8, March 19, 1976; amended Feb. 15, 1977; amended, E-79-8, March 16, 1978; amended May 1, 1979;
amended May 1, 1980; amended May 1, 1983; amended March 9, 1992; amended May 17, 1993; amended May 9,
1994; amended Feb. 6, 1995; amended April 3, 1998; amended July 1, 2001; amended April 20, 2007; amended July
1, 2014; amended May 12, 2017.)

60-4-103. Fees and travel expensés for school approval and approval of continuing education providers.
(a) The fees for school approval and approval of continuing nursing education providers shall be the following:

(1) Application for approval -- Schools Of NULSINE ..veviieririeriers $1,000.00
(2) Annual report of approval -~ scho0ls Of NUISIAZ c.cvvviiciieniieneiree e 200.00
(3) Application for approval of continuing nursing education Providers ........covcvcrvsrsiisnsiseiine: 200.00
(4) Annual report for continuing nursing education providers ..., 50.00
(5) Approval of single continuing nursing education offerings...c...cccveininmnnnc, 100.00
(6) Consultation by request, per day Of SIE.....ciiiiriiirmeneieiiii s s eens 300.00

(b) All fees prescribed in subsection (a) shall be due at the time of application.
(c) The person, firm, corporation, or institution requesting the board's consultation services shall pay each
consultant's travel expenses.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1118a; effective, E-82-18, Sept. 30, 1981;
effective May 1, 1982; amended Sept. 14, 1992; amended May 17, 1993; amended May 9, 1994; amended June 14,

2002; amended April 17, 2015.)
CONTINUING EDUCATION FOR NURSES

60-9-105. Definitions. For the purposes of these regulations, each of the following terms shall have the meaning
specified in this regulation:

(a) “Approval” means the act of determining that a providership application or course offering meets applicable
standards based on review of either the total program or the individual offering.

(b) “Approved provider” means a person, organization, or institution that is approved by the board and is
responsible for the development, administration, and evaluation of the continuing nursing education (CNE)
program or offering.

(¢) “Authorship” means a person's development of a manuscript for print or a professional paper for
presentation. Each page of text that meets the definition of continuing nursing education (CNE), as defined
in K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto, and is formatted according to the American psychological
association's guidelines shall equal three contact hours.

(1) Authorship of a manuscript means a person's development of an original manuscript for a journal
article or text accepted by a publisher for statewide or national distribution on a subject related to
nursing or health care. Proof of acceptance from the editor or the published work shall be deemed
verification of this type of credit. Credit shall be awarded only once per topic per renewal period.

(2) Authorship of a professional research paper means a person's completion of a nursing research project
as principal investigator, co-investigator, or project director and presentation to other health
professionals. A program brochure, course syllabus, or letter from the offering provider identifying the
person as a presenter shall be deemed verification of this type of credit. Credit shall be awarded only
once each renewal period.

(d) “Behavioral objectives” means the intended outcome of instruction stated as measurable learning behaviors.

(e) “Certificate” means a document that is proof of completion of an offering consisting of one or more contact
hours.

() “CE transcript” means a document that is proof of completion of one or more CNE offerings. Each CE
transcript shall be maintained by a CNE provider.

(g) “Clinical hours” means planned leaming experiences in a clinical setting. Three clinical hours equal one
contact hour.

(h) “College course” means a class taken through a college or university, as described in K.S.A. 65-1119 and
amendments thereto, and meeting the definition of CNE in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto. One
college credit hour equals 15 contact hours.

(i) “Computer-based instruction” means a learning application that provides computer control to solve an
instructional problem or to facilitate an instructional opportunity.

(j) “Contact hour” means 50 total minutes of participation in a learning experience that meets the definition of
CNE in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto. Fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed
towards a contact hour shall be accepted.

-3B—



(k) “Distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledgé and skills through information and instruction
delivered by means of a variety of technologies. :

() “Independent study” means a self-paced learning activity undertaken by the participant in an unstructured
setting under the guidance of and monitored by an approved provider. This term shall include self-study
programs, distance learning, and authorship.

(m) “Individual offering approval” and “TOA” mean a request for approval of an education offering meeting the
definition of CNE, pursnant to K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto, but not presented by an approved
provider or other acceptable approving body, as described in K.S.A. 65-1119 and amendments thereto.

(n) “In-service education” and “on-the-job training” mean leaming activities in the work setting designed to
assist the individual in fulfilling job responsibilities. In-service education and on-the-job-training shall not
be eligible for CNE credit.

(0) “Offering” means a single CNE learning experience designed to enhance knowledge, skills, and
professionalism related to nursing. Each offering shall consist of at least 30 minutes to be computed
towards a contact hour.

(p) “Orientation” means formal or informal instruction designed to acquaint employees with the institution and
the position. Orientation shall not be considered CNE. '

(q) “Program” means a plan to achieve overall CNE goals.

(1) “Refresher course” means a course of study providing review of basic preparation and current developments
in nursing practice.

(s) “Total program evaluation” means a systematic process by which an approved provider analyzes outcomes
of the overall CNE program in order to make subsequent decisions.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1117 and K.S.A. 65-1119; effective Sept. 2,
1991; amended March 9, 1992; amended April 26, 1993; amended April 3, 1998; amended April 20, 2001; amended
Oct. 25, 2002; amended March 6, 2009; amended May 10, 2013; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-9-106. Continuing nursing education for license renewal.

(a) At the time of license renewal, any licensee may be required to submit proof of completion of 30 contact
hours of approved continuing nursing education (CNE). This proof shall be documented as follows:

“ (1) For each approved CNE offering, a certificate or a transcript that clearly designates the number of
hours of approved CNE that have been successfully completed, showing the following:
(A) Name of CNE offering;
(B) provider name or name of the accrediting organization;
(C) provider number or number of the accrediting organization, if applicable;
(D) offering date;
(E) number of contact hours awarded; and
(F) the licensee’s name and license number as shown on the course roster; or

(2) an approved Kansas state board of nursing IOA, which shall include approval of college courses that

meet the definition of continuing education in X.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto.

(b) The required 30 contact hours of approved CNE shall have been completed during the most recent prior
licensing period between the first date of the licensing period and the date that the licensee submits the
renewal application as required in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto, and K.A.R. 60-3-108. Contact
hours accumulated in excess of the 30-hour requirement shall not be carried over to the next renewal

period.

(c) Acceptable CNE may include any of the following:

(1) An offering presented by an approved long-term or single provider;

(2) an offering as designated in K.S.A. 65-1119, and amendments thereto;

(3) an offering for which a licensee has submitted an IOA, which may include credit requested for a
college course that meets the definition of continuing education in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments
thereto. Before licensure renewal, the licensee may submit an application for an IOA to the board,
accompanied by the following:

(A) An agenda representing exact learning time in minutes;

(B) official documentation of successfully completed hours, which may include a certificate of
completion or an official college transcript; and

(C) learning or behavior objectives describing learning outcomes;

(4) a maximum of 15 contact hours for the first-time preparation and presentation as an instructor of an
approved offering to licensed nurses. Two contact hours of instructor credit shall be granted for each
hour of presentation;

(5) an offering utilizing a board-approved curriculum developed by the American heart association,
emergency nurses association, or Mandt, which may include the following:

(A) Advanced cardiac life support;
(B) emergency nursing pediatric course;

-89-




(C) pediatric advanced life support;
(D) trauma nurse core course;

() neonatal resuscitation program; or
(F) Maundt program;

(6) independent study;

(7) distance learning offerings;

(8) a board-approved refresher course if required for licensure reinstatement as specified in K.AR. 60-3-
105 and K.AR. 60-11-116;

(9) participation as a member of a nursing organization board of directors or the state board of nursing,
including participation as a member of a committee reporting to the board. The maximum number of
allowable contact hours shall be six and shall not exceed three contact hours each year. A letter from
an officer of the board confirming the dates of participation shall be accepted as documentation of this
type of CNE; or

(10) any college courses in science, psychology, sociology, or statistics that are prerequisites for a nursing
degree. .

(d) Fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed towards a contact hour shall be accepted.
(e) Contact hours shall not be recognized by the board for any of the following:

(1) Identical offerings completed within a renewal period;

(2) offerings containing the same content as courses that are part of basic preparation at the level of current
licensure or certification; '

(3) in-service education, on-the-job training, orientation, and institution-specific courses;

(4) an incomplete or failed college course or any college course in literature and composition, public
speaking, basic math, algebra, humanities, or other general education requirements unless the course
meets the definition of CNE; ’

(5) offerings less than 30 minutes in length; or

(6) a board-approved refresher course for license renewal.

History: (Authorized by and implementing X.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1117; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended April 3,
1998; amended April 20, 2001; amended July 20, 2007; amended May 10, 2013; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-9-107. Approval of continuing nursing education.
(a) Offerings of approved providers shall be recognized by the board.

(1) Long-term provider. A completed application for initial approval or five-year renewal for a long-term
continuing nursing education (CNE) providership shall be submitted to the board at least 60 days
before a scheduled board meeting.

(2) Single offering provider. The application for a single CNE offering shall be submitted to the board at
least 30 days before the anticipated date of the first offering.

(b) Each applicant shall include the following information on the application:

(1) (A) The name and address of the organization; and )

(B) the name and address of the department or unit within the organization responsible for approving
CNE, if different from the name and address of the organization;

(2) the name, education, and experience of the program coordinator responsible for CNE, as specified in
subsection (c);

(3) written policies and procedures, including at least the following areas:

(A) Assessing the need and planning for CNE activities;

(B) fee assessment;

(C) advertisements or offering announcements. Published information shall contain the following
statement: “(name of provider) is approved as a provider of CNE by the Kansas State Board of
Nursing. This, course offering is approved for contact hours applicable for APRN, RN, or LPN
relicensure. Kansas State Board of Nursing provider number: 2 )

(D) for long-term providers, the offering approval process as specified in subsection (d);

(B) awarding contact hours, as specified in subsection (e);

(F) verifying participation and successful completion of the offering, as specified in subsections (f)
and (g);

(G) recordkeeping and record storage, as specified in subsection (h);

(H) notice of change of coordinator or required policies and procedures. The program coordinator
shall notify the board in writing of any change of the individual responsible for the providership or
required policies and procedures within 30 days; and

(1) for long-term providers, a copy of the total program evaluation plan; and

(4) the proposed CNE offering, as specified in subsection (i).

(¢) (1) Long-term provider. The program coordinator for CNE shall meet these requirements:

(A) Be a licensed professional nurse;

-4Y-



(B) have three years of clinical experience;

(C) have one year of experience in developing and implementing nursing education; and

(D) have a baccalaureate degree in nursing, except those individuals exempted under K.S.A. 65-1119
(e)(6) and amendments thereto.

(2) Single offering provider. If the program coordinator is not a nurse, the applicant shall also include the
name, education, and experience of the nurse consultant. The individual responsible for CNE or the
nurse consultant shall meet these requirements:

(A) Be licensed to practice nursing; and
(B) have three years of clinical experience.

(d) For long-term providers, the policies and procedures for the offering approval process shall include the

following:

(1) A summary of the planning;

(2) the behavioral objectives;

(3) the content, which shall meet the definition of CNE in K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto;

(4) the instructor’s education and experience, documenting knowledge and expertise in the content area;

(5) a current bibliography that is reflective of the offering content. The bibliography shall include books
published within the past 10 years, periodicals published within the past five years, or both; and

(6) an offering evaluation that includes each participant’s assessment of the following:

(A) The achievement of each objective; and
(B) the expertise of each individual presenter.

(¢) An approved provider may award any of the following:

(1) Contact hours as documented on an offering agenda for the actual time attended, including partial
credit for one or more contact hours;

(2) credit for fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed towards a contact hour;

(3) instructor credit, which shall be twice the length of the first-time presentation of an approved offering,
excluding any standardized, prepared curriculum;

(4) independent study credit that is based on the time required to complete the offering, as documented by
the provider’s pilot test results; or

(5) clinical hours.

(® (1) Each provider shall maintain documentation to verify that each participant attended the offering. The
provider shall require each participant to sign a daily roster, which shall contain the following
information:

(A) The provider’s name, address, provider number, and coordinator;
(B) the date and title of the offering, and the presenter or presenters; and
(C) the participant’s name and license number, and the number of contact hours awarded.

(2) Each provider shall maintain documentation to verify completion of each independent study offering,
if applicable. To verify completion of an independent study offering, the provider shall maintain
documentation that includes the following:

(A) The provider’s name, address, provider number, and coordinator;

(B) the participant’s name and license number, and the number of contact hours awarded;
(C) the title of the offering;

(D) the date on which the offering was completed; and

(B) either the completion of a posttest or a return demonstration.

(g) (1) A certificate of attendance shall be awarded to each participant after completion of an offering, or a CE
transcript shall be provided according to the policies and procedures of the long-term provider.

(2) Each certificate and each CE transcript shall be complete before distribution to the participant.

(3) Each certificate and each CE transcript shall contain the following information:

(A) The provider’s name, address, and provider number;

(B) the title of the offering;

(C) the date or dates of attendance or completion;

(D) the number of contact hours awarded and, if applicable, the designation of any independent study
or instructor contact hours awarded;

(E) the signature of the individual responsible for the providership; and

(F) the name and license number of the participant.

(h) (1) For each offering, the approved provider shall retain the following for two years:

(A) A summary of the planning;

(B) a copy of the offering announcement or brochure;

(C) the title and objectives;

(D) the offering agenda or, for independent study, pilot test results;
(B) a bibliography;

(F) asummary of the participants’ evaluations;

- 43~




@

(G) each instructor’s education and experience; and
(X)) documentation to verify completion of the offering, as specified in subsection (f).
The record storage system used shall ensure confidentiality and easy retrieval of records by authorized

individuals.

(3) Each approved single offering CNE provider shall submit to the board the original signature roster and

@ @

@
@ @

@

&) ()

@)

O @
@

©)

a typed, alphabetized roster of individuals who have completed an offering, within 15 working days of

course completion.

Long-term provider application. The provider shall submit two proposed offerings, including the

following:

(A) A summary of planning;

(B) a copy of the offering announcement or brochure;

(C) the title and behavioral objectives;

(D) the offering agenda or, for independent study, pilot test results;

(E) each instructor’s education and experience;

(F) a current bibliography, as specified in paragraph (d)(5); and

(G) the offering evaluation form.

Single offering provider application. The provider shall submit the proposed offering, which shall

include the information specified in paragraphs (i)(1)(A) through (G).

Long-term provider application. Each prospective coordinator who has submitted an application for a

long-term CNE providership that has been reviewed once and found deficient, or has approval

pending, shall submit all materials required by this regulation at least two weeks before the next board

meeting, If the application does not meet all of the requirements or the prospective coordinator does

not contact the board for an extension on or before this deadline, the application process shall be

considered abandoned. A new application and fee shall be submitted if a providership is still desired.

Single offering approval application. If the application for a single offering has been reviewed and

found deficient, or has approval pending, the CNE coordinator shall submit all materials required by

this regulation before the date of offering. If the application does not meet requirements before the

offering deadline, the application shall be considered abandoned. There shall be no retroactive

approval of single offerings.

Each approved long-term provider shall pay a fee for the upcoming year and submit an annual report

for the period of July 1 through June 30 of the previous year on or before the deadline designated by

the board. The annual report shall contain the following:

(A) An evaluation of all the components of the providership based on the total program evaluation

plan;

(B) a statistical summary report; and

(C) for each of the first two years of the providership, a copy of the records for one offering as
specified in paragraphs (h)(1)(A) through (H).

If approved for the first time after January 1, a new long-term provider shall submit only the statistical

summary report and shall not be required to submit the annual fee or evaluation based on the total

program evaluation plan.

If the long-term provider does not renew the providership, the provider shall notify the board in writing

of the location at which the offering records will be accessible to the board for two years.

If a provider does not continue to meet the criteria for current approval established by regulation or if

there is a material misrepresentation of any fact with the information submitted to the board by an

approved provider, approval may be withdrawn or conditions relating to the providership may be

applied by the board after giving the approved provider notice and an opportunity to be heard.

Any approved provider that has voluntarily relinquished the providership or has had the providership

withdrawn by the board may reapply as a long-term provider. The application shall be submitted on

forms supplied by the board and accompanied by the designated, nonrefundable fee as specified in

K.AR. 60-4-103(a)(3).

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 65-1117 and K.S.A. 65-1119; effective March 9,
1992; amended Sept. 27, 1993; amended April 3, 1998; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended March 6, 2009; amended

May 10, 2013.)

PERFORMANCE OF SELECTED NURSING PROCEDURES IN SCHOOL SETTINGS

60-15-101. Definitions and functions.
(a) Each registered professional nurse in a school setting shall be responsible for the nature and quality of all
nursing care that a student is given under the direction of the nurse in the school setting. Assessment of the
nursing needs, the plan of nursing action, implementation of the plan, and evaluation of the plan shall be

s



considered essential components of professional nursing practice and shall be the responsibility of the
registered professional nurse.
(b) In fulfilling nursing care responsibilities, any nurse may perform the following:
(1) Serve as a health advocate for students receiving nursing care;
(2) counsel and teach students, staff, families, and groups about health and illness;
(3) promote health maintenance;
(4) serve as health consultant and a resource to teachers, administrators, and other school staff who are
providing students with health services during school attendance hours or extended program hours; and
(5) utilize nursing theories, communication skills, and the teaching-learning process to function as part of
the interdisciplinary evaluation team.
(c) The services of a registered professional nurse may be supplemented by the assignment of tasks to a
. licensed practical nurse or by the delegation of selected nursing tasks or procedures to unlicensed personnel
under supervision by the registered professional nurse or ficensed practical nurse.
(d) “Unlicensed person” means anyone not licensed as a registered professional nurse or licensed practical
nurse.
(e) “Delegation” means authorization for an unlicensed person to perform selected nursing tasks or procedures
in the school setting under the direction of a registered professional nurse.
() “Activities of daily living” means basic caretaking or specialized caretaking.
(g) “Basic caretaking” means the following tasks:
(1) Bathing;
(2) dressing;
(3) grooming;
(4) routine dental, hair, and skin care;
(5) preparation of food for oral feeding;
(6) exercise, excluding occupational therapy and physical therapy procedures;
(7) toileting, including diapering and toilet training;
(8) handwashing;
(9) transferring; and
(10) ambulation.
(h) “Specialized caretaking” means the following procedures:
(1) Catherization;
(2) ostomy care;
(3) preparation and administration of gastrostomy tube feedings;
(4) care of skin with damaged integrity or potential for this damage;
(5) medication administration;
(6) taking vital signs; .
(7) blood glucose monitoring, which shall include taking glucometer readings and carbohydrate counting;
and
(8) performance of other nursing procedures as selected by the registered professional nurse.
(i) “Anticipated health crisis” means that a student has a previously diagnosed condition that, under predictable
circumstances, could lead to an imminent risk to the student's health.
(j) “Investigational drug” means a drug under study by the United States food and drug administration to
determine safety and efficacy in humans for a particular indication.
(k) “Nursing judgment” means the exercise of knowledge and discretion derived from the biological, physical,
and behavioral sciences that requires special education or curriculum.
() “Extended program hours” means any program that occurs before or after school attendance hours and is

hosted or controlled by the school.
(m) “School attendance hours” means those hours of attendance as defined by the local educational agency or

governing board.

(n) “School setting” means any public or nonpublic school environment.

(o) “Supervision” means the provision of guidance by a nurse as necessary to accomplish a
nursing task or procedure, including initial direction of the task or procedure and periodic
inspection of the actual act of accomplishing the task or procedure.

(p) “Medication” means any drug required by the federal or state food, drug, and cosmetic acts to bear on its
label the legend “Caution: Federal law prohibits dispensing without prescription,” and any drugs Jabeled as
investigational drugs or prescribed for investigational purposes.

(@) “Task” means an assigned step of a nursing procedure. .

(r) “Procedure” means a series of steps followed in a regular, specific order that is part of a defined nursing

practice.

e .




History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-1124 and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-
1124 and K.S.A. 65-1165; effective, T-89-23, May 27, 1988; amended, T-60-9-12-88, Sept. 12, 1988; amended Feb.
13, 1989; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended Sept. 11, 1998; amended July 29, 2005; amended March 6, 2009.)

60-15-102. Delegation procedures. Bach registered professional nurse shall maintain the primary responsibility for
delegating tasks to unlicensed persons. The registered professional nurse, after evaluating a licensed practical
nurse’s competence and skill, may decide whether the licensed practical nurse under the direction of the registered
professional nurse may delegate tasks to unlicensed persons in the school setting. Each nurse who delegates nursing
tasks or procedures to a designated unlicensed person in the school setting shall meet the requirements specified in
this regulation. :

(a) Each registered professional nurse shall perform the following:

(1) Assess each student's nursing care needs;

(2) formulate a plan of care before delegating any nursing task or procedure to an
unlicensed person; and

(3) formulate a plan of nursing care for each student who has one or more
long-term or chronic health conditions requiring nursing interventions.

(b) The selected nursing task or procedure to be delegated shall be one that a reasonable and prudent nurse
would determine to be within the scope of sound nursing judgment and that can be performed properly and
safely by an unlicensed person.

(c) Any designated unlicensed person may perform basic caretaking tasks or procedures as defined in K.AR.
60-15-101 (g) without delegation. After assessment, a nurse may delegate specialized caretaking tasks or
procedures as defined in K.A.R. 60-15-101 (h) to a designated unlicensed person.

(d) The selected nursing task or procedure shall be one that does not require the designated unlicensed person
to exercise nursing judgment or intervention.

(e) If an anticipated health crisis that is identified in a nursing care plan occurs, the unlicensed person may
provide immediate care for which instruction has been provided.

(f) The designated unlicensed person to whom the nursing task or procedure is delegated shall be adequately
identified by name in writing for each delegated task or procedure.

(g) Each registered professional nurse shall orient and instruct unlicensed persons in the performance of the
nursing task or procedure. The registered professional nurse shall document in writing the unlicensed
person's demonstration of the competency necessary to perform the delegated task or procedure. The
designated unlicensed person shall co-sign the documentation indicating the person's concurrence with this
competency evaluation.

(h) Each registered professional nurse shall meet these requirements:

(1) Be accountable and responsible for the delegated nursing task or procedure;

(2) at least twice during the academic year, participate in joint evaluations of the services rendered;

(3) record the services performed; and

(4) adequately supervise the performance of the delegated nursing task or procedure in accordance with the

requirements of K.A.R. 60-15-103.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-1124 and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-
1124 and K.8.A. 65-1165; effective, T-89-23, May 27, 1988; amended, T-60-9-12-88, Sept. 12, 1988; amended Feb.
13, 1989; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended Sept. 11, 1998; amended March 6, 2009.)

60-15-103. Supervision of delegated tasks or procedures. Each registered professional or licensed practical
nurse shall supervise all nursing tasks or procedures delegated to a designated unlicensed person in the school
setting in accordance with the following conditions.
(a) The registered professional nurse shall determine the degree of supervision required after an assessment of
appropriate factors, including the following:
(1) The health status and mental and physical stability of the student receiving the nursing care;
(2) the complexity of the task or procedure to be delegated;
(3) the training and competency of the unlicensed person to whom the task or procedure is to be delegated;
and
(4) the proximity and availability of the registered professional nurse to the designated unlicensed person
when the selected nursing task or procedure will be performed.
(b) The supervising registered professional nurse may designate whether or not the nursing task or procedure is
one that may be delegated or supervised by a licensed practical nurse.
(c) Each delegating registered professional nurse shall have a plan to provide nursing care when the delegating
nurse is absent.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 1997 Supp. 65-1124; effective, T-89-23, May 27, 1988;
amended, T-60-9-12-88, Sept. 12, 1988; amended Feb. 13, 1989; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended Sept. 11, 1998.)

_#h_



60-15-104. Medication administration in a school setting. Any registered professional nurse may delegate the
procedure of medication administration in a school setting only in accordance with this article.
(a) Any registered professional nurse may delegate the procedure of medication administration in a school
setting to unlicensed persons if both of the following conditions are met:
(1) The administration of the medication does not require dosage calculation. Measuring a prescribed
amount of liquid medication, breaking a scored tablet for administration, or counting carbohydrates for
the purpose of determining dosage for insulin administration shall not be considered calculation of the

medication dosage. :
(2) The nursing care plan requires administration by accepted methods of administration other than those

listed in subsection (b).
(b) A registered professional nurse shall not delegate the procedure of medication administration in a school

setting to unlicensed persons when administered by any of these means:

(1) By intravenous route;

(2) by intramuscular route, except when administered in an anticipated health crisis;

(3) through intermittent positive-pressure breathing machines; or

(4) through an established feeding tube that is not inserted directly into the abdomen.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-1124 and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-
1124 and K.S.A. 65-1165; effective, T-89-23, May 27, 1988; amended, T-60-9-12-88, Sept. 12, 1988; amended Feb.
13, 1989; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended Sept. 11, 1998; amended July 29, 2005; amended March 6, 2009.)

INTRAVENOUS FLUID THERAPY FOR LICENSED PRACTICAL NURSE

60-16-101. Definitions.
(a) “Administration of intravenous fluid therapy” means utilization of the nursing process to deliver the

therapeutic infusion or injection of substances through the venous system.

(b) “Admixing” means the addition of a diluent to a medication or a medication to an intravenous solution.

(c) “Calculating” means the mathematical determination of the flow rate and medication dosages.

(d) “Competency examination” means a written examination and demonstration of mastery of clinical
components of intravenous fluid therapy.

(e) “Discontinuing” means stopping the intravenous flow or removing the intravenous access device, or both,
based on an authorized order or nursing assessment.

(f) “Evaluating” means ongoing analysis of the monitored patient response to the prescribed intravenous
therapy for determination of the appropriate patient outcomes.

(g) “Initiating” means the starting of intravenous therapy based on an authorized order by a licensed individual.
Inijtiating shall include the following:

(1) The patient assessment;

(2) selection and preparation of materials;
(3) calculation; and

(4) insertion and stabilization of the cannula.

(h) “Intravenous push” means direct injection of medication into the venous circulation.

() “Maintaining” means adjusting the control device for continuance of the prescribed intravenous therapy
administration rate.

() “Monitoring” means the ongoing assessment, observation, and communication of each patient’s response to
prescribed intravenous therapy. The infusion equipment, site, and flow rate shall be included in the
monitoring process.

(k) “Titration of medication” means an adjustment of the dosage of a medication to the amount required to
bring about a given reaction in the individual receiving the medication. ,

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2001 Supp. 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended June
12, 1998; amended Oct. 29, 1999; amended June 14, 2002.)

60-16-102. Scope of practice for licensed practical nurse performing intravenous fluid therapy.

(a) A licensed practical nurse under the supervision of a registered professional nurse may engage in a limited
scope of intravenous fluid treatment, including the following:
(1) Monitoring;
(2) maintaining basic fluids; :
(3) discontinuing intravenous flow and an intravenous access device not exceeding three inches in length in

peripheral sites only; and

(4) changing dressings for intravenous access devices not exceeding three inches in length in peripheral

sites only.
(b) Any licensed practical nurse who has met one of the requirements under K.S.A. 65-1136, and amendments

thereto, may perform, in addition to the functions specified in subsection (a) of this regulation, the

5




(©)

(d)
©

following procedures relating to the expanded administration of intravenous fluid therapy under the

supervision of a registered professional nurse:

(1) Calculating; .

(2) adding parenteral solutions to existing patent central and peripheral intravenous access devices or
administration sets; :

(3) changing administration sets;

(4) inserting intravenous access devices that meet these conditions:

(A) Do not exceed three inches in length; and

(B) are located in peripheral sites only;

(5) adding designated premixed medications to existing patent central and peripheral intravenous access
devices or administration sets either by continuous or intermittent methods;

(6) maintaining the patency of central and petipheral intravenous access devices and administration sets
with medications or solutions as allowed by policy of the facility;

(7) changing dressings for central venous access devices;

(8) administering continuous intravenous drip analgesics and antibiotics; and

(9) performing the following procedures in any facility having continuous on-site registered professional
nurse supervision:

(A) Admixing intravenous medications; and

(B)administering by direct intravenous push any drug in a drug category that is not specifically listed
as a banned drug category in subsection (c), including analgesics, antibiotics, antiemetics,
diuretics, and corticosteroids, as allowed by policy of the facility.

A licensed practical nurse shall not perform any of the following:
(1) Administer any of the following by intravenous route:

(A) Blood and blood products, including albumin;

(B) investigational medications;

(C) anesthetics, antianxiety agents, biological therapy, serums, hemostatics, immunosuppressants,
muscle relaxants, human plasma fractions, oxytocics, sedatives, tocolytics, thrombolytics,
anticonvulsants, cardiovascular preparations, antineoplastics agents, hematopoietics, autonomic
drugs, and respiratory stimulants;

(D) intravenous fluid therapy in the home health setting, with the exception of the approved scope of
practice authorized in subsection (a); or

(B) intravenous fluid therapy to any patient under the age of 12 or any patient weighing less than 80
pounds, with the exception of the approved scope of practice authorized in subsection (a);

(2) initiate total parenteral nutrition or lipids;

(3) titrate medications;

(4) draw blood from a central intravenous access device;

(5) remove a central intravenous access device or any intravenous access device exceeding three inches in
length; or :

(6) access implantable ports for any purpose.

Licensed practical nurses qualified by the board before June 1, 2000 may perform those activities listed in

subsection (a) and paragraph (b)(9)(A) regardless of their intravenous therapy course content on admixing.

This regulation shall limit the scope of practice for each licensed practical nurse only with respect to

intravenous fluid therapy and shall not restrict a licensed practical nurse's authority to care for patients

receiving this therapy.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended Dec. 13, 1996;
amended June 12, 1998; amended Oct. 29, 1999; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended May 18, 2012; amended Oct. 18,

2013.)

60-16-103. Course approval procedure.

(@
(b)

Each person desiring to obtain approval for an intravenous (IV) fluid therapy course shall submit a

proposal to the board.

The proposal shall contain the following:

(1) The name and qualifications of the coordinator;

(2) the name and qualifications of each faculty member of the course;

(3) the mechanism through which the provider will determine that each licensed practical nurse seeking to
take the course meets the admission requirements;

(4) a description of the educational and clinical facilities that will be utilized;

(5) the outlines of the classroom curriculum and the clinical curriculum, including time segments. These
curricula shall meet the requirements of K.A.R. 60-16-104(g);

(6) the methods of student evaluation that will be used, including a copy of the final written competency
examination and the final clinical competency examination; and

~4pL



(7) if applicable, a request for continuing education approval meeting the following criteria:
(A) For each long-term provider, the IV therapy course provider number shall be printed on the
certificates and the course roster, along with the long-term provider number ; and
(B) for each single program provider, the single program application shall be completed. There shall
be no cost to this provider for the initial single offering providership.
(c) Continuing education providers shall award at least 32 contact hours to each LPN who completes the
course, Continuing education providers may award 20 contact hours, one time only, to each RN who

completes the course. _
(d) After initial approval, each change in the course shall be provided to the board for approval before the

change is implemented.

(e) (1) EachIV fluid therapy course provider shall submit to the board an annual report for the period of July
1 through June 30 of the respective year that includes the total number of licensees taking the
intravenous fluid therapy course, the number passing the course, and the number of courses held.

(2) The single program providership shall be effective for two years and may be renewed by submitting
the single offering provider application and by paying the fee specified in K.A.R. 60-4-103(a)(5). Each
single program provider who chooses not to renew the providership shall notify the board in writing of
the location at which the rosters and course materials will be accessible to the board for three yeats.

(3) Each long-term provider shall submit the materials outlined in subsection (b) with the five-year long-
term provider renewal.

(f) If a course does not meet or continue to meet the criteria for approval established by the board or if there is

a material misrepresentation of any fact with the information submitted to the board by a provider, approval

may be withheld, made conditional, limited, or withdrawn by the board after giving the provider notice and

an opportunity to be heard.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended June 14, 2002;

amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-16-104. Standards for course; competency examination; recordkeeping.

(a) The purpose of the intravenous fluid therapy course shall be to prepare licensed practical nurses to perform
safely and competently the activities as defined in K.A.R. 60-16-102. The course shall be based on the
nursing process and current intravenous nursing standards of practice.

(b) The course shall meet both of the following conditions:

(1) Consist of at least 30 hours of instruction; and
(2) require at least eight hours of supervised clinical practice, which shall include at least one successful

peripheral venous access procedure and the initiation of an intravenous infusion treatment modality on

an individual.
(c) To be eligible to enroll in an intravenous fluid therapy course, the individual shall be a nurse with a current

license.
(d) The intravenous therapy course coordinator shall meet the following requirements:
(1) Be licensed as a registered professional nurse;
(2) be responsible for the development and implementation of the intravenous fluid therapy course; and
(3) have experience in intravenous fluid therapy and knowledge of the intravenous therapy standards.
(¢) (1) Each primary faculty member shall meet the following requirements:
(A) Be currently licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in Kansas;
(B) have clinical experience within the past five years that includes intravenous fluid therapy; and

(C) maintain competency in intravenous fluid therapy.
(2) Each guest lecturer shall have professional preparation and qualifications for the specific subject area

in which that individual instructs.
(f) (1) Each classroom shall contain sufficient space, equipment, and teaching aids to meet the course

objectives.

(2) The facility in which clinical practice and the competency examination are conducted shall allow the
students and faculty access to the intravenous fluid therapy equipment and intravenous fluid therapy
recipients, and to the pertinent records for the purpose of documentation.

(3) There shall be a signed, written agreement between the provider and a cooperating health care facility
that specifies the roles, responsibilities, and liabilities of each party. This written agreement shall not
be required if the only health care facility to be used is also the provider.

(g) (1) The board-approved intravenous fluid therapy curriculum shall be the following standards of the
infusion nurses society’s supplement titled “infusion nursing standards of practice,” volume 34,
number 18, dated January/February 2011, which are hereby adopted by reference:

(A) “Nursing practice”:
(i) “Practice setting” standard 1.1, 1.2, 1.3;

-8




(i) “neonatal and pediatric patients” standard 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, which shall be taught only for clinical
knowledge and awareness;
(iii) “older adult patients” standard 3.1, 3.2;
(iv) “ethics” standard 4.1,4.2, 4.3, 4.4,
(v) “scope of practice” standard 5.1, 5.2,5.3, 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7;
(vi) “competence and competency validation™ standard 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4;
(vii) “quality improvement” standard 7.1;
(viii) “research and evidence-based practice” standard 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.4; and
(ix) “policies, procedures, and/or practice guidelines” standard 9.1, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4,
(B) “patient care™:
(i) “Orders for the initiation and management of infusion therapy” standard 10.1, 10.2, 10.3,
10.4, 10.5, 10.6, 10.7;
(ii) “patient education” standard 11.1, 11.2;
(iii) “informed consent” standard 12.1, 12.2, 12.3; and
(iv) “plan of care” standard 13.1, 13.2, 13.3, 13.4, 13.5,13.6, 13.7;
(C) “documentation”:
() “Documentation” standard 14.1, 14.2, 14.3, 14.4, 14.5;
(i) “unusual occurrence and sentinel event reporting” standard 15.1, 15.2;
(iii) “product evaluation, integrity, and defect reporting” standard 16.1, 16.2, 16.3, 16.4, 16.5; and
(iv) “verification of products and medications” standard 17.1, 17.2, 17.3;
(D) “infection prevention and safety compliance”:
(i) “Infection prevention” standard 18.1, 18.2, 18.3, 18.4, 18.5, 18.6,18.7,18.8,18.9;
(ii) “hand hygiene” standard 19.1, 19.2, 19.3, 19.4;
(iii) “scissors” standard 21.1, 21.2, 21.3;
(iv) “safe handling and disposal of sharps, hazardous materials, and hazardous waste” standard
22.1,22.2,223,22.4,22.5,22.6,22.7, 22.8;
(v) “disinfection of durable medical equipment” standard 23.1, 23.2, 23.3, 23.4;
(vi) “transmission-based precautions” standard 24.1, 24.2; and '
(vii) “latex sensitivity or allergy” standard 25.1, 25.2, 25.3;
(E) “infusion equipment”:
(i) “Add-on devices” standard 26.1, 26.2, 26.3;
(i) “needleless connectors” standard 27.1, 27.2, 27.3, 27.4, 27.5;
(iii) “filters” standard 28.1, 28.2, 28.3, 28.4. 28.5, 28.6;
(iv) “flow-control devices” standard 29.1, 29.2,29.3, 29.4, 29.5; and
(v) “tourniquets” standard 31.1, 31.2;
(F) “vascular access device selection and placement”:
(i) “Vascular access device selection” standard 32.1, 32.2, 32.3,32.4;
(ii) “site selection” standard 33.1, 33.2, 33.3, 33.4, 33.5. Standard 33.4 and 33.5 shall be taught
only for clinical knowledge and awareness;
(iif) “local anesthesia for vascular access device placement and access” standard 34.1, 34.2, 34.3,
34.4;
(iv) “vascular access site preparation and device placement” standard 35.1, 35.2, 35.3,354, 35.5,
35.6,35.7, 35.8; .
(v) “vascular access device stabilization” standard 36.1, 36.2, 36.3,36.4;
(vi) “joint stabilization” standard 37.1, 37.2, 37.3, 37.4; and
(vii) “site protection” standard 38.1, 38.2, 38.3;
(G) “site care and maintenance”:
(i) “Administration set change” standard 43.1, 43.2, 43.3, 43 4,43.5,43.6;
(i) “vascular access device removal” standard 44.1, 44.2, 44.3, 444,445, 44.6;
(iii) “flushing and locking” standard 45.1, 45.2, 45.3, 45.4; and
(iv) “vascular access device site care and dressing changes” standard 46.1, 46.2, 46.3,46.4;
(H) “infusion-related complications”:
(i) “Phlebitis” standard 47.1, 47.2, 47.3;
(i) “infiltration and extravasation” standard 48.1, 48.2, 48.3;
(iif) “infection” standard 49.1, 49.2, 49.3, 49.4;
(iv) “air embolism” standard 50.1, 50.2, 50.3, 50.4, 50.5, 50.6;
(v) “catheter embolism” standard 51.1, 51.2, 51.3, 51.4;
(vi) “catheter-associated venous thrombosis” standard 52.1, 52.2, 52.3, 52.4; and
(vii) “central vascular access device malposition” standard 53.1, 53.2, 53.3, 53.4, 53.5; and
) “infusion therapies™:

_ AR



(i) “Parenteral medication and solution administration” standard 61.1, 61.2, 61.3, which shall be
taught only for clinical knowledge and awareness;
(ii) “antineoplastic therapy” standard 62.1, 62.2, 62.3, 62.4, which shall be taught only for clinical
knowledge and awareness;
(iii) “biologic therapy” standard 63.1, 63.2, 63.3, which shall-be taught only for clinical
knowledge and awareness;
(iv) “patient-controlled analgesia” standard 64.1, 64.2, 64.3, 64.4;
(v) “parenteral nutrition” standard 65.1, 65.2, 65.3, 65.4, 65.5, 65.6, 65.7, which shall be taught
only for clinical knowledge and awareness;
(vi) “transfusion therapy” standard 66.1, 66.2, 66.3, 66.4;
(vii) “moderate sedation/analgesia using intravenous infusion” standard 67 .1,67.2,67.3,674,
which shall be taught only for clinical knowledge and awareness; and
(viii) “administration of parenteral investigational drugs” standard 68.1, 68.2, 68.3, which shall be
taught only for clinical knowledge and awareness.
(2) Each provider shall submit documentation of the use of the curriculum required in this subsection to
the board on or before February 1, 2013.
(h) (1) (A) The final written competency examination shall be constructed from the board-approved pool of
test questions and shall be based on the board-approved test plan.
(B) The final written competency examination shall consist of at least 50 questions and shall require a
passing grade of 80 percent or above.
(2) The final clinical competency examination shall require successful completion of the procedures on the
board-approved competency checklist, which shall include the following procedures: preparation for
the insertion of an intravenous line, insertion of an intravenous access device, conversion of a
peripheral catheter to an intermittent infusion device, calculation of infusion flow rate, changing an
intravenous fluid container, changing administration set tubing, care of the infusion site, flushing an
intermittent infusion device, discontinuance of an intravenous infusion, administration of intravenous
medication including both piggyback administration and direct injection, and admixing intravenous
medications.
(i) (1) The faculty shall complete the final record sheet, which shall include competencies and scores.
(2) The intravenous fluid therapy course coordinator shall perform the following:
(A) Award a certificate to each licensed nurse documenting successful completion of both the final
written competency examination and the final clinical competency examination;
(B) submit to the board, within 15 days, a typed, alphabetized roster listing the name and license
number of each individual who has successfully completed the course and the date of completion.
The coordinator shall ensure that each roster meets the following requirements:
(i) RN and LPN participants shall be listed on separate rosters; and
(ii) the roster shall include the provider name and address, the single or long-term provider
number, the IV therapy course provider number, and the signature of the coordinator; and
(C) maintain the records of each individual who has successfully completed the course for a period of
at least five years.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended Dec. 13, 1996;
amended Oct, 29, 1999; amended April 20, 2001; amended June 14, 2002; amended July 29, 2005; amended May

18,2012.)

ADVANCED PRACTICE REGISTERED NURSE
STATUTES

65-1130. Advance practice registered nurse; standards and requirements for licensure; rules and
regulations; roles, titles and abbreviations; prescription of drugs authorized; licensure of currently registered
individuals.

(a) No professional nurse shall announce or represent to the public that such person is an advanced practice
registered nurse unless such professional nurse has complied with requirements established by the board
and holds 2 valid license as an advanced practice registered nurse in accordance with the provisions of this
section.

(b) The board shall establish standards and requirements for any professional nurse who desires to obtain
licensure as an advanced practice registered nurse. Such standards and requirements shall include, but not
be limited to, standards and requirements relating to the education of advanced practice registered nurses.
The board may give such examinations and secure such assistance as it deems necessary to determine the

qualifications of applicants.
(c) The board shall adopt rules and regulations applicable to advanced practice registered nurses which:

_4%-




(1) Establish roles and identify titles and abbreviations of advanced practice registered nurses which are
consistent with nursing practice specialties recognized by the nursing profession.

(2) Establish education and qualifications necessary for licensure for each role of advanced practice
registered nurse established by the board at a level adequate to assure the competent performance by
advanced practice registered nurses of functions and procedures which advanced practice registered
nurses are authorized to perform. Advanced practice registered nursing is based on knowledge and
skills acquired in basic nursing education, licensure as a registered nurse and graduation from or
completion of a master’s or higher degree in one of the advanced practice registered nurse roles
approved by the board of nursing,

(3) Define the role of advanced practice registered nurses and establish limitations and restrictions of such
role. The board shall adopt a definition of the role under this paragraph which is consistent with the
education and qualifications required to obtain a license as an advanced practice registered nurse,
which protects the public from persons performing functions and procedures as advance practice
registered nurses for which they lack adequate education and qualifications and which authorizes
advanced practice registered nurses to perform acts generally recognized by the profession of nursing
as capable of being performed, in a manner consistent with the public health and safety, by persons
with postbasic education in nursing. In defining such role the board shall consider:

(A) The education required for a licensure as an advanced practice registered nurse;

(B) the type of nursing practice and preparation in specialized advanced practice skills involved in
each role of advanced practice registered nurse established by the board;

(C) the scope and limitations of advanced practice nursing prescribed by national advanced practice
organizations; and

(D) acts recognized by the nursing profession as appropriate to be performed by persons with
postbasic education in nursing.

(d) An advanced practice registered nurse may prescribe drugs pursuant to a written protocol as authorized by
a responsible physician. Each written protocol shall contain a precise and detailed medical plan of care for
each classification of disease or injury for which the advanced practice registered nurse is authorized to
prescribe and shall specify all drugs which may be prescribed by the advanced practice registered nurse.
Any written prescription order shall include the name, address and telephone number of the responsible
physician, The advanced practice registered nurse may not dispense drugs, but may request, receive and
sign for professional samples and may distribute professional samples to patients pursuant to a written
protocol as authorized by a responsible physician. In order to prescribe controlled substances, the advanced
practice registered nurse shall:

(1) register with the federal drug enforcement administration; and

(2) notify the board of the name and address of the responsible physician or physicians. In no case shall
the scope of authority of the advanced practice registered nurse exceed the normal and customary
practice of the responsible physician. An advanced practice registered nurse certified in the role of
registered nurse anesthetist while functioning as a registered nurse anesthetist under K.S.A. 65-1151 to
65-1164, and amendments thereto, shall be subject to the provisions of K.S.A. 65-1151 and 65-1164,
and amendments thereto, with respect to drugs and anesthetic agents and shall not be subject to the
provisions of this subsection. For the purposes of this subsection, “"responsible physician" means a
person licensed to practice medicine and surgery in Kansas who has accepted responsibility for the
protocol and the actions of the advanced practice registered nurse when prescribing drugs.

(e) As used in this section, “drug” means those articles and substances defined as drugs in K.S.A. 65-1626 and
65-4101, and amendments thereto.

(f) A person registered to practice as an advanced registered nurse practitioner in the state of Kansas
immediately prior to the effective date of this act shall be deemed to be licensed to practice as an advanced
practice registered nurse under this act and such person shall not be required to file an original application
for licensure under this act. Any application for registration filed which has not been granted prior to the
effective date of this act shall be processed as an application for licensure under this act.

(g) An advanced practice registered nurse certified in the role of certified nurse-midwife and engaging in the
independent practice of midwifery under the independent practice of midwifery act with respect to
prescribing drugs shall be subject to the provisions of the independent practice of midwifery act and shall
not be subject to the provisions of the section. i

History: (L. 1983, ch. 206, § 2; L. 1989, ch. 192, § 1; L. 1999, ch. 115, § 1; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 44; L. 2016, ch. 92,
§ 98, Jan. 1,2017.)

65-1131. Advance practice registered nurse; licensure; fees; license with temporary permit; exempt license;

inactive license.
(2)(1) Licensure. Upon application to the board by any professional nurse in this state and upon satisfaction

of the standards and requirements established by the board under K.S.A. 65-1130, and amendments

-



thereto, the board may issue a license to such applicant authorizing the applicant to perform the duties
of an advance practice registered nurse as defined by the board under K.S.A. 65-1130, and
amendments thereto.

(2) The board may issue a license to practice nursing as an advance practice registered nurse to an
applicant who has been duly licensed or certified as an advance practice registered nurse under the
laws of another state or territory if, in the opinion of the board, the applicant meets the licensure
qualifications required of an advance practice registered nurse in this state. Verification of the
applicant’s licensure or certification status shall be required from the original state of licensure or
certification.

(3) An application to the board for a license, a license with temporary permit, renewal of a license and
reinstatement of a license shall be upon such form and contain such information as the board may
require and shall be accompanied by a fee, to be established by rules and regulations adopted by the
board, to assist in defraying the expenses in connection with the issuance of licenses as advance
practice registered nurses, in an amount fixed by the board under K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments
thereto.

(4) An application for initial licensure or endorsement will be held awaiting completion of meeting
qualifications for a time period specified in rules and regulations.

(5) The executive administrator of the board shall remit all moneys received pursuant to this section to the
state treasurer as provided by K.S.A. 74-1108, and amendments thereto.

(b) The board may grant a one-time temporary permit to practice as an advance practice registered nurse for a
period of not more than 180 days pending completion of the application for a license.

(c) Exempt license. The board may issue an exempt license to any advance practice registered nurse as
defined in rules and regulations who makes written application for such license on a form provided by the
board, who remits a fee as established pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto, and who is not
regularly engaged in advanced practice registered nursing practice in Kansas but volunteers advanced
practice registered nursing services or is a charitable health care provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102,
and amendments thereto. Each exempt advance practice registered nurse shall be subject to all provisions
of the nurse practice act. Each exempt license may be renewed biennially subject to the provisions of this
section. To convert an exempt license to an active license, the exempt advance practice registered nurse
shall meet all the requirements of subsection (a) or K.S.A. 65-1132, and amendments thereto.

(d) Inactive license. The board may issue an inactive license to any advanced practice registered nurse as
defined in rules and regulations who makes written application for such license on a form provided by the
board, who remits a fee as established pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto, and who is not
regularly engaged in advanced practice registered nursing in Kansas. The holder of an inactive license shall
not be required to submit evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of continuing education
required by K.S.A. 65-1117 and 65-1132, and amendments thereto. An inactive license shall not entitle the
holder to engage in advanced practice registered nursing in this state. Each inactive license may be renewed
subject to the provisions of this section. An inactive licensee may apply for a license to regularly engage in
advanced practice registered nursing upon filing a written reinstatement application with the board. The
application shall be on a form provided by the board and shall be accompanied by the license fee
established pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto. An applicant for a license to practice as
an advanced practice registered nurse who has not been licensed to practice advanced practice registered
nursing for five years preceding application shall be required to successfully complete a refresher course as
defined by the board. The board shall by rules and regulations establish appropriate continuing education
requirements for inactive licensees to become licensed to regularly engage in advanced practice registered
nursing in this state. An advanced practice registered nurse who has been granted an inactive license
pursuant to this subsection shall be exempt from the requirements of K.S.A, 40-3402 and 40-3404, and
amendments thereto.

() The board shall have authority to write rules and regulations to carry out the provisions of this section.

History: (L. 1983, ch. 206, § 3; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 3, L. 1997, ch. 158, § 6; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 3; L. 2011, ch. 114,

§ 45; L. 2017, ch. 35, § 5; July 1.)

65-1132. Renewal of license for advance practice registered nurse; reinstatement of lapsed license.

(a) Al licenses issued under the provisions of this act, whether initial or renewal, shall expire every two years.
The expiration date shall be established by rules and regulations of the board. The board shall send a notice
for renewal of a license to every advance practice registered nurse at least 60 days prior to the expiration
date of such person’s license. Every person who desires to renew such license shall file with the board, on
or before the date of expiration of such license:

(1) A renewal application together with the prescribed biennial renewal fee;
(2) evidence of completion of continuing education in the advanced practice registered nurse role, which
has met the continuing education requirement for an advanced practice registered nurse as developed by the

~ 54




(b)

board or by a national organization whose certifying standards are approved by the board as equal to or
greater than the corresponding standards established by the board. These continuing education credits
approved by the board may be applied to satisfy the continuing education requirements established by the
board for licensed professional nurses under K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto, if the board finds
such continuing education credits are equivalent to those required by the board under K.5.A. 65-1117, and
amendments thereto; and

(3) proof of evidence of current license as a professional nurse.

Upon receipt of such application and payment of any applicable fee, and upon being satisfied that the
applicant for renewal of a license meets the requirements established by the board under X.S.A. 65-1130,
and amendments thereto, in effect at the time of initial qualification of the applicant, the board shall verify
the accuracy of the application and grant a renewal license.

Any person who fails to secure a renewal license prior to the expiration of the license may secure a
reinstatement of such lapsed license by making application therefor on a form provided by the board, upon
furnishing proof that the applicant is competent and qualified to act as an advance practice registered nurse
and upon satisfying all of the requitements for reinstatement including payment to the board of a
reinstatement fee as established by the board.

History: (L. 1983, ch. 206, § 4; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 14; L. 2007, ch. 99, § 2; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 46; Jan. 1, 2012.)

65-1133. Same; educational and training programs for advance practice registered nurses; approval;

survey; nationally accredited programs.
(@) An approved educational and training program for advance practice registered nurses is a program

(b)

(©)

conducted in Kansas which has been approved by the board as meeting the standards and the rules and
regulations of the board. An institution desiring to conduct an educational and training program for advance
practice registered nurses shall apply to the board for approval and submit satisfactory proof that it is
prepared to and will maintain the'standards and the required curriculum for advance practice registered
nurses as prescribed by this act and by the rules and regulations of the board. Applications shall be made in
writing on forms supplied by the board and shall be submitted to the board together with the application fee
fixed by the board. The approval of an educational program for advance practice registered nurses shall not
exceed 10 years after the granting of such approval by the board. An institution desiring to continue to
conduct an approved educational program for advance practice registered nurses shall apply to the board
for the renewal of approval and submit satisfactory proof that it will maintain the standards and the required
curriculum for advance practice registered nurses as prescribed by this act and by the rules and regulations
of the board. Applications for renewal of approval shall be made in writing on forms supplied by the board.
Each program shall submit annually to the board an annual fee fixed by the board’s rules and regulations to
maintain the approved status.
A program to qualify as an approved educational programs for advance practice registered nurses must be
conducted in the state of Kansas, and the school conducting the program must apply to the board and
submit evidence that:
(1) Itis prepared to carry out the curriculum prescribed by rules and regulations of the board; and
(2) itis prepared to meet such other standards as shall be established by law and the rules and regulations
of the board.
The board shall prepare and maintain a list of programs which qualify as approved educational programs
for advance practice registered nurses whose graduates, if they have the other necessary qualifications
provided in this act, shall be eligible to apply for licensure as advance practice registered nurses. A survey
of the institution or school applying for approval of an educational program for advance practice registered
nurses shall be made by an authorized employee of the board or members of the board, who shall submit a
written report of the survey to the board. If, in the opinion of the board, the requirements as prescribed by
the board in its rules and regulations for approval are met, it shall so approve the program. The board shall
resurvey approved programs on a periodic basis as determined by rules and regulations. If the board
determines that any approved program is not maintaining the standards required by this act and by rules and
regulations prescribed by the board, notice thereof in writing, specifying the failures of such program, shall
be given. A program which fails to correct such conditions to the satisfaction of the board within a
reasonable time shall be removed from the list of approved programs until such time as the program shall
comply with such standards. All approved programs shall maintain accurate and current records showing in
full the theoretical and practical courses given to each student.

(d) The board may accept nationally accredited advanced practice registered nurse programs as defined by

rules and regulations adopted by the board in accordance with K.S.A. 65-1130, and amendments thereto:

(1) Advanced practice registered nurse programs which have received accreditation from a board
recognized national nursing accreditation agency shall file evidence of initial accreditation with the
board, and thereafter shall file all reports from the accreditation agency and any notice of any change
in school accreditation status.

43



(2) Advanced practice registered nurse programs holding approval based upon national accreditation are
also responsible for complying with all other requirements as determined by rules and regulations of
the board.

(3) The board may grant approval to an advanced practice registered nurse program with national
accreditation for a continuing period not to exceed 10 years.

History: (L. 1983, ch. 206, § 5; L. 2000, ch. 113, § 2; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 6; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 47; Jan. 1, 2012.)

65-1134. Citation of Kansas nurse practice act. The acts contained in article 11 of chapter 65 of the Kansas
Statutes Annotated and amendments thereto or made specifically supplemental thereto shall be construed together
and may be cited as the Kansas nurse practice act.

History: (L. 1983, ch. 206, § 5; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 3; Tuly 1.)

APRN
RULES & REGULATIONS

60-11-101. Definition of expanded role; limitations; restrictions.

(a) Each “advanced practice registered nurse” (APRN), as defined by K.S.A. 65-1113 and amendments
thereto, shall function in an expanded role to provide primary, secondary, and tertiary health care in the
APRN's role of advanced practice. Each APRN shall be authorized to make independent decisions about
advanced practice nursing needs of families, patients, and clients and medical decisions based on the
authorization for collaborative practice with one or more physicians. This regulation shall not be deemed to
require the immediate and physical presence of the physician when care is given by an APRN, Each APRN
shall be directly accountable and responsible to the consumer.

(b) “Authorization for collaborative practice” shall mean that an APRN is authorized to develop and manage
the medical plan of care for patients or clients based upon an agreement developed jointly and signed by
the APRN and one or more physicians. Each APRN and physician shall jointly review the authorization
for collaborative practice annually. Each authorization for collaborative practice shall include a cover page
containing the names and telephone numbers of the APRN and the physician, their signatures, and the date
of review by the APRN and the physician. Each authorization for collaborative practice shall be maintained
in either hard copy or electronic format at the APRN’s principal place of practice.

(c) “Physician” shall mean a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery by the state board of healing
arts.

(d) “Prescription” shall have the meaning specified in K.S.A. 65-1626, and amendments thereto.

(e) “Prescription order” shall have the meaning specified in K.S.A. 65-1626, and amendments thereto.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective May 1, 1984; amended March 31, 2000; amended Sept.

4, 2009; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-11-102. Roles of advanced practice registered nurses. The four roles of advanced practice registered nurses
licensed by the board of nursing shall be the following:

(@) Clinical nurse specialist;

(b) nurse anesthetist;

(c) nurse-midwife; and

(d) nurse practitioner.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective May 1, 1984; amended Sept. 4, 2009; amended May 18,

2012.)

60-11-103. Educational requirements for advanced practice registered nurses.
(a) To be issued a license as an advanced practice registered nurse in any of the roles of advanced practice, as
identified in K.A.R. 60-11-102, each applicant shall meet at least one of the following criteria:

(1) Complete a formal, post-basic nursing education program located or offered in Kansas that has been
approved by the board and prepares the nurse to function in the advanced role for which application is
made;

(2) complete a formal, post-basic nursing education program that is not located or offered in Kansas but is
determined by the board to meet the standards for program approval established by K.A.R. 60-17-101
through 60-17-108;

(3) have completed a formal, post-basic nursing education program that could be no longer in existence
but is determined by the board to meet standards at least as stringent as those required for program
approval by the board at the time of graduation;

g4




(4) hold a current license to practice as an advanced practice registered nurse in the role for which
application is made and that meets the following criteria:
(A) Was issued by a nursing licensing authority of another jurisdiction; and
(B) required completion of a program meeting standards equal to or greater than those established by

K.AR. 60-17-101 through 60-17-108; or

(5) complete a formal educational program of post-basic study and clinical experience that can be
demonstrated by the applicant to have sufficiently prepared the applicant for practice in the role of
advanced practice for which application is made. The applicant shall show that the curriculum of the
program is consistent with public health and safety policy and that it prepared individuals to perform
acts generally recognized by the nursing profession as capable of being performed by persons with
post-basic education in nursing.

(b) Each applicant for a license as an advanced practice registered nurse in a role other than anesthesia or
midwifery shall meet one of the following requirements:

(1) Have met one of the requirements of subsection (a) before July 1, 1994;

(2) ifnone of the requirements in subsection (a) have been met before July 1, 1994, meet one of the
requirements of subsection (a) and hold a baccalaureate or higher degree in nursing; or

(3) if none of the requirements in subsection (a) have been met before July 1, 2002, meet one of the
requirements of subsection (a) and hold a master's or higher degree in a clinical area of nursing.

(¢) Each applicant for a license as an advanced practice registered nurse in the role of anesthesia shall meet one
of the following requirements:

(1) Have met one of the requirements of subsection (a) before July 1, 2002; or

(2) ifnone of the requirements in subsection (2) have been met before July 1, 2002, meet one of the
requirements of subsection () and hold a master's degree or a higher degree in nurse anesthesia or a
related field.

(d) Each applicant for a license as an advanced practice registered nurse in the role of midwifery shall meet one
of the following requirements:

(1) Have met one of the requirements of subsection (a) before July 1, 2000;

(2) Tfnone of the requirements in subsection () have been met before July 1, 2000, meet one of the
requirements of subsection (a) and hold a baccalaureate degree in nursing; or

(3) ifnone of the requirements in subsection (2) have been met before January 1, 2010, meet one of the
requirements of subsection () and hold a master's degree or a higher degree in nursing, midwifery, or
arelated field.

(¢) A license may be granted if an individual has been certified by a national nursing organization whose
certification standards have been approved by the board as equal to or greater than the corresponding
standards established by the board for obtaining a license to practice as an advanced practice registered
nurse. National nursing organizations with certification standards that meet this standard shall be identified
by the board, and a current list of national nursing organizations with certification standards approved by
the board shall be maintained by the board. Any licensee may request that a certification program be
considered by the board for approval and, if approved, included by the board on its list of national nursing
organizations with approved certification standards.

(§ Each applicant who completes an advanced practice registered nurse program after
January 1, 1997 shall have completed three college hours in advanced pharmacology or the equivalent.

(g) Each applicant who completes an advanced practice registered nurse program after January 1, 2001 ina
role other than anesthesia or midwifery shall have completed three college hours in advanced
pathophysiology or its equivalent and three college hours in advanced health assessment or its equivalent.

(h) Each applicant who completes an advanced practice registered nurse program after July 1, 2009 shall have
completed three college hours in advanced pathophysiology or its equivalent and three college hours in
advanced health assessment or its equivalent.

(i) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) through (h), each applicant for a license as an advanced
practice registered nurse who has not gained 1,000 hours of advanced nursing practice during the five years
preceding the date of application shall be required to successfully complete a refresher course as defined by
the board.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective
May 1, 1984; amended, T-85-16, June 5, 1984; amended May 1, 1985; amended, T-60-11-14-90, Nov. 14, 1990;
amended, T-60-3-14-91, March 14, 1991; amended Sept. 2, 1991; amended March 9, 1992; amended Sept. 14, 1992;
amended April 26, 1993; amended Sept. 6, 1994; amended Jan. 3, 1997; amended March 31, 2000; amended Sept. 4,

2009; amended May 18,2012.)
60-11-104. Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse in the role of nurse practitioner. Each

advanced practice registered nurse in the role of nurse practitioner shall function in an advanced role at a specialized
level, through the application of advanced knowledge and skills and shall be authorized to perform the following:

_di_



(a) Provide health promotion and maintenance, disease prevention, and independent nursing diagnosis, as
defined in K.S.A. 65-1113(b) and amendments thereto, and treatment, as defined in K.S.A. 65-1113(c) and
amendments thereto, of acute and chronic diseases;

(b) develop and manage the medical plan of care for patients or clients, based on the authorization for
collaborative practice;

(c) provide health care services for which the nurse practitioner is educationally prepared and for which
competency has been established and maintained. Educational preparation may include academic
coursework, workshops, institutes, and seminars if theory or clinical experience, or both, are included;

(d) provide health care for individuals by managing health problems encountered by patients and clients; and

(e) provide innovation in evidence-based nursing practice based upon advanced clinical expertise, decision
making, and leadership skills and serve as a consultant, researcher, and patient advocate for individuals,
families, groups, and communities to achieve quality, cost-effective patient outcomes and solutions.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective May 1, 1984; amended, T-85-16, June 5, 1984;

amended May 1, 1985; amended Sept. 4, 2009; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-11-104a. Protocol requirements; prescription orders.

(a) Bach written protocol that an advanced practice registered nurse is to follow when prescribing,
administering, or supplying a prescription-only drug shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Specify for each classification of disease or injury the corresponding class of drugs that the advanced
practice registered nurse is permitted to prescribe;

(2) be maintained in either a loose-leaf notebook or a book of published protocols. The notebook or book
of published protocols shall include a cover page containing the following data:
(A) The names, telephone numbers, and signatures of the advanced practice registered nurse and a

responsible physician who has authorized the protocol; and

(B) the date on which the protocol was adopted or last reviewed; and

(3) be kept at the advanced practice registered nurse’s principal place of practice.

(b) Each advanced practice registered nurse shall ensure that each protocol is reviewed by the advanced
practice registered nurse and physician at least annually.

(c) Each prescription order in written form shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Include the name, address, and telephone number of the practice location of the advanced practice
registered nurse; -

(2) include the name, address, and telephone number of the responsible physician;

(3) be signed by the advanced practice registered nurse with the letters AP.RN,;

(4) be from a class of drugs prescribed pursuant to protocol; and

(5) contain the D.E.A. registration number issued to the advanced practice registered nurse when a
controlled substance, as defined in K.S.A. 65-4101(¢) and amendments thereto, is prescribed.

(d) Nothing in this regulation shall be construed to prohibit any registered nurse or licensed practical nurse or
advanced practice registered nurse from conveying a prescription order orally or administering a drug if
acting under the lawful direction of a person licensed to practice either medicine and surgery or dentistry or
licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse.

(¢) When used in this regulation, terms shall be construed to have the meanings specified in K.S.A. 65-1626,
and amendments thereto.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective, T-
60-9-12-88, Sept. 12, 1988; effective Feb. 13, 1989; amended May 7, 1990; amended Jan. 3, 1995; amended March

31, 2000; amended May 18, 2012.)

| 60-11-105. Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse in the role of nurse-midwife. Each advanced

| practice registered nurse in the role of nurse-midwife shall function in an advanced role through the application of

advanced skills and knowledge of women’s health care through the life span and shall be authorized to perform the
| following:

(a) Provide independent nursing diagnosis, as defined in K.S.A. 65-1 113(b) and amendments thereto, and
treatment, as defined in K.S.A. 65-1113(c) and amendments thereto;

(b) develop and manage the medical plan of care for patients or clients, based on the authorization for
collaborative practice;

(c) provide health care services for which the nurse-midwife is educationally prepared and for which
competency has been established and maintained. Educational preparation may include academic
coursework, workshops, institutes, and seminars if theory or clinical experience, or both, are included;

(d) in a manner consistent with subsection (c), provide health care for women, focusing on gynecological
needs, pregnancy, childbirth, the postpartum period, care of the newborn, and family planning, including
indicated partner evaluation, treatment, and referral for infertility and sexually transmitted diseases; and

_E§—




(e) provide innovation in evidence-based nursing practice based upon advanced clinical expertise, decision
making, and leadership skills and serve as a consultant, researcher, and patient advocate for individuals,
families, groups, and communities to achieve quality, cost-effective patient outcomes and solutions.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44; effective May 1, 1984; amended, T-85-16, June 5, 1984;
amended May 1, 1985; amended Sept. 4, 2009; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-11-106. Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse; nurse anesthetist. The functions that may be
performed by any advanced practice registered nurse functioning in the advanced role of registered nurse anesthetist
shall be those functions defined in K.S.A. 65-1158, and amendments thereto.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch.114, sec. 44; effective May 1, 1984; amended, T-85-16, June 5, 1984; amended
May 1, 1985; amended March 31, 2000; amended May 18,2012.)

60-11-107. Functions of the advanced practice registered nurse in the role of clinical nurse specialist. Each
advanced practice registered nurse in the role of clinical nurse specialist shall function in an advanced role to
provide evidence-based nursing practice within a specialty area focused on specific patients or clients, populations,
settings, and types of care. Each clinical nurse specialist shall be authorized to perform the following:

(a) Provide independent nursing diagnosis, as defined in K.S.A. 65-1113(b) and amendments thereto, and
treatment, as defined in K.S.A. 65-1113(c) and amendments thereto;

(b) develop and manage the medical plan of care for patients or clients, based on the authorization for
collaborative practice;

(c) provide health care services for which the clinical nurse specialist is educationally prepared and for which
competency has been established and maintained. Educational preparation may include academic
coursework, workshops, institutes, and seminars if theory or clinical experienice, or both, are included;

(d) provide care for specific patients or clients or specific populations, or both, utilizing a broad base of
advanced scientific knowledge, nursing theory, and skills in assessing, planning, implementing, and
evaluating health and nursing care; and

(e) provide innovation in evidence-based nursing practice based upon advanced clinical expertise, decision
making, and leadership skills and serve as a consultant, researcher, and patient advocate for individuals,
families, groups, and communities to achieve quality, cost-effective patient outcomes and solutions.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1113, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 39, and K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44, effective May 1, 1984; amended, T-85-16, June 5, 1984;
amended May 1, 1985; amended Sept. 4, 2009; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-11-113. License renewal.

(a) Advanced practice registered nurse licenses shall be renewed on the same biennial cycle as the cycle for the
registered professional nurse licensure renewal, as specified in K.AR. 60-3-108.

(b) On and after January 1, 2013, each individual renewing a license shall have completed the required 30
contact hours of approved continuing nursing education (CNE) related to the advanced practice registered
nurse role during the most recent prior license period. Proof of completion of 30 contact hours of approved
CNE in the advanced practice nurse role may be requested by the board. Contact hours accumulated in
excess of the 30-hour requirement shall not be carried over to the next renewal period.

(c) The number of contact hours assigned to any offering that includes a recognized standard curriculum shall
be determined by the board. :

(d) Any individual attending any offering not previously approved by the board may submit an application for
an individual offering approval (IOA). Credit may be given for offerings that the licensee demonstrates as
having a relationship to the practice of the advanced practice registered nursing role. Each separate offering
shall be approved before the individual submits the license renewal application.

(e) Approval shall not be granted for identical offerings completed within the same license renewal period.

(f) Any individual renewing a license may accumulate 15 contact hours of the required CNE from instructor
credit. Each presenter shall receive instructor credit only once for the preparation and presentation of each
course. The provider shall issue a certificate listing the number of contact hours earned and clearly
identifying the hours as instructor credit.

(g) Fractions of contact hours may be accepted for offerings over 30 minutes.

(h) All CNE accumulated for APRN license renewal shall also be applicable to the renewal of the registered
professional nurse license.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 65-1117 and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 65-
1117 and K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 65-1132; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 9, 1994; amended July 29, 2005;

amended May 18,2012.)

-56L



60-11-116. Reinstatement of license.

(a) Any nurse anesthetist whose Kansas APRN license has lapsed and who desires to obtain a reinstatement of
APRN licensure shall meet the same requirements as those in K.A.R. 60-13-110.

(b) Any nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or nurse-midwife whose Kansas APRN license has lapsed
may, within five years of its expiration date, reinstate the license by submitting proof that the applicant has
met either of the following requirements:

(1) Obtained 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to the advanced practice registered nurse
role within the preceding two-year period; or

(2) been licensed in another jurisdiction and, while licensed in that jurisdiction, has accumulated 1,000
hours of advanced practice registered nurse practice within the preceding five-year period.

(¢) Any nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or nurse-midwife whose Kansas APRN license has lapsed
for more than five years beyond its expiration date may reinstate the license by submitting evidence of
having attained either of the following:

(1) A total of 1,000 hours of advanced practice registered nurse practice in another jurisdiction within the
preceding five-year period and 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to the advanced
practice registered nurse role; or

(2) completion of a refresher course approved by the board.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 79, and K.S.A. 65-
1129; implementing K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 79, and K.S.A. 2010 Supp.
65-1132, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 46; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended March 22, 2002; amended May

18,2012.)

60-11-118. Temporary permit to practice.

(a) A temporary permit to practice as an advanced practice registered nurse may be issued by the board for a
period of not more than 180 days to an applicant for licensure as an advanced practice registered nurse who
meets the following requirements:

(1) Was previously licensed in this state; and
(2) is enrolled in a refresher course required by the board for reinstatement of a license that has lapsed for
more than five years.

(b) A one-time temporary permit to practice as an advanced practice registered nurse may be issued by the
board for a period of not more than 180 days pending completion of the application for a license.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 65-1132, as amended by L. 2011, ch.
114, sec. 45; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended April 26, 1993; amended May 18,2012.)

60-11-119. Payment of fees. Payment of fees for advanced practice registered nurses shall be as follows:

(a) Initial application fOr ICEISE. . .uemuruerescrssseristetsssisssis s s b s $50.00

(b) Biennial reneWal OF HCEISE ..uvurreusrssssrssrriserssissesinsssiss s isss s s bbb e 55.00

. (c) Application for reinstatement of license without temporary Permit.........vesmmemssesssseienmmssisisssissncinnennes 75.00
(d) Application for license with tempOTary PErmit ...t 100.00
50.00

(e) Application for eXempt HOEISE ..ucuirirerrrerimmrriersertsiisin s s s
() Renewal Of eXeImPt HOBNSE .o.uurrvunrvseissecreeiietis ittt bbb s
This regulation shall be effective on and after July 1, 2014.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 65-1131; implementing X.S.A. 2013 Supp. 65-
1118 and 65-1131; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 17, 1993; amended Feb. 6, 1995; amended April 3, 1998;
amended July 1, 2001; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012; amended July 1, 2014.)

60-11-120. Expiration dates of licenses; applications. The expiration dates of all licenses and applications shall
be in accordance with K.A.R. 60-3-107 and 60-3-108.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1131, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 45, and K.5.A.
2010 Supp. 65-1132, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 46; effective April 3, 1998; amended July 29, 2005;

amended May 18, 2012.)

60-11-121. Exempt license.
(a) An exempt license shall be granted only to an advanced practice registered nurse who meets these

requirements:
(1) Is not regularly engaged as an advanced practice registered nurse in Kansas, but volunteers advanced

practice registered nurse services or is a charitable health care provider, as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102

and amendments thereto; and
(2) (A)Has been licensed in Kansas for the five years previous to applying for an exempt license; or

8_




(b)
©

(B) has been licensed, authorized, or certified in another jurisdiction for the five years previous to
applying for an exempt license and meets all requirements for endorsement into Kansas.
The expiration date of the exempt license shall be in accordance with K.AR. 60-3-108.
Each application for renewal of an exempt license shall be submitted upon a form furnished by the board
and shall be accompanied by the fee in accordance with K.A.R. 60-11-119.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1131, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 45; effective
April 3, 1998; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012)

ADVANCED NURSING EDUCATION PROGRAM

60-17-101. Definitions.
(a) An “advanced nursing education program” may be housed within a part of any of the following

(b)
(©
(d)
(©

®

(8)

organizational units within an academic institution:

(1) A college;

(2) aschool;

(3) adivision;

(4) adepartment; or

(5) an academic unit.

«Affiliating agency” means an agency that cooperates with the advanced nursing education program to
provide clinical facilities and resources for selected student experiences.

“Clinical learning” means an active process in which the student participates in advanced nursing activities
while being guided by a member of the faculty.

“Contractual agreement” means a written contract or letter signed by the legal representatives of the
advanced nursing education program and the affiliating agency.

“Preceptor” means an advanced practice registered nurse or a physician who provides clinical supervision
for advanced practice registered nurse students as a part of nutsing courses taken during the advanced
nursing education program.

“Gatellite program” means an existing, accredited advanced nursing education program provided at a
location geographically separate from the parent program. The students may spend a portion or all of their
time at the satellite location. The curricula in all locations shall be the same, and each credential shall be
conferred by the parent institution.

«Transfer student” means an individual who is permitted to apply advanced nursing courses completed at
another institution to a different advanced nursing education program.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1133, as
amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47; effective March 31, 2000; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-17-102. Requirements for initial approval.

()
(b)

©

Each hospital and agency serving as an affiliating agency and providing facilities for clinical experience

shall be licensed or accredited by the appropriate credentialing groups.

(1) The advanced nursing education program or the institution of which it is a part shall be a legally
constituted body. The controlling body shall be responsible for general policy and shall provide the
financial support for the advanced nursing education program.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the advanced nursing education program shall be vested
in the nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program.

Each new advanced nursing education program shall submit, at least 60 days before a scheduled board

meeting, an initial application, which shall include all of the following:

(1) The course of study and credential to be conferred;

(2) the name and title of the nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program;

(3) the name of the controlling body;

(4) the name and title of the administrator for the controlling body;

(5) the organizational chart;

(6) all sources of financial support, including a three-year budget;

(7) a proposed curriculum, indicating the total number of hours of both theoretical and clinical instruction;

(8) the program objectives or outcomes;

(9) the number, qualifications, and assignments of faculty;

(10) the faculty policies;

(11) the admission requirements;

(12) a copy of the current school bulletin or catalog;

(13) a description of clinical facilities and client census data;

-58-



(14) contractual agreements by affiliating agencies for clinical facilities, signed at least three months before
the first date on which students may enroll;

(15) the program evaluation plan; and

(16) a proposed date of initial admission of students to the program.

(d) Each advanced nursing education program shall be surveyed for approval by the board, with the exception

©
®

of nurse anesthesia programs, as determined by K.A.R. 60-13-103. .

(1) During a survey, the nurse administrator of the program shall make available all of the following:

(A) Administrators, prospective faculty and students, affiliating agencies, representatives, preceptors,
and support services personnel to discuss the advanced nursing education program;

(B) minutes of faculty meetings;

(C) faculty and student handbooks;

(D) policies and procedures;

(B) curriculum materials;

(F) a copy of the advanced nursing education program's budget; and

(G) affiliating agency coniractual agreements.

(2) The nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program or designated personnel shall take
the survey team to inspect the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities and
library facilities.

(3) Upon completion of the survey, the nurse administrator shall be asked to correct any inaccurate
statements contained in the survey report, limiting these comments to errors, unclear statements, or
omissions.

Each institution contemplating the establishment of an advanced nursing education program shall be

surveyed and accredited by the board before the admission of students.

If an advanced nursing education program fails to meet the requirements of the board within a designated
period of time, the program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to deny approval.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April
20, 2007; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-17-103. Reapproval requirements.

@
(b)

(©

(d)

Based on the annual report required by K.A.R. 60-17-109, each advanced nursing education program shall
be reviewed for reapproval by the board every two years.
Each advanced nursing education program shall be resurveyed every five to 10 years.
(1) A survey may be conducted if there is consistent evidence indicating deficiencies in meeting
requirements.
(2) A survey of each nurse anesthesia program shall be conducted as required by K.A.R. 60-13-103 (d)(4).
(3) If the program is accredited by a national nursing accreditation agency, the resurvey visit may be made
in coordination with a national nursing accreditation agency visit. Each program without national
nursing accreditation shall be resurveyed every five years.
The nurse administrator of each advanced nursing education program shall make available all of the
following information during a survey:
(1) Data about the program, including the following:
(A) The number of students;
(B) the legal body responsible for establishing program policies and for support of the program;
(C) an organizational chart; and
(D) a description of the budgetary process;
(2) a description of the nurse administrator's responsibilities;
(3) information about the faculty and preceptors, including the following:
(A) A description of the responsibilities of each position;
(B) the selection policies;
(C) the orientation plan;
(D) faculty organization by-laws; and
(B) the number of full-time and part-time faculty and nonnursing faculty with academic credentials
and assignments;
(4) the faculty degree plan;
(5) a copy of the current curriculum with the date of last revision;
(6) a description of education facilities, including classrooms, offices, library, and computers;
(7) alist of clinical facilities;
(8) the number of students enrolled; and
(9) policies for students as listed in K.A.R. 60-2-107.
During a survey, the nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program shall make available

all of the following:

i




(e)

®
(8)

(1) Educational institution administrators, faculty, support services personnel, preceptors, and students;

(2) staff at selected clinical facilities;

(3) faculty minutes for at least the previous three years;

(4) faculty and student handbooks;

(5) student records;

(6) policies and procedures;

(7) curriculum materials;

(8) acopy of the advanced nursing education program's budget; and

(9) affiliating agency contractual agreements.

The nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program or designated personnel shall take the
survey team to the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities, library facilities, and
affiliating or clinical facilities.

Upon completion of the survey, the nurse administrator shall correct any inaccurate statements contained in
the survey report, limiting these comments to errors, unclear statements, or omissions.

If an advanced nursing education program fails to meet requirements of the board within a designated
period of time, the program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to deny
reapproval. This notification shall be made pursuant to K.S.A. 77-512, and amendments thereto, and shall
inform the program of its right to a hearing pursuant to the Kansas administrative procedures act.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007.)

60-17-104. Faculty and preceptor qualifications.

(2)
(®)

(c)

(d)

(e)
®

Each nurse faculty member shall be licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.

Each preceptor shall be licensed in the state in which the preceptor is currently practicing. Each preceptor

shall complete a preceptor orientation that includes information about the pedagogical aspects of the

student-preceptor relationship. :

For advanced nursing education programs in the role of nurse anesthesia, each nurse faculty member shall

have the following academic preparation and experience:

(1) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the advanced
nursing education program shall have had experience in administration or teaching and shall have a
graduate degree.

(2) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate degree.

(3) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a license as an advanced
practice registered nurse and a graduate degree.

For advanced nursing education programs in any role other than nurse anesthesia, each nurse faculty

member shall have the following academic preparation and experience:

(1) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the advanced
nursing education program shall have had experience in administration or teaching and shall have a
graduate degree in nursing.

(2) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate degree.
Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for
any person whose graduate degree was conferred before July 1, 2005.

(3) Each nurse faculty member responsible for coordinating clinical instruction shall possess a license as
an advanced practice registered nurse in the role for which clinical instruction is provided and shall
have a graduate degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member shall have a graduate
degree in nursing, except for any person whose graduate degree was conferred before July 1, 2005.

(4) Each preceptor or adjunct faculty shall be licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse or shall be
licensed as a physician in the state in which the individual is currently practicing. Each preceptor shall
complete a preceptor orientation including information about the pedagogical aspects of the student-
preceptor relationship.

The nonnursing faculty of each advanced nursing education program shall have graduate degrees in the

area of expertise.

The nurse administrator of each advanced nursing education program shall submit to the board a faculty

qualification report for each faculty member who is newly employed by the program. '

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.5.A. 2010 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1133, as
amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012)

60-17-105. Curriculum requirements.
(a) The faculty in each advanced nursing education program shall fulfill these requirements:

(1) Identify the competencies of the graduate for each role of advanced nursing practice for which the

program provides instruction;
(2) determine the approach and content for learning experiences;

—60-



(3) direct clinical instruction as an integral part of the program; and
(4) provide for learning experiences of the depth and scope needed to fulfill the objectives or outcomes of
advanced nursing courses.
(b) The curriculum in each advanced nursing education program shall include all of the following:
(1) Role alignment related to the distinction between practice as a registered professional nurse and the
advanced role of an advanced practice registered nurse as specified in K.A.R. 60-11-101;
(2) theoretical instruction in the role or roles of advanced nursing practice for which the program provides

instruction;

(3) the health care delivery system;

(4) the ethical and legal implications of advanced nursing practice;

(5) three college hours in advanced pharmacology or the equivalent;

(6) three college hours in advanced pathophysiology or its equivalent and three college hours in advanced
health assessment or its equivalent for licensure as an advanced practice registered nurse in a role other
than nurse anesthesia and nurse midwifery;

(7) if completing an advanced practice registered nurse program after July 1, 2009, three college hours in
advanced pathophysiology or its equivalent and three college hours in advanced health assessment or
its equivalent; and

(8) clinical instruction in the area of specialization, which shall include the following:

(A) Performance of or ordering diagnostic procedures;
(B) evaluation of diagnostic and assessment findings; and
(C) the prescription of medications and other treatment modalities for client conditions.

(c) (1) Each program shall consist of at least 45 semester credit hours or the academic equivalent. Asused in
this regulation, “academic equivalent” shall mean the prorated proportionate credit for formal
academic coursework if that coursework is completed on the basis of trimester or quarter hours rather
than semester hours. ,

(2) The clinical component shall consist of at least 260 hours of clinical learning. After January 1, 2003,
the clinical component shall consist of at least 500 hours of clinical learning. After July 1, 2009, the
clinical component shall consist of at least 500 hours of clinical learning in each clinical track, or the
program shall provide documentation of the overlap if any clinical track consists of less than 500

clinical hours.
(d) Each nurse administrator shall meet the following requirements:
(1) Develop and implement a written plan for program evaluation; and
(2) submit any major revision to the curriculum of advanced nursing courses for board approval at least 30
days before a meeting of the board. The following shall be considered major revisions to the
curriculum:
(A) Any significant change in the plan of curriculum organization; and
(B) any change in content. .
(e) Each nurse administrator shall submit all revisions that are not major revisions, as defined in paragraph
(d)(2), to the board or the board's designee for approval.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and X.S.A. 2010 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1133, as
amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012.)

~

60-17-106. Clinical resources.
(a) Each advanced nursing education program shall have appropriate written contractual agreements with each

affiliating agency. Each signed contract shall be kept on file in the advanced nursing education program
office.

(b) Clinical learning experiences and sites shall be selected to provide learning opportunities necessary to
achieve the advanced nursing education program objectives or outcomes.

(¢) Faculty shall facilitate and evaluate student learning experiences in the clinical area.

(d) Preceptors shall be responsible for assessing performance in the clinical sefting.

(¢) The advanced nursing education program shall provide verification that each agency used for clinical
instruction has clinical facilities that are adequate for the number of students served in terms of space,
equipment, and other necessary resources, including an adequate number of patients or clients necessaty to
meet the program objectives or outcomes.

(f) The advanced nursing education program shall contract with an adequate number of appropriate affiliating
agencies so that there will be appropriate clinical experiences to meet curriculum objectives or outcomes.
The advanced nursing education program faculty shall provide the affiliating agency staff with the ‘
organizing curriculum framework and either the objectives or outcomes for that clinical learning
experience. A sufficient number and variety of patients representing appropriate age groups shall be
available to provide learning experiences to meet curriculum objectives or outcomes. If more than one

— 63—




advanced nursing education program uses the same affiliating agency, each advanced nursing education
program shall document the availability of appropriate learning experiences for all of its students.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000.)

60-17-107. Educational facilities.

@

(b)

©

Classrooms, laboratories, and conference rooms shall be available at the time needed and shall be adequate

in size, number, and type, according to the number of students and the educational purposes for which the

rooms are to be used.

The advanced nursing education program shall provide all of the following:

(1) A physical facility that is safe and conducive to learning;

(2) space that is available and adequate in size, amount, and type to provide faculty with privacy in
counseling students;

(3) secured space for nursing student records; and

(4) student support services for distance learning if distance learning is provided.

Library holdings, instructional media, and materials shall be of sufficient recency, pertinence, level of

content, and quantity as indicated by the curriculum to meet the needs of-nursing students and faculty and

shall be available to distance learning students.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007.)

60-17-108. Student policies. Each advanced nursing education program shall have clearly defined written policies
for all of the following:

(a)

(b)
()
G))
(e
®
®

Admission, including a requirement that each student in the program must have a current license to practice
as a registered professional nurse in the United States or any of its territories;

transfer students;

readmission;

counseling and guidance;

progression criteria;

student representation in faculty governance; and

graduation.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007.)

60-17-109. Reports.

(2

Each advanced nursing education program shall submit an annual report to the board on or before June 15

of each year, which shall include all of the following data:

(1) Any changes in program policies, the organizing framework for the curriculum, and program
objectives or outcomes;

(2) adescription of faculty responsibilities for required advanced nursing courses;

(3) the name, license number, academic credentials, employment date, and full- or part-time status of each

member of the program faculty;
(4) the name, license number, academic credentials, professional experience, and place of practice for each

preceptor;

. (5) adescription of the nurse administrator’s teaching responsibilities;

(b)

(6) the name and address of each affiliating agency;

(7) student enrollment, retention, and graduation statistics;

(8) faculty hiring, retention, and separation statistics;

(9) the total number of library holdings and the number of holdings regarding nursing;

(10) for the most recent year, either a list of new library and audiovisual acquisitions or the budget spent on
library and audiovisual acquisitions;

(11)a response to the recommendations and requirements identified by the board based on the program’s
last annual report or the last survey visit; and

(12) any proposed changes to the program.

If the advanced nursing education program fails to meet requirements of the board or to submit required

reports within a designated period of time, the program shall be removed from the list of accredited nursing

education programs after it has received notice and has been given an opportunity to be heard. These

. proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of K.8.A. 77-512 and amendments

thereto.

History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000.)

60-17-110. Discontinuing an advanced practice registered nurse progranm. Each school terminating its
program shall submit, for board approval, the school’s plan for its currently enrolled students and for disposition of

its records.

— 62—



History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1 129 and K.S.A. 2010 Supp.74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1133, as
amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47: effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-17-111. Requirements for advanced practice registered nurse refresher course. .

(@ (1) Each refresher course that prepares advanced practice registered nurses (APRNs) who have not been
actively engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than five years shall be accredited by the
board.

(2) Ifaformal refresher course is not available, an individualized course may be designed for a nurse.
Each individualized course shall be accredited by the education specialist.
(b) Each refresher course student shall meet both of the following conditions:
(1) Be licensed currently as a Kansas registered professional nurse; and
(2) have been licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse in Kansas or another state or have
completed the education required to be licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse in Kansas.

(c) Continuing nursing education contact hours may be awarded for completion of APRN refresher courses. A
contact hour shall equal a 50-minute hour of instruction.

(d) The objectives and outcomes of the refresher course shall be stated in behavioral terms and shall describe
the expected competencies of the applicant.

(e) Each instructor for an APRN refresher course shall be licensed as an APRN and shall show evidence of
recent professional education and competency in teaching.

(f Each provider that has been accredited by the board to offer an APRN refresher course shall provide the
following classroom and clinical experiences, based on the length of time that the student has not been
actively engaged in advanced nursing practice:

(1) For students who have not engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than five years, but less than
or equal to 10 years, 150 didactic hours and 350 clinical hours; and

(2) for students who have not engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than 10 years, 200 didactic
hours and 500 clinical hours.

(g) The content, methods of instruction, and learning experiences shall be consistent with the objectives and
outcomes of the course.

(h) Each refresher course for the roles of nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, and nurse-midwife shall
contain the following content:

(1) Didactic: )
(A) Role alignment related to recent changes in the area of advanced nursing practice;
(B) the ethical and legal implications of advanced nursing practice;
(C) the health care delivery system;
(D) diagnostic procedures for the area of specialization; and
(B) prescribing medications for the area of specialization; and
(2) clinical:
(A) Conducting diagnostic procedures for the area of specialization;
(B) prescribing medications for the area of specialization;
(C) evaluating the physical and psychosocial health status of a client;
(D) obtaining a comprehensive health history; ‘
(B) conducting physical examinations using basic examination techniques, diagnostic instruments, and
laboratory procedures;
(F) planning, implementing, and evaluating care;
(G) consulting with clients and members of the health care team;
(H) managing the medical plan of care prescribed based on protocols or guidelines;
() initiating and maintaining records, documents, and other reports;
(1) developing teaching plans; and
(K) counseling individuals, families, and groups on the following issues:
() Health;
(i) illness; and
(iii) the promotion of health maintenance.

(i) Each student in aurse-midwife refresher training shall also have clinical hours in the management of the
expanding family throughout pregnancy, labor, delivery, postdelivery care, and gynecological care.

(j) T he provider of each refresher course shall provide official evidence of completion to each individual who
successfully completes the refresher course.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-1130, as
amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44, and K.S.A. 65-1133, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47; effective
March 31, 2000; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012.)

-6%-




REGISTERED NURSE ANESTHETIST
STATUTES

65-1151. Definitions. Asused in K.S.A. 65-1151to0 65-1164, inclusive and amendments thereto:

(a) “Registered nurse anesthetist” means a licensed professional nurse who is authorized to practice as a
registered nurse anesthetist.

(b) “Board” means the board of nursing.

(¢) “Local anesthetic” means infiltration anesthesia or anesthesia produced by direct infiltration of local
anesthetic solution into the operative site. .

(d) “Regional anesthesia” means the use of local anesthetic solutions to produce loss of sensation in
circumscribed areas.

(e) “General anesthesia” means one that is complete and affecting the entire body with the loss of
consciousness.

(f) “Active anesthesia practice” means clinical practice and anesthesia related administrative, educational, and

research activities.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 1; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 1; July 1)

65-1152. Qualifications for authorization to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist; approval of schools of
nurse anesthesia, criteria.

(a) In order to obtain authorization from the board of nursing to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist an
individual shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Be licensed to practice professional nursing under the Kansas nurse practice act;

(2) has successfully completed a course of study in nurse anesthesia in a school of nurse anesthesia
approved by the board;

(3) has successfully completed an examination approved by the board or has been certified by a national
organization whose certifying standards are approved by the board as equal to or greater than the
corresponding standards established under this act for obtaining authorization to practice as a
registered nurse anesthetist; and

(4) be required to successfully complete a refresher course as defined in rules and regulations of the board
if the individual has not been in active anesthesia practice for five years preceding the application.

(b) Approval of schools of nurse anesthesia shall be based on approval standards specified in K.S.A. 65-1133
and amendments thereto. ’

(¢) Schools of nurse anesthesia approved by the board under this section shall offer, a masters level degree
program in nurse anesthesia.

(d) For the purposes of determining whether an individual meets the requirements of item (2) of subsection (a),
the board by rules and regulations shall establish criteria for determining whether a particular school of
nurse anesthesia maintains standards which are at least equal to schools of nurse anesthesia which are
approved by the board.

History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 2; L. 1988, ch. 243, § 3; L. 1988, ch, 244, § 1; L. 1988, ch. 245, § 3; L. 1993, ch.
194, § 15; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 2, L. 1997, ch. 158, § 7; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 8; July 1.)

65-1153.Temporary authorization to practice. The Board may grant a temporary authorization to practice nurse
anesthesia as a registered nurse anesthetist:
(a) For a period of not more than one year to graduates of a school of nurse anesthesia approved by the board
pending results of the initial examination; or
(b) for the needed amount of time to complete the clinical portion of a refresher course; or
(c) for aperiod not to exceed 120 days.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 3; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 4; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 3; L. 2000, ch. 113, § 4; L 2001, ch. 161,

§9, July 1.)

65-1154. Application; fees; deposit of moneys. Upon application to the board by any licensed professional nurse
in this state and upon satisfaction of the standards and requirements established under this act and K.S.A. 65-1130,
and amendments thereto, the board shall grant an authorization to the applicant to perform the duties of a registered
nurse anesthetist and be licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse. An application to the board for an
authorization, for an authorization with temporary authorization, for biennial renewal of authorization, for
reinstatement of authorization and for reinstatement of authorization with temporary authorization shall be upon
such form and contain such information as the board may require and shall be accompanied by a fee to assist in
defraying the expenses in connection with the administration of the provisions of this act. The fee shall be fixed by
rules and regulations adopted by the board in an amount fixed by the board under K.S.A 65-1118, and amendments
thereto. There shall be no fee assessed for the initial, renewal or reinstatement of the advanced practice registered

-6%-



nurse license as long as the registered nurse anesthetist maintains authorization. The executive administrator of the
board shall remit all moneys received to the state treasurer as provided by K.S.A. 74-1108, and amendments thereto.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 4; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 5; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 4;L. 2011, ch. 114, § 48; Jan. 1,2012.)

65-1155. Expiration of authorizations to practice; system of biennial authorizations; renewal; lapsed
authorization; reinstatement.

(a) All authorizations to practice under this act, whether initial or renewal, shall expire every two years. The
biennial authorizations to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist shall expire at the same time as the
license to practice as a registered nurse. The board shall send a notice for renewal of the authorization to
practice to every registered nurse anesthetist at least 60 days prior to the expiration date of such person’s
authorization to practice. To renew such authorization to practice the registered nurse anesthetist shall file
with the board, before the date of expiration of such authorization to practice, a renewal application
together with the prescribed biennial renewal fee. Upon satisfaction of the requirements of subsection (a) of
K.S.A. 65-1159 and amendments thereto the board shall grant the renewal of an authorization to practice as
a registered nurse anesthetist to the applicant.

(b) Any person who fails to secure the renewal of an authorization to practice prior to the expiration of the
authorization may secure a reinstatement of such lapsed authorization by making application on a form
provided by the board. Such reinstatement shall be granted upon receipt of proof that the applicant is
competent and qualified to actas a registered nurse anesthetist, has satisfied all of the requirements and has
paid the board a reinstatement fee as established by the board by rules and regulations in accordance with
K.S.A. 65-1118 and amendments thereto.

History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 5; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 3; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 16; L. 2007, ch. 99 § 3; July 1.)

65-1158. Duties of registered nurse anesthetists.
(a) Upon the order of a physician or dentist requesting anesthesia or analgesia care, each registered nurse

anesthetist shall be authorized to:
(1) Conduct a pre- and post- anesthesia and pre- and post-analgesia visit and assessment with appropriate
documentation;
(2) develop a general plan of anesthesia care with the physician or dentist;
(3) select the method for administration of anesthesia or analgesia;
(4) select or administer appropriate medications and anesthetic agents during the peri-anesthetic or peri-
analgesic period;
(5) order necessary medications and tests in the peri-anesthetic or peri-analgesia period;
(6) induce and maintain anesthesia or analgesia at the required levels;
(7) support life functions during the peri-anesthetic or peri-analgesic period;
(8) recognize and take appropriate action with respect to patient responses during the peri-anesthetic or
peri-analgesic period;
(9) manage the patient’s emergence from anesthesia or analgesia; and
(10) participate in the life support of the patient.
(b) Each registered nurse anesthetist may participate in periodic and joint evaluation of services rendered,
including, but not limited to, chart reviews, case reviews, patient evaluation and outcome of case statistics.
(c) A registered nurse anesthetist shall perform duties and functions in an interdependent role as a member of a
physician or dentist directed health care team.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 8; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 4; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 5; L. 2010, ch. 33, § 1; Tuly 1.)

65-1159. Qualifications of applicant for renewal of an authorization to practice; continuing education.

(a) The applicant for renewal of an authorization to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist shall:

(1) Have met the continuing education requirements for a registered nurse anesthetist as developed by the
board or by a national organization whose certifying standards are approved by the board as equal to or
greater than the corresponding standards established under this act;

(2) be currently licensed as a professional nurse; and

(3) have paid all applicable fees provided for in this act as fixed by rules and regulations of the board.

(b) Continuing education credits approved by the board for purposes of this subsection may be applied to
satisfy the continuing education requirements established by the board for licensed professional nurses
under K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto if the board finds such continuing education credits are
equivalent to those required by the board under K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto.

History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 9; L. 1996, ch. 179, § 6; July 1.)

65-1162. Unlawful acts.
(a) Except as otherwise provided in K.S.A. 65-1151 to 65-1163, inclusive, and amendments thereto any

licensed professional nurse or licensed practical nurse who engages in the administration of general or

~{5—




®)

©

regional anesthesia without being authorized by the board to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist is

guilty of a class A misdemeanor.

Any person, corporation, association or other entity, except as otherwise provided in K.S.A. 65-1151 to 65-

1163, inclusive, and amendments thereto who engages in any of the following activities is guilty of a

misdemeanor: .

(1) Employing or offering to employ any person as a registered nurse anesthetist with knowledge that such
person is not authorized by the board to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist;

(2) fraudulently seeking, obtaining or furnishing documents indicating that a person is authorized by the
board to practice as a registered nutse anesthetist when such person is not so authorized, or aiding and
abetting such activities;

(3) using in connection with one’s name the title registered nurse anesthetist, the abbreviation RN.A., or
any other designation tending fo imply that such person is authorized by the board to practice as a
registered nurse anesthetist when such person is not authorized by the board to practice as a registered
nurse anesthetist; or

(4) violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto,

Any person who violates subsection (b) of this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor except that upon

conviction of a second or subsequent violation of this section, the person is guilty of a class A

misdemeanor.

History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 12; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 4; July 1.)

65-1163. Application of act. Nothing in this act shall:

(@
®)
©
(d)
(e

®
(8

Prohibit administration of a drug by a duly licensed professional nurse, licensed practical nurse or other
duly authorized person for the alleviation of pain, including administration of local anesthetics;

apply to the practice of anesthesia by a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery, a licensed dentist
or a licensed podiatrist;

prohibit the practice of nurse anesthesia by students enrolled in approved courses of study in the
administration of anesthesia or analgesic as a part of such course of study;

apply to the administration of a pudendal block by a person who holds a valid license as an advanced
practice registered nurse in the role of nurse-midwife;

apply to the administration by a licensed professional nurse of an anesthetic, other than general anesthesia,
for a dental operation under the direct supervision of a licensed dentist or for a dental operation under the
direct supervision of a person licensed to practice medicine and surgery;

prohibit the practice by any registered nurse anesthetist who is employed by the United States government
or in any bureau, division or agency thereof, while in the discharge of official duties; or

prohibit a registered professional nurse from administering general anesthetic agents to a patient on
ventilator maintenance in critical care units when under the direction of a person licensed to practice
medicine and surgery or a person licensed to practice dentistry.

History: (L. 1986, ch. 183, § 13; L. 1988, ch. 246, § 15; L. 1996, ch. 179 § 7; L. 2001, ch. 161, § 10; L. 2011, ch.
114, § 49; Jan. 1, 2012.)

65-1164. Rules and regulations. The board of nursing may adopt rules and regulations as necessary to administer
the provisions of K.S.A. 65-1151 to 65-1163, inclusive, and amendments thereto.
History: (L. 1987, ch.234, § 3; July 1.)

RULES & REGULATIONS
FEES; REGISTERED NURSE ANESTHETIST

60-13-101. Payment of fees. Payment of fees for registered nurse anesthetists shall be as follows:

(a)
(b)

Initial application for authorization as a registered nurse anesthetist..........coovevevviiienricnieninesnen, $75.00
Biennial renewal of authorization as a registered nurse anesthetist ........ccovvvmeiinnininnin, 55.00

(c) Application for reinstatement of authorization as a registered nurse anesthetist

WIthOUt tEMPOTIArY PEIINIL...oiceiver ittt e b st a e e b s e s b s b e s s b a b e ansseeueas 60.00
(d) Application for reinstatement of authorization with temporary permit as a

registered NUISE aNEStRELISt........covvii e s 70.00
(e) Initial application with temporary authorization to practice as a

registered NUIse AneSthEtiSt. . ccie i b bt 110.00
(f) Certified copy of authorization to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist...........ccvervenceneiiiinnennen, 20.00

This regulation shall be effective on and after July 1, 2014.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 65-1118, 65-1154, 65-
1155; effective, T-87-38, Nov. 19, 1986; effective May 1, 1987; amended May 17, 1993; amended Feb. 6, 1995;

amended July 1, 2001; amended July 1, 2014.)

—-B8—



60-13-102. Approval procedure.
(a) Each institution planning to offer a program in registered nurse anesthesia shall:
(1) notify the board of nursing and supply such information as the board of nursing may request;
(2) employ a qualified nurse anesthetist administrator. The name and qualifications of the administrator of
the program shall be submitted to the board of nursing; and
(3) employ a second faculty member.

(b) In addition to the requirements in paragraph (a), each program for registered nurse anesthetists established
after July 1, 1988 within the state of Kansas, shall be at the masters level. Upon successful completion of
the program requirements, the school shall award the student a masters degree.

(¢) (1) Written notification of the board’s decision to approve or disapprove the program shall be sent to the

institution. The program shall be approved by the board of nursing prior to the admission of students.
(2) Discontinuing a school of nurse anesthesia. Each school terminating its program shall submit a plan to
the board for approval. The plan shall provide for students currently enrolled to complete their
program and for the disposition of school records.
(3) Out of state programs. Out of state programs preparing registered nurse anesthetists may be approved
after board of nursing review.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1986 Supp. 64-1160(b), L. 1987, Ch. 234, Sec. 3; implementing K.S.A. 1986
Supp. 65-1152 (b); effective, T-88-48, Dec. 46, 1987; effective May 1, 1988.)

60-13-103. School approval requirements.

(a) In order for a school of nurse anesthesia to be approved by the board of nursing, consideration shall be
given as to whether the school meets the requirements in standards I, I, TIT, IV, and V and the appendix in
the “standards for accreditation of nurse anesthesia educational programs,” as revised by the council on
accreditation of nurse anesthesia educational programs in January 2006 and effective March 1, 2006.
These portions are hereby adopted by reference.

(b) An up-to-date list of approved programs shall be prepared and kept by the board.

(c) A program shall not be approved without the formal action of the board. ‘

(d) (1) A program review shall be conducted by the board at least once every five years, or in conjunction with

the council on accreditation review cycles.

(2) The school shall submit to the board of nursing for review a copy of a self-study report documenting
compliance with the established standards.

(3) Additional information may be requested by the board of nursing to assess the school's compliance
with standards.

(4) An on-site visit to the school of nurse anesthesia may be conducted by the board of nursing if there is
reason to believe that the program is in violation of the established standards or if the program is
placed on public probation by the council on accreditation.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 65-1152; effective, T-88-48, Dec. 16, 1987;
effective May 1, 1988; amended March 22, 2002; amended March 6, 2009.)

60-13-104. Exam approval. The content outline of the examination administered by the council on certification of
nurse anesthetists shall be reviewed and approved annually by the board of nursing.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 65-1152; effective, T-88-48, Dec. 16, 1987;
effective May 1, 1988; amended March 6, 2009.)

60-13-110. Reinstatement of authorization.
(a) Any applicant whose Kansas authorization has lapsed may, within five years of its expiration date, reinstate
the authorization by submitting proof that the applicant has met either of the following requirements:

(1) Obtained 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to nurse anesthesia within the preceding
two-year period; or

(2) been authorized in another jurisdiction and, while authorized in that jurisdiction, has accumulated
1,000 hours of nurse anesthesia practice within the preceding five-year period.

(b) Any applicant whose Kansas authorization has been lapsed for more than five years beyond its expiration
date may reinstate the authorization by submitting evidence of having attained either of the following:

(1) A total of 1,000 hours of nurse anesthesia practice in another jurisdiction within the preceding five-
year period and 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to nurse anesthesia within the
preceding two-year period; or

(2) satisfactory completion of a refresher course approved by the board.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 2000 Supp. 65-1155, effective Sept. 2, 1991;
amended May 9, 1994; amended March 22, 2002.)




60-13-111. Continuing education definitions. Continuing education terms shall have the meanings in

K.AR. 60-9-105.
History: (Authorized by X.S.A. 1990 Supp. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 1990 Supp. 65-1159; effective Sept. 2,

1991.)

60-13-112. License renewal.

(@

(b)

©
(d)

(e
®

(8
)]

History:

Each license to practice as a registered nurse anesthetist (RNA) in Kansas shall be subject to the same
biennial expiration dates as those specified in K.AR 60-3-108 for the registered professional nurse license
in Kansas.
Each individual renewing a license shall have completed the required 30 contact hours of approved
continuing nursing education (CNE) related to nurse anesthesia during the most recent prior licensure
period. Proof of completion of 30 contact hours of approved CNE in the nurse anesthesia role may be
requested by the board. Contact hours accumulated in excess of the 30-hour requirement shall not be
carried over to the next renewal period.
The number of contact hours assigned to any offering that includes a recognized standard curriculum shall
be determined by the board.
Any individual attending any offering not previously approved by the board may submit an application for
an individual offering approval (IOA). Credit may be given for offerings that the licensee demonstrates as
having a relationship to the practice of nurse anesthesia. Each separate offering shall be approved before
the individual submits the license renewal application.
Approval shall not be granted for identical offerings completed within the same license renewal period.
Any individual renewing a license may accumulate 15 contact hours of the required CNE from instructor
credit. Each presenter shall receive instructor oredit only once for the preparation and presentation of each
course. The provider shall issue a certificate listing the number of contact hours earned and clearly
identifying the hours as instructor credit.
Fractions of contact hours may be accepted for offerings over 30 minutes.
All CNE accumulated for RNA license renewal shall also be applicable to the renewal of the registered
professional nurse license.

(Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 65-1159; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended Feb. 16,

1996; amended Oct. 12, 2001; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012.)

60-13-113. Approval of registered nurse anesthetist continuing education. Approval of registered nurse

anestheti
History:
9,1992.)

st continuing education shall follow the rules of K.A.R. 60-9-107.
(Authorized by K.S.A. 1989 Supp. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 1989 Supp. 65-1159; effective March

LICENSED MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIAN
STATUTES

EXAMINATION, LICENSURE AND REGULATION OF MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIANS

65-4201.
History:

65-4202.
(a)
(b)

Citation of act. This act may be cited as the mental health technician’s licensure act.
(L. 1973, ch. 308, § 1; July 1, 1974.)

Definitions. As used in this act:

“Board” means the state board of nursing,

The “practice of mental health technology” means the performance, under the direction of a physician

Hcensed to practice medicine and surgery or registered professional nurse, of services in caring for and

treatment of the mentally ill, emotionally disturbed, or people with intellectual disability for compensation

or personal profit, which services: '

(1) Involve responsible nursing and therapeutic procedures for patients with mental illness or intellectual
disability requiring interpersonal and technical skills in the observations and recognition of symptoms
and reactions of such patients, the accurate recording of such symptoms and reactions and the carrying
out of treatments and medications as prescribed by a licensed physician or a mid-level practitioner as
defined in subsection (ii) of K.S.A. 65-1626 and amendments thereto; and

(2) require an application of techniques and procedures that involve understanding of cause and effect and
the safeguarding of life and health of the patient and others; and

(3) require the performance of duties that are necessary to facilitate rehabilitation of the patient or are
necessary in the physical, therapeutic and psychiatric care of the patient and require close work with
persons licensed to practice medicine and surgery, psychiatrists, psychologists, rehabilitation
therapists, social workers, registered nurses, and other professional personnel.

~68-



(c) A “licensed mental health technician” means a person who lawfully practices mental health technology as
defined in this act.

(d) An “approved course in mental health technology” means a program of training and study including a basic
curriculum which shall be prescribed and approved by the board in accordance with the standards
prescribed herein, the successful completion of which shall be required before licensure as a mental health
technician, except as hereinafter provided.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 2; L. 1988, ch. 259, § 1; L. 1992, ch. 151, § 3; L. 1999, ch. 115, § 17; L. 2012, ch.

91, § 44; July 1.)

65-4203. Licensure of mental health technicians; application; qualifications; examination; refresher course;
temporary permits; exempt license; rules and regulations.

(2) Qualification. An applicant for a license to practice as a mental health technician shall:

(1) Have graduated from a high school accredited by the appropriate legal accrediting agency or has
obtained the equivalent of a high school education, as determined by the state department of education;

(2) have satisfactorily completed an approved course of mental health technology; and

(3) file with the board a written application for a license.

(b) The board may issue a license to an applicant to practice as a mental health technician who has:

(1) Met the qualifications set forth in subsection (a);

(2) passed a written examination in mental health technology as prescribed and conducted by the board;
and

(3) no disqualifying factors under K.S.A. 65-4209 and amendments thereto.

(¢) Licensure examination within 24 months of graduation.

(1) Persons who do not take the licensure examination within 24 months after graduation shall petition the
board for. permission prior to taking the licensure examination. The board may require the applicant to
submit and complete a plan of study prior to taking the licensure examination.

(2) Persons who are unsuccessful in passing the licensure examination within 24 months after graduation
shall petition the board for permission prior to subsequent attempts. The board may require the
applicant to submit and complete a plan of study prior to taking the licensure examination a subsequent
time. The study plan shall contain subjects related to deficiencies identified on the failed examination
profiles. ‘

(d) An application for initial licensure will be held awaiting completion of meeting qualifications for a time
period specified in rules and regulations.

(e) Refresher course. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a), an applicant for a license to practice as
a mental health technician who has not been licensed to practice as a mental health technician for five years
preceding application shall be required to successfully complete a refresher course as defined by the board
in rules and regulations.

(f) The board may issue a one-time temporary permit to practice as a mental health technician for a period not
to exceed 120 days when a reinstatement application has been made.

(g) Exempt license. The board may issue an exempt license to any licensee as defined in rules and regulations
who makes written application for such license on a form provided by the board, who remits a fee as
established pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4208 and amendments thereto and who is not regularly engaged in
mental health technician practice in Kansas but volunteers mental health technician service or is a
charitable health care provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto. Each exempt
licensee shall be subject to all provisions of the mental health technician act, except as otherwise provided
in this subsection (¢). Each exempt license may be renewed biennially subject to the provisions of this
section. The holder of the exempt license shall not be required to submit evidence of satisfactory
completion of a program of continuing education for renewal. To convert an exempt license to an active
license, the exempt licensee shall meet all the requirements of subsection (b) or K.S.A. 65-4205 and
amendments thereto. The board shall have authority to write rules and regulations to carry out the

provisions of this section.
(h) The board may adopt rules and regulations as necessary to administer the mental health technician’s

licensure act.
History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 3; L. 1975, ch. 333, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 5; L. 1987, ch. 247, § 1; L. 1992, ch.

151, § 4; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 17; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 4; 1. 1997, ch. 158, § 8; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 4; L. 2001, ch. 161, §
11; July 1.)

65-4204. Title and abbreviations. Any person so licensed as a mental health technician in this state shall have
the right to use the title “licensed mental health technician” and the abbreviation “L.M.H.T.,” and it shall be

unlawful for any person not licensed as herein provided to assume or use such title or abbreviation.
History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 4; July 1, 1974.)

-0 —



65-4205. Renewal of license application; fees; continuing education; renewal of lapsed license; notification of

change in name or address or criminal conviction. '
(a) The board shall send a notice for renewal of license to all licensed mental health technicians at least 60

(b)

©

days prior to the expiration date of December 31. Every mental health technician who desires to renew a
license shall file with the board, on or before December 31 of even-numbered years, a renewal application
together with the prescribed renewal fee. Every licensee who is no longer engaged in the active practice of
mental health technology may so state by affidavit and submit such affidavit with the renewal application.
An inactive license may be requested along with payment of a fee as determined by rules and regulations of
the board.

Except for the first renewal for a license that expires within 30 months following licensure
examination or for renewal of a license that expires within the first nine months following licensure by
reinstatement or endorsement, every licensee with an active mental health technology license shall submit
with the renewal application evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of continuing education
required by the board. The board by duly adopted rules and regulations shall establish the requirements for
such program of continuing education. Continuing education means learning experiences intended to build
upon the educational and experiential bases of the licensed mental health technician for the enhancement of
practice, education, administration, research or theory development to the end of improving the health of
the public.

Upon receipt of such application and evidence of satisfactory completion of the required program of

continuing education and upon being satisfied that the applicant meets the requirements set forth in K.S.A.
65-4203, and amendments thereto, in effect at the time of initial licensure of the applicant, the board shall
verify the accuracy of the application and grant a renewal license.
Any licensee who fails to secure a renewal license within the time specified may secure a reinstatement of
such lapsed license by making verified application therefor on a form prescribed by the board together with
the prescribed reinstatement fee and, satisfactory evidence as required by the board that the applicant is
presently competent and qualified to perform the responsibilities of a mental health technician and of
satisfying all the requirements for reinstitement. A reinstatement application for licensure will be held
awaiting completion of such documentation as may be required, but such application shall not be held fora
period of time in excess of that specified in rules and regulations.

(1) Each licensee shall notify the board in writing of

(A) a change in name or address within 30 days of the change or
(B) a conviction of any felony or misdemeanor, that is specified in rules and regulations
adopted by the board, within 30 days from the date the conviction becomes final.

(2) As used in this subsection, ‘‘conviction’” means a final conviction without regard to whether the
sentence was suspended or probation granted after such conviction. Also, for the purposes of this
subsection, a forfeiture of bail, bond or collateral deposited to secure a defendant’s appearance in
court, which forfeiture has not been vacated, shall be equivalent to a conviction. Failure to so notify the
board shall not constitute a defense in an action relating to failure to renew a license, nor shall it

constitute a defense in any other proceeding.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 5; L. 1983, ch, 207, § 6; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 18; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 5; L. 1997, ch.
146, § 3; L. 2007, ch. 99 § 4; July 1.)

65-4206. Approved courses of mental health technology; standards; qualification; providers of continuing

education offerings.
(a) An approved course of mental health technology is one which has been approved by the board as meeting

(®)

©

the standards of this act and the rules and regulations of the board. The course, at a minimum, shall be of
six months duration in which the institution shall provide for 18 weeks of schooling, one-half devoted to
classroom instruction and one-half to clinical experience and shall include the study of:

(1) Basic nursing concepts;

(2) psychiatric therapeutic treatment; and

(3) human growth, development and behavioral sciences.

An institution which intends to offer a course on mental health technology shall apply to the board for
approval and submit evidence that the institution is prepared to and will maintain the standards and
curriculum as prescribed by this act and the rules and regulations of the board. The application shall be
made in writing upon a form prescribed by the board with the application fee fixed by the board by rules
and regulations. ‘

The approval of a school of mental health technology shall expire five years after the granting of such
approval by the board. An institution desiring to continue to conduct a course of mental health technology
shall apply to the board for the renewal of approval and submit satisfactory proof that the institution will
maintain the standards and the basic mental health technology curriculum as prescribed by this act and the
rules and regulations of the board. Applications for renewal of approval shall be made in writing on forms

-



(d)

supplied by the board. Each institution offering a course of mental health technology shall submit annually

to the board an annual fee fixed by the board by rules and regulations to maintain approval status.

Providers of continuing education.

(1) To qualify as an approved provider of continuing education offerings, persons, organizations or
institutions proposing to provide such continuing education offerings shall apply to the board for
approval and submit evidence that the applicant is prepared to meet the standards and requirements
established by the rules and regulations of the board for such continuing education offerings. Initial
applications shall be made in writing on forms supplied by the board and shall be submitted to the
board together with the application fee fixed by the board.

(2) A long-term provider means a person, organization or institution that is responsible for the
development, administration and evaluation of continuing education programs and offerings.
Qualification as a long-term approved provider of continuing education offerings shall expire five
years after the granting of such approval by the board. An approved long-term provider of continuing
oducation offerings shall submit annually to the board the annual fee established by rules and
regulations, along with an annual report for the previous fiscal year. Applications for renewal as an
approved long-term provider of continuing education offerings shall be made in writing on forms
supplied by the board.

(3) Qualification as an approved provider of a single continuing education offering, which may be offered
once or multiple times, shall expire two years after the granting of such approval by the board.
Approved single continuing education providers shall not be subject to an annual fee or annual report.

(4) In accordance with the rules and regulations adopted by the board, the board may approve individual
educational offerings for continuing education which are not subject to approval under other
subsections of this section.

(5) The board shall accept offerings as approved continuing education presented by: Colleges that are
approved by a state or the national department of education and providers approved by other state
boards of nursing, the national league for nursing, the national federation of licensed practical nurses,
the American nurses credentialing center or other such national organizations as listed in rule and

regulation adopted by the board.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 6; L. 1992, ch. 151, § 5; L. 1997, ch. 146, § 4; May 8.)

65-4207. List of approved courses; survey of proposed course and institution, resurvey; notice of deficient
institution; removal from list; records.

®

(b)

©

The board shall prepare and maintain a master list of approved courses on mental health technology:
(1) Which qualify graduates thereof, if they have the other necessary qualifications provided for in this act,
to be eligible to apply for a license as a mental health technician; and
(2) which meet the requirements of the board for qualification under a continuing education program for
licensed mental health technicians.
A survey of the proposed course and of the institution applying for accreditation of the course on mental
health technology shall be made by an authorized employee of the board or members of the board who
shall submit a written report concerning such study. The board may contract with investigative agencies,
commissions or consultants to assist the board in obtaining information about such course and institution.
In entering such contracts the authority to approve such courses shall remain solely with the board.
If, in the opinion of the board, the requirements as prescribed in its rules and regulations for approved
courses for mental health technology are met, it shall approve the application and course and post evidence
of such approval under the master list. From time to time, as deemed necessary, the board shall cause to be
made a resurvey of approved courses and shall have written reports of such resurvey submitted. If the
board determines that any previously approved course is not maintaining the content required by this act
and by the rules and regulations prescribed, a notice thereof shall be given immediately to the institution
specifying the nature and extent of the deficiency. A failure to correct such condition or conditions to the
satisfaction of the board within one year following the notice shall cause the course to be removed from the
master list of approved courses on mental health technology. Personnel conducting approved courses shall
maintain accurate and current records showing in full the theoretical and practical instruction given to all

students.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 7; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 9; L. 1988, ch. 243, § 11; July 1.

65-4208. Fees.

@

The board shall collect in advance the fees provided for in this act, the amount of which shall be fixed by
the board by rules and regulations, but not to exceed:
(1) Mental health technician programs:
Annual renewal Of PrOZIAM aPPIOVAL.evucisiiusimmssssssrisiristrs st
I R A e A———EEISUERREE S




@

Application for approval of continuing education Providers....c..oirmmenn e 200.00

Annual fee for continuing education Providers ... 75.00
Mental health technicians:

APPlCAtion OT LICENSE cvuuverusrmrsirsiriiiesssisisssssissssssssss st s s b s 50.00
Application for renewal of license ................ e eeetestebereteir oot reeata e e e s A s S AR R Rt e sR e RS E e e e e e s s 60.00
Application fOr TEINSIAtEIMENT .....vveririsurresieries sttt et e 70.00
Application for reinstatement of license with temporary permit. ... 75.00
Certified copy 0f lICENSE ...cvvivirrrreumpenrecerirminsissiesasecasnsnsiens 12.00
Duplicate of HCEnSe.....ovvvvvirinvieecsnnine s

TN1ACEIVE ICEIISE v eveerireeesreeessseserosessessressesssessassesssessestsseressissessessesstsnssssssstorsssstassasnrasessnastsortosessssessasets
Verification of current Kansas license to other states
Application for eXempt LICBNSE ......vvvirrmmrssnisnsesssessecrseni st
Application for biennial renewal of exempt license ..covccririnsicinsnsnnes evreereerer e sasaes s saeanetaes

(b) The board shall require that fees for an examination prescribed by the board be paid directly to the
examination service providing the examination by the person taking the examination.

(c) The board shall accept for payment of fees under this section personal checks, certified checks, cashier’s
checks, money orders or credit cards. The board may designate other methods of payment, but shall not
refuse payment in the form of a personal check. The board may impose additional fees and recover any
costs incurred by reason of payments made by personal checks with insufficient funds and payments made
by credit cards.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 8; L. 1980, ch. 188, § 3; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 7; L. 1988, ch, 260, § 1; L. 1992, ch.
135, § 6; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 9; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 6; L. 2017, ch. 31, § 5; July 1.)

65-4209. Grounds for disciplinary actions; proceedings; witnesses; costs; professional incompetency
defined; criminal history record information.

(a) The board may deny, revoke, limit or suspend any license to practice as a mental health technician issued
or applied for in accordance with the provisions of this act, may publicly or privately censure a licensee or
may otherwise discipline a licensee upon proof that the licensee:

(1) is guilty of fraud or deceit in procuring or attempting to procure a license to practice mental health

(b)

?
€)

4

©)
(6)

Q]
®

©®

technology;
is unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety due to current abuse of drugs or alcohol;

to be a person who has been adjudged in need of a guardian or conservator, or both, under the act for
obtaining a guardian or conservator, or both, and who has not been restored to capacity under that act;
is incompetent or grossly negligent in carrying out the functions of a mental health technician;

has committed unprofessional conduct as defined by rules and regulations of the board;

has been convicted of a felony or has been convicted of a misdemeanor involving an illegal drug
offense, unless the applicant or licensee establishes sufficient rehabilitation to warrant the public trust,
except that notwithstanding K.S.A. 74-120, and amendments thereto, no license, certificate of
qualification or authorization to practice as a licensed mental health technician shall be granted to a
person with a felony conviction for a crime against persons as specified in article 34 of chapter 21 of
the Kansas Statutes Annotated, prior to their repeal, or article 54 of chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes
Annotated or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6104, 21-6325, 21-6326 or 21-6418, and amendments thereto;

has committed an act of professional incompetency as defined in subsection (e);

to have willfully or repeatedly violated the provisions of the mental health technician’s licensure act or
rules and regulations adopted under that act and amendments thereto; or

to have a license to practice mental health technology denied, revoked, limited or suspended, or to be
publicly or privately censured, by a licensing authority of another state, agency of the United States
government, territory of the United States or country or to have other disciplinary action taken against
the applicant or licensee by a licensing authority of another state, agency of the United States
government, territory of the United States or country. A certified copy of the record or order of public
or private censure, denial, suspension, limitation, revocation or other disciplinary action of the
licensing authority of another state, agency of the United States government, territory of the United
States or country shall constitute prima facie evidence of such a fact for purposes of this paragraph ).

Upon filing of a sworn complaint with the board charging a person with having been guilty of any of the
unlawful practices specified in subsection (a), two or more members of the board shall investigate the
charges, or the board may designate and authorize an employee or employees of the board to conduct an
investigation. After investigation, the board may institute charges. If an investigation, in the opinion of the
board, reveals reasonable grounds to believe the applicant or licensee is guilty of the charges, the board
shall fix a time and place for proceedings, which shall be conducted in accordance with the Kansas

administrative procedure act.

~18-



(c) No person shall be excused from testifying in any proceedings before the board under the mental health
technician’s licensure act or in any civil proceedings under such act before a court of competent jurisdiction
on the ground that the testimony may incriminate the person testifying, but such testimony shall not be used
against the person for the prosecution of any crime under the laws of this state except the crime of petjury
as defined in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5903, and amendments thereto.

(d) If final agency action of the board in a proceeding under this section is adverse to the applicant or licensee,
the costs of the board’s proceedings shall be charged to the applicant or licensee as in ordinary civil actions
in the district court, but if the board is the unsuccessful party, the costs shall be paid by the board. Witness
fees and costs may be taxed by the board according to the statutes relating to procedure in the district court.
All costs accrued by the board, when it is the successful party, and which the attorney general certifies
cannot be collected from the applicant or licensee shall be paid from the board of pursing fee fund. All
moneys collected following board proceedings shall be credited in full to the board of nursing fee fund.

(e) As used in this section, “professional incompetency” means:

(1) One or more instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to 2 degree which
constitutes gross negligence, as determined by the board;

(2) repeated instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to a degree which
constitutes ordinary negligence, as determined by the board; or

(3) a pattern of practice or other behavior which demonstrates a manifest incapacity or incompetence to
practice mental health technology.

(f) The board upon request shall receive from the Kansas bureau of investigation such criminal history record
information relating to criminal convictions as necessary for the purpose of determining initial and
continuing qualifications of licensees of and applicants for licensure by the board.

(g) All proceedings under this section shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas
administrative procedure act.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 9; L. 1983, ch. 207, § 8; L. 1984, ch. 313, § 129; L. 1987, ch. 247, § 2; L. 1993, ch.
194, § 5; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 6; L. 1997, ch. 158, § 10; L. 2011, ch. 30, § 245; July 1.)

65-4210. Disciplinary proceedings; complaint; notice and hearing.

(a) If a sworn complaint is filed with the board by any person charging a mental health technician with having
been guilty of any of the actions specified as a ground for disciplinary action, the board shall fix a time and
place for hearing and shall cause a copy of the charges, together with a notice of the time and place fixed
for the hearing, to be personally served on the accused mental health technician, in the manner provided by
the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure act.

(b) The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure
act. If the accused mental health technician is found guilty of the charges, or any of them, the board may
withhold, revoke, or suspend an existing license, or otherwise discipline a licensee as provided in this act.
A revoked or suspended license may be reissued thereafter by the board in its discretion.

(c) Any meeting of the board may be adjourned or continued by an affirmative vote of a majority of the board
members present at the hearing or meeting.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 10; L. 1983, ch. 216, § 2; L. 1984, ch. 313, § 130; July 1, 1985.)

65-4211. Judicial review.
(a) Any person aggrieved by a decision of the board, and affected thereby, shall be entitled to judicial review

in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas judicial review act.
(b) Any party may have review of the final judgment or decision of the district court by appeal to the supreme

court pursuant to the Kansas judicial review act.
History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 11; L. 1984, ch. 313, § 131; L. 2010, ch. 17, § 159; July 1.)

65-4212. Exclusions. The provisions of this act shall not be construed as prohibiting:
(a) Gratuitous care of the mentally ill, emotionally disturbed or people with intellectual disability by friends or

members of the family;
(b) The practice of mental health technology by students enrolled in approved courses of mental health

technology;
(c) The practice of mental health technology by graduates of an approved course in mental health technology

who are practicing as mental health technicians pending the results of the first licensing examination

scheduled by the board following graduation;
(d) Practice by short-term trainees exploring the practice of mental health technology as a prospective

vocation;

— B8~




(e) Service conducted in accordance with the practice of the tenets of any religious denomination in which
persons of good faith rely solely upon spititual means or prayer in the exercise of their religion to prevent
or cure disease; '

(f) The practice of any legally qualified mental health technician of this state or another who is employed by
the United States government of any bureau, division or agency thereof, while in the discharge of official
duties;

(g) Temporary assistance in the therapeutic care of patients where adequate medical, nursing and/or other
supervision is provided;

(h) Subsidiary workers in hospitals or related institutions from assisting in the nursing care of patients where
adequate medical and nursing supervision is provided; and

(i) The employment of psychiatric aides who have received at least three months instruction in an approved
basic aide training program and who work under the supervision of licensed personnel.

History: (L. 1973, ch, 308, § 12; L. 1976, ch. 281, § 1; L. 2012, ch. 91, § 45; July 1.)

65-4213. Injunctions. When it appears to the board that any person is violating any of the provisions of this act or
that any person, firm, corporation, institution or association is employing one not licensed under this act, the board
may bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction for an injunction against such violation without regard to
whether proceedings have been or may be instituted before the board or whether criminal proceedings have been or
may be instituted.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 13; July 1, 1974.)

65-4214. Violations; penalties.
.(a) Itis aviolation of law for any person, including any corporation, association, partnership to:

(1) Fraudulently obtain, sell, transfer, or furnish any mental health technician diploma, license, renewal of
license or record, or aid or abet another therein;

(2) advertise, represent, or hold oneself out in any manner as a mental health technician or to practice as a
mental health technician without having a license to so practice issued under the mental health
technician’s licensure act, except as provided in K.S.A. 65-4212 and amendments thereto;

(3) use in connection with one’s name any designation intending to imply that such person is a licensed
mental health technician without having such license issued as herein provided;

(4) practice as a mental health technician during the time such person’s license is suspended or revoked;

(5) otherwise violate any of the provision of the mental health technician’s licensure act; or

(6) represent that a provider of continuing education is approved for educating mental health technicians,
unless the provider of continuing education has been approved by the board and the approval is in full
force.

(b) Any person who violates this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor, except that, upon conviction
of a second or subséquent violation of this section, such person is guilty of a class A misdemeanor.
History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 14; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 6; July 1.)

65-4215. Practice of medicine not authorized. Nothing in this act shall be construed as authorizing a licensed
mental health technician to practice medicine or surgery or to undertake the prevention, treatment or cure of disease,
pain, injury, deformity or mental or physical condition.

History: (L. 1973, ch. 308, § 15; July 1, 1974.)

65-4216. Report of certain actions of mental health technician; persons required to report; medical care
facility which fails to report subject to civil fine; definitions.
(a) Subject to the provisions of subsection (c) of K.S.A. 65-4923, and amendments thereto:

(1) Every employer of a mental health technician shall report under oath to the board of nursing any
information such employer has which appears to show that a mental health technician has committed
an act which may be a ground for disciplinary action pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4209 and amendments
thereto, or that the employer has taken disciplinary action against a mental health technician for
committing any such act or has accepted the resignation of a mental health technician in lieu of taking
disciplinary action therefor

(2) Every health care provider shall report under oath to the board of nursing any information such health
care provider has which appears to show that a mental health technician has committed an act which
may be a ground for disciplinary action pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4209 and amendments thereto.

(3) Any person, other than those persons specified in provisions (1) and (2), may report under oath to the
board of nursing any information such person has which appears to show that a mental health
technician has committed an act which may be a ground for disciplinary action pursuant to K.S.A. 65-
4209, and amendments thereto.

-74%



(b) Any medical care facility which fails to report within 30 days after the receipt of information required to be

©

reported by this section shall be reported by the board of nursing to the secretary of health and environment
and shall be subject, after proper notice and an opportunity to be heard, to a civil fine assessed by the
secretary of health and environment in an amount not exceeding $1,000 per day for each day thereafter that
the incident is not reported. All fines assessed and collected under this section shall be remitted to the state
treasurer in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-4215, and amendments thereto. Upon receipt of
each such remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state treasury to the credit of
the state general fund.

As used in this section:

(1) “Medical care facility” has the meaning provided by K.S.A. 1987 Supp. 65-4921 and amendments

thereto.
(2) “Health care provider” has the meaning provided by K.S.A. 1987 Supp. 65-4921 and amendments

thereto.

History: (L. 1983, ch. 216, § 1; L. 1988, ch. 236, § 6; L. 2001, ch. 5, § 255; July 1.)

65-4217. Tmmunity from liability in civil actions for reporting, communicating or investigating certain
information.

(2)

(b)

No person reporting to the board of nursing under oath and in good faith any information such person is
required to report or is authorized to report under K.S.A. 65-4216 and amendments thereto shall be subject
to a civil action for damages as a result of reporting such information.

Any state, regional or local association of licensed mental health technicians, and the individual members
of any committee thereof, which in good faith investigates or communicates information to the board of
nursing or to any committee or agent thereof pertaining to the alleged commission by a mental health
technician of an act which may be a ground for disciplinary action pursuant o K.S.A. 65-4209 and
amendments thereto shall be immune from liability in any civil action that is based upon such information
or transmittal of information if the investigation and communication were made in good faith and did not
represent as true any matter not reasonably believed to be true.

History: (L. 1983, ch.216,§ 3; L. 1988, ch. 236, § 7; July L)

APPROVAL OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS FOR MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIANS

60-5-102. Approval procedure.

(@

An institution contemplating the establishment of a program for mental health technicians:

(1) Shall write a letter of intent to the Kansas state board of nursing.

(2) Shall submit the name and qualifications of the nurse administrator to the board of nursing for
approval. |

(3) Shall employ a qualified nurse administrator.

(4) Shall employ a second faculty member.

(5) Shall file with the board an application for an approved program two months prior to the anticipated
opening date with the payment of any required fees.

(6) Shall receive in writing the decision of the board.

(7) Shall be approved prior to the admission of students.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4201 et seq.; K.S.A. 1974 Supp. 74-1106 et seq.; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302,
Sec. 6, May 1, 1975.) ’

60-5-103. Discontinuing a program for mental health technicians. A program terminating its course shall
submit for approval to the board the plan for students currently enrolled and the disposition of records.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4201 et seq; K.S.A. 1974 Supp. 74-1106 et seq.; effective May 1,1975))

REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVED PROGRAMS FOR MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIANS

60-6-101. Requirements.

)

(b)

Accreditation and approval.

(1) Each educational institution shall be approved by the appropriate state agency.

(2) Each hospital and agency providing facilities for clinical experience shall be licensed, accredited, or
approved by the licensing or certifying body.

Administration and organization.
(1) The educational program or the institution of which it is a part shall be a legally constituted body. The

controlling body shall be responsible for general policy and shall provide for the financial support of

~ 65—




the educational unit.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the program shall be vested in the director of the
educational unit.

(c) Faculty for mental health technician programs. Each faculty member shall have the necessary preparation,
experience, and personal qualifications to meet the specifications of the position.

(1) The director of the educational unit shall be licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in
Kansas and shall be responsible for the development and 1mplementat1on of the educational program.
The director shall have a baccalaureate degree, successful experience in administration or teaching, and
at least two years of expetience in psychiatric or developmental disability nursing.

(2) Each instructor in a mental health technician program shall meet at least one of the followmg
requirements:

(A) Be licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in Kansas and have at least two years of
experience in psychiatric or developmental dlsablhty nursing; or

(B) be licensed to practice as a licensed mental health technician and have at least five years of
experience postlicensure. Two years of work experience shall be waived for those licensed mental
health technicians possessing an associate degree.

3) Each instruétor in the behavioral sciences shall have earned an academic degree with appropriate
education relative to the area of instruction.

(d) Curriculum.

(1) Before 1mplementat10n of the program, the institution shall submit the proposed curriculum in writing
to the board for approval. The institution shall submit, in writing, any proposed changes to an
approved curriculum to the board for its approval before the changes may be implemented.

(2) The curriculum shall be organized to cover both theoretical instruction and clinical instruction. The
curriculum for mental health technician courses shall consist of a minimum of 300 hours of theoretical
instruction and 300 hours of clinical instruction. By July 1, 1978, the curriculum shall consist of a
minimum of 450 hours of theoretical instruction and 450 hours of clinical instruction. In academic
institutions, one semester hour of credit shall be equal to 15 hours of theoretical instruction or 45 hours
of clinical instruction.

(3) The curriculum shall also include the following two courses, which shall be of a theoretical nature.
Each course shall consist of 45 hours of instruction.

(A) Human growth and development. This course shall include aspects of growth and development
from the prenatal period through senescence.

(B) Behavioral science. This course shall include human needs, group processes, family dynamics,
and social, economic, and cultural factors of behavior.

(4) The curriculum shall also include the following two courses, which shall include both theoretical and
clinical instruction.

(A) Basic nursing concepts. This course shall include bed making, personal hygiene, administration
and effect of medications, feeding, asepsis, elimination, recognition of illness, vital signs, basic
nuirition, special care of patients, first aid and emergency nursing, assisting with physical
examinations, and admission and discharge of patients.

(B) Psychiatric therapeutic treatment. This course shall include interpersonal relationships,
psychopathology and classifications, coping mechanisms, communication skills, therapeutic
modalities, and special reporting and recording techniques.

(e) Clinical facilities and resources.

(1) All clinical facilities shall be approved by the board, and appropriate contractual agreements shall be
renewed annually with all cooperating agencies.

(2) Each clinical area used for student learning experiences shall be staffed by nursing service independent
of student assignments.

(3) Each clinical unit used for educational purposes shall be under the direct supervision of a registered
nurse.

(f) Students.

(1) Admission. Each program shall have clearly defined policies for admission.

(2) Credit for previous study. Each program shall have clearly defined written policies concerning credit
for previous study, transfer of credits, and readmission of students. These policies shall conform to the
policies of the institution.

(3) Promotion and graduation policies shall be in writing.

(g) Evaluation. A written plan for continuing program evaluation shall be developed and implemented.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1998 Supp 65-4206 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 1998 Supp. 65-4206;
modified, L. 1975, ch. 302; Sec. 7, May 1, 1975, amended March 31, 2000.)

~76-



REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSURE AND STANDARDS OF PRACTICE

60-7-101. Licensure.
(8) The applicant shall file with the board one month preceding the examination a completed application on

an adopted form with payment of the application and examination fees prescribed by K.A.R. 60-8-101.

(b) Verification of current Kansas license shall be provided by request to other state boards upon payment of
fee.

(c) Information regarding examinations.

(1) The examination for licensure shall be given at least twice a year. .

(2) Each candidate shall present a validated admission card in order to be admitted to the examination
center.

(3) Any applicant cheating or attempting to cheat during the examination shall be deemed not to have
passed the examination.

(4) In the event that answer sheets are Jost or destroyed through circumstances beyond the control of the
board, the candidate shall be required to retake the examination in order to meet requirements for
licensure, except that no additional charge shall be made.

(5) Individual examination results shall be released to the school from which the examinee graduated.

(6) Any candidate requesting modifications to the examination procedures or materials because
of a learning disability shall provide written documentation from the appropriate medical professional
confirming the learning disability, an evaluation completed within the last five years by a learning
disabilities evaluation team, and a letter from the mental health technician program confirming the
learning and testing modifications made during the course of study.

(d) Application for retest. An applicant who fails to make a passing score on the licensure examination may
retake the examination and shall pay an examination fee for each retest as established by K. AR. 60-8-101.

(¢) If an individual fails to pass the licensure examination within 24 months from graduation, the individual
shall petition the board in writing before being allowed to retake the licensure examination. The petition
shall be on a form provided by the board and shall contain the following:

(1) The name of the school of graduation;

(2) the date of graduation;

(3) the number of months or years since graduation;

(4) the number of times taking the licensure examination;

(5) the dates of the licensure examinations;

(6) areas of deficiency identified on the diagnostic profile for each examination;

(7) copies of all diagnostic profiles;

(8) any study completed since the last attempt of taking the licensure examination;

(9) any work experience in the last two years; and

(10)a sworn statement by the petitioner that the facts contained in the petition are true to the best of the
person's knowledge and belief.

(f) An individual shall be allowed by the board to retake the licensure examination after 24 months from
graduation only upon demonsirating to the board's satisfaction that the individual has identified and
addressed the reasons for prior failure and that there is a reasonable probability that the individual will pass
the examination. A plan of study may be required by the board before the individual retakes the licensure

examination.
(g) Ifthe board requires a plan of study before retaking the licensure examination, the plan shall contain the

following:
(1) A list of all the low performance competencies of the test plan identified by the diagnostic profile

from each examination;
(2) a specific content outline for all the low performance competencies on the diagnostic profile;
(3) methods of study, including the following:
(A) Self-study;
(B) study groups;
(C) tutors; or
(D) any other methods as approved by the board;
(4) aschedule for study that meets the following requirements:
(A) 30 hours per each low performance competency;
(B) a start date; and
(C) completion in six months or the petition shall be considered abandoned,;
(5) learning resources identified to be used in the study, meeting these requirements:
(A) awritten bibliography in a standard documentation format, with resources no more than five
years old; and
(B) four types for each low performance competency selected from the list as follows:

~681-



(i) Textbooks;
(ii) journals;
(iii) review books;
(iv) audiovisuals;
(v) computer-assisted instruction; or
(vi) computer review programs.
(b) A registered professional nurse shall provide written verification that the individual has completed a study
plan.
(i) Academic mental health technician courses, clinical observations, or other learning activities to meet study
requirements may also be prescribed by the board.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1997 Supp. 65-4203 and 1997 Supp. 74-1106; implementing X.S.A. 1997 Supp.
65-4203; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 8, May 1, 1975; amended Jan. 29, 1999.)

60-7-102. Duplicate of initial license. When an individual’s initial license has been lost or destroyed, a duplicate
may be issued by the board upon payment of the fee specified in K.S.A. 65-4208, and amendments thereto.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203; implementing K.S.A. 65-4208; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 9, May
1, 1975; amended April 20, 2001; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-7-103. Change of name. Once an application for licensure has been filed, or a license has been issued, the
applicant or licensee shall submit an affidavit indicating a change of name upon forms approved by the board.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4201 et seq., K.S.A. 1974 Supp. 74~ 1106 et seq.; effective May 1, 1975.)

60-7-104. Reinstatement of license.

(a) Any applicant whose Kansas license has lapsed may reinstate the license by submitting satisfactory proof
that the applicant within the preceding two-year period has obtained 30 hours of approved continuing
education.

(b) Any applicant whose license has lapsed may request that a one-time, temporary permit to practice for 120
days be issued while the applicant completes the required continuing education hours.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1994 Supp. 65-4203, as amended by L. 1995, Ch. 97, § 4; nnplementmg K.S.A.
1994 Supp. 65-4205, as amended by L. 1995, Ch. 97, § 5; effective May 1, 1975; amended May 9, 1994; amended

Feb. 16, 1996.)

60-7-105. Standards of practice.
(a) The licensed mental health technician shall:
(1) Be familiar with the mental health technician’s licensure act.
(2) Function primarily in a psychiatric-mental retardation setting, and shall not substitute for registered
nurses or licensed practical nurses in adult care facilities.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4201 et seq., K.S.A. 1974 Supp. 74-1106 et seq.; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302,

Sec. 10, May 1, 1975.)

60-7-106. Unprofessional conduct. Any of the following shall constitute “unprofessional conduct”:
(2) Performing acts beyond the authorized scope of mental health technician practice for which the individual is
licensed;
(b) assuming duties and responsibilities within the practice of mental health technology without adequate
preparation or without maintaining competency;
(c) failing to take appropriate action or to follow policies and procedures in the practice situation designed to
safeguard-the patient;
(d) inaccurately recording, falsifying, or altering any record of a patient, an agency, or the board,
(e) physical abuse, which shall be defined as any act or failure to act performed intentionally or carelessly that
causes or is likely to cause harm to a patient. This term may include any of the following;:
(1) The unreasonable use of any physical restraints, isolation, or medication that harms or is likely to harm
a patient;
(2) the unreasonable use of any physical or chemical restraint, medication, or isolation as a punishment,
for convenience, in conflict with a physician’s order or a policy and procedure of the facility or a
statute or regulation, or as a substitute for treatment, unless the use of the restraint, medication, or
isolation is in furtherance of the health and safety of the patient;
(3) any threat, menacing conduct, or other nontherapeutic or inappropriate action that results in or might
reasonably be expected to result in a patient’s unnecessary fear or emotional or mental distress; or
(4) any failure or omission to provide any goods or services that are reasonably necessary to ensure safety
and well-being and to avoid physical or mental harm;

-28—



(f) the commission of any act of sexual abuse, sexual misconduct, or sexual exploitation related to the
licensee’s practice;

(g) verbal abuse, which shall be defined as any word or phrase spoken inappropriately to or in the presence ofa
patient that results in or might reasonably be expected to result in the patient’s unnecessary fear, emotional
distress, or mental distress;

(h) delegating any activity that requires the unique skill and substantial specialized knowledge derived from
the biological, physical, and behavioral sciences and judgment of the mental health technician to an
unlicensed individual in violation of the mental health technician’s licensure act or to the detriment of
patient safety;

(i) assigning the practice of mental health technology to a licensed individual in violation of the mental health
technician’s licensure act or to the detriment of patient safety; '

(§) violating the confidentiality of information or knowledge concerning any patient;

(k) willfully or negligently failing to take appropriate action to safeguard a patient or the public from
incompetent practice performed by a licensed mental health technician. “Appropriate action” may include
reporting to the board of nursing;

() leaving an assignment that has been accepted, without notifying the appropriate authority and without
allowing reasonable time for the licensee’s replacement;

(m) engaging in conduct related to mental health technology practice that is likely to deceive, defraud, or harm
the public;

(n) diverting drugs, supplies, or property of any patient or agency or violating any law or regulation relating fo
controlled substances;

(0) exploitation, which shall be defined as misappropriating a patient’s property or taking unfair advantage of a
patient’s physical or financial resources for the licensee’s or another individual’s personal or financial
advantage by the use of undue influence, coercion, harassment, duress, deception, false pretense, or false
representation;

(p) solicitation of professional patronage through the use of fraudulent or false advertisements, or profiting by
the acts of those representing themselves to be agents of the licensee;

(q) failing to comply with any disciplinary order of the board;

(1) if the licensee is participating in an impaired provider program approved by the board, failing to complete
the requirements of the program;

(s) failing to submit to a mental or physical examination or an alcohol or drug screen, or any combination of
these, when so ordered by the board pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4924 and amendments thereto, that the
individual is unable to practice mental health technology with reasonable skill and safety by reason of a
physical or mental disability or condition, loss of motor skills or the use of alcohol, drugs, or controlled
substances, or any combination of these;

(t) failing to furnish the board of nursing, or its investigators or representatives, with any information legally
requested by the board of nursing;

(u) engaging in mental health technology practice while using a false or assumed name or while impersonating
another person licensed by the board;

(v) practicing without a license or while the individual’s license has lapsed;

(w) allowing another person to use the licensee’s license to practice mental health technology;

(x) knowingly aiding or abetting another in any act that is a violation of any health care licensing act;

(y) having a mental health technician license from a licensing authority of another state, agency of the United
States government, territory of the United States, or country denied, revoked, limited, or suspended or
being subject to any other disciplinary action. A certified copy of the record or order of denial, suspension,
limitation, revocation, or any other disciplinary action issued by the licensing authority of another state,
agency of the United States government, tetritory of the United States, or country shall constitute prima
facie evidence of such a fact;

(z) failing to report to the board of nursing any adverse action taken against the licensee by another state or
licensing jurisdiction, a peer review body, a health care facility, a professional association or society, a
governmental agency, a law enforcement agency, or a court for acts or conduct similar to acts or conduct
that would constitute grounds for disciplinary action under this regulation; or

(aa) cheating on or attempting to subvert the validity of the examination for a license.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203 implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-4209; effective, T-88-48, Dec. 16,
1987; effective Sept. 27, 1993; amended Sept. 6, 1994; amended April 20, 2007; amended April 29, 2016.)

60-7-108.  Inactive license.
(a) Before expiration of an active license, a licensed mental health technician may request to be put on inactive

status.
(b) The request shall be accompanied by the inactive license fee specified in K.A.R. 60-8-101.

(¢) Continuing licensed mental health technician education shall not be required while on inactive status.

D9~




(d) The licensee shall remain on inactive status until filing an application and meeting all the requirements for
reinstatement.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1999 Supp. 65-4203; implementing K.S.A. 1999 Supp. 65-4205 and K.S.A. 1999
Supp. 65-4208; effective April 26, 1993; amended April 20, 2001.)

60-7-109. Exempt license.
(a) Anexempt license shall be granted only to a mental health technician who meets these requirements:
(1) Is not regularly engaged in mental health technician practice in Kansas, but is a charitable health care
provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto; and
(2) has been licensed in Kansas for the five years previous to applying for an exempt license.
(b) The expiration date of the exempt license shall be in accordance with K. A R. 60-12-106.
(c) All applications for renewal of an exempt license shall be submitted upon forms furnished by the board and
shall be accompanied by the fee in accordance with K.A.R. 60-8-101.
History: (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 1996 Supp. 65-4203, as amended by L. 1997, Ch. 158, Sec. 8;

effective April 3, 1998.)

60-7-110. Expiration dates of licenses; applications.
(a) The expiration date of licenses for licensed mental health techmclans shall be on the last day of December
in each even- numbered year,
(b) Applications for initial licensure by examination and for reinstatement while awaiting documentation of
qualifications shall be active for six months.
(1) The expiration date of each application shall be based upon the date of receipt at the agency.
(2) Once the application has expired, each individual seeking licensure shall file a new application along
with the appropriate fee as prescribed by K.A.R. 60-8-101.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 1996 Supp. 65-4203, as amended by L. 1997, Ch. 158, Sec. 8 and K.S.A. 1996
Supp. 74-1106, as amended by L. 1997, Ch. 146, Sec. 5; implementing K.S.A. 1996 Supp. 65-4203, as amended by
L. 1997, Ch. 158, Sec. 8 and K.S.A. 1996 Supp. 65-4205, as amended by L. 1997, Ch. 146, Sec. 3; effective April 3,

1998.)

60-7-111. Reporting of certain misdemeanor convictions by the licensee., Pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4205 and
amendments thereto, each licensee shall report to the board any misdemeanor convxctlon for any of the following
substances or types of conduct:

(a) Alcohol;

(b) any drugs;

(c) deceit;

(d) dishonesty;

(e) endangerment of a child or vulnerable adult;

() falsification;

(g) fraud;

(h) misrepresentation; :

(i) physical, emotional, financial, or sexual exploitation of a child or vu]nerable adult;

(§) physical or verbal abuse;

(k) thefi;

() violation of a protection from abuse order or protection from stalking order; or

(m) any action arising out of a violation of any state or federal regulation.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203 and K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-4205; implementing K.S.A. 2007 Supp. 65-
4205; effective Nov. 7, 2008.)

-

FEES

60-8-101. Payment of fees. The following fees shall be charged by the board of nursing:
(a) Mental health technician programs.

(1) Annual renewal of Program APPrOVAL......curccrriemeriessriesesesiesesssseeesseesesseeseesesesssssssssesssssessessess $100.00
(2) SUIVEY OFf & NEW PIOBIAIML...u.eevvsrieeeerseesmresrerensestss s esss s sessssssssesssesessesennssesesssesssesessssessesssessesssos 200.00
(3) Application for approval of continuing education ProOVIAEIS........e.e.evereereeeersereeiseessessessssessssssesns 200.00
(4) Annual renewal for continuing education PrOVIAETS .....cv.veiviviiricrieeiriee e seeseeeesssesessssesssesessessnes 50.00
(b) Mental health technicians.
(1) Application fOI HIOEIISUIE ...covvvvvevemriiinissrsseseissssnssssesstesessbssssssesstsssceessssssesessessssssssssssnsassssenssasens 50.00
(2) EXAMINAHOM . ...t evevcrercerereecreresetsessssensissesssisstenesssssssstesensssssssessssssssesesasscsssseseessesessessessssssesasssssessens 40.00
(3) Biennial 1eNeWal Of HHOBNSE. ...ccoivuivmivervnmnrineneressntssssstessssssasssssets s sesseessssesassossssssssasassesassssessses 55.00
(4) Application for reinstatement of license without temporary Permit ..........o..veeeereereioeeereosroreeeesmecens 70.00

-R0-



(5) Application for reinstatement of license with temporary PEITIL covercrinsrerenisssnrstnssssesestsiss s arenns 75.00

(6) Certified copy Of Kansas HCENSE w...uuuvvususemsrisminsimissssssrmmsssscsssss s s s s 12.00
(7) TNACHVE [HOBISE covvvurrerrvsressassssssesessssiemssesssssns st s 10.00
(8) VErification Of HOETISULE ..uu.evuveusssereeesesissssscssssssssensssss s sessss s o s b 10.00
(9) DUPICALE LICETSE..ovvvvusnrrrrrsenssssasonessssserees s sasss s s AR 12.00
(10) Application fOr EXEMPt HGBMSE .ovvurvsssressssssisisssssssssss s st 50.00

50.00

(11) Renewal of eXemPt HOBISE vuvvvrerrussueerisssssimimmssssssssssssssissscsmsssstsssas s samss s s s
This regulation shall be effective on and after July 1, 2014
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203; implementing K.S.A. 65-4208; effective May 1, 1980; amended May 1,
1983; amended, T-85-49, Dec. 19, 1984; amended May 1, 1985; amended June 3, 1991; amended May 17, 1993;
amended May 9, 1994; amended Feb. 6, 1995; amended April 3, 1998; amended July 1, 2001; amended April 20,

2007; amended Oct. 18, 2013; amended July 1,2014.)

CONTINUING EDUCATION FOR MENTAL HEALTH TECHNICIANS

60-12-104. Approval of continuing education offerings. Approval of licensed mental health technician
continuing education shall be in accordance with K.A.R. 60-9-107.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203, implementing K.S.A. 65-4207; effective, T-85-49, Dec. 19, 1984;
effective May 1, 1985, amended Sept. 27, 1993.)

60-12-105. Definitions. Definitions within this article of terms associated with licensed mental health technician
continuing education shall be in accordance with K.A.R. 60-9-105.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203, implementing K.S.A. 65-4205 and 65-4207; effective March 9, 1992,

effective Sept. 27, 1993.)

606-12-106. License renewal.

(a) Bach licensee shall submit a renewal application and the renewal fee specified in K.AR. 60-8-101 no later
than December 31 in each even-numbered year.

(b) Any licensed mental health technician may be required to submit proof of completion of 30 contact hours
during the most recent prior licensing period. Contact hours accumulated in excess of the 30-hour
requirement shall not be carried over to the next license renewal period. This proof of completion shall be
documented as follows:

(1) (A) Name of the continuing mental health technician education (CMHTE) offering or college course;
(B) provider name or name of the accrediting organization;
(C) provider number or number of the accrediting organization, if applicable;
(D) offering date; and
(B) number of contact hours; or
(2) approved IOA.

(c) Any individual attending an offering not previously approved by the board may submit an application for
an individual offering approval (JOA). Credit may be given for offerings that the licensee demonstrates to
be relevant to the licensee's practice of mental health technology. Each separate offering shall be approved
before the licensee submits the license renewal application.

(d) Approval shall not be granted for identical offerings completed within a license renewal period.

(e) Any licensed mental health technician may acquire 30 contact hours of CMHTE from independent study,
as defined in X.S.A. 65-4202 and amendments thereto.

(f) Any licensed mental health technician may acoumulate 15 contact hours of the required CMHTE from
instructor credit. Each presenter shall receive instructor credit only once for preparation and presentation of
each course. The provider shall issue a certificate listing the number of contact hours eamed and clearly
identifying the hours as instructor credit.

(g) Fractions of hours may be accepted for offerings over 30 minutes to be computed towards a contact hour.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-4203; implementing K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 65-4205; effective Sept. 2, 1991;
amended Feb. 16, 1996; amended Oct. 12, 2001; amended May 10, 2013.)

-1 -




Disciplinary

Statutues:

K.S.A. 65-1117 Renewal of license

K.S.A. 65-1118 Fees

K.S.A. 65-1120 Grounds for disciplinary actions
K.S.A. 65-1120a Reinstatement of revoked licenses
K.S.A. 65-1121a Judicial review of board’s actions

K.S.A. 74-1110 Disciplinary action

Regulations:

K.A.R. 60-3-110 Unprofessional conduct

—82-



65-1117. Renewal of license; inactive license, fee; continuing education requirements; rules and regulations;
reinstatement of lapsed license; notification of change in name or address or criminal conviction.

(a)  All licenses issued under the provisions of this act, whether initial or renewal, shall expire every two years.
The expiration date shall be established by the rules and regulations of the board. The board shall send a notice
for renewal of license to every registered professional nurse and licensed practical nurse at least 60 days prior
to the expiration date of such person’s license. Every person so licensed who desires to renew such license
shall file with the board, on or before the date of expiration of such license, a renewal application together
with the preseribed biennial renewal fee established by K.S.A. 65-1118 and amendments thereto. Every
licensee who is no longer engaged in the active practice of nursing may so state by affidavit and submit such
affidavit with the renewal application. An inactive license may be requested along with payment of a fee which
shall be fixed by rules and regulations of the board. Except for the first renewal for a license that expires within
30 months following licensure examination or for renewal of a license that expires within the first nine months
following licensure by reinstatement or endorsement, every licensee with an active nursing license shall submit
with the renewal application evidence of satisfactory completion of a program of continuing nursing education
required by the board. The board by duly adopted rules and regulations shall establish the requirements for
such program of continuing nursing education. Continuing nursing education means learning experiences
intended to build upon the educational and experiential bases of the registered professional and licensed
practical nurse for the enhancement of practice, education, administration, research or theory development to
the end of improving the health of the public. Upon receipt of such application, payment of fee, upon receipt
of the evidence of satisfactory completion of the required program of continuing nursing education and upon
being satisfied that the applicant meets the requirements set forth in K.S.A. 65-1115 or 65-1116 and
amendments thereto in effect at the time of initial licensure of the applicant, the board shall verify the accuracy
of the application and grant a renewal license.

(b)  The board may by rule and regulations of the board establish a grace period following expiration of a license
in which the license is not invalidated lapsed. The license will not be invalidated-lapsed if the licensee pays
during the grace period the renewal and penalty fees established by K.S.A. 65-1118 and amendments thereto.
Failure of a licensee to renew a license within the grace period shall cause the license to become invalidated
lapsed without further action by the board. A licensee whose license is invalidated-lapsed shall not engage in
the practice of the profession until the license is reinstated by the board. _Any person who fails to secure a
renewal license within the time specified herein may seeure—a apply for reinstatement of such lapsed
invalidated license by making verified-application-therefor on a form provided by the board, by-rules—and
regulations, and upen-furnishing proof that the applicant is competent and qualified to act as a registered
professional nurse or licensed practical nurse and by satisfying all of the requirements for reinstatement
including payment to the board of a reinstatement fee as established by the-beard-K.S.A. 65-1118 and
amendments thereto.. A reinstatement application for licensure will be held awaiting completion of such

documentation as may be required, but-sueh-2 ot-be-held-fo s

specified-inrules-and regulations:
(c) (1) Each licensee shall notify the board in writing of

(A) a change in name or address within 30 days of the change or

(B) a conviction of any felony or misdemeanor, that is specified in rules and regulations adopted by the
board, within 30 days from the date the conviction becomes final. '
(2) As used in this subsection, “conviction’’ means a final conviction without regard to whether the sentence
was suspended or probation granted after such conviction. Also, for the purposes of this subsection, a
forfeiture of bail, bond or collateral deposited to secure a defendant’s appearance in court, which forfeiture
has not been vacated, shall be equivalent to a conviction. Failure to so notify the board shall not constitute
a defense in an action relating to failure to renew a license, nor shall it constitute a defense in any other
proceeding.

History: (History: L.1949,ch.331, §6; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 5; L. 1976, ch. 274, § 1; L. 1978, ch. 240, § 4; L. 1980, ch.
187, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 8; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 1; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 11; L. 1995, ch. 97, § 1; L. 1997, ch. 146, § 1;

L. 2007, ch. 99, § 1; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 79; June 9.)

—-83—



65-1118. Fees.
(@) The Board shall collect in advance fees provided for in this act as fixed by the board, but not exceeding:

Application for single-state license — professional NUISE...........ceeveviviviininnnecn 150.00
Application for single-state license — practical NUISE..........covvivieereieriieniieee 100.00
Application for single-state biennial renewal of license — professional nurse and practical nurse ........ 120.00
Application for single-state reinstatement of license............coooviiiiiniiiiinii, 156-608300.00
Application for single-state reinstatement of licenses with temporary permit.........coeoevevveiviisisininns 175.00
Application for multi-state license — professional NUISE .............oevviievrineinniinnii 300.00
Application for multi-state license — practical DUISE ..........oouviiiiiiiiniiiiiiei 300.00
Application for multi-state biennial renewal of license — professional nurse and practical nurse......... 200.00
Application for multi-state reinstatement of Jic€nSe ...........ooovvieiiiiiiiiniii 300.00
Application for multi-state reinstatement of license with temporary permit ..............cccooooiviiiii. 300.00
Application for reinstatement of revoked JiCENSE ........cvvviveviveiiiiiininiiii 1,000.00
e g dediicence

Application for reinstatement of late invalidated lapsed license ...........o.oooeieeiiiiiiiiiiinnenn... 300.00
Eate tenewalpendltrich arp et SO 8.5 B N 05 Ui i Goro e st e S s e s ot o 300.00
Certified COPY OF THCENSE iuivirerssosessimsisesinesenisersesssisssssrisasssesssnsnsesasssassssasssssrnsssersssnsnsssessstsssssessustsssssesens 25.00
DUPIICALE OF TICEISE. .. v.vevvvviiiciiiiit et 25.00
TIACTIVE TICEIISE wisrsvssnisssnssssnsvosissansss snss s sssssss s ias s s e v e iR 0 08 £ hANT S USYa s R § oY A T4 e a9 e sua 0 rara s PETOTRORIEOIDEIH S 20.00
Application for license — advanced practice registered NUISE ........coeeneeinininiiiiiiiiiiiies e 50.00
Application for license with temporary permit — advanced practice registered nurse ..................... 100.00
Application for renewal of license — advanced practice registered NUISe ............ccoovvviviiiiiniinnn, 60.00
Application for reinstatement of license — advanced practice registered nurse ..............c.oooeiiiiin 75.00
Application for authorization — registered nurse anesthetist .............cooooiiinin, 75.00
Application for authorization with temporary authorization - registered nurse anesthetist ............... 10.00
Application for biennial renewal of authorization — registered nurse anesthetist............................ 60.00
Application for reinstatement of authorization — registered nurse anesthetist .............coevrsreseeirneinnnnnne 75.00
Application for reinstatement of authorization with

Temporary authorization — registered nurse anesthetist...........ccoeeeinniieeneii 100.00
Verification of license t0 another StALE .........ccceceviriiiiiiniiiiiii e 30.00
Application for exempt license — professional and practical NUISE.........covvvernriiienieniiiiis 50.00
Application for biennial renewal of exempt license — professional and practical DUISE ..........ccccoviunenee 50.00
Application for exempt license — advanced practice registered NUISE ..........cccoviiiviiniiiiiiniinn, 50.00
Application for biennial renewal of exempt license — advanced practice registered nurse ................ 50.00

(b) The board may require that fees paid for any examination under the Kansas nurse practice act be paid directly to
the examination service by the person taking the examination.

(c) The board shall accept for payment of fees under this section personal checks, certified checks, cashier’s checks,
money orders or credit cards. The board may designate other methods of payment, but shall not refuse payment
in the form of a personal check. The board may impose additional fees and recover any costs incurred by reason
of payments made by personal checks with insufficient funds and payments made by credit cards.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 7; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 4; L. 1973, ch. 249, § 1; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 6; L. 1978, ch. 347, §
11; L. 1980, ch. 188, § 1; L. 1986, ch. 233, § 3; L. 1988, ch. 242, § 2; L. 1992, ch. 135, § 1; L. 1993, ch. 194, § 12; L.
1997, ch. 158, § 3; L. 1999, ch. 84, § 5; L. 2011, ch. 114, § 41; L. 2017, ch. 31, § 1; July 1)

_.84_



65-1120. Grounds for disciplinary actions; proceedings; witnesses; costs; professional incompetency defined;
criminal justice record information.

(a) Grounds for disciplinary actions. The board may deny, revoke, limit or suspend any license or authorization to
practice nursing as a registered professional nurse, as a licensed practical nurse, as an advanced practice
registered nurse or as a registered nurse anesthetist that is issued by the board or applied for under this act or
may publicly or privately censure a licensee or holder of a temporary permit or authorization, if the applicant,
licensee or holder of a temporary permit or authorization is found after hearing:

thereto:

(M
@

To be-guilty-of have committed fraud or deceit or made a misrepresentation in practicing nursing or in
procuring or attempting to procure a license to practice nursing;

to have been guilty-ofafelony-orto-have-been convicted of:

(a) any felony offense

(b) a misdemeanor involving alcohol, or

3)
4)

&)

(6)
@

@®

®

(c) a misdemeanor involving illegal drugs

(d) a—misdemeanso assified-as—a—guilty-of a—misaemeanorin ne—an-Hlegal-artag

applicant or licensee establishes sufficient reha ilitation to warrant the public trust, except that

notwithstanding K.S.A. 74-1120, and amendments thereto, no license or authorization to practice nursing as

a licensed professional nurse, as a licensed practical nurse, as an advanced practice registered nurse or

registered nurse anesthetist shall be granted to a person with a felony conviction for a crime against persons

as specified in article 34 of chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes Annotated, prior to their repeal, or article 54

chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes annotated, or K.S.A. 2014 Supp. 21-6104, 21-6325, 21-6326 or 21-6418,

and amendments thereto or similar crime in another jurisdiction;

to have committed an act of professional incompetency as defined in subsection (€);

to be unable to practice with skill and safety due to currentabuse-of drugs-or-aleohol-mental or physical

impairment including deterioration through aging process, loss of motor skills or abuse of drugs or alcohol;

to be-a-persen-whe-has have been adjudged in need of a guardian or conservator, or both, under the act for

obtaining a guardian or conservator, or both, and who has not been restored to capacity under that act;

to be-guilty-of have committed unprofessional conduct as defined by rules and regulations of the board,;

to have willfully or repeatedly violated the any provisions of the Kansas nurse practice act or any rules and

regulations adopted pursuant to that act, including K.S.A. 65-1114 and 65-1122 and amendments thereto;

to have had a license to practice nursing as a registered nurse or as a practical nurse denied, revoked, limited

or suspended, or to be publicly or privately censured, by a licensing authority in Kansas, another of another

state, an agency of the United States government, a_ territory of the United States or a country or to have

other disciplinary action taken against the applicant or licensee by a licensing authority in Kansas ef another

state, an agency of the United States government, a territory of the United States or a country. A certified

copy of the record or order of public or private censure, denial, suspension, limitation, revocation or other

disciplinary action of the licensing authority of anether any state, agency of the United States government,

territory of the United States or country shall constitute prima facie evidence of such a fact for purposes of

this paragraph (8); or

to have assisted suicide in violation of K.S.A. 21-3406, prior to its repeal, or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5407,

and amendments thereto, as established by any of the following:

(A) A copy of the record of criminal conviction or plea of guilty for a felony in violation of K.S.A.
21-3406, prior to its repeal or K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5407, and amendments thereto.

(B) A copy of the record of a judgment of contempt of court for violating an injunction issued under
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 60-4404, and amendments thereto.

(C) A copy of the record of a judgment assessing damages under K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 60-4405, and
amendments thereto.

(10) to have practiced while the license was invalidated lapsed pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments

(11) to have cheated on an examination administered under this act for licensure;

(12) to have failed to comply with any order of the board;

(13) patient abandonment

(14) to have exceeded the terms of the collaborative agreement with a physician, or

(note: this may

not be necessary if board prefers Missouri statute that has a specific provision for not successfully completing the

alternative or intervention programs)
(b) Civil fine._In addition to or in lieu of any other penalty prescribed in subsection (a) the board may assess a civil

fine in an amount not to exceed $1:600 2,000 for the first violation, $2:600 3,000 for the second violation and $3;0609

5.000 for the third violation and for each subsequent violation. All fines assessed and collected under this section

shall be remitted to the state treasurer in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 75-42 15, and amendments thereto.

.y 17



Upon receipt of each such remittance, the state treasurer shall deposit the entire amount in the state treasury to the
credit of the state general fund.

C. S G —oPo 5O

«d)(c) Witnesses. No person shall be excused from testifying in any proceedings before the board under this act or
in any civil proceedings under this act before a court of competent jurisdiction on the ground that such testimony
may incriminate the person testifying, but such testimony shall not be used against the person for the prosecution
of any crime under the laws of this state except the crime of perjury as defined in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5903,
and amendments thereto.

¢e)(d) Costs. If final agency action of the board in a proceeding under this section is adverse to the applicant or
licensee, the costs of the board’s proceedings shall be charged to the applicant or licensee as in ordinary civil
actions in the district court, but if the board is the unsuccessful party, the costs shall be paid by the board. Witness
fees and costs may be taxed by the board according to the statutes relating to procedure in the district court. All
costs accrued by the board, when it is the successful party, and which the attorney general certifies cannot be
collected from the applicant or licensee shall be paid from the board of nursing fee fund. All moneys collected
following board proceedings shall be credited in full to the board of nursing fee fund. All moneys collected
following board proceedings shall be credited in full to the board of nursing fee fund.

(B(e) Professional incompetency defined. As used in this section, “professional incompetency” means:

(1) One or more instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to a degree which
constitutes gross negligence, as determined by the board;

(2) repeated instances involving failure to adhere to the applicable standard of care to a degree which constitutes
ordinary negligence, as determined by the board; or

(3) apattern of practice or other behavior which demonstrates a manifest incapacity or incompetence to practice
nursing.

¢2)(f) Criminal justice information. The board upon request shall receive from the Kansas bureau of investigation
such criminal history record information relating to arrests and criminal convictions as necessary for the purpose
of determining initial and continuing qualifications of licensees of and applicants for licensure by the board.

History: (L. 1949, ch. 331, § 9; L. 1963, ch. 314, § 6; L. 1972, ch. 231, § 10; L. 1975, ch. 316, § 7; L. 1978, ch. 240, §
6; L. 1981, ch. 245, § 1; L. 1983, ch. 206, § 10; L. 1985, ch. 88, § 6; L. 1986 ch, 233, § 4; L. 1990, ch. 221, § 5; L. 1993,
ch. 194, § 1, L. 1995, ch. 97, § 2, L. 1997, ch. 158, § 4; L. 1998, ch. 142 § 8; L. 2011, ch. 114 § 42; Jan. 1,2012.)



65-1120a. Reinstatement of revoked licenses; burden of proof; board of nursing report to legislature.
(a) A person whose license has been revoked may apply for reinstatement of the license after the
expiration of three years from the offective date of the revocation. Application for reinstatement shall
be on a form approved by the board and shall be accompanied by a reinstatement fee established by
the board under K.S.A. 65-1118, and amendments thereto. The burden eof-proof-by—elear—and
convinecingevidenee-shall be on the applicant to show sufficient rehabilitation te-justify reinstatement
of the license to warrant the public trust by clear and convincing evidence. In determining whether an
applicant is sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant the public trust, the board may consider any relevant
evidence, and may, but shall not be required, to consider the following factors:
(1) the present moral fitness of the applicant to practice nursing;
(2) the demonstrated consciousness of the wrongful conduct and the disrepute which the
conduct has brought to the nursing profession;
(3) the extent of the applicant’s rehabilitation;
(4) the seriousness of the original misconduct;
(5) the applicant’s conduct subsequent to discipline;
(6) the time elapsed since the original discipline;
(7) the applicant’s character, maturity, and experience at the time of the original discipline;
and
(8) the applicant’s present competence to engage in the nursing profession; and
(9) other relevant factors bearing on the applicant’s ability to practice nursing
(b) If the board determines a license should not be reinstated, the person shall not be eligible to reapply
for reinstatement for three years from the effective date of the denial.
(c) All proceedings conducted on an application for reinstatement shall be in accordance with the
provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure act and shall be reviewable in accordance with the
Kansas judicial review act. The board, on its own motion, may stay the effectiveness of an order of

revocation of license.
(d) On or before January 8, 2018, and on or before the first day of the regular session of the Kansas

legislature each year thereafter, the board of nursing shall submit a written report to the senate standing
committee on public health and welfare and the house of representatives standing committee on health
and human services that includes on an anonymous but individual and itemized basis: The number of
individuals who applied for reinstatement of a revoked license during the immediately preceding
calendar year; the amount of moneys charged to each such applicant; the number of such reinstatement
applications that were granted and denied; and the basis given to deny any such reinstatement
application.
(e) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.
History: L.2017, ch. 31, §2; July 1.

_87_



65-1121a. Judicial review of board’s actions.

(a) All administrative proceedings regarding licensure under this act shall be conducted under Kansas administrative
procedures act. Any agency action of the board of nursing pursuant to the Kansas nurse practice act is subject

to review in accordance with the Kansas judicial review acts.
(b) This section shall be part of and supplemental to the Kansas nurse practice act.
History: (L. 1986, ch. 318, § 145; L. 2010, ch. 17, § 128; July 1.)

-88-



74_1110 Cixil fineThe hoard-of-nursine—in additionto-anv-o - nenaltu nreceribed by law—mav-assess—a eivil-fine-
. IV Inaey Iav ooaraor LLu_LulAl&, T aaaItiomnr o arl \vA2e8-2 Y IJVLLLLALJ l.uvu\.u.xuvu o ATEVY T TTOULTUOU O UIvIT 1TIv,
 nraner notice_and-an-opportunitto-be heaard _acainct anvnberson_otanted-alicense—certt teate of analification—or
L\Jl.lvl TIOTICU At arrw UFPUL Ir\—uAlLJ LAY A~ vaulu, lavu.uul. arr tl\llu\llj. &LuLJLUU T IITVITOV, CoOITIrIoatlvUrT ﬂuuAAvau\.xuu T
antharization topractice-byvthe board-of nursinge far o vinlation-of alaw-orrale and reconlatinn_anplicable-to-the-practice
authorizationto-practice oy tne DO O HUISHHE O d-VITIGEEH of a-law-orryieana-regationappricaviCro Tt pratiivo
"~ which cnneh-pnersen lheen oranted_a licencse—ecertificate Af analification_oraunthorization by the hoard in-an-amount
TOT—VWInITIr ouvulr tl\-tlu T IaS OUUIT 61 TIITO T TITVITIOY, CoOItIaIoatvUr siuvuxxu.auu\.ux \vjEmeiransavipraaaaviey UJ thTooaragoranannyw j=ss e
ot to eveead $£1 000 for-the first wvinlation_$2 000 for-the cecondyiolatio 492 000 forthe thirdviolation and foreach
HOt1t0 X COCaD L uuvv oI thnv ot V101atio; 9= U v v o tiY SeCOoRa Vot Ho; v v U TUItiiv tHHT G V1ot oo antrIorvavil
cnbeeanent—violation All_Finec accecced_and—collected nder thic cection—shall-be vomitted tothe ctate treasurer—in
Wuov\iuuxu- vV IUTatIvoI. 1 XTI TIaCo aoovouova (sss v mmvivssaviviaviv SunEs e LR gy tH OO T TIUT onaIir UV TOIITtTT— oty vttt arvaoarvr— 1ol
mrcnrdance with the nrovisions—of K-S-A—75 A115 _and amendmentsthereto—Upon-receipt anf each cuch remittance—t
feavaviviavicsua i A B2 Y 12887 lJA\J'AJl\IAAu AV S & w3 W ry & T A TZ T E) oA IIaIavIIty 17 8457 e A v VPV“' TOUOUUT T O CavIir ouvIlr Lvllllbl-uxlv\.q v

asurer-shall-depo Aoy he-credit-of the-state-general fund. Disciplinary
action. In all matters pending before the Kansas state board of nursing, the board shall have the power to revoke a license
or authorization issued by the board to a person who does not renew the license or authorization or who voluntarily
surrenders such person’s license or authorization pending an investigation of misconduct or while charges of misconduct

against such person are pending or anticipated. History: (L. 1992, ch. 151, § 6; L. 2001, ch. 5, § 304; July 1.)

—-89-



60-3-110. Unprofessional conduct. Any of the following shall constitute “unprofessional conduct”:

(a) Performing acts beyond the authorized scope of the level of nursing for which the individual is licensed;

(b) assuming duties and responsibilities within the practice of nursing without making or obtaining adequate
preparation or maintaining competency;

(c) failing to take appropriate action or to follow policies and procedures in the practice situation designed to
safeguard each patient;

(d) inaccurately recording, falsifying, or altering any record of a patient or agency or of the board;

(e) physical abuse, which shall be defined as any act or failure to act performed intentionally or carelessly that
causes or is likely to cause harm to a patient. This term may include any of the following:

(1) The unreasonable use of any physical restraint, isolation, or medication that harms or is likely to harm a
patient;

(2) the unreasonable use of any physical or chemical restraint, medication, or isolation as punishment, for
convenience, in conflict with a physician's order or a policy and procedure of the facility or a state statute
or regulation, or as a substitute for treatment, unless the use of the restraint, medication, or isolation is
in furtherance of the health and safety of the patient;

(3) any threat, menacing conduct, or other nontherapeutic or inappropriate action directed to colleagues, co-
workers, other professionals or members of the public and consumers that results in or might reasonably
be expected to result in a patient’s unnecessary fear or emotional or mental distress; or '

(4) failure or omission to provide any goods or services that are reasonably necessary to ensure safety and
well-being and to avoid physical or mental harm;

(f) commission of any act of sexual abuse, sexual misconduct, or sexual exploitation related to the licensee's
practice;

(g) verbal abuse, which shall be defined as any word or phrase spoken inappropriately to or in the presence ofa
patient that results in or might reasonably be expected to result in the patient’s unnecessary fear, emotional
distress, or mental distress;

(h) delegating any activity that requires the unique skill and substantial specialized knowledge derived from the
biological, physical, and behavioral sciences and judgment of the nurse to an unlicensed individual in
violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or to the detriment of patient safety;

(i) assigning the practice of nursing to a licensed individual in violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or to
the detriment of patient safety;

(j) violating the confidentiality of information or knowledge concerning any patient;

(k) willfully or negligently failing to take appropriate action to safeguard a patient, or the public or consumers
from incompetent practice performed by a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse.
"Appropriate action" may include reporting to the board of nursing;

() leaving an assignment that has been accepted, without notifying the appropriate authority and allowing
reasonable time for replacement;

(m) engaging in conduct related to licensed nursing practice that is likely to deceive, defraud, or harm the public;

(n) diverting drugs, supplies, or property of any patient or agency;

(o) exploitation, which shall be defined as misappropriating a patient's property or taking unfair advantage of a
patient's physical or financial resources for the licensee's or another individual's personal or financial
advantage by the use of undue influence, coercion, harassment, duress, deception, false pretense, or false
representation;

(p) solicitation of professional patronage through the use of fraudulent or false advertisements, or profiting by
the acts of those representing themselves to be agents of the licensee;

(q) advertising nursing superiority or advertising the performance of nursing services in a superior manner;

¢ [ o lioeinli PRI e

(8)(failing to submit to a mental or physical examination or an alcohol or drug screen, or any combination of
these, when so ordered by the board pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4924 and amendments thereto, that the individual
is unable to practice nursing with reasonable skill and safety by reason of a physical or mental disability or
condition, loss of motor skills or the use of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances, or any combination of

(u)(s) failing to furnish the board, its investigators, or its representatives with any information legally requested

by the board;
@¥)(t) engaging in nursing practice while using a false or assumed name or while impersonating another person

licensed by the board,

[ 5
&)(u)_allowing another person to use the licensee's license to practice nursing;
&)(v) knowingly aiding or abetting another in any act that is a violation of any health care licensing act; or
(w) patient abandonment, which shall be defined as leaving an assignment that has been accepted without
notifying the appropriate authority and allowing reasonable time for replacement, whereby such departure endangers
the health, safety and welfare of those patients entrusted e licensee’s care.




History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1 129; implementing K.S.A. 2015 Supp. 65-1120; effective May 1, 1982; amended
Sept. 27, 1993; amended Sept. 6, 1994; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended April 29, 2016.)

...91..




60-3-110. Unprofessional conduct, Any of the following shall constitute “unprofessional conduct”:

(a) Performing acts beyond the authorized scope of the level of nursing for which the individual is
licensed;

(b) assuming duties and responsibilities within the practice of nursing without making or obtaining
adequate preparation or maintaining competency;

(¢) failing to take appropriate action or to follow policies and procedures in the practice situation
designed to safeguard each patient;

(d) inaccurately recording, falsifying, or altering any record of a patient or agency or of the boartd;

(e) physical abuse, which shall be defined as any act or failure to act performed intentionally or
carelessly that causes or is likely to cause harm to a patient. This term may include any of the following:

(1) The unreasonable use of any physical restraint, isolation, or medication that harms or is likely to
harm a patient;

(2) the unreasonable use of any physical or chemical restraint, medication, or isolation as
punishment, for convenience, in conflict with a physician's order or a policy and procedure of the facility
or a state statute or regulation, or as a substitute for treatment, unless the use of the restraint, medication,
or isolation is in furtherance of the health and safety of the patient;

(3) any threat, menacing conduct, or other nontherapeutic or inappropriate action that results in or
might reasonably be expected to result in a patient’s unnecessary fear or emotional or mental distress; or

(4) failure or omission to provide any goods or services that are reasonably necessary to ensure safety
and well-being and to avoid physical or mental harm;

(f) commission of any act of sexual abuse, sexual misconduct, or sexual exploitation related to the

licensee's practice;

APPROVED
JAN 0§ 2017

-92 DERT, OF ADMINISTRATION




’ K.A.R. 60-3-110
Page 2

(g) verbal abuse, which shall be defined as any word or phrase spoken inappropriately to or in the
presence of a patient that results in or might reasonably be expected to result in the patient’s unnecessary
fear, emotional distress, or mental distress;

(h) delegating any activity that requires the unique skill and substantial specialized knowledge
derived from the biological, physical, and behavioral sciences and judgment of the nurse to an unlicensed
individual in violation of the Kansas nurse practice act or to the detriment of patient safety;

(i) assigning the practice of nursing to a licensed individual in violation of the Kansas nurse practice
act or to the detriment of patient safety;

(G) violating the confidentiality of information or knowledge concerning any patient;

(k) willfully or negligently failing to take appropriate action to safeguard a patient or the public from
incompetent practice performed by a registered professional nurse or a licensed practical nurse.

“ Appropriate action” may include reporting to the board of nursing;

(1) leaving an assignment that has been accepted, without notifying the approptiate authority and

allowing reasonable time for replacement;

(m) engaging in conduct related to licensed nursing practice that is likely to deceive, defraud, or harm

the public;

(n) diverting drugs, supplies, or property of any patient or agency;

(o) exploitation, which shall be defined as misappropriating a patient's property or taking unfair
advantage of a patient's physical or financial resources for the licensee's or another individual's personal
or financial advantage by the use of undue influence, coercion, harassment, duress, deception, false
pretense, or false representation;
fraudulent or false advertisements, or

(p) solicitation of professional patronage through the use of

profiting by the acts of those representing themselves to be agents of the licensee;

APPROVED

JAN 112017

~93— DEPT. OF ADMINISTRATION




K.AR. 60-3-110
Page 3

(q) advertising nursing superiority or advertising the performance of nursing services in a superior
manner;

(r) failing to comply with any disciplinary order of the board;

(s) failing to submit to a mental or physical examination or an alcohol or drug screen, or any
combination of these, when so ordered by the board pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4924, and amendments
thereto, that the individual is unable to practice nursing with reasonable skill and safety by reason of a
physical or mental disability or condition, loss of motor skills or the use of alcohol, drugs, or controlled
substances, or any combination of these;

(t) failing to complete the requirements of the impaired provider program of the board;

(w) failing to furnish the board, its investigators, or its representatives with any information legally
requested by the board;

(v) engaging in nursing practice while using a false or assumed name or while impersonating another
person licensed by the board;

(w) practicing without a license or while the license has lapsed;

(x) allowing another person to use the licensee's license to practice nursing; er

(y) knowingly aiding or abetting another in any act that is a violation of any health care licensing act;

(z) failing to maintain a policy of professional liabilily insurance pursuant to K.S.A. 40-3402 or 40-

3403a, and amendments theteto; or

(aa) failing to pay the premium surcharges pursuant to K.S.A, 40-3404, and amendments thereto.

(Authorized by K.S,A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2045 2016 Supp. 65-1120; effective May 1, 1982;

amended Sept, 27, 1993; amended Sept. 6, 1994; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended April 29, 2016;

amended P- )

APPROVED

JAN 11 2017

-94- DEPT. OF ADMINISTRATION




Licensure Regulations

60-3-107 Expiration dates of applications and

exceptions

—-95—~




60-3-107. Expiration dates of applications and exceptions. Applications for initial licensure by
examination or endorsement and for reinstatement while awaiting documentation of qualifications shall be

active for six months.

(a) The expiration date of each application shall be six months after the date of receipt at the board's

office.

(b) If the application has expired, each individual seeking licensure shall submit a new application along
with the appropriate fee as prescribed by K.A.R. 60-4-101.

(c) If the applicant is under review as part of an active investigation and the applicant is participating in

the process then the application will not expire and will be processed pursuant to the Kansas administrative

procedure act requirements. (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1115, K.S.A. 65-1116, and K.S.A.

65-1117; effective, E-77-8, March 19, 1976; effective Feb. 15, 1977; amended April 3, 1998; amended July

29, 2005; amended P- )

-96—



APRN Regulations

60-11-116 Reinstatement of inactive or lapsed

license
60-11-119 Payment of fees

60-11-122 Roles of advanced practice registered
nurse eligible for inactive license

-97—




60-11-116. Reinstatement of inactive or lapsed license. (a) Asy Each nurse anesthetist whose Kansas

APRN license is inactive or has lapsed and who desires wants to obtain a reinstatement of APRN
licensure shall meet the same requirements as those in K.A.R. 60-13-110. -

(b) Any nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or nurse-midwife whose Kansas APRN license is
inactive or has lapsed may, within five years of its expiration date, reinstate the license by submitting
proof that the applieant individual has met either of the following requirements:

(1) Obtained 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to the advanced practice registered
nurse role within the preceding two-year period; or

(2) been licensed in another jurisdiction and, while licensed in that jurisdiction, has accumulated
1,000 hours of advanced practice registered nurse practice wi‘ghin the preceding five-year period.

(¢) Any nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or nurse-midwife whose Kansas APRN license is
inactive or has lapsed for more than five years beyond its expiration date may reinstate the license by
submitting evidence of having attained either of the following:

(1) A total of 1,000 hours of advanced practice registered nurse practice in another jurisdiction within
the preceding five-year period and 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to the advanced
practice registered nurse role; or

(2) completion of a refresher course approved by the board. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2646 2017 Supp.

65-1117, as amended by L—%(—H—L,—eh——l—M,—sec—@ L. 2018, ch. 42, sec. 3, and K.S.A. 65-1129;

implementing K.S.A. 2640 2017 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by £-264+-eh—H4;se6-79 L. 2018, ch.42

sec. 3, and K.S.A. 2046 2017 Supp. 65-1132;as-amended-by 120 -eh— 145 see-46; effective Sept. 2,

1991; amended March 22, 2002; amended May 18, 2012; amended P- )

-98—



60-11-119. Payment of fees. Payment of fees for advanced practice registered nurses shall be as follows:

(2) Initial apPHCAtion FOT HCEMSE....vvu urerreressisienirssssisss st e $50.00
(b) Biennial renewal 0f HCEMSE...vvucuuurvmuussiimimmiississsssssscsiis s 55.00
(c) Application for reinstatement of license without temporary Permit ......e e evivnninimsssecsnines 75.00
(d) Application for license with temporary POIMIL oo cvemesieserensessesss s nes 100.00
() Application for eXempt HICENSE .....cvvvumerrvvmmmmssssisssserins s 50.00
(f) Renewal of eXemPt HCONSE cvvvrvvesvrrvsessivmmmmsisssssssssssssseis s 50.00
(©) TNACHVE JHCONSE. 1. evvveeeeruuneiiinssreeiereeeeeeiiiiee s s er s e st een s eneasssenee 20.00
(h) Renewal of InACtiVe lICONSE. vuueruirrrrnnnersereeeeineiiiierrnseeeeeeeeeeen e e e er s 20.00

;qmegﬁ}aaeﬂ-shal%eeffee%w&e&mad-aﬁﬁ-lﬁl%h—zm (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A.

2013 2017 Supp. 65-1131; implementing K.S.A. 2643 2017 Supp. 65-1118, as amended by L.. 2018, ch. 42,

sec. 4, and 65-1131; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 17, 1993; amended Feb. 6, 1995; amended April

3, 1998; amended July 1, 2001; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012; amended July 1, 2014;

amended P- )

-99—




60-11-122. Roles of advanced practice registered nurse eligible for inactive license. Each of the
following roles of advanced practice registered nurse (APRN) licensed by the board shall be eligible for an
inactive license:

(a) Clinical nurse specialist;

(b) nurse anesthetist;

(c) nurse-midwife; and

(d) nurse practitioner. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106, as amended by L. 2018, ch. 42, sec.

7; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1131; effective P- )

-100-



CNE Regulations

60-9-105 Definitions

60-9-106 Continuing nursing education for license

renewal

60-9-107 Approval of continuing nursing education

-101-




60-9-105. Definitions. Eorthe-purpeses-of theseregulations; Each of the following terms, as used in this article of

the board’s regulations, shall have the meaning specified in this regulation:

(a) “Approval” means the act of determining that a providership application or course offering meets
applicable standards based on review of either the total program or the individual offering.

(b) “Approved provider” means a person, organization, or institution that is approved by the board and is
responsible for the development, administration, and evaluation of the continuing nursing education (CNE)
program or offering. )

(c) “Authorship” means 2 person's development of a manuscript for print or a professional paper for
presentation. Each page of text that meets the definition of continuing nursing education (CNE), as defined in
K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto, and is formatted according to the American psychological association's
guidelines shall equal three contact hours.

(1) Authorship of a manuscript means a person's development of an original manuscript for a journal article or
text accepted by a publisher for statewide or national distribution on a subject related to nursing or health care.
Proof of acceptance from the editor or the published work shall be deemed verification of this type of credit. Credit
shall be awarded only once per topic per renewal period.

(2) Authorship of a professional research paper means a person's completion of a nursing research project as
principal investigator, co-investigator, or project director and presentation to other health professionals. A program
brochure, course syllabus, or letter from the offering provider identifying the person as a presenter shall be deemed
verification of this type of credit. Credit shall be awarded only once each renewal period.

(d) “Behavioral objectives” means the intended outcome of instruction stated as measurable learning
behaviors.

(e) “Certificate” means a document that is proof of completion of an offering consisting of one or more

contact hours.

-102-



K.AR. 60-9-105
Page 2

(f) “CE transcript” means a document that is proof of completion of one or more CNE offerings. Each CE

transcript shall be maintained by a CNE provider.

(g)_“Classic reference” means either a book published more than 10 years ago or a periodical published more

than five vears ago that is the most current available source with a recognized value pertinent to the content of an

offering.

()(h) “Clinical hours” means planned learning experiences in a clinical setting. Three clinical hours equal one
contact hour.

@) (i) “College course” means a class taken through a college or university, as described in K.S.A. 65-1119
and amendments thereto, and meeting the definition of CNE in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto. One
college credit hour equals 15 contact hours.

@ (j) “Computer-based instruction” means a learning application that provides computer control to solve an
instructional problem or to facilitate an instructional opportunity.

6 (k) “Contact hour” means 50 total minutes of participation in a learning experience that meets the
definition of CNE in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto. Fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed
towards a contact hour shall be accepted.

go) (1) “Distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledge and skills through information and instruction
delivered by means of a variety of technologies.

@) (m) “Independent study” means a self-paced leatning activity undertaken by the participant in an
unstructured setting under the guidance of and mbnitored by an approved provider. This term shall include self-
study programs, distance learning, and authorship.

n) (n) “Individual offering approval” and “IOA” mean a request for approval of an education offering meeting
the definition of CNE, pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1117 and amendments thereto, but not presented by an approved

provider or other acceptable approving body, as described in K.S.A. 65-1119 and amendments thereto.

-103-




K.A.R. 60-9-105
Page 3

@) (0) “In-service education” and “on-the-job training” mean learning activities in the work setting designed to
assist the individual in fulfilling job responsibilities. In-service education and on-the-job-training shall not be

eligible for CNE credit.

() (p) “Mergener formula” means a formula utilized to recognize the amount of continuing education credit

provided by a program based upon the material utilized when measured against complexity, time, questions, and

participant feedback.

(o) (q) “Offering” means a single CNE learning experience designed to enhance knowledge, skills, and
professionalism related to nursing. Each offering shall consist of at least 30 minutes to be computed towards a
contact hour.

) (r) “Orientation” means formal or informal instruction designed to acquaint employees with the institution
and the position. Orientation shall not be considered CNE.

(&) (s) “Program” means a plan to achieve overall CNE goals.

@) (t) “Refresher course” means a course of study providing review of basic preparation and current
developments in nursing practice.

¢s) (u) “Total program evaluation” means a systematic process by which an approved provider analyzes
outcomes of the overall CNE program in order to make subsequent decisions. (Authorized by and implementing

K.S.A. 2015 2017 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 2018, ch. 42, sec. 3, and K.S.A. 65-1119; effective Sept. 2,

1991; amended March 9, 1992; amended April 26, 1993; amended April 3, 1998; amended April 20, 2001;

amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended March 6, 2009; amended May 10, 2013; amended April 29, 2016; amended P-

)

~104-



60-9-106. Continuing nursing education for license renewal. (a) At the time of license renewal, any
licensee may be required to submit proof of completion of 30 contact hours of approved continuing nursing
education (CNE). This proof shall be documented as follows:

(1) For each approved CNE offering, a certificate or a transcript that clearly designates the number of hours
of approved CNE that have been successfully completed, showing the following:

(A) Name of CNE offering;

(B) provider name or name of the accrediting organization;

(C) provider number or number of the accrediting organization, if applicable;

(D) offering date;

(E) number of contact hours awarded; and

(F) the licensee’s name and license number as shown on the course roster; or

(2) an approved Kansas state board of nursing IOA, which shall include approval of college courses that
meet the definition of continuing education in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto.

(b) The required 30 contact hours of approved CNE shall have been completed during the most recent prior
licensing period between the first date of the licensing period and the date that the licensee submits the renewal
application as required in K.S.A. 65-1117, and amendments thereto, and K.A.R. 60-3-108. Contact hours
accumulated in excess of the 30-hour requirement shall not be carried over to the next renewal period.

(c) Acceptable CNE may include any of the following:

(1) An offering presented by an approved long-term;-ex single offering providers;-or national organization

whose focus is patient safety and improving nursing practice.

(2) an offering as designated in K.S.A. 65-1119, and amendments thereto;
(3) an offering for which a licensee has submitted an IOA, which may include credit requested for a college
course that meets the definition of continuing education in K.S.A. 65-11 17, and amendments thereto. Before

licensure renewal, the licensee may submit an application for an TIOA to the board, accompanied by the

~105-



K.A.R. 60-9-106
Page 2

following:

(A) A rationale statement that applies the meaning of CNE as defined in K.S.A. 65-1117(a)

(B) An agenda representing exact learning time in minutes;

(B) (C) official documentation of successfully completed hours, which may include a certificate of
completion or an official college transcript; and

(S) (D) learning or behavior objectives describing learning outcomes;

(4) a maximum of 15 contact hours for the first-time preparation and presentation as an instructor of an
approved offering to licensed nurses. Two contact hours of instructor credit shall be granted for each hour of
presentation;

(5) an offering utilizing a board-approved curriculum developed by the American heart association,
emergency nurses association, or Mandt, which may include the following:

(A) Advanced cardiac life support;

(B) emergency nursing pediatric course;

(C) pediatric advanced life support;

(D) trauma nurse core COUISE;

(E) neonatal resuscitation program; or

(F) Mandt program;

(6) independent study;

(7) distance learning offerings;

(8) a board-approved refresher course if required for licensure reinstatement as specified in K.A.R. 60-3-
105 and K.A.R. 60-11-116;

(9) participation as a member of a nursing organization board of directors or the state board of nursing,

including participation as a member of a committee reporting to the board. The maximum number of allowable

-106-



K.AR. 60-9-106
Page 3

contact hours shall be six and shall not exceed three contact hours each year. A letter from an officer of the
board confirming the dates of participation shall be accepted as documentation of this type of CNE; or

(10) any college courses in science, psychology, sociology, or statistics that are prerequisites for a nursing
degree.

(d) Fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed towards a contact hour shall be accepted.

(¢) A maximum of 15 contact hours shall be accepted for renewal of certification in advanced cardiac life

support (ACLS), pediatric advanced life support (PALS), or similar standardized recertification courses

developed by the American heart association, emergency nurses association, or Mandt each licensing period.

(f) Contact hours shall not be recognized by the board for any of the following:

(1) Identical offerings completed within a renewal period;

(2) offerings containing the same content as that of courses that are part of basic preparation at the level of
current licensure er-certification;

(3) in-service education, on-the-job training, orientation, and institution-specific courses;

(4) an incomplete or failed college course or any college course in literature and composition, public
speaking, basic math, algebra, humanities, or other general education requirements unless the course meets the
definition of CNE;

(5) offerings less than 30 minutes in length; or

(6) a board-approved refresher course for license renewal. (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2615

2017 Supp. 65-1117, as amended by L. 2018. ch. 42, sec. 3; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended April 3, 1998;

amended April 20, 2001; amended July 20, 2007; amended May 10, 2013; amended April 29, 2016; amended P-

)

-107-




60-9-107. Approval of continuing nursing education. (a) Offerings-ofapprovedprovidersshall-be

recognized-by-the-beard: To become an approved provider an application shall be submitted to the Board as

follows:

(1) Long-term provider. A completed application for initial approval or five-year renewal for a long-
term continuing nursing education (CNE) providership shall be submitted to the board at least 60 days before
a scheduled board meeting.

(2) Single offering provider. The application for a single CNE offering shall be submitted to the board at
least 30 days before the anticipated date of the first offering.

(b) Each applicant shall include the following information on the application:

(1)(A) The name and address of the organization; and

(B) the name and address of the department or unit within the organization responsible for approving
CNE, if different from the name and address of the organization;

(2) the name, education, and experience of the program coordinator responsible for CNE, as specified in
subsection (c);

(3) written policies and procedures, including at least the following areas:

(A) Assessing the need and planning for CNE activities;

(B) fee assessment;

(C) advertisements, ot offering announcements, and certificates of completion. Published information

and each certificate of completion shall contain the following statement: “(name-ef provider) [Name of

provider] is approved as a provider of CNE by the Kansas State Board of Nursing. This course offering is

approved for contact hours applieable for [specify each applicable license type: APRN, RN, ex LPN, or

»,

LMHT] relicensure. Kansas State Board of Nursing provider number: ;
(D) for long-term providers, the offering approval process as specified in subsection (d);

(E) awarding contact hours, as specified in subsection (e);

-108-



K.A.R. 60-9-107
Page 2

(F) verifying participation and successful completion of the offering, as specified in subsections (f) and
(8);

(G) recordkeeping and record storage, as specified in subsection (h);

(H) notice of change of coordinator or required policies and procedures. The program coordinator shall
notify the board in writing of any change of the individual responsible for the providership or required
policies and procedures within 30 days; and

(@) for long-term providers, a copy of the total program evaluation plan; and

(4) the proposed CNE offering, as specified in subsection ().

(c)(1) Long-term provider. The program coordinator for CNE shall meet these requirements:

(A) Be a licensed professional nurse;

(B) have three years of clinical experience;

(C) have one year of experience in developing and implementing nursing education; and

(D) have a baccalaureate degree in nursing, except those individuals exempted under K.S.A. 65-1119
(e)(6) and amendments thereto.

(2) Single offering provider. If the program coordinator is not a nurse, the applicant shall also include

the name, education, and experience of the nurse consultant. The individual responsible for CNE or the nurse

consultant shall meet these requirements:

(A) Be licensed to practice nursing; and

(B) have three years of clinical experience.

(d) For long-term providers, the policies and procedures for the offering approval process shall include
the following:

(1) A summary of the planning;

(2) the behavioral objectives;

TE i W S A 65 1117 and-am ndmentc thareto:
p ) gen A5 £onaw w av ay S RO estntrotos

(3) the content;which-shall-meet-the

-109-




K.A.R. 60-9-107
Page 3

(4) the instructor’s education and experience, documenting knowledge and expertise in the content area;
(5) acurrent bibliography that is reflective of the offering content. The bibliography shall include books
published within the past 10 years, periodicals published within the past five years, or both. Classic

references, if included, shall be limited to less than 25 percent of the bibliography; and

(6) an offering evaluation that includes each participant’s assessment of the following:

(A) The achievement of each objective; and

(B) the expertise of each individual presenter.

(e) An approved provider may award any of the following:

(1) Contact hours as documented on an offering agenda for the actual time attended, including partial

credit for ene-er-more-contacthours fractions of hours over 30 minutes to be computed towards a contact

hour;

(3) (2) instructor credit, which shall be twice the length of the first-time presentation of an approved

offering, excluding any standardized, prepared curriculum;
) (3) independent study credit that is based on the time required to complete the offering, as

documented by the provider’s pilot test results or determined by Mergener formula; or

€5) (4) clinical hours.

(H)(1) Each provider shall maintain deeumentation a daily roster to verify that each participant attended

the offering:
which shall contain the following information:
(A) The provider’s name, address, provider number, and coordinator;
(B) the date and title of the offering, and the presenter or presenters; and

(C) the participant’s name and license number, and the number of contact hours awarded.

-110-



K.A.R. 60-9-107
Page 4

(2) Each provider shall maintain documentation to verify completion of each independent study
offering, if applicable. To verify completion of an independent study offering, the provider shall maintain
documentation that includes the following:

(A) The provider’s name, address, provider number, and coordinator;

(B) the participant’s name and license number, and the number of contact hours awarded;

(C) the title of the offering;

(D) the date on which the offering was completed; and

(E) either the completion of a posttest or a return demonstration.

(g)(1) A certificate of attendance shall be awarded to each participant after completion of an offering, or
a CE transcript shall be provided according to the policies and procedures of the long-term approved
provider.

(2) Each certificate and each CE transcript shall be complete before distribution to the participant.

(3) Each certificate and each CE transcript shall contain the following information:

(A) The provider’s name, address, and provider number; (LMS — Learning Management Systems do not
often allow for Provider Name, address and provider number on the certificate. Examples of LMS include
Healthstream, CareLearning, Relias, Up to Date, etc. We have the definition of computer based instruction,
however how do we handle when the CE transcript will not have all the information we need)

(B) the title of the offering;

(C) the date or dates of attendance or completion;

(D) the number of contact hours awarded and, if applicable, the designation of any independent study or

instructor contact hours awarded,

(E) the handwritten or electronic signature of the individual responsible for the providership; and

(F) the name and license number of the participant:; and

(G) the following statement: “[Name of provider] is approved as a provider of CNE by the Kansas State

-111-



K.A.R. 60-9-107
Page 5

Board of Nursing. This course offering is approved for contact hours for [specify each applicable license

type: APRN, RN, LPN or LMHT] relicensure. Kansas State Board of Nursing provider number

(h)(1) For each offering, the approved provider shall retain the following for two years:

(A) A summary of the planning;

(B) a copy of the offering announcement or brochure;

(C) the title and objectives;

(D) the offering agenda or, for independent study, pilot test results;

(E) abibliography;

(F) asummary of the participants’ evaluations;

(G) each instructor’s education and experience; and

(H) documentation to verify completion of the offering, as specified in subsection ().

(2) The record storage system used shall ensure confidentiality and easy retrieval of records by
authorized individuals.

(3) Each approved single offering CNE provider shall submit to the board the-eriginal signature-roster
and a typed;-alphabetized a roster of the individuals who have completed an offering, within 15 working days
of course completion.

(i)(1) Long-term provider application. The provider shall submit two proposed offerings, including the
following:

(A) A summary of planning;

(B) acopy of the offering announcement or brochure;

(C) the title and behavioral objectives;

(D) the offering agenda or, for independent study, pilot test results;

(E) each instructor’s education and experience;

(F) a current bibliography, as specified in paragraph (d)(5); and

~1 1 2=



K.AR. 60-9-107
Page 6

(G) the offering evaluation form.

(2) Single offering provider application. The provider shall submit the proposed offering, which shall
include the information specified in paragraphs (i)(1)(A) through (G).

()(1) Long-term provider application. Each prospective coordinator who has submitted an application
for a long-term CNE providership that has been reviewed once and found deficient, or has approval pending,
shall submit all materials required by this regulation at least two weeks before the next board meeting. If the
application does not meet all of the requirements or the prospective coordinator does not contact the board

for an extension on or before this deadline, the application process shall be considered abandoned. A new

application and fee shall be submitted if the prospective coordinator still wants a providership is-still-desired.

(2) Single offering approval application. If the application for a single offering has been reviewed and
found deficient, or has approval pending, the CNE coordinator shall submit all materials required by this
regulation before the date of offering. If the application does not meet the requirements before the offering
deadline, the application shall be considered abandoned. There shall be no retroactive approval of single
offerings.

(k)(1) Each approved long-term provider shall pay a fee for the upcoming year and submit an annual
report for the period of July 1 through June 30 of the previous year on or before the deadline designated by
the board. The annual report shall contain the following:

(A) An evaluation of all the components of the providership based on the total program evaluation plan;

(B) a statistical summary report; and

(C) for each of the first two years of the providership, a copy of the records for one offering as specified
in paragraphs (h)(1)(A) through (H).

Q) If approved for the first time after January 1, a new long-term provider shall submit only the

statistical summary report and shall not be required to submit the annual fee or evaluation based on the total

program evaluation plan.

-113-




K.AR. 60-9-107
Page 7

(I)(1) Ifthe long-term provider does not renew the providership, the provider shall notify the board in
writing of the location at which the offering records will be accessible to the board for two years.

(2) If a provider does not continue to meet the criteria for current approval established by regulation or if
there is a material misrepresentation of any fact with the information submitted to the board by an approved
provider, approval may be withdrawn or conditions relating to the providership may be applied by the board

after giving the approved provider aetiee-and an opportunity to be-heard provide written response.

(3) Any approved provider that has voluntarily relinquished the providership or has had the providership
withdrawn by the board may reapply as a long-term provider. The application shall be submitted on forms

supplied by the board and accompanied by the designated, nonrefundable fee as specified in K.A.R. 60-4-

103(a)(3). (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 2064+K.SA. 65-1129, 2017 Supp-—65-+117, as amended

by L. 2018, ch. and session laws 42, sec. 3, and K.S.A. 65-1119; effective March 9, 1992; amended Sept. 27,

1993; amended April 3, 1998; amended Oct. 25, 2002; amended March 6, 2009; amended May 10, 2013;

amended P- J)

~114-



RNA Regulations

60-13-103 School approval requirements

60-13-104 Exam approval

60-13-110 Reinstatement of inactive or lapsed

authorization

-115-




60-13-103. School approval requirements. (a) In order for a school of nurse anesthesia to be approved by
the board of nursing, consideration shall be given as to whether the school meets the requirements in standards
L H - Ps-and-V A through H and the appendix in the “standards for accreditation of nurse anesthesia
edueational programs,” as revised by the council on accreditation of nurse anesthesia educational programs in

on January 2006-and-effective-Mareh-1;2006 12, 2018. These portions are hereby adopted by reference.

(b) An up-to-date list of approved programs shall be prepared and kept by the board.

(¢) A program shall not be approved without the formal action of the board.

(d)(1) A program review shall be conducted by the board at least once every five years, or in conjunction
with the council on accreditation review cycles.

(2) The school shall submit to the board of nursing for review a copy of a self-study report documenting
compliance with the established standards.

(3) Additional information may be requested by the board of nursing to assess the school's compliance
with standards.

(4) An on-site visit to the school of nurse anesthesia may be conducted by the board of nursing if there is
reason to believe that the program is in violation of the established standards or if the program is placed on
public probation by the council on accreditation. (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 65-

1152; effective, T-88-48, Dec. 16, 1987, effective May 1, 1988; amended March 22, 2002; amended March 6,

2009; amended P- )

-116-



60-13-104. Exam approval. The content outline of the examination administered by the eeuneil-on

certification-of national board of certification and recertification for nurse anesthetists shall be reviewed and

approved annually by the board of nursing. (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164; implementing K.S.A. 65-1152;

effective, T-88-48, Dec. 16, 1987; effective May 1, 1988; amended March 6, 2009; amended P-

)

-117-




60-13-110. Reinstatement of inactive or lapsed authorization. (a) Any applieant nurse anesthetist whose

Kansas authorization is inactive or has lapsed may, within five years of its expiration date, reinstate the
authorization by submitting proof that the applieant individual has met either of the following requirements:
(1) Obtained 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to nurse anesthesia within the preceding
two-year period; or
(2) been authorized in another jurisdiction and, while authorized in that jurisdiction, has accumulated
1,000 hours of nurse anesthesia practice within the preceding five-year period.

(b) Any applicant nurse anesthetist whose Kansas authorization is inactive or has been lapsed for more

than five years beyond its expiration date may reinstate the authorization by submitting evidence of having
attained either of the following:
(1) A total of 1,000 hours of nurse anesthesia practice in another jurisdiction within the preceding five-

year period and 30 hours of continuing nursing education related to nurse anesthesia within the preceding

two-year period; or
(2) satisfactory completion of a refresher course approved by the board. (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1164;
implementing K.S.A. 2000 2017 Supp. 65-1155; effective Sept. 2, 1991; amended May 9, 1994; amended

March 22, 2002; amended P- J)

-118-



IV fluid therapy Regulations

60-16-101 Definitions

60-16-103 Stand-alone course approval procedures;
competency examinations; recordkeeping

60-16-104 Standards for courses and program
curriculum content

-119-




60-16-101. Definitions. Each of the following terms, as used in this article of the board’s regulations, shall have

the meaning specified in this regulation:

(a) “Administration of intravenous (IV) fluid therapy” means utilization of the nursing process to deliver
the therapeutic infusion or injection of substances through the venous system.

(b) “Admixing” means the addition of a diluent to a medication or a medication to an intravenous
solution.

(c) “Calculating” means-the-mathematical determination-of mathematically determining the flow rate and

medication dosages.

(d)_“Clock-hour” means 60 continuous minutes.

(e) “Competency examination” means a written examination and demonstration of mastery of clinical
components of intraveneus IV fluid therapy.

¢e) (f) “Discontinuing” means stopping the intravenous flow or removing the intravenous access device,
or both, based on an authorized order or nursing assessment.

@ (g) “Evaluating” means analyzing, on an ongoing basis, analysis—of the monitored patient response to

the prescribed intraveneus IV fluid therapy for-determination-of the-appropriate-patient-outeomes.
&) (h) “Initiating” means the starting ef-intravenous [V fluid therapy based on an authorized order by a

licensed individual. Initiating shall include the following:
(1) Assessing the patient assessment;
(2) selection selecting and preparation-of preparing materials;
(3) ealeulation calculating; and
(4) insertion inserting and stabilization-of stabilizing the cannula.
@) (i) “Intravenous push” means direct injection of medication into the venous circulation.

& (§) “IV” means intravenous.

@.(k) “Maintaining” means adjusting the control device for continuance of the prescribed intravenous

-120-



K.A.R. 60-16-101

Page 2
IV fluid therapy administration rate.
@ (1) “Monitoring” means the , on an ongoing assessment,_ebsewaﬁeﬁ;aad—eemmuﬂ*eﬂﬁeﬁ—ef basis,

assessing, observing, and communicating each patient’s response to prescribed intravenous [V fluid therapy.

The infusion equipment, site, and flow rate shall be included in the monitoring process.

(m) “Stand-alone,” when used to describe a course, means an IV fluid therapy course offered by a

provider that has been approved by the board to offer the course independently of an approved practical nursing

program.

@) (n) “Titration of medication” means an adjustment of the dosage of a medication to the amount
required to bring about a given reaction in the individual receiving the medication. (Authorized by and
implementing K.S.A. 2001-Supp- 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended June 12, 1998; amended Oct. 29,

1999; amended June 14, 2002; amended P- )

-121-




60-16-103. Stand-alone course approval procedure; competency examinations; recordkeeping. (a) Each

person desiring-to-ebtain wanting approval for-an-intravenous-dVO)-fluid-therapy to offer a stand-alone course
shall submit a proposal to the board.
(b) The proposal shall contain the following:
(1) The name and qualifications of the coordinator;
(2) the name and qualifications of each faculty member of the course;
(3) the mechanism through which the provider will determine that each licensed practical nurse
seeking to take the course meets the admission requirements;
(4) a description of the educational and clinical facilities that will be utilized;
(5) the outlines of the classroom curriculum and the chinieal skills curriculum, including time segments.
These curricula shall meet the requirements of K.A.R. 60-16-104(g)(b);
(6) the methods of student evaluation that will be used, including a copy of the final written
competency examination and the final elinieat skills competency examination; and
(7) if applicable, a request for continuing education approval meeting the following eriteria requirements:
(A) For each long-term provider, the I¥-therapy stand-alone course provider number shall be printed on
the certificates and the course roster, along with the long-term provider number; and

(B) for each single program provider, the single program application shall be completed. There-shall-be-

(b) To be eligible to enroll in a stand-alone course, the individual shall be a nurse with a current license.

(c)(1)_Each stand-alone course shall meet both of the following requirements:

(A) Consist of at least 30 clock-hours of instruction; and

(B) require at least eight clock-hours of supervised clinical or skills lab practice, which shall include at

least one successful peripheral venous access procedure and the initiation of an intravenous infusion treatment

modality.

-122-



K.AR. 60-16-103
Page 2

(2) Each stand-alone course, final written competency examination, and final clinical competency

examination shall meet the board-approved curriculum requirements specified in K.AR. 60-16-104 (b) (1)-

(23).

(d)(1) Each stand-alone course coordinator shall meet the following requirements:

(A) Be licensed as a registered professional nurse;

(B) be responsible for the development and implementation of the course; and

(C) have experience in IV fluid therapy and knowledge of the IV fluid therapy standards.

(2) Each primary faculty member shall meet the following requirements:

(A) Be currently licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in Kansas;

(B) have clinical experience that includes IV fluid therapy within the past five years; and

(C) maintain competency in IV fluid therapy.

(3) Each guest lecturer shall have professional preparation and qualifications for the specific subject in

which that individual instructs.

(e)(1) The facility in which skills practice and the competency examination are conducted shall allow the

students and faculty access to the IV fluid therapy equipment and IV fluid therapy recipients and to the

pertinent records for the purpose of documentation. Each classroom shall contain sufficient space, equipment,

and teaching aids to meet the course objectives.

(2) There shall be a signed., written agreement between the provider and each affiliating health care

facility that specifies the roles, responsibilities, and liabilities of each party. This written agreement shall not

be required if the only health care facility to be used is that of the provider,

(H)(1) The stand-alone course coordinator shall perform the following:

(A) Ensure that the clinical record sheet is complete, including competencies and scores;

(B) award a certificate to each licensed nurse documenting successful completion of both the final written

competency examination and the final skills competency examination;

-123-




K.AR. 60-16-103
Page 3

(C) submit to the board, within 15 days of course completion, a typed, alphabetized roster listing the

name and license number of each individual who successfully completed the course and the date of

completion. The coordinator shall ensure that each roster meets the following requirements:

(i) RN and LPN participants shall be listed on separate rosters; and

(i1) the roster shall include the provider name and address, the single or long-term provider number, the

stand-alone course provider number, and the coordinator’s signature; and

(D) maintain the records of each individual who has successfully completed the course for at least five

years.,

(g) Continuing education providers shall award at least 32 contact hours to each LPN who successfully

completes the course according to K.A.R. 60-9-106. Continuing education providers may shall award 20 contact

hours, one time only, to each RN who successfully completes the course.

(&(h) After initial approval, each change in the stand-alone course shall be provided to the board for
approval before the change is implemented.

¢e) (i)(1) Each IV-fhuid-therapy stand-alone course provider shall submit to the board an annual report for the
period of July 1 through June 30 of the respective year that includes the total number of licensees taking the
intravenousfluid-therapy course, the number passing the course, and the number of courses held.

(2) The single program providership shall be effective for two years and may be renewed by submitting the
single offering provider application and by paying the fee specified in K.A.R. 60-4-103(a)(5). Each single
program provider who chooses not to renew the providership shall notify the board in writing of the location at
which the rosters and course materials will be accessible to the board for three years.

(3) Each long-term provider shall submit the materials outlined in subsection €b) (a) with the five-year
long-term provider renewal.

€ (§) If a course does not meet or continue to meet the eriteria requirements for approval established by

the board or if there is a material misrepresentation of any fact with the information submitted to the board by

-124-



K.A.R. 60-16-103
Page 4

a provider, approval may be withheld, made conditional, limited, or withdrawn by the board after giving the
provider notice and an opportunity to be heard. (Authorized by and implementing K.S.A. 65-1136; effective

Nov. 21, 1994; amended June 14, 2002; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012; amended P-

)

-125-




60-16-104. Standards for course;-competeney-examination; recordkeeping and program curriculum content.

(2) The purpose of the intravenous fluid therapy eeurse content and stand-alone course shall be to prepare practical

nursing students or licensed practical nurses to perform safely and competently the activities as defined inK.AR.

60-16-102. The course shall be based on the nursing process and current intravenous nursing standards of practice.

(1) Intravenous fluid therapy content provided as part of a practical nursing program’s curriculum as specified

in K.A.R. 60-2-104 or as a stand-alone course offered by an approved provider shall meet the requirements of this

regulation.

(2) Each provider of a stand-alone course shall obtain approval from the board before offering an

intravenous fluid therapy course as specified in K.A.R. 60-16-103.

(3) Each provider of a stand-alone course shall submit documentation of the use of the curriculum

required in this regulation to the board.

(4) Each practical nursing program administrator wanting to implement the intravenous fluid therapy

curriculum as required in this regulation shall submit a major curriculum change form as specified in K.A.R.

60-2-104(g).

-126-



K.AR. 60-16-104
Page 2

neeantlv licensed-to-practice-as-are o A eeafoccional nurce1n-Kansa
T Bxauuxvu l.uvluuuj.uu.u-x RUrSe-Hisahdba

M Be-¢ n
ACE Y S AT el e eky Heehseato praviacorao 123

() have elinicgle rianca vathin the nast five-vears ot ineludecintravenous—flut AraAnE
Yj—’} P NICAAVIRVIVESSAIETY V!XIJUA l\JlLV\J \Ad J.Llllll I tl LIV Tarotaoat1Iivitauvag Ity VIO puyry u LLLVL t}], [s3uLw]
. . . . .
N _EBach guast loctirer ave nrafacct aln atin nd aualificationg faorthe nnmt“rn SH tant aran 10
‘i} puisiws iy EUVUL paviine s gy ﬂllull TECUVN !J.L X QOLULA“L ‘t.lj.\.ltlul HLLUAL ul.l\.l \iuulLLL\JHLLULLJ T LI Ut’ TIC oW LIJ vTrarvaTiiy

1N\ Each-classros all o cnffictent-ena iement_and teachino aidsto ot tha
L/ rAUIY \JLH\JU \vA v LA. 011“11 \J LLL&lvlll WOITIIUIVIAT ut/uvv, U\iult}&lL\JLLL, ulL\_l UuULLLILE UL\J\) LAV LILVUL [ EAwAL AW S

(N _The-faciliti in whinhk cliniealneactice-and-the-competency-exam atio o eandueted-shall oﬂmnn«a

KZI XA Lu\/lll J TvY ITIVTE VLLALLUWL l.ll TUTIUVTOIIG TV OO PVLV&LVJ \JA(LLLALIL“LLUAA uxv AVAW piua e A A S OIEATIT GIITrYY L1

i dante and faenlbv-gecess-to tha intravenoncthid-therapyv-eqy wt and intravenous-fhrid-therapy-re opiniante and-
s RWLw) Y E T ) u.lL\J- Lu\-lul.l.] (eAviviviele Bu AW EN RS Ly TV OOy pyyesawy Lxl.vlul.l] ﬂuly&illet T Iy AvFPAVEETL AN B EEAe Y LIV (-LIJ WL LUJ.LL\J, TOLINE

2 Ther allbha a crioned—writt rranment hetween-the-nrovider wd o cannerating health-care netlibz.
FI} LAL\ILU L)LL TIrrov QLBLA\J\J», YY LICOWIY u&xuvxxxvxu. (WASZAAAAI I NN LY tJLU ¥ IUWL uxlu (2% \JUUHVL“LLLL& IL\J‘LLLIA Vul\/ LuVALLI.
4—1-m+ pnamr o tha ralec reangncibilities and-liahilit 165 f annh martv Thicsuritten-acreement chall notbereguired
IJ CITIVD ULV AUL\JO’ LVOYUALOLULXLLLVU’ buxu TITUITITIVY U uu\.ux tlul LJ v L XL VVLJLLVAL u51 AWAvs S AVISLAEL RIS TIOU UV quuu WK

1 iha anlyhealth anre facilitv-to o nead 1caleathe nrovider
T uaav \JllLJ TICTIUT onilv LuVLLAI«J Aw U OV T Ty GO TN I.IL\J v IaVI

(V1) _The hoard-annroved-intravenous wid-therapyv-ci et ot chall be the followine-sta ndarde afthe-

\L/ T IO OUGT LLIJHL\J ¥ WL AALLI“VUAA\JUQ TITTIOUIIINT utlj PSS PAVIES YIS LTI OV LI TOLIUVY Lll& OLuAL\Jul Ty~ Ui

iaficdennurses-sociebvls-su wnnle + +141ad “ml‘“m murcine ctandarde of practice-2-volume 24 _mumber 1S dat
IO TUIY TIUTIWY UU\/AVLJ () l_ltllv.l,ll.ulll— TITIWAY \.ILL 11“191116 DT UL 1.IA uVLLVU, AAVEL=S S L gy I, TIOTITOUVL J.LJ’ pvisaswie

710\ S annatal and-pediatric natients? sta dard D A1 N2 which challbe +n1wn—1«+ anlvforelinieal-
le7 TIC UG T arivy H\J\.&luhl vy H“LLULLLO 1 (e 3 QL v apy 5 h.h, LI-J’ YYILIOUTE OLLULL UN 5‘. LILJ TOX vx;xl&vu.x
g HeS 2
s33N 46 : 2 .
oy raerr -7}
: 33 s .
TP e 7w = L E
[0 Sonnana of nractice? ) dtondard §1 8§92 §32 S A 85 5 6-5.7-
(A=) \Jl.l\-‘ \vp tl.lu LTI OTATTIIOT Jc.l., J-Ll, J.J, o7 l’ J-J, J-U, J-I,
{n.\ mnetencaand-competency walidation? ciandard 6-1—6-2 62 6 4-
( VUALIFVLVLLVU [Sh v \IUALLIJVLVL].UJ Y arraguelorl [ejRo3FUVIES QN Y U..l, Ual—l, U‘J’ Ay l,
Tiy & : : 2% .
(i) Cracanreah and avidence haced weactica? standard-8-1 Q9 212 QA and
‘ VIIL/ TOOUTIUIT Ity \IVA\.IVLLV\J fvdeiniie 9 tll TACLIUW (RlAe3yAVIZA R VIR ) l, UoLd, U-J’ Uc'—l', T

-127-




K.A.R. 60-16-104
Page 3

. <& . . 9 .
OF oY TZIy

seen et 2 .
i b bt

7 R
T L) >
15 Tz T3 CLEY s

N e : P ])

Ty ) Ty LY CASE)
T S > M : 2% .
F TZay 325 v
) T : 3 .
F ¥ g
NP oo Y .
T ) (=)
1A : : 33,
. o« : 3 . :
Aad-| = bt}
PET 33 .
e =3 r=r3 (=AY QEE] I3

-128-



=
< < B
S o g
= an =
O 8 =
— (o]
3 Z
D mmo
P 8
< ©
p o]
N —
s
<5
u
bl
oh
oh
o
&
<3
¥ &
B .
vl fs!l o
& on ¥
I =
i ¢ -
I ofi &
R ch ki
AIH. nlu’ w
g of wh
T £ b @
on — oh
g ol -
(g} oh ¥
N i oh
ofl -
o
<h ;1 o
[q\] A :
N jev] oh
= Ln.m oh
d u o
cH Jqn ]l o
1 -] oh
o ® oh
Pt - .=
3] Rar) N
! - 8 -
io] el oh
s3] .
& N
" o3 ¥
“th . 2] &
g 3
-3 () &
nm o $
q u
—tet - f<u}
] D
4 e 8
5 [+ 2
foxd D
D H ]
b . - i
J o3 n
> D
6 g 2
o & 7 =+ N3
m N c
3 A &
N T hﬂ\

24 4-

240 243
Ay Iy DIy I

» ctandard 341
DITLIIIar

sna nlacamentand-access

t0 Faruacenlar gaccess-dev
AR STHAESIA O - vasUuraravoLoo v yVIbY Procuiiontrativy T USY

\“laeal anesthes
ovar

(
33y

113

235 7.
OIS

222 28 4 25 8§ I8 6
IO

s mranaration-and-deviee wlacament?? ctandard 35-1- 352
AF-8ece55-51e-proparationdntru ity pracement—SrantartooTts IOy

ap ANoaQo o

VSTl

Cernani]

FEETAY
Y

242 36 4+

[Lixessavisnas arvav IE T AV ISP AV AT LR A DNLEY

2 ctandard 261 36

ar accaccdevice-stabilization
WO WV IV W LAUITTZOCITIIT

[#5 aea A~

racenl
TaTUT

v

(xS
v

ot

272 27 A- and
JI-J,JI-—I"

299

A 2 A AP S AT Y

» otandard 37 1
wraritrar

Lization

(Renviwerssanaving

€3 it ooty
JOIES

)

AN

{xx

23,

42 5§ 436~
I-J-J, va-U’

IOy

A2 9 422 43 4
Staggara“o o o

ancat chanoe? ctandard-43-1

itnictraty
-A GRS Ao S OT-Unart e ™

\ A dm

G
\vy)

446
Ty

AA 1 AAD A4 444 445
Ilnl,‘[l.“d’"I-J,—[l-'_l"—fln.),

ro ramoxual? ctandard

1
SF-gCee S5 atviCo 1T Tmuval—ytanuaitt

ar aopoace dew

vacct)
vVaoax

N\ €€

Gi
&2

452 45 4 and
“roTiana

tna? ctandsrd-45-1--45-2
Staiadra o150 OIS

inoandlock
& o TOTR S

TECOSTIITT,

N\ Cfhach

Ly

113

e

A A6 1 46D A63 464
I\J.J., ‘UILI’ IU-J, "TU-_T’

2 _otandar
stanarar

.
o chansegs

COFCaniuarT ool Vilallsguo

e cara and-dress

100.Q

Soncerular aecess dex:
Voot ooy U vVIvVY oty

\

(i
A

23,

({3

(194

(134

£nN 5 50 6
JU.J’ J\l'\l,

503 504
J\J-J, JU.‘I’,

0D
[SAY RS SuRS AT 1Y

» otandard SO
Staiadra

.
N $ate amhnlicm
[cusmmvIERLvivVIRIsIoEY

137

{
Y7

§3 2 89 A and
Dz oAy ana

829

R Q= SR s ST Y

» ctandard 521
[s1resei=ten

1qQ

AFAVASIN IR A RS Qv FRITAVICE ]

: ntad venoncthrombes

CHt O To s OTIatouy v,

“$nanthotar nacpe

(x4
AN

£2 2 &2 A 82 8. and
5205 aha

OIS IO

539

¥ v g e S A AT oY

» otandnrd §3 1
statraar

1008

+

1

.
1ne malnac
AT OSTroULT

\ “nanteal vaceular ascecess-dey
CeRtiarvaosta T Uloy QuUyive

11

(v
vty

-129-



K.AR. 60-16-104
Page 5

15 : TN

b (13 : b+ ] .
-t3 bt b4 o1
(< Smapantoral niteition? ctandard-65-1 652653 (A LG & L& £ 68T syhinh ohall betaucht anbeforeliniesl
YV] klul\/].l.bvlul FYRCINEANLVIEY WTATIVIOIT Y \IJ..L, UJ.I—J’ UJ-J, \JJ-—I', UJ.J, UJ.U, FITT 3 YYIXTOT SITOTT UV Luusl.l Ulll] TOUOTOUITITIVOYT
knowledge-and-awareness;
"\ <L : 29 .
At} = b4 M)

-130-



K.AR. 60-16-104
Page 6

dl coantinnance-ofan-

o deainicteation-csettubine—care Afthe infucionrcite—fluchinean e barmittant anfusion-device
ferwiveEesy Alublubl\}ll uvl, 1= Ullls, TarvToriiniv TITOOROTULY QLLV’ A.L\J\JLIAAIB (2393 1LALVLJ.1LI.LI-\JLLL LIALUDL TGOy A\J\J, oI oIaanveV ur air
s mtpravenanc—infas At ietratinn ofintravenous-medicatio tneludine both-nissvback adminictration-and-direct
TIITTAY VIIUUO LILLUQAUAI uulllllllﬂtlubl\lll s Alu.xuvv TO TR IV TV LUIL LILVLUUAAL LTAvanSY X TAVINC HULLLAAILLJLA [CAWAVISEEE ULV URE DY Y AvA"4"
3 2] Pres)
5 7
£ 1) The faenlechall complete-the Eoal racard cheat_which-shallinelude-compete jacandccores
v;\Ll LTINS Luvull«.’ feyegesyy V\.ILJJ.I.ILULV tTHIC1IIrarivoura ;)ALUV&’ YV XTI Qll(—lll 111\1 W VULLLIJVI»UILULUL) ullu [AVAWS = by
(N The intravenons-ft3 ud therans coRESE ~nardinatarchall smarfarm-the "n‘rn«ru:r_
W AN TIITIay I ay TITUICT Lll\lluy.’ T OUOTOTUaInailol u;u.u.x tIUJ.A\.I.ll.LL LI LULIU AARY 5
[ AN Axunrd o cartificate-to-each-license A erca dacmantinge suecessiul-e nletion nEhath 1nal
v L} Z vy A Uvl TITICTILV LY u\-ux .I.AVV.I].\J ITOIrov GQuUTaGlt IJ\VLLLXLAE WUUOUVOWITAr UULthJ.l\ILIUL T oOUtxr uxv EWESLsD Y VVLLLL\IL.I.
tanon avamination-and-the-faal ~linteal.cnamnetoneyv-e atione
VULLLPVLULLVJ UAL&LLLLLAHLLULL [$ABL N PAVESEEULen Y vxuxxvuu VULLLPULVLLUJ \JILHAAAJ.AL(—LLAUJJ.,
M\ _cubmitiothe board—wit in 18 dave o tuned nl“l«.-.knfwml racter ]1a+1 & tha nama and-Heense-number af
‘_.fll e IUSVINYS LN AWENS S LY UU“I\J, AAR LT U ST E I e pv1en t.)’ (29 bJ U\«l uxt}xxuuv\.xl_‘v TOUOIVIT TTO L& TN xxvuuv ITO TIVWVIIOW FUATISSRUAVI R VEY
onh individual wha-has-suceessfully manlated the conrce-and-the-date-ofcom nla Thae caordinato all
avir 11‘.\11 VIOt vy 21K TITLY [eleamivivininERC s ey ATAVIvS Y TOUTOUOET UV COOTOV QI I,J.l\.l wailw UL UULLLPLULA\JLL- T LI COUTUTL uLUL QLLulL

Gi—the-roster chall 3nelud o wpeexnder name and-address—the cinole ar-lon o neavidernumber-the-T\
TIC-TCOTUT oTIa Il lllvlu V LLL I.IJ.\J VIO 10V [s4yiuauerwivs vuu, CIA QILLBLU \.}1 AULL& LUA LIL PLU v L U\ll Alulllu\dl, TNy
f"an«nv\‘l course menuider nmber_and-the-sionatyre aftha raordinator—an
IJJ AWAP S e )~ IIL\IVL\J»\JL Alullluv;, uuu LLL\I TEUTUrW UL IV CUUL ux;xu\,ux, CTICE
10 _emainiainthe racords-ofeach 1o dindnalawha-has-successiully eemmlotad the conrce-for-a-neriod-ofat laact
‘ G] lllullltulll VY \wsgwi L I TGy Idual \AR SAVED (o0 OUVVV\JULUALJ A\TAvSe k.ll\lb\lu TIIUOUTUTON, TV IJVLLU\.L TU1ITOarT VROl

five-years:

(b) Each stand-alone course or practical nursing program curriculum in intravenous fluid therapy shall

include instruction in the following topics:

(1) Definition of intravenous fluid therapy and indications as specified in K.A.R. 60-16-101;

(2) scope of practice as specified in K.A.R. 60-16-102;

(3) types of vascular-access delivery devices;

(4) age-related considerations;

(5) legal implications for intravenous fluid therapy:

(6) anatomy and physiology;

(7) fluid and electrolyte balance;

(8) infusion equipment used in intravenous fluid therapy:

-131-




K.AR. 60-16-104
Page 7

(9) patient care;

(10) infusion therapies;

(11) parenteral solutions and indications;

(12) infection control and safety;

(13) site care and maintenance;

(14) vascular-access device selection and placement;

(15) insertion of peripheral short catheters;

(16) administration, maintenance, and monitoring of peripheral intravenous fluid therapy:

(17) infusion-related complications and nursing interventions:

(18) central and peripheral vascular devices;

\

(19) administration, maintenance, and monitoring of central intravenous fluid therapy;

(20) documentation;

(21) patient education;

(22) a testing component through which each student is able to demonstrate competency related to

intravenous fluid therapy: and

(23) a means to verify that a student has successfully completed the stand-alone course or practical nursing

program curriculum in intravenous fluid therapy as specified in this regulation. (Authorized by and implementing

K.S.A. 65-1136; effective Nov. 21, 1994; amended Dec. 13, 1996; amended Oct. 29, 1999; amended April 20, 2001;

amended June 14, 2002; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012; amended P- J)

-132-



Undergraduate nursing programs
60-1-102 Approval procedure
60-1-103 Discontinuing a school of nursing
60-1-104 Definitions
60-2-101 Requirements for initial approval
60-2-102 Reapproval requirements

60-2-103 Administrator, faculty and preceptor
qualifications

60-2-104 Curriculum requirements
60-2-105 Clinical resources
60-2-106 Educational facilities
60-2-107 Student policies
60-2-108 Reports

-133-




60-1-102. Approval procedure. {a) As Each institution eontemplating the-establishment-of wanting to

establish a seheel-of nursing program shall meet the following requirements:

b (a) Notify the board and supply-such-information-as-the-board-may require provide any

information that the board requires to establish satisfactory proof that the institution will maintain the

standards and curriculum of an approved nursing program;

) (b) submit the name and qualifications of the nurse administrator to the board for approval;
) (c) employ a dedicated, qualified nurse administrator with sufficient administrative time and

support to achieve and maintain positive program/student outcomes;

4 (d) employ a second faculty member;

€5) (e) have financial resources for faculty, other necessary personnel, equipment, supplies,
counseling, and other services;

€6) (f) have adequate clinical and educational facilities to meet student learning outcomes;

B (g) have-eoursesrequired-for provide general education available courses required for admission

to the nursing program;

€8) (b) submit an application with a detailed proposed three-year budget, curriculum plan, list of
prospective faculty, organizational chart, organizing curricular framework, program ebjeetivesfoutcores
outcomes, student and faculty policies, program evaluation plan, and contractual agreements for clinical
facilities at least six months before enrollment of students; and |

(9 (i) be approved before the admission of any students. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129;

implementing K.S.A. $991-Supp- 65-1119; effective Jan. 1, 1966; amended Jan. 1, 1973; amended, E-74-

29, July 1, 1974; modified, L. 1975, ch. 302, § 1, May 1, 1975; amended April 26, 1993; amended P-

)

-134-



60-1-103. Discontinuing a school of nursing. Each school terminating its program shall submit

for approval to the board the school’s plan for its currently enrolled students and the school’s plan

for disposition of records.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective Jan. 1, 1966;

amended, E-74-29, July 1, 1974; amended May 1, 1975; amended April 26, 1993; amended Nov. 7,

2008.)

-135-




60-1-104. Definitions. Each of the following terms, as used in the board’s regulations except articles 5.

6 and 17, shall have the meaning specified in this regulation:

(a) “Affiliating agency” means an agency that cooperates with the nursing edueation program to
provide facilities and clinical resources for selected student experiences.

(b) “Approval” means the status granted by the board to a nursing program that provides evidence of

both of the following:

(1) The pursing program is operating on a sound educational basis that is consistent with the beard’s

educational requirements as set-forth specified in the nurse practice act and the board’s regulations.

(2) The nursing program has no deficiencies that would adversely affect student learning outcomes.

(c) “Articulation” means the process by which a registered professional nurse, licensed practical
nurse, or mental health technician who is enrolled in a nursing edueation program is given credit for
previous nursing or mental health technology education.

(d) “Bilevel program” means a nursing program that has one application process, with faculty

teaching practical nurse (PN) and registered nurse (RN) content from the first day of the nursing program.

The student can opt out of the RN program, which is known as the PN exit option, take the national

council license examination-practical nursing (NCLEX-PN). and become licensed as a PN: or the student

can matriculate through the entire nursing program, take the national council license examination-

registered nurse (NCLEX-RN), and become licensed as an RN,

(e) “Capstone course” means an experiential nursing course for students to demonstrate integration
of knowledge and professional nursing supervised by a preceptor during the final semester of the
professional nursing program.

€e) (f) “Clinical learning experience” means an active process in which the student participates in

nursing activities while being guided by a member of the faculty.

-136-



K.AR. 60-1-104
Page 2

@ (g) “Clinical observational experience” means the process in which the student views health care
interventions but does not participate in the interventions. Affiliating agency personnel are shall be
responsible for patient care. However, a student may use any of the five senses while with the patient for
the sole purpose of observing while the agency professional who has assessed and provided care to the

patient supports the student. The instructor shall not be required to be present, but the students shall be

included in the faculty-student ratio.

bosrd-1mbos neaceam-iftha
ooart uuyuuvu on-a& prograti i

(o). Candit ol anmraual? mesnethe-Hmited-time-statas that tha
\/ULLUL&LUXL“L utIIJLU LA%2Y lll\lullu L% ¥ L) ALILALLUU IO OTatao trdavw LTINS

w oxridancathat an annraved-nursino-edye 1o mbhac failad to-complye-w ath edueational
™ 3 A AVATI S AVAw U s ST Y utl L\J AAAC NSRS Y 01115 U\J- V \-1\)11 PLU&I“LIJ. uu.o TATIVOLY VULALtJlJ vy it oauauaiiourial

anirements-as-se +F tl 3 tha murca mraoting ot When-placed-en-co ndit al o Aual otatiie tha
IU\iull CITIUITGWI T T Ot IO  TiuL oW tll ATTIV UV ATy FA“VVU p\vie LULtLULxul uleAUVul utul-uu, i kll Ublulll

(h) “Community-based health care” means health care provided outside of hospitals and long-term
care facilities, including public health departments, ambulatory health clinics, prenatal and well-baby
clinics, hospice agencies, doctors' offices, industrial settings, homeless shelters, nursing centers, home

health agencies, and patients' homes.

(i) “Conditional approval” means the limited-time status that the board imposes on an approved

nursing program if the board finds evidence that the nursing program has failed to comply with

educational requirements as specified in the nurse practice act and or the board’s regulations. ‘When placed

on conditional approval, the nursing program may be directed by the board to cease admissions.

&) (§) “Contractual agreement
a written contract or letter signed by the legal representatives for the nursing edueation program and the

affiliating agency.

ahneanpnroved-bro at offa
AL\)LLIAB appro Vea l'“ Ottt oTiT

(D

(D “Caoanverte
gr—oonverto

vadantial diffarent from-the credentisloricinallbeo Ad-ar g nursine-e
i3 ity oS oo od-nurstils <

terminal e
ermmarer \J\L\lllblul T O o Ix offtRe-Ct egentiaro TE T

~137-




K.A.R. 60-1-104
Page 3

(k) “Criteria for unscheduled survey ersite-visit” means these-program-characteristies-indicating

indications that the nursing program possibly is not meeting board standards.

(1) “Debriefing” means an activity that follows a simulation experience and is led by a facilitator.

Participants’ reflective thinking is encouraged and feedback is provided regarding the participants’

performance while various aspects of the completed simulation are discussed. Participants are encouraged

to explore emotions and gquestion, reflect, and provide feedback to one another in order to facilitate the

transfer of learning to future situations.

(m) “Faculty degree plan” means the plan for a course of study leading to a degree appropriate for a
teaching position.

(n) “Faculty hire exception” means that a nursing program is allowed by the board to hire, on a
limited-time basis and in accordance with K.A.R. 60-2-103£e)2), an instructor who does not meet the
faculty qualifications if no qualified individuals are available.

(o) “Generic student” means one who enters at the beginning of the a prelicensure nursing edueation
program and plans to complete the entire curriculum.

(p) “Initial approval” means the approval period from the first admission of nursing students to the
nursing program through the first full implementation of the curriculum and graduation.

(q) “Loss of approval” means the status that results when the board withdraws its approval of a

nursing program.
(r) “National nursing accreditation agency” means either the national-league-for nursing acerediting

commission accreditation commission for education in nursing, commission for nursing education

accreditation or the commission on collegiate nursing education.

(s) “Nursing program” means practical nursing program or professional nursing program, or both.

-138-



K.AR. 60-1-104
Page 4

(1) “One-plus-one program” means a nursing program that includes two application processes, one

for the practical nurse (PN) program and one for the registered nurse (RN) program. The first level has

only PN content, and the student must obtain a PN license before continuing in the RN program.

(1) “Online or distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledge and skills through information

and instruction provided by means of a variety of technologies.

(v) “PN exit option” means in the bilevel programs that there is one application process for the PN

and RN programs. Therefore, a PN exit option allows students to opt out of the RN program at a

designated point in the curriculum. At this point, these students apply for licensure and take the NCLEX-

PN.
(w) “Practical nursing edueation program” means a COUrse of study in-a-technieal-school-orcollege

leading to a certificate and preparing an individual for licensure as a practical nurse.

@ (x) “Preceptor” means a registered professional nurse whe-is-not-employed-by-the-nursing

1cion-for Q1 T conrsactala
15108+ OF RUFS THE-staG Ut irat QLLLB COBES5es taken

hEav-t1 9
LY

dn atioy Inthinge inthic definition-sh

N Y
HCation 1./1 U&l it YOSt HS uv,LL.ou\.ux Siiar

« .
abine acanevie reaictared-nrofessional-nurses feamoncaictinowith-elinies
u-t.uxs us\ulv] 4 LU&L\)LVLUU ProTOosToa T WA I OTIY uuu;u»uxe with-cHiyea

selected by-the-nursing-education-program-faculty supervising a student in the clinical setting who is not

employed as nursing faculty. The preceptor provides oversight of each student’s patients and gives

feedback to the student and clinical instructor. The nursing program faculty shall not be required to be in

the affiliating agency's facilities but shall be immediately available-by-telephone.
@) (y) “Professional nursing education program” means a course of study preparing an individual for

licensure as a registered professional nurse. This term shall include baccalaureate degree programs and

associate degree programs.

(1) A “baccalaureate degree program” shall-be-conducted-inafour-year college-or-university-and

shall lead to a baccalaureate degree with a major in nursing.

-139-




K.AR. 60-1-104
Page 5

(2) An “associate degree program” shall-be-conducted-in-a-college-or-university-and shall lead to an
associate of arts; science; or applied science degree, each with a major in nursing.

(z) “Program evaluation plan” means a nursing program’s written systematic methodology or plan for

measuring and analyzing student learning outcomes and program outcomes against defined standards and

timelines to determine effectiveness and provide for ongoing nursing program improvement.

64 (aa) “Refresher course” means an educational program for nurses whose licenses are inactive or
have lapsed for more than five years.

&%) (bb) “Review course” means an education offering used to prepare students for the licensing
examina’_cion.

68) (cc) “Satellite program™ means an existing, approved nursing edueation program that agrees-te
provide-the-resourees-that-are-lacking is offered at a location geographically separate from the parent
nursing program. The students may spend a portion or all of their time at the satellite location. The
curricula in all locations shall be the same, and the credential shall be given by the parent institution.

69 (dd) A “school of nursing” means a nursing edueation program. This term may include any of
the following:

(1) A college;

(2) aschool;

(3) adivision;

(4) a department;

(5) an academic unit; or

(6) aprogram.

ee) “Simulation” means a teaching strategy utilizing technology to replace or amplify clinical

situations with guided experiences that evoke or replicate substantial aspects of the real world in a fully

interactive manner.

~140-



K.AR. 60-1-104
Page 6

(Fff) “Survey or site visit” means an in-person assessment of all components of a nursing program to

validate information submitted by the nursing program or to follow up on the board’s determination that

there is consistent evidence reflecting deficiencies in meeting the requirements.

(2¢) “Student learning outcomes” means the achievement of expected knowledge, skills, and

attributes demonstrated by students at course and program levels. Student learning outcomes are

measured in classroom and experiential settings and are reported in individual and aggregate formats,

including retention and graduation rates, performance on licensure and certification examinations, and

employment rates.

) (hh) “Transfer student” means one who is permitted to apply nursing courses completed at another

institution to a nursing edueation program of study.

o6n. iva odneation-conrcein-which-the-s
SOPCTattvy T otuTatIoirootot -y ot ott

{aa) “‘XTn.J ctds?lmean
A7)

P
Oric-otaay ——mnialic

thronch-on +Lm Al neaotienlwworle experience—Worl nh,Au chall nat s
pnuEy Uu611 IO AvAvy 1JL ATTIVOT VY ULIX \JAtI\JJ, TOUTTOVT VY UL WITOIITITTOLY

@
e

education program-courses: (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1 129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119;

effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended Nov. 7, 2008; amended P-

)

~141-




60-2-101. Requirements for initial approval. (a) Administration and organization.

(1) Fhe Each institution wanting to offer a nursing eduestion program or-the-institution-ef-which-itisa-
part shall be a legally constituted body. The controlling body shall be responsible for general policy and shall
provide for the financial supbort of the nursing edueation program.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the nursing edueation program shall be vested in
the nurse administrator of the nursing edueation program.

(3) The nursing program shall be accredited, be part of an institution that is accredited, or be in the
process of being accredited by an agency that is approved by the United States department of education.

(b) Application. Each new-er-eonverted proposed nursing edueation program shall submit an initial
application at least 60 days before a scheduled board meeting. The application shall iﬁclude the following:

(1) The course of study and credential to be conferred,

(2) the name and title of the administrator of the nursing edueation program;

(3) the name of the controlling body;

(4) the name and title of the administrator of the controlling body;

(5) all sources of financial support;

(6) aproposed curriculum, as specified in K.A.R. 60-2-104, with the total number of hours of both
theoretical and élinical instruction;

(7) the number, qualifications, and assignments of faculty members;

(8) aproposed date of initial admission of students to the nursing program;

(9) the number of admissiens times students are to be admitted each year and the proposed number of

students per admission;
(10) the admission requirements;
(11) a description of the clinical facilities;

(12) copies of the current school bulletin or catalog;

-142-



K.A.R. 60-2-101
Page 2

(13) the name of each hospital and affiliating agency providing facilities for clinical experience. Each
sueh hospital and affiliating agency shall be licensed, accredited, or approved by the appropriate entity

or-entities licensing or certifying body; and

(14) signed-contraets a contractual agreement or letters letter from each clinical faeilities facility

stating that they the clinical facility will provide clinical experiences for the nursing program’s

students:; and

(15) for each applicant with any existing nursing programs, the following:

(A) The nursing program outcomes; and

(B) any nursing program outcomes not meeting the stated benchmark. If any outcomes are not meeting

the stated benchmark, a new nursing program shall not be approved.
(c) Surveys or site visits. Each nursing edueatien program shall be-surveyed have a survey or site

visit for initial approval by the board. An-en-site A survey or site visit shall be conducted by the board to
validate information submitted in the program’s initial application before granting initial approval.

(1) During an initial survey or site visit, the nurse administrator of the nursing program shall make
available the following:

(A) Administrators, prospective faculty and students, clinical facility representatives, and support
services personnel to discuss the nursing edueation program,

(B) minutes of faculty meetings;

(C) faculty and student handbooks;

(D) policies and procedures;

(B) curriculum materials;

(F) a copy of the nursing edueation program's budget; and

(G) affiliatingageney ég_c_h contractual agreements: agreement; and

(H) a program evaluation plan that addresses compliance with the nurse practice act and board

-143-




K.AR. 60-2-101
Page 3

regulations.
(2) The nurse administrator of the nursing edueation program or designated personnel shall take the
survey or site visit team to inspect the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities

and library facilities.

(3) Upon completion of the survey or site visit, the nurse nursing program administrator shall be

asked to correct any inaccurate statements contained in the survey or site visit report, limiting comments to
errors, unclear statements, and omissions.

(d) Approval. Each nursing edueatien program seeking approval shall perform the following:

(1) Submit a progress report that includes the following:

(A) Updated information is on all areas identified in the initial application;

(B) the current number of admissions and enrollments;

(C) the current number of qualified faculty; and

(D) detailed course syllabi; and

(2) have a survey or site visit conducted by the board’s survey or site visit team after the first graduation.

(e) Denial of approval. If a nursing edueation program fails to meet the requirements of the board
within a designated period of time, the nursing program shall be notified by the board's designee of the
board's intent to deny approval. (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective
Jan. 1, 1966, amended Jan. 1, 1968; amended Jan. 1, 1972; amended Jan. 1, 1973; amended, E-74-29, July
1, 1974; modified L. 1975, Ch. 302; Sec. 2; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 396, Sec. 1, May 1, 1975; amended

May 1, 1987, amended April 4, 1997; amended June 14, 2002; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended Nov. 7,

2008; amended April 29, 2016; amended P- )

-144-



60-2-102. Reapproval requirements. (a) Based on the annual report, each nursing edueation program shall

be reviewed for approval annuélly by the board and pay an annual fee to the board specified in K.A.R. 60-4-

103.

(b) Each resurvey approval of a nursing edueation program shall be valid for not more than 10 years. If

the nursing program is accredited by a national nursing accreditation agency, the resurvey next survey er-site

visit may be made in coordination with a national nursing accreditation agency visit. Each nursing program

without national nursing accreditation shall be-resurveyed have a survey or-site visit every five years.

(c) A-resurvey-or An unannounced survey er-site-visit may be conducted at any time other than a
scheduled survey ersite visit if the board determines that there is consistent-evidence reflecting deficiencies
any deficiency in meeting the requirements or the board is determining whether or not defieieneies-have any
deficiency has been corrected by a nursing program on conditional approval status.

(d) The-deficiencies Any deficiency sufficient to warrant action by the board shall include the
deficiencies specified in subsections (¢) through (h). Failure to correct any deficiency within the prescribed
period may result in the board's placement of the nursing program on conditional approval or may result in
loss of approval.

(e) (1) If the first-time candidates in a nursing education program have an annual pass rate on the

licensure examination of less than 75 80 percent for twe-conseeutive-years one year, the nursing program

shall receive a written notice of concern from the board.

(2) The nursing edueation program shall have three months after the date of the written notice of concern
to submit a written report analyzing all aspects of the education nursing program, identifying areas
contributing to the pass rate and the nursing program's plan of action to improve the pass rate. The nursing
program shall have one year after the date of the written notice to demonstrate evidence of implementing
strategies to correct deficieneies any deficiency to bring the pass rate up to at least the 75 80 percent

criterion.

~145-




K.A.R. 60-2-102
Page 2

(3) If the nursing edueation program has an annual pass rate of less than 75 80 percent for three two
consecutive years, the nursing program may receive a site-visit survey for evaluation and recommendation

and be placed on conditional approval. The nurse administrator of the nursing program shall appear before

the board and present an analysis of the measures taken and an analysis of the reasons for the_nursing

program's pass rate below 75 80 percent.

(4) If the nursing program has an annual pass rate of less than 80 percent for three consecutive years for

first-time candidates, the nursing program’s pass rate shall go to the board for review. The nursing program

may be directed by the board to cease admissions.

(f) A nursing program that is accredited by a national nursing accrediting agency and is subsequently
placed on warning or whose accreditation by the national nursing accreditation agency is withdrawn shall be
scheduled immediately for a survey ezsite visit.

(g) Failure to meet the requirements of the education statutes and regulations shall result in action by the

board.

(h) Each complaint involving eduecational education statutes and regulations reported to board members
or staff shall initiate an investigation by the board and may require a survey etsite visit, depending on the
seriousness and number of complaints.

(i) The nurse administrator of the nursing edueation program shall make the following information
available during each survey ersite visit:

(1) Data about the nursing program, including the following:

(A) The number of students;

(B) the legal body responsible for policy and support of the nursing program;

(C) the organizational chart;

(D) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and

expenditures;

~146-



K.A.R. 60-2-102
Page 3

(2) the nurse administrator'srespensibilities has the primary responsibility and adequate time for

effective and continuous program oversight including:

(A) verification that the nursing program complies with KSBN regulations

(B) assurance that program and educational outcomes are met

(C) assessment of and recommendations for material, human and clinical resources for effective

program implementation

(D) _collaboration with faculty for continuous program improvement

(3) for each faculty member and preceptor, the following information:

(A) Job descriptions;

(B) selection policies;

(C) orientation plan;

(D) faculty organization by-laws;

(E) number of full-time and part-time faculty and non-nursing faculty with academic credentials and
assignments; and

(F) faculty-student clinical ratio;

(4) degree plan, if applicable;

(5) a copy of the current curriculum with the date of last revision;

(6) the testing process with test analysis and the written test procedure;

(7) a description of education facilities, including classrooms, offices, library, and computers;

(8) a list of clinical facilities;

(9) the number of students by classes; and

(10) the policies for students as listed in K.A.R. 60-2-107.

(j) During each resurvey survey or-site-visit, the nurse administrator of the nursing education program

shall make available the following:

-147-




K.AR. 60-2-102
Page 4

(1) The educational institution's administrators, faculty, support services personnel, and students;
(2) staff members of selected affiliating agencies;

(3) faculty minutes for at least the three previous years;

(4) faculty and student handbooks;

(5) student records;

(6) policies and procedures;

(7) curriculum materials;

(8) a copy of the nursing edueation program's audited fiscal report covering the previous two years,

including income and expenditures;

(9) affiliating-ageney contractual agreements;

(10) program evaluation plan and evidence of nursing program effectiveness, which shall address

compliance with the nurse practice act and board regulations: and

(11) the school’s current catalog.

(k) The nurse administrator of the nursing eduecation program or designated personnel shall take the
survey er-site visit team to the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities, library
facilities, and clinical agencies.

() Upon completion of the survey er-site visit, the nurse administrator shall be asked to correct any
inaccurate statements contained in the survey er-site-visit report, limiting comments to errors, unclear
statements, and omissions.

(m) If a nursing edueation program fails to meet the requirements of the board within a designated

period of time, the nursing program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to deny

reapproval.

~148-



K.AR. 60-2-102
Page 5

(n) The parent institution shall be responsible for securing and providing for the permanent custody and

storage of records of all students and graduates. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A.

65-1118a-and 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997, amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended Nov. 7, 2008; amended P-

)

~149-




60-2-103. Administrator, faculty, and preceptor qualifications. () Professional nursing edueation

programs.
(1) Each nurse faculty member shall be licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.
(2) Each preceptor shall meet the following requirements:
(A) Be licensed as a registered professional nurse in the state in which the individual is currently
practicing nursing; and
(B) complete a preceptor orientations-which-shall-inelude that includes information about the factors

influeneing pedagogical aspects of the student-preceptor relationship and course information.

(3) Each nursing program shall have a written plan that includes the method of selection of preceptors,
the roles of the faculty members and preceptors, and the methods of contact between faculty members and
preceptors during the preceptorship.

(4) Each nurse faculty member shall have academic preparation and experience as follows:

(A) The dedicated nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the
nursing edueatien program shall have had successful experience in administration or teaching and shall have

a graduate degree. The program administrator shall have sufficient administrative time and support to

achieve and maintain positive program/student outcomes. Each person who is hired as a nurse administrator

after-July 151999 shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for any person whose graduate degree is
was conferred on or before July 1, 1999.

(B) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate
degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member after July1;-2001 shall have a graduate degree
in nursing, preferably in the clinical area being taught, except for any person whose graduate degree is was

conferred before July 1, 2001.
(C) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a graduate degree or

provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a graduate degree. Each person who is

-150-



K.AR. 60-2-103
Page 2

hired as a nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction afterJuly-1;-2001 shall meet one of the
following requirements:

(i) Have a graduate degree in nursing, preferably in the clinical area being taught, except for any person
whose graduate degree is was conferred on or before July 1, 2001; or

(ii) provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a graduate degree with-the
sraduate-degree-to-be in nursing 4

(b) Practical nursing edueation programs.

(1) Each nurse faculty member shall be licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.

(2) Each nurse faculty member shall have academic preparation and experience as follows:

(A) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the nursing
education program shall have had successful experience in administration or teaching and shall have a
graduate degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse administrator after July1;1999 shall have a graduate
degree in nursing, except for any person whose graduate degree is was conferred on or before July 1, 1999.

(B) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a baccalaureate

A

degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member afterJuly1-2001 shall have a baccalaureate or

"higher degree in nursing, except for any person whose degree is was conferred on or before July 1, 2001.

(C) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a baccalaureate degree
or provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a baccalaureate degree. Each person
who is hired as a nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction afterJuly1;2001 shall meet one
of the following requirements: |

(i) Have a baccalaureate or higher degree in nursing, except for any person whose degree is was

conferred on or before July 1, 2001; or

(ii) provide to the board a faculty degree plan that projects completion of a baccalaureate or higher

degree;with-the-degree-te-be in nursing i

=151~




K.A.R. 60-2-103
Page 3

(c)(1) For each nursing edueation program, each nurse administrator shall submit to the board the
following:

(A) A faculty qualification report for each faculty member newly employed. Faculty with a continuing
appointment shall have an appropriate degree;

(B) a faculty degree plan reflecting completion of the degree within six years for each instructor without
the appropriate degree. Upon completion of the degree, a transcript showing completion of the program shall
be submitted to the board; and

(C) notification and a rationale for each faculty member who is not following the degree plan as
submitted.

(2) The nurse administrator may request a faculty hire exception to be approved by the board's
professional staff, if faculty meeting the criteria specified in this regulation are not available, by providing
documentation of the following:

(A) A lack of qualified applicants;

(B) a rationale for the need to hire the applicant;

(C) the applicant's qualifications; and

(D) a plan for faculty recruitment. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 2061-Supp-

65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended P- )

-152-



60-2-104. Curriculum requirements. (a) The faculty in each nursing edueation program shall develop a

curriculum to meet program and graduate student Jearning outcomes and fulfil-these meet the following

requirements:

(1) Identify the competencies of the graduate for the level of nursing practice;
(2) determine the approach and content for learning experiences;

(3) direct clinical instruction as an integral part of the program; and

(4) provide for learning experiences of the depth and scope needed to fulfill the objectives or student
learning outcomes ef for nursing courses.

(b) The curriculum in each nursing edueation program shall include the following:

(1) Content in the biological, physical, social, and behavioral sciences that provides a foundation for safe
and effective nursing practice;

(2) the art and science of nursing; and

(3) didactic content and clinical experience to meet the objectives or student learning outcomes specified in
subsection (c) or (d).

(c) Each professional nursing program shall provide instruction and clinical learning experience in the
following areas:

(1) The aspects of a safe, effective care environment, including the management of care, safety, and
infection control;

(2) health promotion and maintenance, including growth and development through the life span and
prevention and early detection of disease;

(3) psychosocial integrity, including coping, adaptation, and psychosocial adaptation; and

(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacology, parenteral therapies, reduction

of risk potential, and physiological adaptation.

-153-




K.AR. 60-2-104
Page 2

(d) Each practical nursing program shall provide instruction and clinical learning experience in the
following areas:

(1) The aspects of a safe, effective care environment, including the coordination of care, safety, and
infection control;

(2) health promotion and maintenance, including growth and development through the life span and
prevention and early detection of disease;

(3) psychosocial integrity, including coping, adaptation, and psychosocial adaptation; and

(4) physiological integrity, including basic care and comfort, pharmacology, reduction of risk potential, and
physiological adaptation; and

(5) intravenous fluid therapy, including, at minimum, didactic, supervised laboratory or supervised clinical

practice as specified in K.A R, 60-16-104 and amendments thereto.

(¢) Minimum-length-of program-
(1) Each practical nursing edueation program shall have a-minimnum-of at least 15 credit hours in nursing

courses or the equivalent in clock-hours.

(2) Each professional nursing edueation program shall have a-minisaum-of at least 30 credit hours in the
nursing major.

(f) The faculty in each nursing edueation program shall develop and implement a writter program

evaluation plan thatmeets-the-following requirements:

(g) Each nursing edueation program shall submit major curriculum revisions for approval by the board at
least 30 days before the board meetings. The nursing program shall have received board approval before

implementation. Major curriculum revisions shall include the following:

~154-



K.AR. 60-2-104
Page 3

(1) Any change in the plan of nursing curriculum organization involving philosophy, number of semesters
of study, or the delivery method of nursing courses;

2) any change in content requiring a change of clock-hours or credit hours in nursing courses; and

(3) any change in the number of students to be admitted to the nursing edueation program.

(h) Each nursing edueation program shall submit sminer other curriculum revisions of a course's content,

title, objectives, or outcomes to the board's education specialist for approvals. which-shall- bereceived-by The

nursing program before-implementation shall not implement revisions before receiving approval from the

board’s education specialist. The information specified in this subsection shall be submitted in writing with the

annual report.

i

(i) The nurse administrator shall submit to the board office each change netrequiringbeard-approval under

subsection (g) or (h). The Fhis-information in (h) shall be submitted in writing with the annual report.

(j) Each nursing edueation program shall have an articulation plan. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129;

implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended Nov. 7, 2008;

amended P- )

-155-




60-2-105. Clinical resources. (a) Whritten Each contractual agreements-between-the-nursingedueation
program-and-each-affiliating-ageney agreement shall be sigred-and kept on file in the nursing edueatien program

office.

(b) Clinical learning experiences and sites shall be selected to provide learning opportunities necessary to

achieve the-nursing edueation program-objectives-or student learning outcomes.

(c) The faculty of each nursing edueation program shall be responsible for student learning outcomes and
evaluation in the clinical area.

(d) The nursing edueation program shall provide verification that each affiliating agency used for clinical
instruction has clinical facilities that are adequate for the number of students served in terms of space,
equipment, and other necessary resources, including an adequate number of patients or clients necessary to meet

the nursing program objectives or outcomes.

(e) A maximum of a 1:10 faculty-to-student ratio;-ineluding students-at observational-sites; shall be

maintained during the clinical learning experience and the clinical observational experience.

(f) Clinical-observational-experiences:

(1) The objectives or student learning outcomes for each clinical observational experience shall reflect

observation rather than participation in nursing interventions.
(2) Affiliating agencies in which clinical observational experiences take place shall not be required to be

staffed by registered nurses.

(3) Clinical observational experiences shall constitute no more than 15 perbent of the total elinieal hours for

the clinical course;unless-approved-by-the-beard.

(4) Simulation experiences shall constitute no more than 50 percent of the total hours for the clinical course.

(g) Clinical learning experiences with preceptors shall be no more than 20 percent of the total clinical hours
of the nursing edueation program. This prohibition shall not apply to the capstone course.

(h) Each affiliating agency used for clinical instruction shall be staffed independently of student

-156-



K.AR. 60-2-105
Page 2

assignments.

(i) The number of affiliating agencies used for clinical learning experiences and clinical observational

experiences shall be adequate for meeting curriculum objectives er and student learning outcomes. The nursing
education program faculty shall provide the affiliating agency staff with the organizing curriculum framework

and either objectives or and student learning outcomes for clinical learning experiences and clinical

observational experiences used.

(j) A sufficient number and variety of patients representing all age groups shall be utilized to provide
clinical learning experiences that meet curriculum objectives or outcomes. If more than one nursing education

program uses the same affiliating agency, the nursing edueation programs shall document the availability of

appropriate clinical learning experiences for all students. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing

K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended March 6, 2009; amended P-

)

~157-




60-2-106. Educational facilities. (a) Classrooms, laboratories, and conference rooms shall be available when
needed and shall be adequate in size, number, and type according to the number of students and the educational
purposes for which the rooms are to be used.

(b) Each nursing edueation program shall provide the following:

(1) A physical facility that is safe and is conducive to learning;

(2) offiees space for counseling students in private that are is available and adequate in size; and number;

(3) secure space for nursing student records; and

(4) current technological resources and student support services for online or distance learning if online or

distance learning is provided.

(c) The library resources, instructional media, and materials shall be of sufficient recency, pertinence, level
of content, and quantity as indicated by the curriculum to meet the needs of nursing students and faculty and

shall be available to online or distance learning students. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing

K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended March 6, 2009; amended P-

)

~158~



60-2-107. Student policies. () Each nursing edueation program shall have clearly defined written student
policies for the following:

(1) Admission:

(A) Generic students;

(B) transfer students; and

(C) articulation;

(2) oral and written English proficiency in-referenece-te as specified in K.A.R. 60-3-106;

(3) readmission;

(4) progression criteria;

(5) counseling and guidance;

(6) the difference between the student role ersus and the employee role;

(7) representation on faculty governance;

(8) graduation;

(9) refund policies governing all fees and tuition paid by students; and

(10) ethical practices for the performance of activities including recruitment, admission, and advertising.
(b) Each nursing edueation program shall have a written policy providing information to any-stadent

who-may-be-subjeetto all students regarding licensure denial uader pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1120, and

amendments thereto. The information shall be provided to each student before admission to the nursing

education program. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 65-1129; implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4,

1997; amended Nov. 7, 2008; amended P- J

-159-




60-2-108. Reports. (a) An annual report and all applicable fees shall be submitted to the board by each
nursing edueation program on or before June 30 of each year. and Each report shall include the following;

(1) Changes in the nursing program policies, organizing curriculum framework, objectives or outcomes,
and major and minor curriculum changes;

(2) faculty responsibilities for required and elective nursing courses;

(3) for each facility member, the name, license number, academic credentials, employment date, and fall-
full-time or part-time status-ef-each-member-of the-faculty;

(4) for each preceptor, the name, license number, academic credentials, current clinical area of practice, and
place where currently employed;

(5) the nurse administrator's teaching responsibilities;

(6) for each affiliating agency, the following information:

(A) The name;

(B) the location; and

(C) the student-faculty clinical ratio for the reporting period;

(7) statistics for generic, articulation, and transfer students, including the following;:

(A) Admissions, readmissions, withdrawals, and graduations; and

(B) first-time pass rate for each of the last five years;

(8) faculty statistics, including name;number,-and-credentials hiring, retention, and separation;

(9) the budget spent for library and audiovisual acquisitions to support the nursing program for the most

recent year;

(10) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and

expenditures;

(11) any complaints involving educational statutes and regulations;

-160-



K.A.R. 60-2-108
Page 2

(12) a response to the recommendations and requirements from the last annual report or last survey or site
visit;

(13) any plans for the future, including proposed changes to the nursing program;

(14) a description of the practices used to safeguard the health and well-being of students;-and

(15) a copy of the school’s current catalogs;

(16) the total number of library holdings and number of holdings regarding nursing;

(17) a list of the theory courses and the clinical courses in the curriculum; and

(18) statistics for each clinical course, including the following:

(A) Total number of hours;

(B) total number of clinical observation experience hours;

(C) total number of precepted hours; and

(D) total number of simulation experience hours.

(b) If the nursing edueation program fails to meet the requirements of the board or to submit required

reports within a designated period of time, the nursing program shall be remeved notified and given the

opportunity for a hearing regarding the board’s intent to remove the nursing program from the list of approved

- (Authorized by

and K.S.A. 65-1129: implementing K.S.A. 65-1119; effective April 4, 1997; amended Jan. 24, 2003; amended

Nov. 7, 2008; amended P- )

-161-




LMHT program

60-5-102 Approval procedure

60-5-103 Discontinuing a program for mental health
technical program

60-6-101 Definitions
60-6-102 Requirements for initial approval

60-6-103 Administrator, faculty, and preceptor
qualifications

60-6-104 Curriculum requirements
60-6-105 Clinical resources
60-6-106 Educational facilities
60-6-107 Student policies
60-6-108 Report

60-6-109 Reapproval requirements

-162-



60-5-102. Approval procedure. A= A Each institution contemplating the-establishment-ef wanting to

establish a programfor mental health technicians technician program shall meet the following requirements:

1 (a) Shall-write-aletter-ofintent-to-the Kansas-state File with the board efaussing: an application for an

approved mental health technician program at least two months before a scheduled board meeting with the

payment of any required fees. Submit with the application a detailed proposed three-year budget, curriculum

plan, list of prospective faculty, organizational chart, mental health technician program objectives or outcomes,

student and faculty policies, program evaluation plan, and for each clinical facility, a contractual agreement;

2. (b) Shall submit the name and qualifications of the nurse administrator to the board efnursing for
approvalz;
3. (c) Shall employ a qualified nurse administrators;

4. (d) Shall employ a second faculty members;

5: () Shs
opening date-with-the-payment-of any required foes: have financial resources for faculty, other necessary

personnel, equipment, supplies, counseling and other services;

6: () Shallreceive-in-writing the-decision-of the-beard: have adequate clinical and educational facilities to

meet student learning outcomes; and

7. (g) Shall-be-approved prierto receive approval before the admission of any students. (Authorized by

K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 65-4201-et-seqs, K.S.A. 1974 2017 Supp. 74-1106 et-seqs; implementing K.S.A. 65-

4206; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 6, May 1, 1975; amended P- )

-163-—




60-5-103. Discontinuing a pregram-for mental health teehnicians technician program. A-pregram Each

institution terminating its eeurse mental health technician program shall submit fer-appreval to the board the

plan for students currently enrolled and the disposition of records. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-

4203 65-4201-etseqg:, K.S.A. 1974 2017 Supp. 74-1106 etseq:; implementing K.S.A. 65-4207; effective

May 1, 1975; amended P- D

~164-



60-6-101. Reguirements Definitions. :

(1) _The oedueational-B » tha inctitution-ofwhich-itis-a-parts allhe o leoallvconstituted-body: a
\L, A TINS UUU\I“LIUAL“‘ lJl\JBLu-lL,l U,l. L2 98~ LLLOLIL\AKJ.U&L AV UM A B S H L) S G 4 o b ) ym\. WILTATT OV @ AVB“IAJ COUTIOTITGRUWAT UU\J] . L IIW
1 Ling hadu chall be racnencible-for ceneral-policv-and-sha Hprovide Lrr tha financislaunsortofthe
T \Jllllls (viwivy AIOTITUNW AUQPULLUL\JAV PRV} Y 5\/11\11 arx y\JlAVJ XECE uxquA tJ VAW UL TInw J.uu—uxvu«u Q\/Lt_ltl pwsun \IL v
9\ Authoritu and-recnoncibilibvefor adiminictaring the nracram-chall be sractad in tha diractarofthe
\La} rs LULIIUALLJ TAIIY AUOPUALOIULILLJ TUY uuxu.u.;Lo»\uxu.e LI l.l]. v&nuux wITa I OOV VoLV ITY IR PAVIRC S S U IVIAWI WLV AR 28 L)
1 . 1 .
1 li for mial hanlth fachnician-nros Lach facnltmembershall vathe nacacantts
(&2 bl- A\ A2 A= LL\J\JUUU“IJ

(e Eae me
(C)—ravuttytox mentarHeartitCeeHicidir P U&A ams—Eact Tavuity mRember-sianit

71\ _Tha directar aftha educational-unit-shall-be-licens ad ta-nractice-as-aresistered-pro nfaccional-nirce-in
VI} PR UATIRV ¥S RV Ry UL TV VvOau \J 1\111“1 HIITT OITGIT OV IIV l.l.u\l\.«l TP HL“ TV L) ul\dblub\l WA IJA OTOOSTUTIO T TIUT OV 11T
ae and chall he recnoncible-forthe-developmenta nd 1mnla niation of the educational-vroors The
bR enueIsnnposgivaEn VeI s W v A lvﬂyULLQLUAV TOUT LIV Aavy \/L\ltl,lllvllb ux;u. LJXLPLVIL&VLLLLLLLUAL AV WEASAVARIU S CAVIS IS VID A Y tll Ua& I LI .
Awm«rm« holl hasa a bhacealanreate-decrea—sueccessiil Avramencoinadminicteation-ortfeachin nd-atleast-two
TN LUL uuuxn TIavVeo T oavevaiaugl WL \‘VE‘. \JV, (erivieiwiuleigvyy VAPVLL\/ALUU pevy uullljlllﬂb&ubl\lll \Jl LU“VLALJL&, l—lu\.L\al- arIoaQor iy

(N _Each-inctraetori ol health-+ 1 raoram._chall meat of loact one-ofthe-followins
\I vil 6

i ent o17-HED
=7 A_zu.v.u HmSstractor-in a-mentar-ieditt vaxu.u.vxux.l Progratiisnai ot [Zapiviete OOt ooy

cinnal nrrcain X aneacand-hax ve-at leasttwo

acictarad-nrofes
vaxut\.u Tt l‘“ FOFeSStonarfutrsSe-Hi H“aRSaS-ana-aay

(D ha Leoncad ta nractice aca licensed-mental ealth-technician and hava.at laact fiva xragrg nart
(I Do RS vUIU pidutivy Ay COIS T O IO T TV LY u.t\u Sai-ana A ve-driPaot-rv Oy Lato U U U VIV
wnctlicancare. Tuwevearsofworlcexperience-shall-be waived forthosa licensedm o1l haolth tachnicignis
POSTITtIouUrcTITwY a0y onT U pUritiv oot U watvea-fror-tnose Hicensea luvxxu,u p3avies uL TOUIIITIaTny

12\ _Each inctrietarinthe behavioral-sciencess A1l hauve onrmad anacademie-desree-with-appropriate

\CY) SR SHrUctor-H1tRe- e Vo a STt RTTL Ao VO UatTivat g Cd I Ougrov—vwWwitiirGp pt tl.llubv

-165-




K.AR. 60-6-101
Page 2

-166—



K.AR. 60-6-101
Page 3

\ Davehintrie +knvnﬂo,.+'nw atmant Thicconrechall include-in ercanalrala chine neuvchoanathole
1 val.lu!-l.lv l«lLVLLI.tJ wulliv IAUM‘JLLULLL- EITTS U GT O WITOI T IIICTOUN JALLUIPULOUAL(J-L LULuLlULIdLlAva, HOJ l,l\ltl“bll.\.llu&]

ad olaccificatione_copinsmecha inntion cleille thaeranentie-modali 10 anecialrepno
fesyies \JLuQ A3 .quLLULlQ, Vuylllb AL&U\JLI“ALL\)ALL\J, VULLLILL“IL&V“LLULL \JL\[AAO, CIINT wl.l UiV ALLU\J(—I-IJLAUQ, “A,l yvv;t—u PRV VAV LllLa T

D
L

A huthe basrd _and-snpropriate-contractialasreem nicchall b
I

e, X L. a a a
COUy b ooura; i utltl.l\.ltlllub\l COIIIaotuar u5l.vvu¢v11l.u Shat ©

() _Each ocliniealarea-used-for ctudant learnineexneriencesshall be-staffe A v aneane cordee-independent
& —=avix criearare oAVl apuvie otuu\ulb CarTil g VX pot 1eReeS-SAa-Be-5tdredr Ty OO ovIvIvY J.u.uul.l\uxu\au.

£ o racicterad

() _Tach oliniealunitused-for adieationalnurnosesshall-be nnAnv tha direct cHNEEVISION-©
\CoaE =2 S Car-HRTuotU-—10Or equcationat lJuu.t}uovu SHg-oe- RO tHe- Gttt upulvioroimu T 4 CTETotIT
1\ A deissi e _chall bove elasilvdefined-nolicies-for admission
AV E-Crlarry GUInTvtpUIioiby For-aaiission:

L an-Each -y
T GHRTSSTIOn At tuus Fa-Saatt

: Aiac enancarnine-eredit-for
TCIVAS VULLVUALL“L& \vauwivsepavyy

rlxr defined-x

no
Ly ST vvJ.ALu.uL P

(N _Cradit fo T-DreVIous cindu Each nracram-challhave cles
{Z-ctealro-provivus stasy= HRCH-Progransiarrady ool

2

Thaconaliciacs chall conform-to-the-po alicies-of
AtS—AEeSe poITIUs T SOOI To TNt pUntity UL

tone-chidsy ofar.oferedite—and-x ot
A\

nraxry o Q
o ou.&u'y, transter-or-cr UUA\.O [2z¥4=a Avuuxxxxuuxuxx OF-Stth

ProvT

(D

Lo institution.

Lo _Bualuatio A rittan nlan for niin mraorarmevaluation-shall be Ammimmfl nd imanloamented-
p =y vuAuu.u.\.Lu. Fa VVAlLLVLL 1}1“11 .LUA \J\Jlllvljlullls tll \Jel AUy araauroll IOV OV W va\al- u.uu LllltJL\/ALLVLLLV\J.

Each of the following terms, as used in this article and article 5 of the board’s regulations, shall have the

meaning specified in this regulation:

(a) “Affiliating agency” means a hospital or an agency that cooperates with the mental health technician

program to provide facilities and clinical resources for selected student experiences.

(b) “Approval” means the status oranted by the board to a mental health technician program that provides

evidence of both of the following:

~167-




K.AR. 60-6-101
Page 4

(1) The mental health technician program is operating on a sound educational basis that is consistent with

the board’s educational requirements as specified in the nurse practice act and the board’s regulations.

(2) The mental health technician program has no deficiencies.

“Clinical learning experience > means an active process in which the student participates in nursing and

mental health technician activities while being guided by a member of the faculty.

(d) “Clinical observational experience” means the process in which the student views health care

interventions but does not participate in the interventions. Affiliating agency personnel shall be responsible for

patient care. However, a student may use any of the five senses while with the patient for the sole purpose of

observing while the agency professional who has assessed and provided care to the patient supports the student.

The instructor shall not be required to be present, but the students shall be included in the faculty-student ratio.

(e) “Conditional approval” means the limited-time status that the board imposes on an approved mental

health technician program if the board finds evidence that the mental health technician program has failed to

comply with education requirements specified in the nurse practice act and the board’s regulations. When placed

on conditional approval, the mental health technician program may be directed by the board to cease admissions.

(f) “Contractual agreement” means a written contract or letter signed by the legal representatives for the

mental health technician program and the affiliating agency.

(g) “Criteria for unscheduled survey or site visit” means indications that the mental health technician

program possibly is not meseting board standards.

(h) “Debriefing” means an activity that follows a simulation experience and is led by a facilitator.

Participants’ reflective thinking is encouraged and feedback is provided regarding the participants’ performance

while various aspects of the completed simulation are discussed. Participants are encouraged to explore

emotions and question, reflect, and provide feedback to one another in order to facilitate the transfer of learning

to future situations.

~168-



K.A.R. 60-6-101
Page 5

(i) “Initial approval” means the approval period from the first admission of mental health technician

students to the mental health technician program through the first full implementation of the curriculum and

graduation.

(i) “Loss of approval” means the status that results when the board withdraws its approval of a mental

health technician program.

(k) “Online or distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledge and skills through information and

instruction provided by means of a variety of technologies.

(1) “Preceptor” means a registered professional nurse or licensed mental health technician supervising a

student in the clinical setting. The preceptor provides oversight of the student’s patients and gives feedback to

the student and clinical instructor. The mental health technician program faculty shall not be required to be in

the affiliating agency’s facilities but shall be immediately available.

(m) “Program evaluation plan” means a mental health technician program’s written systematic

methodology or plan for measuring and analyzing student learning outcomes and program outcomes against

defined standards and timelines to determine effectiveness and provide for ongoing mental health technician

program improvement.

(n) “Refresher course” means an educational program for mental health technicians whose licenses are

inactive or have lapsed for more than five years.

(0) “Simulation” means a teaching strategy utilizing technology to replace or amplify clinical situations

with euided experiences that evoke or replicate substantial aspects of the real world in a fully interactive

manner.

(p) “Survey or site visit” means an in-person assessment of all components of a mental health technician

program to validate information submitted by the mental health technician program or to follow up on the

board’s determination that there is consistent evidence reflecting deficiencies in meeting the requirements.

-169-




K.A.R. 60-6-101
Page 6

(q) “Student learning outcomes” means the achievement of expected knowledge, skills, and attributes

demonstrated by students at course and mental health technician program levels. Student learning outcomes are

measured in classroom and experiential settings and are reported in individual and aggregate formats, including

retention and graduation rates, performance on licensure and certification examinations, and employment rates.

(Authorized by K.S.A. 1998-Supp-—65-4206 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing

K.S.A. 1998-Supp- 65-4206; modified, L. 1975, Ch. 302, Sec. 7, May 1, 1975; amended March 31, 2000;

amended P- 2

-170-



60-6-102. Requirements for initial approval. (a) Administration and organization.

(1) Each institution wanting to offer a mental health technician program shall be a legally constituted body.
The controlling body shall be responsible for general policy and shall provide for the financial support of the
mental health technician program.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the mental health technician program shall be vested in
the administrator of the mental health technician program.

(3) Each institution shall be approved by the appropriate state agency.

(b) Application. Each proposed mental health technician program shall submit an initial application at least
60 days before a scheduled board meeting. The application shall include the following:

(1) The name and title of the administrator of the mental health technician program;

(2) the name of the controlling body;

(3) the name and title of the administrator of the controlling body;

(4) all sources of financial support;

(5) a proposed curriculum, as specified in K.A.R. 60-6-104, with the total number of hours of both
theoretical and clinical instruction;

(6) the number, qualifications, and assignments of faculty members;

(7) a proposed date of initial admission of students to the mental health technician program;

(8) the number of times students are to be admitted each year and the proposed number of students per
admission;

(9) the admission requirements;

(10) a description of the clinical facilities;

(11) the name of each hospital or affiliating agency providing facilities for clinical learning experiences and
clinical observational experiences. Each hospital and affiliating agency shall be licensed, accredited, or

approved by the appropriate licensing or certifying body; and

~171-




K.AR. 60-6-102
Page 2

(12) a contractual agreement from each clinical facility stating that the clinical facility will provide clinical
learning experiences and clinical observational experiences for the mental health technician program’s students.

(¢) Site visit. Each mental health technician program shall be surveyed for initial approval by the board. A
site visit shall be conducted by the board to validate information submitted in the mental health technician
program’s initial application before granting initial approval.

(1) During an initial site visit, the administrator of the mental health technician program shall make
available the following:

(A) Administrators, prospective faculty and students, clinical facility representatives, and support services
personnel to discuss the mental health technician program;

(B) minutes of faculty meetings;

(C) faculty and student handbooks;

(D) policies and procédures;

(E) curriculum materials;

(F) a copy of the mental health technician program’s budget;

(G) each contractual agreement; and

(H) a program evaluation plan that addresses compliance with the mental health technician licensure act and
board regulations.

(2) The administrator of the mental health technician program or designated personnel shall take the site
visit team to inspect the educational facilities, including satellite program facilities and library facilities.

(3) Upon completion of the site visit, the mental health technician program administrator shall be asked to
correct any inaccurate statements contained in the site visit report, limiting comments to errors, unclear
statements, and omissions.

(d) Approval. Each mental health technician program seeking approval shall perform the following:

(1) Submit a progress report that includes the following:

-172-



K.A.R. 60-6-102
Page 3

(A) Updated information on all areas identified in the initial application;

(B) the current number of admissions and enrollments;

(C) the current number of qualified faculty; and

(D) detailed course syllabi; and

(2) have a site visit conducted by the board’s site visit team after the first graduation.

(e) Denial of approval. If a mental health technician program fails to meet the requirements of the board
within a designated period of time, the mental health technician program shall be notified by the board’s

designee of the intent to deny approval. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106; implementing

K.S.A. 65-4206 and 65-4207; effective P- )

-173-




60-6-103. Administrator, faculty, and preceptor qualifications. (a)(1) The administrator of the mental
health technician program shall be licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in Kansas and shall be
responsible for the development and implementation of the mental health technician program. The administrator
shall have a baccalaureate degree, successful experience in administration or teaching, and at least two years of
experience in psychiatric or developmental disability nursing.

(2) Each faculty member in a mental health technician program shall meet at least one of the following
requirements:

(A) Be licensed to practice as a registered professional nurse in Kansas and have at least two years of
experience in psychiatric or developmental disability nursing; or

(B) be licensed to practice as a licensed mental health technician and have at least five years of experience
postlicensure. Two years of work experience shall be waived for each licensed mental health technician
possessing an associate’s degree.

(3) Each preceptor shall meet the following requirements:

(A) Be licensed as a registered professional nurse or mental health technician in the state in which the
individual is currently practicing; and

(B) complete a preceptor orientation, which shall include information about the factors influencing the
student-preceptor relationship and course information.

(b) For each mental health technician program, the administrator shall submit to the board a faculty
qualification report for each faculty member newly employed. Each faculty member shall have the required
preparation, experience, and personal qualifications to meet the specifications of the position. (Authorized by

K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4206; effective P-

)

~174-



60-6-104. Curriculum requirements. (a) The faculty in each mental health technician program shall develop
a curriculum to meet program and student learning outcomes and meet the following requirements:

(1) The curriculum shall be organized to cover both theoretical instruction and clinical instruction. The
curriculum shall consist of at least 450 clock-hours of theoretical instruction and 450 clock-hours of clinical
instruction. In academic institutions, one semester hour of credit shall be equal to 15 hours of theoretical
instruction or 45 hours of clinical instruction.

(2) The curriculum shall include the following two courses, which shall be theoretical in nature. Each course
shall consist of 45 clock-hours of instruction:

(A) Human growth and development. This course shall include aspects of growth and development from the
prenatal period through senescence; and

(B) behavioral science. This course shall include human needs, group processes, family dynamics, and
social, economic, and cultural factors of behavior.

(3) The curriculum shall also include the following two courses, which shall include both theoretical and
clinical instruction:

(A) Basic nursing concepts. This course shall include bed making, personal hygiene, administration and
effect of medications, feeding, asepsis, elimination, recognitidn of illness, vital signs, basic nutrition, special
care of patients, first aid and emergency nursing, assisting with physical examinations, and admission and
discharge of patients; and

(B) psychiatric therapeutic treatment. This course shall include interpersonal relationships, psychopathology
and classifications, coping mechanisms, communication skills, therapeutic modalities, and special reporting and
recording techniques.

(b) The faculty in each mental health technology program shall develop and implement a program

evaluation plan.

~175-




K.A.R. 60-6-104
Page 2

(c) Each mental health technician program shall submit curriculum revisions for approval by the board at
least 30 days before the board meetings. These curriculum revisions shall include the following:

(1) Any change in plan or curriculum organization;

(2) any change in delivery method of courses; and

(3) any change in number of approved admissions to the program.

(d) The administrator shall submit to the board office each change not requiring board approval. This
information shall be submitted in writing with the annual report. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and

74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4206; effective P- D

~176-



60-6-105. Clinical resources. (a) Each contractual agreement shall be renewed annually and kept on file in

the administrator’s office.

(b) Clinical learning experiences and sites shall be selected to provide learning opportunities necessary to
achieve student learning outcomes.

(¢) The faculty of each mental health technician program shall be responsible for student learning outcomes
and evaluation in the clinical area.

(d) The mental health technician program shall provide verification that each affiliating agency used for
clinical instruction has clinical facilities that are adequate for the number of students served in terms of space,
equipment, and other necessary resources, including an adequate number of patients or clients necessary to meet
the mental health technician program objectives or outcomes.

(¢) A maximum of a 1:10 faculty-to-student ratio, including students at observational sites, shall be
maintained during the clinical learning experience and the clinical observational experience.

(f) Each clinical unit used for student learning experiences shall be staffed by independently of student
assignments.

(g) Each clinical unit used for educational purposes shall be under the direct supervision of a registered
nurse.

(h)(1) The objectives or student learning outcomes for each clinical observational experience shall reflect
observation rather than participation in nursing interventions.

(2) Affiliating agencies in which clinical observational experiences take place shall not be required to be
staffed by registered nurses.

(3) Clinical observational experiences shall constitute no more than 15 percent of the total clinical hours for

the course.

(i) Clinical learning experiences with preceptors shall be no more than 20 percent of the total clinical hours

of the mental health technician program.

-177-




K.AR. 60-6-105
Page 2

() Simulated experiences shall constitute no more than 50 percent of the total hours for the clinical course.
(k) The faculty shall provide the affiliating agency staff with the objectives for clinical learning experiences.

(Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4023 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4206; effective P-

)

~178-



60-6-106. Educational facilities. (a) Classrooms, laboratories, and conference rooms shall be available when
needed and shall be adequate in size, number, and type according to the number of students and the educational
purposes for which the rooms are to be used.

(b) Each mental health technician program shall provide the following:

(1) A physical facility that is safe and is conducive to learning;

(2) space for counseling students in private that is available and adequate in size and number;

(3) secure space for nursing student records; and

(4) current technological resources and student support services for online or distance learning, if online or
distance learning is provided.

(c) The library resources, instructional media, and material shall be of sufficient recency, pertinence, level of
content, and quantity as indicated by the curriculum to meet the needs of the students and faculty and shall be

available to online or distance learning students. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106;

implementing K.S.A. 65-4206; effective P- )

-179-




60-6-107. Student policies. (a) Each mental health technician program shall have clearly defined written
student policies for the following:

(1) Admission,;

(2) readmission;

(3) progression criteria;

(4) counseling and guidance;

(5) the difference between the student role and the employee role;

(6) representation on faculty governance;

(7) graduation;

(8) ethical practices for the performance of activities including recruitment, admission, and advertising; and

(9) refund policies governing all fees and tuition paid by students.

(b) Each mental health technician program shall have a written student policy providing information to all
students regarding licensure denial pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4209, and amendments thereto. The information shall

be provided before each student’s admission to the mental health technician program. (Authorized by K.S.A.

2017 Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4206; effective P- J)

-180-



60-6-108. Reports. (a) An annual report and all applicable fees shall be submitted to the board by each mental
health technician program on or before June 30 of each year. Each report shall include the following:

(1) Changes in the mental health technician program policies, objectives, or outcomes and curriculum
changes;

(2) faculty responsibilities for courses;

(3) for each faculty member, the name, license number, academic credentials, employment date, and full-
time or part-time status;

(4) for each preceptor, the name, license number, academic credentials, current clinical area of practice, and
place where currently employed;

(5) the administrator’s teaching responsibilities;

(6) for each affiliating agency, the following information:

(A) The name;

(B) the location; and

(C) the student-faculty clinical ratio for the reporting period,;

(7) statistics for students, including the following:

(A) Admissions, readmissions, withdrawals, and graduations; and

(B) first-time pass rate for each of the last five years;

(8) any complaints involving educational statutes and regulations;

(9) a response to the recommendations and requirements from the last annual report or last site visit;

(10) any plans for the future, including any proposed changes to the mental health technician program,

(11) a description of the practices used to safeguard the health and well-being of students;

(12) a list of the theory courses and the clinical courses in the curriculum; and

(13) statistics for each clinical course, including the following:

(A) Total number of hours;

-181-




K.AR. 60-6-108
Page 2

(B) total number of clinical observational experience hours;

(C) total number of precepted hours; and

(D) total number of simulation experience hours.

(b) If the mental health technician program fails to meet the requirements of the board or to submit required
reports within a designated period of time, the program shall be notified and given the opportunity for a hearing
regarding the board’s intent to remove the program from the list of approved mental health technician programs.

(Authorized by K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4207; effective P-

)

-182-



60-6-109. Reapproval requirements. (a) Each approval shall be valid for not more than five years.

(b) An unannounced site visit may be conducted at any time other than a scheduled site visit if the board
determines that there is evidence reflecting any deficiency in meeting the requirements of the board or whether
or not any deficiency has been corrected by a mental health technician program on conditional approval.

(c) Baeh Any deficiency sufficient to warrant action by the board shall include any deficiency specified in
subsections (d) through (g). Failure to correct any deficiency within the period prescribed by the board may
result in the board’s placement of the mental health technician program on conditional approval or may result in
loss of approval.

(d)(1) If the first-time candidates in a mental health technician program have an annual pass rate on the
licensure examination of less than 80 percent for one calendar year, the mental health technician program shall
receive a written notice of concern from the board.

(2) The mental health technician program shall have three months after the date of the written notice of
concern to submit a written report analyzing all aspects of the education program identifying areas contributing
to the pass rate and the mental health technician program’s plan of action to improve the pass rate. The mental
health technician program shall have one year after the date of the written notice to demonstrate evidence of
implementing strategies to correct deficiencies to bring the pass rate up to at least the 80 percent criteria.

(3) If the mental health technician program has an annual pass rate of less than 80 percent for two
consecutive calendar years, the mental health technician program may receive a site visit for evaluation and
recommendation and be placed on conditional approval. The administrator of the mental health technician
program shall appear before the board and present an analysis of the measures taken and an analysis of the

reasons for the mental health technician program’s pass rate below 80 percent.

-183-




K.AR. 60-6-109
Page 2

(4) If the mental health technician program has an annual pass rate for first-time candidates of less than 80
percent for three consecutive calendar years, the mental health technician program’s pass rate shall go to the
board for review. The mental health technician program may be directed by the board to cease admissions.

(e) Failure to meet the requirements of the education statutes and regulations shall result in action by the

board.

(f) Each complaint involving education statutes and regulations reported to board members or staff shall
initiate an investigation by the board and may require a site visit, depending on the seriousness and number of
complaints.

(g) The administrator of the mental health technician program shall make the following information
available during each site visit:

(1) Data about the mental health technician program, including the following:

(A) The number of students;

(B) the legal body responsible for policy and support of mental health technician program;

(C) the organizational chart; and

(D) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and
expenditures;

(2) the administrator’s responsibilities;

(3) for faculty members and preceptors, the following information:

(A) Job descriptions;

(B) selection policies;

(C) orientation plan;

(D) faculty organization by-laws;

(E) number of full-time and part-time faculty and nonnursing faculty, with academic credentials and

assignments; and

~184-



K.A.R. 60-6-109
Page 3

(F) faculty-student clinical ratio;

(4) a copy of the current curriculum with the date of last revisions;

(5) the testing process, with test analysis and the written test procedure;

(6) a description of education facilities, including classrooms, offices, library, and computers;

(7) a list of clinical facilities;

(8) the number of students by classes; and

(9) the student policies as specified in K.A.R. 60-6-107.

(h) During each site visit, the administrator of the mental health technician program shall make available the
following: |

(1) The institution’s administrators, faculty, support services personnel, and students;

(2) staff members of selected affiliating agencies;

(3) faculty meeting minutes for the previous three years;

(4) faculty and student handbooks;

(5) student records;

(6) policies and procedures;

(7) curriculum materials;

(8) a copy of the mental health technician program’s audited fiscal report covering the previous two years,
including income and expenditures;

(9) each contractual agreement; and

(10) program evaluation plan and evidence of mental health technician program effectiveness that addresses
compliance with board regulations.

(i) The administrator of the mental health technician program or designated personnel shall take the site visit

team to the educational facilities, including satellite program facilities, library facilities, and clinical agencies.

-185-




K.AR. 60-6-109
Page 4

() Upon completion of the survey or site visit, the administrator shall be asked to correct any inaccurate
statements contained in the survey or site visit report, limiting comments to etrors, unclear statements, and

omissions.

(k) If the mental health technician program fails to meet the requirements of the board or to submit required

reports within a designated period of time, the program shall be netified-and-given the-epportunityfor a-hearing

denied approval after providing notice and being given an opportunity to be heard. (Authorized by K.S.A. 2017

Supp. 65-4203 and 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-4206 and 65-4207; effective P-

)

-186-



Advanced Practice Education

60-17-101 Definitions
60-17-102 Requirements for initial approval
60-17-103 Reapproval requirements

60-17-104 Administrator, faculty and preceptor
qualifications

60-17-105 Curriculum requirements
60-17-106 Clinical resources
60-17-107 Educational facilities
60-17-108 Student policies
60-17-109 Reports

60-17-110 Discontinuing an advanced practice
registered nurse program

60-17-111 Requirements for advanced practice
registered nurse refresher course

~187-




60-17-101. Definitions. Each of the following terms. as used in this article of the board’s regulations, shall have

the meaning specified in this regulation:

(a) An “advanced nursing edueation program” may be housed within a part of any of the following
organizational units within an academic institution:

(1) A college;

(2) aschool;

(3) adivision;

(4) a department; or

(5) an academic unit.

(b) “Academic equivalent” means the proportionate credit for formal academic coursework if that

coursework is completed on the basis of trimester or quarter credit hours rather than semester credit hours.

(c) “Affiliating agency” means a hospital or an agency that cooperates with the advanced nursing edueation
program to provide clinical facilities and resources for selected student experiences.

¢e) (d) “Clinical learning experience” means an active process in which the student participates in advanced
nursiné activities while being guided by a member of the faculty.

(&) (e) “Contractual agreement” means a written contract or letter signed by the legal representatives of the

advanced nursing edueation program and the affiliating agency.

-188~-



K.AR. 60-17-101
Page 2

(f) “Criteria for unscheduled survey or site visit” means indications that the advanced nursing program is

possibly not meeting board standards.

(£) “Debriefing” means an activity that follows a simulation experience and is led by a facilitator.

Participants’ reflective thinking is encouraged and feedback is provided regarding the participants’ performance

while various aspects of the completed simulation are discussed. Participants are encouraged to explore

emotions and question, reflect, and provide feedback to one another in order to facilitate the transfer of learning

to future situations.

(h) “Loss of approval” means the status that results when the board withdraws its approval of an advanced

nursing program.

(i) “Online or distance learning” means the acquisition of knowledge and skills through information and

instruction provided by means of a variety of technologies.

(j) “Practice hour” means 60 minutes allotted for clinical learning.

(k) “Preceptor” means an advanced practice registered nurse or a physician who provides clinical

supervision for advanced practice registered nurse students as a part of nursing courses taken during the

advanced nursing program. The preceptor provides oversight of the student’s patients and gives feedback to the

student and instructor.

() “Program evaluation plan” means an advanced nursing program’s written systematic methodology or

plan for measuring and analyzing student learning outcomes and program outcomes against defined standards

and timelines to determine effectiveness and provide for ongoing program improvement,

(m) “Satellite program’ means an existing. accredited advanced nursing program that is offered at a

location geographically separate from the parent program. The students may spend a portion or all of their time

at the satellite location. The curricula in all locations shall be the same, and each credential shall be conferred by

the parent institution.

-189-




K.AR. 60-17-101
Page 3

(n) “Semester credit hours” means at Jeast 13 clock-hours of formal, didactic classroom instruction that

occurred over the course of an academic semester and for which the applicant received formal academic credit.

“Simulation” means a teaching strate ilizi to replace or amplify clinical situations with

guided experiences that evoke or replicate substantial aspects of the real world in a fully interactive manner.

() _“Survey or site visit” means an in-person assessment of all components of an advanced nursing program

to validate information submitted by the advanced nursing program or to follow up on the board’s determination

that there is consistent evidence reflecting deficiencies in meeting the requirements.

(q) “Student learning outcomes” means the achievement of expected knowledge, skills, and attributes

demonstrated by students at course and program levels. Student Jearning outcomes are measured in classroom

and experiential settings and are reported in individual and ageregate formats, including retention and

graduation rates, performance on certification examinations, and employment rates.

€ (r) “Transfer student” means an individual who is permitted to apply advanced nursing courses
completed at another institution to a different advanced nursing edueation program.

(s) “Quarter credit hour” means two-thirds of a semester credit hour. Quarter credit hours shall be rounded

as follows:

(1) One quarter credit hour equals .7 semester hours.

(2) Two quarter credit hours equals 1.3 semester hours.

(3) Three quarter credit hours equals 2.0 semester hours.

(4) Four quarter credit hours equals 2.7 semester hours.

(5) Five quarter credit hours equals 3.3 semester hours. (Authorized by ¥:S-A--65-1129-and K.S.A. 2610

2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133;-as-amended-byL-2611;-eh—114;see47;

effective March 31, 2000; amended May 18, 2012; amended P- )

-190-



nnneaditad buthe annropriate-credentialine
[(savivigwivegn i g UJ LN “l.lt.ll UPL 1ALV VX Uu\dllblullll&

and ovidi
S

Facilitiac fareclinieal avnerience-sha
TITIVOToOTr vimanivalx VAIJUL PAVZUAVAVANR SR X Y

and-providingfact
groups:

()(1) Fhe Each advanced nursing edueation program or the institution of which it is a part shall be a legally
constituted body. The controlling body shall be responsible for géneral policy and shall provide the financial

support for the advanced nursing edueation program.

(2) Authority and responsibility for administering the advanced nursing edueation program shall be vested

in the dedicated nurse administrator ef the-advaneced-nursing education-program-who has sufficient

administrative time and support to achieve and maintain positive program/student outcomes.

(3) The advanced nursing program shall be accredited, be part of an institution that is accredited, or be in

the process of being accredited by an agency that is approved by the United States departinent of education.

(c) Bach new proposed advanced nursing edueation program shall submit, at least 60 days before a
scheduled board meeting, an initial application, which shall include all of the following:

(1) The course of study and credentiél to be conferred;

(2) the name and title of the nurse administrator of the advanced nursing edueatien program;

(3) the name of the controlling body;

(4) the name and title of the administrator for the controlling body;

(5) the organizational chart;

(6) all sources of financial support, including a three-year budget;

(7) a proposed curriculum, indicating the total number of hours of both theoretical and clinical instruction;

(8) the program objectives or outcomes;

(9) the number, qualifications, and assignments of faculty;

(10) the faculty policies;

(11) the admission requirements;

-191-




K.A.R. 60-17-102
Page 2

(12) a copy of the current school bulletin or catalog;

(13) a description of clinical facilities and client census data;

(14) each contractual agreements-by-affiliating-agenciesfor-elinieal-facilities agreement, which shall be

signed at least three months before the first date on which students may enroll. Each hospital and agency serving

as an affiliating agency providing facilities for clinical experience shall be licensed or accredited by the

appropriate credentialing groups;

(15) the program evaluation plan; and
(16) a proposed date of initial admission of students to the advanced nursing program.

(d) Each advanced nursing edueation program shall be-surveyed-for-approval-by-the-beard have a site visit

to validate information submitted in the program’s application before granting approval, with the exception of

nurse anesthesia programs, as determined by K.A.R. 60-13-103.
(1) During a-survey each site visit, the nurse administrator efthe-pregram shall make available all of the

following;:

(A) Administrators, prospective faculty and students, affiliating agencies, representatives, preceptors, and
support services personnel to discuss the advanced nursing edueation program;

(B) minutes-of faculty meetings meeting minutes;

(C) faculty and student handbooks;

(D) policies and procedures;

(E) curriculum materials;

(F) a copy of the advanced nursing edueation program's budget; and

(G) affiliating-ageney contractual agreements.

(2) The nurse administrator ef the-advanced-nursing-eduecation-program or designated personnel shall take

the sarvey site visit team to inspect the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities and

library facilities.

-192-



K.AR. 60-17-102
Page 3

(3) Upon completion of the survey site visit, the nurse administrator shall be asked to correct any inaccurate

statements contained in the survey site visit report, limiting these comments to errors, unclear statements, or

omissions.

(e) Each institution contemplating the-establishment-of wanting to establish an advanced nursing edueation
program shall be-surveyed have a site visit and aceredited be approved by the board before the admission of any

students.

(f) If an advanced nursing edueation program fails to meet the requirements of the board within a

designated period of time, the advanced nursing program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's

intent to deny approval. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1 106; implementing K.S.A. 2645 2017 Supp.

65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended April 29, 2016; amended P-

)

-193-




60-17-103. Reapproval requirements. (a)
advanced nursing edueation program shall be reviewed for reapproval by the board every two years.

(b) Each advanced nursing education program shall beresurveyed have a survey or site visit every five to

10 years.

(1) A survey or site visit may be conducted if there is eensistent evidence indicating defieieneies any

deficiency in meeting requirements.

(2) A survey or site visit of each nurse anesthesia program shall be conducted as required by K.A.R. 60-13-

1034d)4).

(3) If the advanced nursing program is accredited by a national nursing accreditation agency, the resarvey

survey or site visit may be made in coordination with a national nursing accreditation agency visit. Each

advanced nursing program without national nursing accreditation shall be-resurveyed have a survey or site visit

every five years.
(c) The nurse administrator of each advanced nursing edueation program shall make available all of the
following information during a survey or site visit:

(1) Data about the advanced nursing program, including the following:

(A) The number of students;

(B) the legal body responsible for establishing advanced nursing program policies and-for-support-of the

program;
(C) an organizational chart; and
(D) a description of the budgetary process;
(2) adescription of the nurse administrator's responsibilities;
(3) information about the faculty and preceptors, including the following:
(A) A description of the responsibilities of each position;

(B) the selection policies;

~194-



K.AR. 60-17-103
Page 2

(C) the orientation plan;

(D) faculty organization by-laws; and

(E) the number of full-time and part-time faculty and nonnursing faculty with academic credentials and
assignments;

(4) the faculty degree plan, if applicable;

(5) a copy of the current curriculum with the date of last revision;

(6) a description of education facilities, including classrooms, offices, library, and computers;

(7) a list of clinical facilities;

(8) the number of students enrolled; and

(9) policies for students as listed in K.A.R. 60-2-167 60-17-108.

(d) During a survey or site visit, the nurse administrator of the advanced nursing edueation program shall
make available all of the following:

(1) Educational institution administrators, faculty, support services personnel, preceptors, and students;

(2) staff at selected clinical facilities;

(3) faculty meeting minutes for at least the previous three years;

(4) faculty and student handbooks;

(5) student records;

(6) policies and procedures;

(7) curriculum materials;

(8) acopy of the acivanced nursing edueation program's budget; and

(9) affiliatingageney contractual agreementss;

(10) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and

expenditures; and

(11) the testing process, with test analysis and the written test procedure.

-195-




K.AR. 60-17-103
Page 3

(¢) The nurse administrator of the advanced nursing education program or designated personnel shall take
the survey or site visit team to the nursing educational facilities, including satellite program facilities, library
facilities, and affiliating or clinical facilities.

(f) Upon completion of the survey or site visit, the nurse administrator shall correct any inaccurate
statements contained in the survey or site visit report, limiting these comments to errors, unclear statements, or
omissions.

(g) If an advanced nursing edueation program fails to meet requirements of the board within a designated

period of time, the advanced nursing program shall be notified by the board's designee of the board's intent to

by and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000;

amended April 20, 2007; amended P- )

-196-



60-17-104. Administrator, f Faculty and preceptor qualifications. (a) Each nurse faculty member shall be

licensed as a registered professional nurse in Kansas.
(b) Each preceptor shall be licensed in the state in which the preceptor is currently practicing. Each
preceptor shall complete a preceptor orientation that includes information about the pedagogical aspects of the

student-preceptor relationship and course information.

(c) For advanced nursing edueation programs in the role of nurse anesthesia, each nurse faculty member
shall have the following academic preparation and experience:

(1) The dedicated nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the
advanced nursing education program shall have had successful experience in administration or teaching and

shall have a graduate degree in nursing. The program administrator shall have sufficient administrative time and

support to achieve and maintain positive program/student outcomes.

(2) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate degree in

nursing.

(3) Each nurse faculty member responsible for clinical instruction shall possess a license as an advanced
practice registered nurse and a graduate degree in nursing.

(d) For advanced nursing edueation programs in any role other than nurse anesthesia, each nurse faculty
member shall have the following academic preparation and experience:

(1) The nurse administrator who is responsible for the development and implementation of the advanced
nursing edueation program shall have had experience in administration or teaching and shall have a graduate
degree in nursing.

(2) Each nurse faculty member who is assigned the responsibility of a course shall hold a graduate degree.
Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for any

person whose graduate degree was conferred before July 1, 2005.

-197-




K.AR. 60-17-104
Page 2

(3) Each nurse faculty member responsible for coordinating clinical instruction shall possess a license as an
advanced practice registered nurse in the role for which clinical instruction is provided and shall have a graduate
degree. Each person who is hired as a nurse faculty member shall have a graduate degree in nursing, except for
any person whose graduate degree was conferred before July 1, 2005.

(4) Each preeepter-or adjunct faculty member shall be licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse or

shall be licensed as a physician in the state in which the individual is currently practicing. Each-preceptorshall

(e) The nonnursing faculty of each advanced nursing edueation program shall have graduate degrees in the

area of expertise.

(f) The nurse administrator of each advanced nursing edueation program shall submit to the board a faculty

qualification report for each faculty member who is newly employed by the advanced nursing program.

(Authorized by K.S.A. 65-31129-and IK-S-A-2610 2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-

1133,—&5—&%&0&&6%—2-@-1—1—;61%&—14,—59&4—7; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended

May 18, 2012; amended P- )

-198~-



60-17-105. Curriculum requirements. (a) The faculty in each advanced nursing education program shall

fulfill these requirements:

(1) dentify the competencies of the graduate for each role of advanced nursing practice for which the

advanced nursing program provides instruction;

(2) determine the approach and content for learning experiences;

(3) direct clinical instruction as an integral part of the advanced nursing program; and

(4) provide for learning experiences of the depth and scope needed to fulfill the objectives or outcomes of
advanced nursing courses.

(b) The curriculum in each advanced nursing edueation program shall include all of the following:

(1) Role alignment related to the distinction between practice as a registered professional nurse and the
advanced role of an advanced practice registered nurse as specified in K.A.R. 60-11-101;

(2) theoretical instruction in the role or roles of advanced nursing practice for which the program provides
nstruction;

(3) the health care delivery system;

(4) the ethical and legal implications of advanced nursing practice;

(5) three esllege semester credit hours or the academic equivalent heuss in advanced pharmacology et-the

equivalent;
(6) three eollege semester credit hours or the academic equivalent hours in advanced pathophysiology er-its

equivalent and three college semester credit hours or the academic equivalent heurs in advanced health

assessment or-its-equivalent for licensure as an advanced practice registered nurse in a role other than nurse

anesthesia and nurse midwifery;

(7) if-completingan for any advanced practiceregistered-nurse nuIsing program completed after July 1,

2009, three eollege semester credit hours or the academic equivalent heuss in advanced pathophysiology ez-its

-199-




K.AR. 60-17-105
Page 2

equivalent and three eolege semester credit hours or the academic equivalent heuss in advanced health

assessment er-its-equivalent; and

(8) clinical instruction in the area of specialization, which shall include the following:

(A) Performance of or ordering diagnostic procedures;
(B) evaluation of diagnostic and assessment findings; and

(C) the prescription of medications and other treatment modalities for client conditions.

(c)(1) Each advanced nursing program shall consist of at least 45 semester credit hours or the academic

(2) The clinical component shall consist of at least 260 practice hours ef elinicalHearning. After January 1,
2003, the clinical component shall consist of at least 500 practice hours ef elinieallearning. After July 1, 2009,
the clinical component shall consist of at least 500 practice hours ef-elinieal-earning in each clinical track, or

the advanced nursing program shall provide documentation of the overlap if any clinical track consists of less

than 500 elinieal practice hours.

(d) Each nurse administrator shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Develop and implement a weitten-planfor program evaluation plan; and

(2) submit any major revision to the curriculum of advanced nursing courses for board approval at least 30
days before a meeting of the board. The following shall be considered major revisions to the curriculum:

(A) Any significant change in the plan of curriculum organization; and

(B) any change in content.

(e) Each nurse administrator shall submit all revisions that are not major revisions, as defined in paragraph

(d)(2), to the board or the board's designee for approval. (Authorized by KkS-A—65-1129-and K.S.A. 2010 2017

Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133;-as-amended-by L-201-eh—14;5see—47; effective

-200~-



March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended May 18, 2012; amended P-

)

-201-

K.AR. 60-17-105
Page 3




60-17-106. Clinical resources. (a) Each advanced nursing edueation program shall have apprepriate-written

contractual agreements with-each-affiliating-ageney. Each signed-contract contractual agreement shall be kept on

file in the advanced nursing edueation program office.

(b) Clinical learning experiences and sites shall be selected to provide learning opportunities necessary to
achieve the advancednursing-education-program-objectives-or student learning outcomes.

(c) Faculty shall facilitate and evaluate student learning experiences in the clinical area.

(d) Preceptors shall be responsible for assessing performance in the clinical setting.

(e) The advanced nursing edueation program shall provide verification that each agency used for clinical
instruction has clinical facilities that are adequate for the number of students served in terms of space,
equipment, and other necessary resources, including an adequate number of patients or clients necessary to meet
the pregram-objestives-or student learning outcomes.

(f) The advanced nursing edueation program shall contract with an adequate number of appropriate
affiliating agencies so that there will be appropriate clinical Jearning experiences to meet curriculum objectives
or outcomes. The advanced nursing edueation program faculty shall provide the affiliating agency staff with the
organizing curriculum framework and either the objectives or outcomes for that clinical learning experience. A
sufficient number and variety of patients representing appropriate age groups shall be available to provide
clinical learning experiences to meet eurrieutum-objeetives-or student learning outcomes. If more than one
advanced nursing edueation program uses the same affiliating agency, each advanced nursing edueation
program shall document the availability of appropriate clinical learning experiences for all of its students.

(Authorized by and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133; effective March 31,

2000; amended P- J

-202-



60-17-107. Educational facilities. (a) Classrooms, laboratories, and conference rooms shall be available at
the time needed and shall be adequate in size, number, and type, according to the number of students and the
educational purposes for which the rooms are to be used.

(b) The advanced nursing edueation program shall provide all of the following:

(1) A physical facility that is safe and conducive to learning;

(2) space for counseling students in private that is available and adequate in size;-amount; and number

1o Eacrsliveweith privacy] g studonte:

(3) secured space for nursing student records; and

(4) current technological resources and student support services for online or distance learning if online

or distance learning is provided.

(¢) Library holdings, instructional media, and materials shall be of sufficient recency, pertinence, level
of content, and quantity as indicated by the curriculum to meet the needs of nursing students and faculty and

shall be available to online or distance learning students. (Authorized by and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106;

implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007; amended P-

)

—-203-




60-17-108. Student policies. (a) Each advanced nursing edueation program shall have clearly defined
written student policies for all of the following:

@) (1) Admission, including a requirement that each student in the advanced nursing program must have

a current license to practice as a registered professional nurse in the United States or any of its territories;
) (2) transfer students;
¢e) (3) readmission;
& (4) counseling and guidance;
¢e) (5) progression criteria;
€ (6) student representation in faculty governance;-and
€ (7) graduation;

(8) oral and written English proficiency as specified in K.A.R. 60-3-106;

(9) the difference between the student role and the employee role;

(10) refund policies governing all fees and tuition paid by the student; and

(11) ethical practices for the performance of activities, including recruitment, admission, and

adverﬁsing.

(b) Each advanced nursing program shall have a written policy providing information to all students

regarding licensure denial pursuant to K.S.A. 65-1120, and amendments thereto. The information shall be

provided to each student before admission to the advanced nursing program. (Authorized by and K.S.A.

2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended April

20, 2007; amended P- J)

—-204-



60-17-109. Reports. (a) Each advanced nursing education program shall submit an annual report to the board

on or before June 15 30 of each year, which shall include all of the following data:

(1) Any changes in advanced nursing program policies, the organizing framework for the curriculum, and

advanced nursing program objectives or outcomes and any all curriculum changes as specified in K.A.R. 60-17-

105;

(2) e-deseription-of faculty responsibilities for required advanced nursing courses;

(3) the name, license number, academic credentials, employment date, and foll- full-time or part-time status

of each member of the advanced nursing program faculty;

(4) the name, license number, academic credentials, professional experience, and place of practice for each
preceptor;

(5) a-deseription-of the nurse administrator’s teaching responsibilities;

(6) the name and address of each affiliating agency;

(7) student enrollment, retention, and graduation statistics;

(8) faculty hiring, retention, and separation statistics;

(9) the total number of library holdings and the number of holdings regarding nursing;

(10) for the most recent year, eithera-listof new-library-and-audiovisual-acquisitions-or the budget spent on

library and audiovisual acquisitions for the advanced nursing program;

(11) a response to the recommendations and requirements identified by the board based on the advanced

nursing program’s last annual report or the last survey site visit; aad

(12) any proposed changes to the advanced nursing programs;

(13) an audited fiscal report covering the previous two years, including a statement of income and

expenditures;

(14) any complaints involving KSBN educational statutes and regulations;

(15) a description of the practices used to safeguard the health and well-being of students; and

—~205-




K.AR. 60-17-109
Page 2

(16) copy of the school’s current catalog.

(b) If the advanced nursing edueation program fails to meet requirements of the board or to submit required

reports within a designated period of time, the advanced nursing program shall be remeved-from notified and

given the opportunity for a hearing regarding the board’s intent to remove the program from the list of

aceredited approved advanced nursing edueation programs after-it-hasreceived-notice-and-has-been-givenan

512-and-amendments-thereto: (Authorized by and K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 2017 Supp.

65-1133; effective March 31, 2000; amended P- 2D

—-206-



60-17-110.Discontinuing an advanced practice registered nurse program. FEach school

terminating its program shall submit, for board approval, the school’s plan for its currently enrolled

students and for disposition of its records.
History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2010 Supp.74-1106; implementing K.S.A. 65-

1133, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 47; effective March 31, 2000; amended April 20, 2007,

amended May 18, 2012.)

~207-




60-17-111.Requirements for advanced practice registered nurse refresher course.

(a) (1) Each refresher course that prepares advanced practice registered nurses (APRNs) who
have not been actively engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than five years
shall be accredited by the board.

(2) If a formal refresher course is not available, an individualized course may be designed
for a nurse. Each individualized course shall be accredited by the education specialist.

(b) Each refresher course student shall meet both of the following conditions:

(1) Be licensed currently as a Kansas registered professional nurse; and

(2) have been licensed as an advanced practice registered nurse in Kansas or another state or
have completed the education required to be licensed as an advanced practice registered
nurse in Kansas.

(c) Continuing nursing education contact hours may be awarded for completion of APRN
refresher courses. A contact hour shall equal a 50-minute hour of instruction.

/(d) The objectives and outcomes of the refresher course shall be stated in behavioral terms and
shall describe the expected competencies of the applicant.

(e) Each instructor for an APRN refresher course shall be licensed as an APRN and shall show
evidence of recent professional education and competency in teaching.

(f) Each provider that has been accredited by the board to offer an APRN refresher course shall
provide the following classroom and clinical experiences, based on the length of time that
the student has not been actively engaged in advanced nursing practice:

(1) For students who have not engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than five
years, but less than or equal to 10 years, 150 didactic hours and 350 clinical hours; and
(2) for students who have not engaged in advanced nursing practice for more than 10 years,
200 didactic hours and 500 clinical hours.
(g) The content, methods of instruction, and learning experiences shall be consistent with the

objectives and outcomes of the course.

-208-



(h) Each refresher course for the roles of nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, and nurse-
midwife shall contain the following content:
(1) Didactic:
(A)Role alignment related to recent changes in the area of advanced nursing practice;
(B) the ethical and legal implications of advanced nursing practice;
(C) the health care delivery system;
(D) diagnostic procedures for the area of specialization; and
(E) prescribing medications for the area of specialization; and
(2) clinical:
(A) Conducting diagnosﬁc procedures for the area of specialization;
(B) prescribing medications for the area of specialization,
(C) evaluating the physical and psychosocial health status of a client;
(D) obtaining a comprehensive health history;
(E) conducting physical examinations using basic examination techniques, diagnostic
instruments, and laboratory procedures;
(F) planning, implementing, and evaluating care;
(G) consulting with clients and members of the health care team;
(H)managing the medical plan of care prescribed based on protocols or guidelines;
(I) initiating and maintaining records, documents, and other reports;
(J) developing teaching plans; and
(K) counseling individuals, families, and groups on the following issues:
(i) Health;
(ii) illness; and

(iii)the promotion of health maintenance.

-209-




(i) Each student in nurse-midwife refresher fraim'ng shall also have clinical hours in the
management of the expanding family throughout pregnancy, labor, delivery, postdelivery
care, and gynecological care.

() The provider of each refresher course shall provide official evidence of completion to each
individual who successfully completes the refresher course.

History: (Authorized by K.S.A. 65-1129 and K.S.A. 2010 Supp. 74-1106; implementing K.S.A.
65-1130, as amended by L. 2011, ch. 114, sec. 44, and K.S.A. 65-1133, as amended by L. 2011, ch.

114, sec. 47; effective March 31, 2000; amended July 29, 2005; amended May 18, 2012.)

-210-



	Agenda
	NPA
	Disciplinary
	Licensure Regulations
	APRN Regulations
	CNE Regulations
	RNA Regulations
	IV Fluid Therapy Regulations
	Undergraduate Nursing Programs
	LMHT Program
	Advanced Practice Education



